PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

Volume XVI, Issue 5 October 2022

A JOURNAL OF THE TERRORISM RESEARCH INITIATIVE Enhancing Security through Collaborative Research

Table of Contents

| Words of Welcome from the Editors | .1 |
|-----------------------------------|----|
|-----------------------------------|----|

Articles

| IS-Khorasan: Organizational Structure, Ideological Convergence with the Taliban, and Future Prospects |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Security Implications for India and Pakistan from the Taliban Regime since the US Withdrawal from Afghanistan |
| Recognizing Trade-Offs in Indonesian Counterterrorism Strategy |
| Google and Corporate Social Responsibility: YouTube in the Service of Terrorism46 by Raphael Cohen-Almagor |
| Cyberterrorism : Four Reasons for its Absence – So Far62 by Jeppe T. Jacobsen |
| |

Research Notes

Findings and Implications from a Project on White Supremacist Entry and Exit Pathways......73 by Matthew DeMichele, Wesley S. McCann, Kathleen Blee, and Peter Simi

Understanding the Drivers behind Offenders Attacking European Religious Sites – Five Cases......82 by Katalin Pethő-Kiss

Resources

Counter-Terrorism Bookshelf: 11 Books on Terrorism & Counter-Terrorism-Related Subjects......101 Reviewed by Joshua Sinai

| Book Review: David C. Rapoport. <i>Waves of Global Terrorism. From 1879 to the Present.</i> New York: Columbia University Press, 2022 |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Bibliography: Terrorism Research Literature (Part 4)108 Compiled and Selected by Judith Tinnes |
| Recent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects162 Compiled and Selected by Berto Jongman |
| 40 Full-Text Academic Theses (Ph.D. and M.A.) on Terrorism in War and Terrorist Warfare Tactics, Written in English Between 2007 and 2022 |
| Announcements |

Announcements

| Conference Monitor/Calendar of Events (October 2022 and beyond)198 | 6 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------|---|
| by Méryl Demuynck | |

Words of Welcome from the Editors

Dear Reader,

We are pleased to announce the release of Volume XVI, Issue 5 (October 2022) of *Perspectives on Terrorism* (ISSN 2334-3745). Our independent online journal is an Open Access publication of the Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI), Vienna, and the Institute of Security and Global Affairs (ISGA) of Leiden University's Campus in The Hague. All past and recent issues can be found at: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/perspectives-on-terrorism</u>.

Perspectives on Terrorism (PoT) is indexed by JSTOR, SCOPUS, and Google Scholar where it ranks No. 3 of journals in the field of Terrorism Studies. Jouroscope[™], the directory of scientific journals, has listed PoT as one of the top ten journals in the category free open access journals in social sciences. Now in its 16th year of publication, PoT has nearly 8,000 registered subscribers and many more occasional readers and website visitors in academia, government and civil society worldwide. The Articles of its six annual issues are fully peer-reviewed by external referees while its Research Notes and other content are subject to internal editorial quality control.

The current issue features five **Articles**. The first two, by Atal Ahmadzai on the one hand and by Dalbir Ahlawat and M. Raymond Izarali on the other hand, discuss the local and regional implications of the Taliban gaining state power in Afghanistan. The third article by Alif Satria and Cameron Sumpter explore a policy dilemma of Indonesia's counterterrorism strategy. This is followed by an analysis from Raphael Cohen-Almagor on the (ir-) responsibility of social media for spreading terrorist content, exemplified by the role of Google's YouTube. Finally, Jeppe T. Jacobsen offers five reasons why cyberterrorism has not happened – yet.

The current issue also features two **Research Notes.** The first of these, by Matthew DeMichele, Wesley S. Mc-Cann, Kathleen Blee and Peter Simi, explores what led nearly 50 people into and out of White Extremism. In the second Research Note, Katalin Pethö-Kiss examines the reasons why five individuals decided to attack places of worship in Europe, concluding that there is no such thing as a 'typical extremist'.

The **Resources** section features, in its CT-Bookshelf 11 short reviews by our book reviews editor, Joshua Sinai. This is followed by a review of David C. Rapoport's *Global Waves of Terrorism* by Alex Schmid. Our information resources editor, Judith Tinnes, offers a new bibliography on the terrorism research literature. Associate Editor Berto Jongman contributes another of his wide-ranging surveys of recent online resources on terrorism and related subjects. And Broderick McDonald provides a list of academic theses (Ph.D. and M.A.) on terrorism in war and terrorist warfare tactics.

In **Announcements**, our new Associate Editor, Méryl Demunyck, presents her first "Conference Calendar". Finally, the brief **About** *Perspectives on Terrorism* section lists the people behind the journal and their tasks.

The texts of the current issue of *Perspectives on Terrorism* have been selected, edited and prepared by James Forest and Alex Schmid, the journal's principal editors, with the help of our Associate Editors. Editorial Assistant Jodi Moore handled proof-reading, while the technical online launch of the October 2022 issue of our journal has been in the hands of our Associate Editor for IT, Audrey J. Vrolijk (ISGA, The Hague Campus of Leiden University).

IS-Khorasan: Organizational Structure, Ideological Convergence with the Taliban, and Future Prospects

by Atal Ahmadzai

Abstract

Contrary to its known name, many aspects of IS-Khorasan are shrouded in secrecy. The Taliban regime in Kabul claims that the subsidiary of ISIS-Core is an insignificant and irrelevant threat. On the other hand, international military and intelligence sources warn about its resurgence. Utilizing three types of sources of information (existing literature, the Taliban literature, and insights of local residents), this article offers a new perspective on IS-K. The dual organizational structure provides IS-K with flexibility and resilience for survival. Furthermore, its ideological convergence with the Taliban has assisted the core of the organization to remain protected. While its outer layer has been dismantled and dispersed in eastern Afghanistan, IS-K has more opportunities in the northern regions to transform into a regional and global threat.

Keywords: Islamic State Khorasan Province (IS-K), Daesh, Afghanistan, Islamic State in Iraq and the Levant-Khorasan (ISIL-K), Terrorism, Afghanistan, Taliban

Disclaimer: Due to the current political and security situation in Afghanistan, the author of this article used pseudonyms for the study's respondents. All the respondents live in Afghanistan, and, following their request, the author decided to conceal any identifiers that could directly or indirectly compromise their safety and well-being.

Introduction

Since late 2014, terrorist activities carried out in Afghanistan,[1] Pakistan,[2] Tajikistan,[3] and India[4] have been referred to, or claimed by, the Islamic State-Khorasan Province or IS-K. The organization reached worldwide attention in late August 2021 when it accepted responsibility for a suicide bombing at the Kabul Airport that killed 13 U.S. service members and 170 Afghan civilians.[5] Ever since, IS-K has continued to perform mass killings, including suicide bombings in Shi'a mosques and schools.[6–8] In addition, the group carried out coordinated attacks targeting the Taliban's high military officials and ideologues.[9][10]

The attacks claimed by the IS-K instigated a surge of information about the group.[11–14] Nevertheless, in the months following the Taliban's rise to power in Kabul, the violence inflicted by IS-K remained limited in scope and intensity. This raised doubts about the group's military and organizational capabilities.[15] However, such a presumption could not hold ground for long. With the arrival of spring, the fighting season in Afghanistan, IS-K intensified its indiscriminate and targeted violence across the country.[16] Still, the group has remained shrouded in secrecy, and the existing information about it is contested and contradictory.

The Taliban regime claims to have uprooted the organization in Afghanistan, a mission the U.S. and NATO failed to accomplish.[17] U.S. military and intelligence officials, in contrast, believe that IS-K is reconstituting itself and will be able to conduct attacks out of Afghanistan within a year and a half.[18] The recent wave of violence is indicative of such a transformation. Since the rise of the Taliban to power, IS-K has remained the top terrorist threat targeting religious minorities, the economic infrastructure, and the Taliban.[19][20] Lately, the group warned of a new era of violence. In its newly launched online English magazine addressing a global audience, IS-K claimed the beginning of a new age of jihad.[21]

The uncertainties surrounding IS-K intensify the need to explore key aspects of this subsidiary of the Islamic State (IS). What is the current strength of the organization in Afghanistan? What are the ideological and strategic dynamics between the Taliban and the IS-K? What is the growth potential of IS-K, which could allow it to become a regional or even global threat? These are the main questions that this article addresses.

As mentioned, knowledge about IS-K is limited and contested. Methodologically, the mutually reinforcing

challenges of information accessibility and authenticity about the group have shaped the problem. Existing information about the group primarily comes from Western and former Afghan security and intelligence sources. The withdrawal of the U.S. from Afghanistan and the subsequent collapse of the Afghan government have created an information vacuum about IS-K, which is consequential, especially at a time of the IS-K's transformation.

Before the fall of Kabul to the Taliban, IS-K was reconstituting itself from the strategic losses it incurred at the hands of the U.S. military, Afghan security forces, and the Taliban during 2019–20.[22] At the time, the organization started moving from eastern Afghanistan toward the northern and northeastern regions of the country. It is challenging to assess the country's new political and strategic realities following the fall of Kabul. Furthermore, the media blackout in the country orchestrated by the Taliban regime for political and strategic reasons reinforces such limitations. Before publishing any information, Afghan media outlets need approval from the Taliban.[23] Since taking state power, the Taliban regime has emerged as the primary source of information about IS-K. It has monopolized information by systematically closing down free media.[24] Such a monopoly over information poses challenges for separating the Taliban's propaganda from facts about IS-K.

The Taliban have persistently downplayed the threat of IS-K.[25] They also deny the existence of foreign militants in the country, including within the IS-K.[26] Such denials are orchestrated for political and strategic reasons. By toning down the threat of IS-K, the Taliban claim a monopoly over the use of force/vio-lence across the country that the group needs to seek international recognition and legitimacy. In addition, the Taliban's claim of successfully uprooting the threat of the ISIS-K in the country is meant to project the notion of their disassociation from global terrorism. Waging war against local members of IS-K can also obscure the regime's failure or unwillingness to sever ties with al-Qaeda and other transnational terrorist groups. Recent U.S. military and intelligence assessments as well as a UN report suggest that the Taliban regime is likely loosening its pressure on al-Qaeda to reestablish external operations capabilities.[27][28] The killing of Al-Zawahiri in Kabul in a U.S. counterterrorism operation would appear to confirm existing synergies between the Taliban and transnational terrorism.

Against the backdrop of challenges related to the accessibility and authenticity of the information, this article sheds new light on the current state of IS-K. The study on which it is based matched existing literature with data from the field. In addition, the study also explored the Taliban literature on IS-K. During their insurgency, the Taliban sources consistently wrote about IS-K since the latter came into existence in 2014. This corpus is mainly in the Pashto language and is composed of plain op-eds, field reports, critical analyses, decrees, and hermeneutic pieces based on religious scripts and interpretation. The corpus opens a unique window to examine the emergence of IS-K and how its relationships with the Taliban evolved. In addition, it provides materials for contrasting the ideological orientations of the two militant entities.

The author of this article gathered field information through interviews with key informants in Kabul and Nangarhar provinces in Afghanistan. Subsequently, key informants identified residents of districts in eastern and northern regions infiltrated by IS-K militants since 2015. In total, 12 field interviews were conducted with residents in the following districts: Achin, Speen Ghar, Kot, Haska Mina, and Shirzad in Nangarhar Province; Chardara and Dashti Archi in Kunduz province; and residents in Takhar, Balkh, Faryab, and Badakhshan provinces. All interviews took place via telecommunication.

In the following sections, this article provides insights into the origin of IS-K, contrasts the ideological orientations of the Taliban and IS-K, and discusses IS-K's current status and future potential. Each of these topics has interconnected strategic implications. Reviewing the origin of IS-K sheds light on the evolutionary trajectory of the organization and hence helps us understand its current shape and structure. The article concludes that IS-K is not a centralized and unitary organization but since its establishment, practices a local-foreign structural dualism.

Contrasting ideological orientations is aimed at exploring the Taliban's strategy toward IS-K. One finding is

that IS-K and the Taliban converge on fundamental ideological tenets. Such a convergence facilitates synergies for long-term interests between the two groups. Lastly, it is argued that, unlike ISIS-Core, the immediate goal of IS-K is not to establish its territorial power but to infiltrate the surrounding regions, including Central Asia. The group's strategic goal is not to topple the Taliban regime but to expand its own tentacles.

A Fragmented Origin

Unlike reports originating from eastern Afghanistan,[29] IS-K emerged in Pakistan. The Taliban sources identified the Tirah valley of Orakzai district in Northwestern Pakistan as its birthplace.[30] The origin, however, was not centralized but fragmented.

In 2014, the Pakistan military launched the Zarb-e-Azab operation in North Waziristan against local and foreign militants, mainly Tahrik-e-Taliban Pakistan (TTP), Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan (IMU), and the East Turkestan Islamic Movement (ETIM). While some TTP leadership reemerged in Tirah Valley, militants belonged to IMU, and ETIM seemingly vanished into thin air but later resurfaced in Afghanistan.

In Tirah Valley, the TTP leadership initially reorganized itself into a new group named Tehrik-e Khilafat Pakistan (TKP) [the Caliphate Movement of Pakistan] led by Mullah Saeed Orakzai, otherwise known as Hafiz Saeed Khan, a former TTP high-level operative. Soon after its establishment, the group started promoting ISIS in the region. In September 2014, ISIS-Core sent an envoy to Pakistan for a monthlong talk with the leaders of the newly established TKP.[31] In January 2015, the TKP pledged allegiance to Abu Bakar Al-Baghdadi, the then-leader of ISIS.[32] The latter quickly reciprocated the pledge by officially accepting the oath of allegiance and announced the establishment of the IS in Khorasan Province (IS-K) under the governorship of Saeed Khan, with Mullah Abdul Rauf Khadim as his deputy.[33][34]

Before becoming the deputy of Khan, Khadim, a former Taliban commander and a former Guantanamo detainee, defected from the Taliban and started promoting ISIS in the Kajaki district of Helmand in southern Afghanistan. He was reportedly engaged in resettling the foreign fighters that fled from Waziristan into the area. Days after being named as deputy of IS-K, Khadim was killed in a targeted drone strike by US forces. [35]

Meanwhile, at the same time in eastern Afghanistan, Abdul Rahim Muslim Dost, another former Taliban militant with a long terrorism charge sheet, including imprisonment in Guantanamo Bay, opened another front of promoting ISIS and pledged his allegiance to al-Baghdadi.[36] There is no evidence to indicate that Dost had initially combined his efforts to promote ISIS with either Khan or Khadim. Taliban sources noted that both Khan and Dost acted independently and out of opportunism in pledging allegiance to al-Baghdadi. The source claims that while Khan got recognition by ISIS, Dost's allegiance landed on deaf ears and was not reciprocated.[37] However, soon thereafter, Dost joined IS-K under the leadership of Khan and facilitated its expansion into eastern Afghanistan, which subsequently became a crucial front for IS-K's foreign elements.

Giustozzi claimed that Khan's credentials of traveling to Syria and having membership in Al Nusra and, in 2013, in ISIS were crucial in designating him as the IS-K head.[38] However, there is no evidence to suggest that Khan traveled to Syria, except Khan's own claim in an interview with Giustozzi. The latter seemed to take the claim at face value. Within the global jihadi culture, such wild claims are mainly used for the purpose of suggesting divine and moral legitimacy. Within this culture, even dreams are used as tools to seek legitimacy. As such, Khan's claims of being a member of Al Nusra and then of ISIS in Syria before becoming the head of IS-K can pretty much be a fantasy created for soliciting legitimacy among the jihadi groups in the region when seeking leadership. There is no third-party evidence to authenticate Khan's travel to Syria and his memberships in Al Nusra or ISIS-Core. The Taliban sources, on the contrary, indicate that before reemerging in the Tirah Valley from Waziristan and before establishing TKP, Khan was a mid-level commander of the Tarik Taliban-Pakistan (TTP) in Waziristan.[39]

While Khan was designated to lead IS-K in the Tirah Valley, Dost initiated the resettling foreign militants

in eastern Afghanistan. Respondents in the region revealed that Dost initially started to facilitate harboring foreign militants in the southern districts of Nangarhar province in 2015.[40][41] It indicates that Dost's initial allegiance to ISIS and his subsequent integration with IS-K may have been due to his close contacts with foreign militants who escaped from Waziristan in 2014. Taliban sources acknowledge that they relocated foreign militants, mainly from Central Asia, including Uyghur fighters, to eastern Afghanistan before the start of the Waziristan operation.[42]

In 2017, Taliban sources revealed that during the 2014 Pakistan Army Zarb-e-Azab operation in Waziristan, foreign fighters, mainly those from Uzbekistan, were relocated into Zabul province in southern Afghanistan. [43] In 2015, a defecting Taliban commander, Mullah Mansoor Dadullah, collaborated with Uzbek fighters against the Taliban in Zabul province. Under the IS-K flag, they laid siege on some districts in the province and committed violence against the Shi'a population. The Taliban responded by waging war against the Uzbek fighters and their local collaborators in late 2015.[44] A Taliban official report indicates that the Taliban retook the districts and executed Dadullah and his men. The report vaguely mentioned that the foreign/Uzbek militants were dispersed.[45]

In brief, after the dispersion of militants from Waziristan in 2014, they reemerged in three different regions. The first group was the Pakistani militants that established IS-K in northwestern Pakistan. Initially, the Taliban relocated the foreign fighters to eastern and southern Afghanistan. In alliance with Afghan collaborators, mainly former Taliban commanders, these elements reorganized themselves in Nangarhar, Zabul, and Helmand provinces.

Subsequently, all three groups reconvened in the southern districts of Nangarhar province in eastern Afghanistan. By 2020, after years of fighting with the U.S., the Afghan government, and the Taliban, the foreign elements moved out of eastern Afghanistan and relocated to the country's northern regions.[46] By that time, its local fighters (Pashtun tribesmen) were killed, captured, or dispersed. During the initial phase of its evolution, IS-K's organization embraced a local-foreign dual structure.

Local-Foreign Structural Duality

The dispersion of militants from Waziristan and the subsequent fragmented rise of IS-K gave birth to confusion about its structure. Some analysts see IS-K as a centralized and unitary entity, composed mainly of local Pashtun (Afghan and Pakistani) militants.[47][48] In his detailed account of IS-K's structure, Giustozzi asserts that the organization is a hybrid model with a centralized structure but centrifugal tendencies. He considers IS-K as an alliance of four local groups, namely Tehrik-e Khilafat Khorasan (TKK), Tehrik-e Khilafat Pakistan (TKP), Khilafat Afghan and Azizullah Haqqani.[49] When trying to understand the genesis and structure of IS-K, Giustozzi had given much weight to the role of ISIS leadership, including Al-Baghdadi, Muslim Turkmani, and Omar al-Shishani, in encouraging Afghan and Pakistani volunteer fighters in Syria to return and establish a branch of the organization in the region.[50] He claims that efforts were also coordinated with the Afghan Taliban, including its Peshawar Shura and Haqqani Network members, to facilitate establishing such a branch. There are two issues that the narrative could not explain. First, the Taliban source that has started commenting on ISIS since its inception reveals no accounts to suggest their direct contacts with either ISIS or its subsidiary. Similarly, Johnson (2016) rejected the view that the returning Afghan and Pakistani fighters from Syria played any role in establishing IS-K.[51] Secondly, Giustozzi overlooked the roles and constituencies of the foreign militants displaced from Waziristan in the organization's composition. This present article, on the contrary, notes a more pragmatic and fragmented genesis and structure of IS-K. The most significant aspect of the organizational structure is its local-foreign duality.

In general, the public face of IS-K portrays an organization composed of local Pashtun tribesmen, mainly from Pakistan's tribal areas and eastern Afghanistan. However, the study on which this article is based found two structural layers within the organization—an outer layer primarily composed of the local militants and a veiled inner or a core layer, exclusively composed of foreign militants, mainly from Central Asia as well as

some from the Middle East.

Residents of remote villages and districts in eastern Afghanistan, where IS-K infiltrated during different periods from 2015 to 2020, revealed a visible division/divide between the dealings and conducts of the two layers. While the local elements were more brutal, mostly uneducated, and detectable, the foreign fighters were more organized, well-equipped, and out of the way of the public eye. The foreign elements mostly dwelled in deep pockets of villages where local IS-K militants resided in the out parameters. In addition to spreading fear and terror among the local population by inflicting inhumane and barbaric violence, the local militants also served as a protective layer for the inner core and facilitated accommodation and provisioning services for the foreigners.

A respondent in the secluded mountainous region of Haska Mina (Dih Bala) in eastern Afghanistan indicated that in 2018, in addition to Pashtun fighters, a group of up to 45–50 foreign fighters lived in the area. Unlike their local peers, the foreign elements mostly remained unengaged with the local population and were kept isolated from the larger community.[52] Another respondent in the Shirzad district remembered that the local people welcomed the existence of those foreign militants in the area as they created economic opportunities by offering high prices for daily provisions, including livestock, dairy products, and rentals. [53] The respondent stated that in the Kandi village, a resident, who used to be an Imam of a local mosque and then moved out to live in Pakistan, rented his abandoned compound to a group of IS-K foreign militants in exchange for US\$400 per month. The respondent claimed that getting this much for the rental in an offthe-grid area was unprecedented.[54]

In the Achin district in eastern Afghanistan, a respondent revealed that the foreign militants were mainly men that, unlike their local peers, mostly avoided interfering in the affairs of the villages. They were organized into 4–5 subgroups that frequently moved from the village to the nearby mountains, most probably for training purposes.[55]

Relatively, according to the study respondents in northern Afghanistan, similar structural dynamics were observed in Andarab [56] and Khost-o-Farang [57] districts in the northern regions during 2020–21. The only difference inferred from the accounts of some respondents is that in the northern region, the Pashtun tribesmen, primarily the Pakistani elements, were not accompanying the foreign elements. Instead, residents observed fewer local militiamen, mainly former/Jihadi warlords, alongside the foreign fighters. In addition, unlike in Nangarhar Province, the foreign fighters were socially not very dependent on their local peers. Instead, taking advantage of their ethnic and linguistic similarities with the local population, the Uzbek and Tajik fighters were more independent in their dealings and interactions. Villagers reportedly informed the then–Afghan government local officials about the newly arrived fighters. The officials refused to intervene. [58]

After the organization started shifting to the northern parts of the country in 2020, the Pashtun elements within the IS-K have considerably abridged. With the collapse of Kabul to the Taliban, IS-K's outer layer of local fighters further thinned out as the Taliban initiated a brutal campaign against them (discussed in detail elsewhere).

The local-foreign duality in the organizational structure of IS-K has evolved since its inception in early 2015. The entity has initially come together as the result of three relatively parallel processes of new recruitment, reorganization/resettlement of the existing foreign groups in the region, and repositioning elements from the Middle East.

The recruitment process was mostly focused on attracting fighters from local Pashtun tribes in the regions surrounding the Thira Valley in northwestern Pakistan. Soon after announcing its existence, the group recruited Orakzai tribesmen, predominantly. Even when IS-K shifted to Afghanistan in 2015, these tribesmen composed a large proportion of the organization's rank and file. During that time, the Taliban sources acknowledged that the Orakzai tribesmen were the main elements in the then newly shifted IS-K in eastern Afghanistan.[59] Similarly, the U.S. commander in Afghanistan in 2017 acknowledged that IS-K fighters are Pakistani from the Orakzai agency.[60]

When the organization moved to eastern Afghanistan in 2015, it continued recruiting local fighters. This study revealed that unlike in the Orakzai district, where the recruits were primarily uneducated tribal religious fanatics, recruits in this part of Afghanistan were the ideologically driven and well-educated Salafi cadres from the four eastern provinces of Nangarhar, Kunar, Nuristan, and Laghman.[61][62] It is worth mentioning that the roots of Salafism in Eastern Afghanistan go back to the Afghan Jihad era in the 1980s when a local Mujahideen leader named Jamil-u-Rahman with the support of Arab mujahideen and finances from Saudi and Kuwait established Salafi madrasas in the Kunar Province of Afghanistan and the adjacent Bajaur District in northwestern Pakistan.[63]

The second process involved in the initial evolution of IS-K was resettling the existing transnational militant groups in the region. Before the Waziristan operation, foreign militant groups, including the East Turkestan Islamic Movement (ETIM) and other militants from Central Asia, were relocated to Afghanistan by the Taliban. These groups resettled in Nangarhar, Zabul, and Helmand provinces and were protected by local militants. In Nangarhar Province, the foreign fighters got together with the newly shifted IS-K. In Helmand, a former Taliban commander, who became IS-K deputy leader, supported the relocated foreign fighters.[64] [65] In Zabul, the Uzbek fighters relied on another dissented Taliban commander Mullah Mansoor Dadullah (discussed below).[66]

In the subsequent years after IS-K announced its existence and was endorsed by ISIS, the latter assisted its new franchise with human and financial resources. Reportedly, it relocated some operatives in the newly designed IS province. According to the UN in 2017, "ISIS-core continues to facilitate the relocation of some of its key operatives to Afghanistan, including Abu Qutaiba, the Islamic State's former leader in Iraq's Salah al-Din province."[67] Similarly, ISIS-Core also sent financial resources to IS-K to improve its network and organizational structure.[68]

Initially, the U.S. Central Command believed that the "Khurasan Group" was an elite independent terrorist network comprised of core Al-Qaeda operatives and some elite members of the Al-Nusrah Front in Syria. [69][70] Other sources questioned the independent existence of such a group and asserted it should be a small network within a network.[71] Al-Nusra Front categorically denied the existence of such a group and considered it a fabrication by the U.S.[72] Soon after, the FBI announced the destruction of the group, claiming that it was no longer a threat.[73] This was at the time when ISIS sent its delegation to meet Khan in Pakistan, who had pledged allegiance to the organization, for initial talks. The discussion among the U.S. military and intelligence circles about the emergence and then rapid dissolution of the "Khorasan group" might have been confused with the emergence and spread of IS-K.

In brief, while existing literature points out the presence of foreign fighters from Central Asia and some Arabs in the composition of IS-K [74–76] the structural duality of the organization is a new find. IS-K is composed of two unfused layers of local and foreign groups. Contrary to Giustozzi's claim about the IS-K rejecting the notion of being a nomadic jihadi organization without a stable home,[77] this study found that while local fighters serve as the face of the organization, its core has remained obscured and migratory.

The outer layer of the organization is unstable and constantly changing due to the mobility of its core from one region to the other. In eastern Afghanistan, the organization developed a thick outer layer with thousands of local fighters from Pakistan and Afghanistan. However, since the IS-K shifted to the northern region of Afghanistan, the Pashtun elements have declined considerably. In the northern provinces, IS-K is focusing more on recruiting local and across-the-border Uzbek, Tajik, and Turkman fighters.

Unlike reports portraying an organization internally divided between local (Afghan) and foreign (Pakistani) militants,[78] this study reveals a more novel and pragmatic organizational setup—a local-foreign structure duality. The structure provides the organization with security from existential threats. While the local

(Afghan and Pakistani) elements have remained the main target, the obscured core that is predominantly composed of foreign militants has remained unaffected. It has kept a low profile, is mostly unengaged, and is often on the move. The geographic scope of the organization's current tactical and media activities, including carrying out attacks in the Afghan-Pakistan region and its recent recruitments from Central Asian republics, suggests that the core is anchored through networking.

After rising to power in Kabul, the Taliban has continued a brutal crackdown mainly against the local elements of IS-K. It has almost dismantled the organization's outer layer. Why are the Taliban targeting IS-K's local fighters, not the core? To explain this puzzle, it is important to compare the ideological orientation of the Taliban with that of the IS-K.

Ideological Convergence with the Taliban

An apparent rivalry between the Taliban and IS-K has existed since the latter emerged on the jihadist landscape in late 2014. While the contentious relationship between the two has been discussed,[79–81] the question that did not attract much attention is whether the rivalry is ideological or strategic. In order to explore the question, this study examines three issues that can help in contrasting the ideological and strategic contours of the IS-K/ Taliban relationship. These are the Taliban's initial stance on the creation of ISIS, the Taliban's position on the issue of the creation of a global caliphate for the "Muslim Umma," and, thirdly, the Taliban's stance on the question of perpetual jihad. While the first issue is more of a strategic significance for understanding the relationship between the Taliban and IS-K, the last two are at the core of almost all Sunni jihadist groups' ideological socialization. In the following, we briefly discuss each of these questions below.

The Taliban's Initial Relationship with ISIS

Examining the Taliban's initial relationship with ISIS-Core helps to determine whether the rift between the two organizations is ideological or strategic. From their writings, it is clear that the Taliban's initial stance on ISIS was nothing but supportive and harmonious. Unlike al-Qaeda, the Taliban welcomed the declaration of the creation of ISIS by Abu Bakar Al-Baghdadi in 2013. In early 2104, the Taliban portrayed a positive image of ISIS through their writings. They addressed its fighters as "mujahideen" or holy warriors, and they even threatened Afghan media outlets not to report negatively on the newly emerged ISIS.[82]

The Taliban speculated about the new ISIS-Core as being influential in combining Jordan, Syria, Iraq, Oman, and Lebanon into a single caliphate.[83] Such conjecture about the creation of an overarching Islamic caliphate was months before the actual proclamation of the caliphate by ISIS in June of 2014. Moving forward, the Taliban apologetically justified ISIS brutality as a reaction to the brutality of the US and NATO. The group even cited Fidel Castro's written piece that compared NATO to Nazi SS.[84] Furthermore, the Taliban claimed that, in addition to being engaged in warfare, ISIS provides welfare programs such as building roads and charity to the poor. The Taliban neither opposed the creation of the caliphate nor denounced ISIS's expansionist agenda. Quite the opposite, the Taliban asserted that the ISIS caliphate was based on justice and meant to serve the Umma [Muslim nation].[85]

Reciprocally, ISIS provided support by publishing the Taliban's related propaganda, news, and other materials in its global media outlets. In 2017, the Taliban sources acknowledged the supportive dynamic and synergies between the two groups. They affirmed and appreciated that ISIS allocated a section of their [International Jihadi Platform] distinctively to the Taliban.[86]

In 2015, the Taliban's then-leader Mullah Mansoor Akhundzada sent a carefully toned letter to the ISIS caliph Abu Bakar Al-Baghdadi. Its contents were not indicative of any ideological differences or contentions. On the contrary, it elaborated the common grounds and shared vision between the two organizations. Mansoor praised the Arab ideologues and pioneers of the global jihad, including Abdullah Azzam, Osama bin Laden, Abdu Musab Al-Zarqawi, and Al-Baghdadi himself, for their relentless sacrifices for the Muslim Umma [nation]. In addition, the letter addressed Al-Baghdadi and his ISIS fighters as mujahideen and

wished them success in their divine efforts.[87]

The letter, which the Taliban leader apparently sent in response to ISIS establishing its subsidiary in the historic Khorasan region (present-day Afghanistan, Central Asia, and parts of Persia and the Indian subcontinent), did not oppose the creation of IS-K. However, it attempted to convince Al-Baghdadi not to challenge the legitimacy of the Taliban's supreme leader Mullah Omar and his claimed title of Amir al-Mu'minin [leader of the Muslimeen] in his domain. It is noteworthy that, by then, Omar was dead (though his death was kept secret). Mansoor requested Al-Baghdadi not to divide the united front against the infidels.[88] The essence of the letter was to convince Al-Baghdadi to let IS-K follow the tradition of other jihadist groups, including Al-Qaeda, Tahrik Taliban Pakistan (TTP), and others who gave their oath of allegiance to the Taliban's Amir al-Mu'minin.

But that is not what happened. ISIS's response to the letter was not just harsh but belittling. According to Giustozzi, Al-Baghdadi described Omar as "uneducated" and unfit for being Amir al-Mu'minin.[89] Subsequently, the official relationship between the two organizations went into a free fall, with ISIS labeling the Taliban heretics.[90] In response, the Taliban decreed any oath of allegiance to Al-Baghdadi as outlawed and un-Islamic.[91]

However, despite the ISIS doctrinal and ideological criticism of the Taliban, the latter never opposed the ideological tenets of ISIS, including the creation of the caliphate and the waging of a global jihad. On the contrary, the Taliban criticized ISIS purely on the ground of strategic imperatives.

The Taliban's Position on the Issue of the Caliphate

The Taliban's rivalry with ISIS is not based on the ideological and moral imperatives of a caliphate. They have explicitly acknowledged the moral and religious necessities for establishing a caliphate. The Taliban assert that it should be the sacred vision of every Islamic movement and group to establish the caliphate.[92] However, they criticized ISIS's unsystematic and drastic approach toward the proclamation of the caliphate. The group considered the ISIS declaration premature and counterproductive, saying that "…there is always a proper time for the realization of such a sacred dream."[93]

The strategic restrain of the Taliban pertaining to the establishment of an overarching caliphate is similar to that of al-Qaeda. According to Giustozzi, al-Qaeda has postponed declaring its caliphate to the distant future.[94] In their writings, the Taliban justified their restrain by referring to a letter that the chief judge of the Islamic State in Iraq (ISI) Abu Sulayman al-Utaybi wrote to Osama bin Laden in 2007. In the letter, Utaybi [95] opposed the declaration of the Islamic State by al-Zarqawi on the ground of causing strategic and tactical challenges for the mujahideen.[96] After writing this letter, Utaybi left ISI, the predecessor organization of ISIS, and joined al-Qaeda in the Afghanistan-Pakistan region.

On the issue of creating IS-K, the Taliban initially advised ISIS to have a systematic and inclusive approach. Before announcing its presence in Khurasan, ISIS was supposed to first free Iraq and Syria from the infidels and their puppets, and then move on to Lebanon and Jordan, Saudi and other places, and maybe later to Afghanistan.[97] Similarly, in his letter to Al-Baghdadi, the Taliban leader's justification for acknowledging the Taliban as the sole legitimate source in Afghanistan was not based on ideological reasoning but strategic and tactical ones. Mansoor repeatedly mentioned that the strategic realities on the ground point to the necessity not to diversify the leadership and divide the legitimacy of the holy war against the infidels and their puppets.[98]

These explanations suggest that ideologically, the difference between the Taliban and the IS-K is not over the moral and political legitimacy of a caliphate. On the contrary, commitment to pursue such a mission is considered by the Taliban as one of the main sources of legitimacy for Islamic movements. The Taliban do not counter the Salafi jihadist movements' goal of establishing a caliphate. Their ideologues explicitly adhere to such a goal. They, however, diverge with ISIS over strategizing the realization of such an ultimate goal. ISIS's

proclamation of the caliphate was taken by the Taliban as delegitimizing the role of their Amir al-Mu'minin. [99] In almost all branches of Islamic jurisprudence, only the Amir al-Mu'minin has the legitimacy and authority to proclaim a caliphate. The Taliban argue that realizing such a sacred mission should be consensual, timely, and well-strategized.

Convergence with the Taliban on the Global Jihad

The third element that can help us in contrasting the ideological differences between the Taliban and the IS-K is the Taliban's stance on global jihad. The Taliban neither reject nor question the claim of a perpetual jihad. On the contrary, they theoretically and hermeneutically converge with the global jihadist movements on the issue of a never-ending jihad. It is unlike what Giustozzi asserts that the nihilist militarist 'ideology' of war of IS-K differentiates it from the Taliban.[100] The Taliban sources point in the opposite direction. They not only present the ongoing jihad as a fundamental obligation of an Islamic organization; they also do not believe in a peaceful coexistence with the "infidels."

The factor that has convinced some scholars to hold that the Taliban differs from other contemporary jihadist organizations is the Taliban's rapprochement with the Western powers. Bunzel claims that the Taliban's interests begin and end in Afghanistan.[101] Giustozzi argues that the Taliban lost its leading jihadist role when its leadership began to seek a political solution for the conflict sometime after 2010.[102] Similarly, IS-K denounced the Taliban for straying from the divine path, thereby losing their religious purity.[103] The Taliban, on the other hand, justify their rapprochement with the Western powers as tactical and part of the jihad.

Based on Al-Mabsut, a medieval text authored by the 11th-century Islamic jurist Muhammad bin Ahmad Al-Sarkhasi, the Taliban justifies their detente and truce with the Western powers as a tactical arrangement in the conduct of jihad to maintain and improve strength toward the ultimate triumph.[104] Theologically, the compromise of a truce is indeed accepted by mainstream branches of Islamic jurisprudence, including the Hanafi and Shafi schools of thought, as an integral part of the jihad.[105] The disagreement, however, is on the timing/duration of the truce.

Addressing the disagreement about the duration of the truce, the Taliban sources vacillate between the Hanafi and Shafi schools of jurisprudence. While Hanafi jurists do not specify a timeline for a truce, the Shafi jurists, on the other hand, are divided. One group gives the right of decision to the Imam or the leader. The other side identifies a maximum duration of ten years after which any obligation to the truce becomes illegitimate and outlawed.[106] On the issue of a permanent truce and peace, the Taliban sources avoid having a clear stance. However, they briefly mentioned the contrasting views of Islamic jurists.[107]

The Taliban conclude that a truce with "infidels" is allowed even if its duration is not mentioned in the agreement. They argue that some Islamic jurists also legitimize a permanent truce.[108] They assert that while there are no boundaries for [global] jihad, there are for its various battle fronts.[109] This implies that theoretically and ideologically, the Taliban acknowledge the obligation of jihad on a global scale. They, however, consider limitations in its application based on strategic and tactical reasons and circumstances.

These three explanations indicate that the rivalry between IS-K and the Taliban is more strategic and tactical than ideological. As such, being a jihadist organization, the Taliban's interests are not restricted to Afghanistan. In their writings, the Taliban explicitly acknowledge the legal and moral imperatives of the global caliphate and jihad. However, what differentiates them from ISIS, or its subsidiary IS-K, is more strategic constraint/patience and flexibility in terms of timing and fronts of global jihad. Such patience and groupbased interest put the Taliban in a contentious strategic rivalry with IS-K. This rivalry fuels the brutal and bloody low-profile warfare between the Taliban and the IS-K. However, strategic imperatives, not overarching ideological tenets, shape the nature of this warfare.

Soon after announcing their Emirate in Kabul in early September of 2021, the Taliban intensified its brutal

crackdown on IS-K. The research on which this article is based points in the direction that the Taliban's war is not a total war against IS-K, but only against selective targets within the organization. Based on its strategic calculation, the Taliban regime, while exclusively targeting IS-K's local elements, protect its foreign elements by denying their existence in the country. On numerous occasions, the Taliban denied that Arab, Uzbek, the Uyghur, Pakistani, and other foreign fighters exist in the country. This selective treatment of IS-K by the Taliban is discussed in the following section.

Strength and Future Potentials

Since its creation in early 2015, IS-K has incurred several strategic blows. The organization, though, survived and resurfaced after every setback. Similarly, since gaining power in Kabul, the Taliban have repeatedly claimed to uproot IS-K across the country.[110] However, in contrast to such claims, IS-K has shown yet another resurgence, stronger than before. With the arrival of spring in 2022, the group has intensified and widened its operations in different regions of the country. It has found new sanctuaries and safe havens in the northern, northeastern, and western parts of Afghanistan. Before discussing the new opportunities for the group, it is worth exploring what drives IS-K's resilience and survival capacities.

As discussed elsewhere, since its emergence, IS-K has projected a complete local image. Its leadership and public face predominantly represent local militants. While most operations against the organization have targeted its leadership and local militants, the foreign elements, or its core, have remained more or less unruffled. This duality gives the organization the flexibility and strength to absorb severe blows and reorganize quickly. Over time, it became clear how the foreign elements have remained less affected by various crack-down operations carried out by the U.S. military, the former Afghan government, or the Taliban.

One of the first battles against IS-K was in Zabul province of Afghanistan in late 2015. The then-newly arrived IS-K Uzbek fighters collaborated with defected Taliban and besieged some districts. The Taliban reacted forcefully. As per a Taliban field report, the Uzbek militants were dispersed, and the defected Taliban was liquidated.[111] Similarly, from its birth in late 2014 to mid-2018, IS-K has lost four of its leaders, namely Hafiz Saeed in 2015,[112] Abdul Hasib in April 2017, Abu Sayed in July 2017,[113] and Abu Saad Orakzai in August 2018.[114] All the leaders were local Pashtuns. None was foreign. Despite such leadership loss, it did not affect the organization's ability to survive.

These challenges forced the organization to morph and adapt new coping mechanisms. In 2018, IS-K started moving some of its foreign militants to northern Afghanistan.[115] By 2020, units of Central Asian fighters of IS-K relocated to the Andarab and Khost-o-Ferung districts of Baghlan Province.[116] Based on a shared ethnolinguistic identity, these fighters were reportedly less hesitant in interacting with residents. Consequently, with the shift to northern Afghanistan, the proportion of Pashtun elements within IS-K started to sink. Instead, the organization embarked on recruiting local fighters from the northern region. According to respondents, in 2020 and 2021, some non-Pashtun warlords and militia sided with IS-K. Unlike in eastern Afghanistan, where ideological factors attracted many Salafi Pashtuns toward IS-K, local elements in the north joined the organization based on political motivations. They were skeptical about the intentions of the Afghan government in fighting the Taliban.[117] In addition, unlike in eastern Afghanistan, the recruitment process of local elements in northern Afghanistan was on a small scale.

IS-K since the Fall of Kabul

The collapse of the Afghan government and the rise of the Taliban to power brought challenges and opportunities for IS-K. The immediate effect of the state collapse for IS-K was the release of its prisoners. After capturing large cities—including Kunduz, Kandahar and Kabul—the Taliban opened gates of prisons and released the inmates.[118–120] Among them were thousands of alleged IS-K fighters.[121] IS-K sources indicate that the Taliban released more than 2000 IS-K fighters already before capturing Kabul.[122]

Among the released inmates was the one who carried out a suicide bombing attack at the Kabul airport on

August 26, 2021, that killed 170 Afghan civilians along with 13 US service members.[123] IS-K identified the bomber as Abdulrahman Logari, whom the group initially sent to India in 2017 to carry out a suicide mission. Logari was arrested in India and deported to Kabul, where he was handed over to the CIA prison on the Bagram airfield.[124] As the airport bombing sparked a media frenzy about IS-K, it reached the peak of its global exposure. With that came challenges. The Taliban regime soon launched a brutal campaign against the local elements of IS-K in eastern and southern Afghanistan.

The Taliban regime's stance on the IS-K presence has been confusing and contradictory. On the one hand, the Taliban categorically denied the existence of foreign militants within the framework of either IS-K or al-Qaeda in Afghanistan.[125] In addition, the Taliban portrayed IS-K as a small group that was irrelevant and insignificant as a threat. Soon after the Kabul airport bombing, the Taliban ordered its commanders to weed out IS-K members hiding among the Taliban ranks.[126] Consequently, the regime initiated brutal and violent warfare against IS-K militants.

By applying brutal and fear-mongering tactics, including beheadings, stabbing, drownings, and on-the-spot executions,[127] the Taliban have targeted and liquidated hundreds of local IS-K members. On various occasions, the group proclaimed victory and announced the uprooting of IS-K in the country.[128] In addition, the Taliban has denied the existence of any organized multinational structure of IS-K in the country. [129] The present study rejects this claim. Foreign elements have been proliferating within IS-K in various regions of the country since the rise of the Taliban to power. These elements are originating mainly from Central Asian republics.

In addition, the rise of the Taliban to power also pushed various local militia to side with the IS-K. According to sources consulted for this study, IS-K has been expanding its recruitment of local fighters in Faryab, Jawzjan, Sar-e-Pul, Mazar-e-Sharif, Kunduz, Takhar, and Badakhshan provinces. A group of IS-K is now even stationed in the western Herat Province bordering Iran.[130]

Respondents consulted for this study pointed out that ideological, ethnolinguistic, and political factors have facilitated the shift of the IS-K to the north of the country. The ideological factors are mainly influential in Badakhshan, Takhar, and Herat provinces, where Salafi and Deobandi jihadist ideologies are prevalent among local religious clerks. More specially, in the northwestern Badakhshan and northern Takhar provinces, in addition to potential ethnic and linguistic factors, extremist ideology is the main factor for attracting local elements to IS-K. These two provinces have a significant number of young people in Jihadi madrasas. For many decades, the challenging socioeconomic conditions in these resource-scarce provinces have forced thousands of families to send their male children to boarding madrasas in Pakistan that offer free accommodation and food.[131]

In retrospect, it appears that the Salafi madrasas established in Pakistan for Afghan refugees during the Afghan jihad had attracted tens of thousands of students from the northeastern provinces of Afghanistan. In addition, during that time, the Deobandi madrasas established by the Afghan jihadi groups attracted many students from Takhar and Badakhshan provinces. The madrasa culture promoted a jihadist ideology in the region. Compared to other non-Pashtun populations, Badakhshan and Takhar have a significant presence in extremist militant organizations such as the Taliban, al-Qaeda, and IS-K.

The western province of Herat is turning to a new sanctuary of IS-K. Here more than ethnic and linguistic reasons, ideological factors are reported to be the main drivers for local militants to join or accommodate IS-K. The province has become a hotspot for radicalism and jihadist ideology due to the proliferation of Salafi madrasas funded by Arabs in Herat during the Afghan jihad era. One of the attractions for the Arab Salafi dynamism in the province was the proximity of Herat to Iran. For example, during the Afghan Jihad in the 1980s–1990s, the Kulya Shari'a [school of Sharia] was a well-known Salafi madrasa that the Arab mujahideen founded in Peshawar, Pakistan. After the collapse of the Afghan communist regime in 1992, the madrasa moved to Herat.[132] In addition, due to its historical and spiritual significance, the Herat province has attracted many hard-line religious figures and clerks to promote their radical jihadist ideology.

Unlike in Badakhshan, Takhar, and Herat, in other northern provinces, including Kunduz, Faryab, and Balk provinces, ethnic-linguistic factors are facilitating the infiltration of IS-K.[133][134] As a Pashtun dominant group, the Taliban's intolerance and their regime's restricting and exclusionary policies and conduct have been pushing non-Pashtun groups toward alternatives. With the collapse of the Afghan government, these groups have already started collaborating with IS-K in the northern provinces.[135][136] Our sources revealed that IS-K recruits individuals from non-Pashtun residences in provinces and districts with high ethnolinguistic tensions among the population.

These factors provide IS-K with new opportunities in northern Afghanistan. Factors such as proximity with the Central Asian republics, intensifying ethnolinguistic resentments of the non-Pashtun population with the Taliban, and the existing radical/jihadist ideological infrastructure in the northern regions provide IS-K with more favorable conditions to expand the recruitment of local and foreign elements.

While the Taliban have only targeted the local elements of the organization, the core of IS-K has remained intact, even expanding. By taking advantage of the current political realities of Afghanistan under the Taliban and with the geographic proximity to Central and Western Asia, IS-K could morph into a significant regional and, over time, even global threat. In the northern regions, IS-K will find it easy to recruit local elements, based on their political and ethnolinguistic grievances with the Taliban regime. In addition, they have more access to the Central Asian republics for more recruits.

Conclusion

IS-K is not a local jihadi organization. On the contrary, it is a transnational group that is composed of fighters from Afghanistan, Pakistan, Arab countries, the Central Asian republics, and even includes some Indian nationals. The organizational structure of IS-K is based on a local-foreign duality, whereby the local elements (Afghan and Pakistani Pashtuns) serve as the public face of the group/outer layer. The foreign elements, which compose the organization's core, operate in the shadows of the outer layer. Such a structural duality has enabled IS-K to survive strategic blows and reemerge quickly.

However, the structural duality is not the only strength of IS-K enabling it to evolve into a regional and perhaps even global threat. The shared ideological tenets between the Taliban and IS-K on issues such as global jihadism, the necessity of a caliphate for Muslims, and the sanctity of suicide bombings, facilitate an ambiguous relationship between them. The ongoing conflict between them is predominantly nonideological. For strategic and rational reasons, including eliminating potential domestic rivals, the Taliban have waged a brutal low-profile warfare against the local elements of IS-K in different parts of the country. They have succeeded in dismantling and dispersing IS-K's local infrastructure in eastern Afghanistan. However, for ideological and grand-strategic reasons, the Taliban has refrained from fighting the core of IS-K. There is no evidence to suggest that the Taliban, at any point, have targeted the foreign elements of IS-K. The Taliban without the help of a strong local operational force.

Contemporary Sunni global Jihadi groups, including Salafi and Deobandi, are hardly diverse in their fundamental ideologies. Regardless of their theater of operation and agendas—domestic, regional, or global—the ideological contours of all these groups are similarly defined and articulated. They share the original sources and ideologues of jihadism. They have based their group ideologies and conduct on the same radical and literal interpretation and comprehension of the religious scripts and tradition. Placing these groups in separate ideological corners would be a mistake.

It would also be an analytical mistake to consider the Deobandi orthodoxy as static and untransformed. Such an assumption ignores the ideological transformation of this school in the last half-century. Many branches of the Deobandi school have shifted from orthodoxy to jihadism since the Afghan Jihad in the 1980s. This shared ideological direction was one of the reasons why the Taliban, a traditional Deobandi orthodoxy, quickly adopted and internalized the Salafi jihadist literature and ideology on the issue of suicide bombings.

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

For the Taliban, the anti-Shia stance of IS-K is a strategically insignificant issue for two mutually reinforcing reasons. First, though the Taliban does not hold a Takfiri position against the Shi'a population, the IS-K violence against the religious minority does not endanger the regime's grip on power. A potential rise of dissent of the Shi'a population cannot challenge the despotic rule of the Taliban. Secondly, since coming to power in Kabul, the Taliban has enforced many religious and social restrictions on the Shi'a, including but not limited to the revoking of Shi'a/Jafari jurisprudence from official laws.[137] They also removed the Jafari jurisprudence curriculum from universities.[138]

The Taliban knows that being a subsidiary organization of ISIS, the IS-K objective is to infiltrate the surrounding regions, including Central, South, and Western Asia/Persia. It also realizes that Afghanistan can serve as a springboard for such an overarching objective. Sharing such a goal with IS-K, at least in principle, does not contradict the Taliban regime's internal legitimacy or strategic imperatives. On the contrary, there exists an ideological imperative for the Taliban to be at least an indirect part of a broader global ideological scheme.

About the Author

Atal Ahmadzai, Ph.D. *is a scholar with thematic expertise that falls within the security (human)-developmentenvironment intersection. With regional expertise in South, Central, and Western Asia, Dr. Ahmadzai writes on contemporary terrorism and insurgencies in those regions. Given his multilinguistic fluencies, he examines contemporary terrorism through a prism of writings produced by given terrorist organizations. Analyzing the Taliban's corpus, Dr. Ahmadzai systematically studied the organizational and individual motivations behind the group's suicide bombings. He currently serves as visiting assistant professor of international relations.*

Notes

[1] 'Taliban Condemns "Barbarity" of Islamic State Execution Video.' *Reuters* (August 11, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/</u> <u>article/us-afghanistan-taliban/taliban-condemns-barbarity-of-islamic-state-execution-video-idUSKCN0QG22I20150811</u>.

[2] 'Suicide Attack on Pakistani Shrine Kills 72, Claimed by Islamic State.' *Reuters* (February 16, 2017). URL: <u>https://www.reu-ters.com/article/us-pakistan-blast/suicide-attack-on-pakistani-shrine-kills-72-claimed-by-islamic-state-idUSKBN15V233</u>.

[3] 'ISIS Fighters Attack Outposts in Tajikistan.' *The New York Times* (November 06, 2019). URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.</u> com/2019/11/06/world/asia/isis-tajikistan.html.

[4] 'Madhya Pradesh Train Blast: Mastermind Al-Qasim, a Self-Proclaimed India "Emir" of 'Khorasan Group.' *Times of India* (March 08, 2017). URL: <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/bhopal/madhya-pradesh-train-blast-mastermind-al-qasim-a-self-proclaimed-india-emir-of-khorasan-group/articleshow/57531601.cms</u>.

[5] 'Kabul Airport Attack: What Do We Know?' *British Broadcasting Corporation*, Visual Journalism Team (August 27, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-58349010</u>.

[6] 'Afghanistan: Deadly Attack Hits Kunduz Mosque During Friday Prayers'. *British Broadcasting Corporation* (October 09, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-58842793</u>.

[7] 'Suicide Bombers Hit Shiite Mosque in Afghanistan, Killing Dozens — the Second Such Attack in a Week.' *The Washington Post* (October 15, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2021/10/15/afghanistan-kandahar-mosque-explosion/</u>.

[8] 'Suicide attacker kills at least 19 in Kabul school blast.' *Aljazeera* (September 30, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/</u><u>news/2022/9/30/at-least-19-killed-in-kabul-blast-authorities</u>.

[9] 'Rahimullah Haqqani: Afghan cleric killed by bomb hidden in artificial leg – reports.' *British Broadcasting Corporation* (August 11, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-62508070</u>.

[10] 'More than 20 Killed in Attack on Kabul Military Hospital'. *British Broadcasting Corporation* (November 02, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-59133026</u>.

[11] Doxsee, Catrina, Jared Thompson, and Grace Hwang. 'Examining Extremism: Islamic State Khorasan Province (ISKP)'. Center for Strategic & International Studies (2018).URL: <u>https://www.csis.org/blogs/examining-extremism/examining-extremism-islamic-state-khorasan-province-iskp</u>.

[12] 'Explainer: ISIS-Khorasan in Afghanistan'. Wilson Center (August 27, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.wilsoncenter.org/article/</u> explainer-isis-khorasan-afghanistan. [13] Amira Jadoon, Abdul Sayed, and Andrew Mines. 'The Islamic State Threat in Taliban Afghanistan: Tracing the Resurgence of Islamic State Khorasan.' CTC Sentinel 15, no. 1 (January 2022): 32–45. URL: <u>https://ctc.westpoint.edu/wp-content/up-loads/2022/01/CTC-SENTINEL-012022.pdf</u>.

[14]_Seth Jones, 'Countering a Resurgent Terrorist Threat in Afghanistan'. Council on Foreign Relations (April 14, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.cfr.org/report/countering-resurgent-terrorist-threat-afghanistan</u>.

[15] Antonio Giustozzi, 'How Much of a Threat is the Islamic State in Khorasan?'. RUSI (March 28, 2022). URL: <u>https://rusi.org/</u> <u>explore-our-research/publications/commentary/how-much-threat-islamic-state-khorasan</u>.

[16] 'With Spate of Attacks, ISIS Begins Bloody New Chapter in Afghanistan.' *The New York Times* (May 1, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2022/05/01/world/asia/afghanistan-isis-attacks.html</u>.

[17] Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 'Speech by Muttaqi Sahib at the Final for Afghanistan in Antalya.' Islamic Emirates of Afghanistan (March 12, 2022). URL: <u>https://mfa.gov.af/en/speech-by-muttaqi-sahib-at-the-final-for-afghanistan-in-antalya/</u>.

[18] 'Afghanistan: US Planning to Ramp up Attacks on ISIS-K in Summer.' *The Print* (March 17, 2022). URL: <u>https://theprint.in/</u> world/afghanistan-us-planning-to-ramp-up-attacks-on-isis-k-in-summer/877033/.

[19] Lead Inspector General. 'Operation Freedom's Sentinel and Operation Enduring Sentinel: Quarterly Report.' The Offices of Inspector General (OIG) of the Department of Defense. URL: <u>https://www.stateoig.gov/system/files/q2fy2022_leadig_ofs_oes_508.pdf.</u>

[20] United Nations Security Council. 'Fourteenth Report of the Secretary-General on the Threat posed by ISIL (Da'esh) to International Peace and Security and the Range of United Nations Efforts in Support of Member States in Countering the Threat.' United Nations. S/2022/63 (January 28, 2022). URL: <u>https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N22/231/80/PDF/N2223180.pdf</u>.

[21] IS-K. 'Who are the Taliban?' Voice of Khurasan 1, Jumad al Thani, 1443 (Feb. 2022). Al-Azam Foundation.

[22] Jadoon, Amira., et al., 2022, op. cit.

[23] 'Afghanistan: Taliban Crackdown on Media Worsens.' *Human Rights Watch* (November 22, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/11/22/afghanistan-taliban-crackdown-media-worsens-0.</u>

[24] 'UN, Amnesty Decry Latest Taliban Crackdown on Afghan Journalism.' *Voice of America* (January 22, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.voanews.com/a/un-amnesty-decry-latest-taliban-crackdown-on-afghan-journalism/6414969.html</u>.

[25] 'No place for Daesh/ISIS in Afghanistan: Taliban spokesman.' *Anadolu Agency* (September 09, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/asia-pacific/no-place-for-daesh-isis-in-afghanistan-taliban-spokesman/2443077</u>.

[26] 'Pakistan Using Informal Intelligence Channels to Prop up Taliban Fight Against ISIS.' *The Washington Post* (October 23, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2021/10/23/afghanistan-isis-pakistan-intelligence/</u>.

[27] *Voice of America* (VOA). 'Taliban Poised to 'Loosen' Restrictions on al-Qaida.' Voice of America (May 17, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.voanews.com/a/taliban-poised-to-loosen-restrictions-on-al-qaida-/6577618.html.</u>

[28] 'Osama bin Laden's son visited Afghanistan in Oct, held meetings with Taliban: UN report.' *Hindustan Times* (February 05, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/osama-bin-laden-s-son-visited-afghanistan-in-oct-held-meetings-with-taliban-un-report-101644065543605.html.</u>

[29] 'ISIS Branch Poses Biggest Immediate Terrorist Threat to Evacuation in Kabul'. *The New York Times* (August 25, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/25/us/politics/isis-terrorism-afghanistan-taliban.html</u>.

[30] Hamid Shinwari. 'Doomsday: The Spread of Islam from Dambora to Nangahar.' *NunnAsia* (August 22, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.nunn.asia/51582/</u>.

[31] Seth Jones. 'Expanding the Caliphate: ISIS' South Asia Strategy.' *Foreign Affairs* (June 11, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.foreig-naffairs.com/articles/afghanistan/2015-06-11/expanding-caliphate</u>.

[32] 'Hafiz Saeed Khan: The Former Taliban Warlord Taking Isis to India and Pakistan'. *International Business Times* (January 19, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.ibtimes.co.uk/hafiz-saeed-khan-former-taliban-warlord-taking-isis-india-pakistan-1484135</u>.

[33] 'IS Announces Expansion into AfPak, Parts of India.' *Hindustan Times* (January 29, 2015). URL: <u>https://web.archive.org/</u> web/20150914043630/http://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/is-announces-expansion-into-afpak-parts-of-india/article1-1311533.aspx.

[34] The Islamic State. *Dabiq*, 1436, no. 8 (Rabi Al Akhir, 2015): 30–32. URL: <u>http://jihadology.net/2015/03/30/al-?ayat-media-center-presents-a-new</u>.

[35] Casey Johnson. 'The Rise and Stall of the Islamic State in Afghanistan.' United States Institute of Peace (USIP) Special Report 395: 2016. URL: <u>https://www.usip.org/sites/default/files/SR395-The-Rise-and-Stall-of-the-Islamic-State-in-Afghanistan.pdf</u>.

[36] 'Local Support for Dreaded Islamic State Growing in Pakistan.' *Times of India* (November 14, 2014). URL: <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/world/pakistan/Local-support-for-dreaded-Islamic-State-growing-in-Pakistan-Report/article-</u>

show/45149421.cms.

[37] Mutma'an, Nazar Mohammad. 'Why is Daesh in Afghanistan?' *NunnAsia* (February 09, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.nunn.asia/36926/</u>.

[38] Antonio Giustozzi. The Islamic State in Khorasan: Afghanistan, Pakistan, and the New Central Asian Jihad. London: Hurst and Company (2018), p. 28.

[39] Islampall. 'Who is the Leader of Daesh in Orakzai Saeed Khan!!!' *Azam News*. January 15, 2016. URL: <u>http://azamnews.</u> <u>com/?p=11556</u>.

[40] Interview with NMT, key informant in Kabul. December, 2021.

[41] Interview with SA, key informant in Jalalabad. January, 2022.

[42] 'From His Pakistan Hideout, Uighur Leader Vows Revenge on China.' *Reuters* (March 14, 2014). URL: <u>https://www.reuters.</u> com/article/us-pakistan-uighurs/from-his-pakistan-hideout-uighur-leader-vows-revenge-on-china-idUSBREA2D0PF20140314.

[43] Ahmad Baril. 'The Fight Between the Taliban and ISIS Militants from Uzbekistan Ended in Zabul.' *NunnAsia* (November 09, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.nunn.asia/57007/</u>.

[44] Fazelminallah Qazizai. 'The Special Units Leading the Taliban's fight against the Islamic State.' *Newline Magazine* (September 02, 2021). URL: <u>https://newlinesmag.com/reportage/the-special-units-leading-the-talibans-fight-against-the-islamic-state/</u>.

[45] Islamic Emirates of Afghanistan. 'Taliban's Field Visits Report on the Uzbek Militants in Zabul Province'. *Azam News* (November 26, 2015). URL: <u>https://azamnews.com/?p=9951</u>.

[46] Interview with NMT, key informant in Kabul. December, 2021.

[47] The Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS). 'Islamic State Khorasan (IS-K).' November 09, 2018. URL: <u>https://www.csis.org/programs/transnational-threats-project/past-projects/terrorism-backgrounders/islamic-state-khorasan</u>.

[48] Amira Jadoon, et al., 2022, op. cit.

[49] Antonio Giustozzi, 2018, op. cit., p. 25.

[50] Ibid.

[51] Casey Johnson, 2016, op. cit.

[52] Interview with NW, former resident in Haska Mina. December, 2021.

[53] Interview with WM, resident in Shirzad district. February, 2022.

[54] Ibid., 51.

[55] Interview with SK, resident in Achin district. January, 2022.

[56] Interview with R, key informant in Kunduz-Baghlan provinces. March, 2022.

[57] Interview with BK, resident of Baghlan province. March, 2022.

[58] Ibid., 54.

[59] Hamid Shinwari. 'Doomsday: The Spread of Islam from Dambora to Nangahar.' *NunnAsia* (August 22, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.nunn.asia/51582/</u>.

[60] Brian Dodwell and Don Rassler. 'A View from the CT Foxhole: General John W. Nicholson, Commander, Resolute Support and U.S. Forces-Afghanistan'. *CTC Sentinel* 10, no. 2 (2017). URL: <u>https://ctc.usma.edu/a-view-from-the-ct-foxhole-general-john-w-nicholson-commander-resolute-support-and-u-s-forces-afghanistan/</u>.

[61] Interview with NMT, key informant in Kabul. December, 2021.

[62] Interview with SA, key informant in Jalalabad. January, 2022.

[63] Dorronsoro, Gilles. Revolution Unending. Afghanistan: 1979 to the Present. London: Hurst, (2005).

[64] Casey Johnson, 2016, op. cit.

[65] Ahmad Baryal. [The Fight between the Taliban and ISIS Militants from Uzbekistan Ended in Zabul]. *NunnAsia*. Nov 09, 2015. URL: <u>https://www.nunn.asia/57007/</u>.

[66] Islamic Emirates of Afghanistan, November 26, 2015, op. cit.

[67] United Nations Security Council (UNSC). '*Twenty-Second Report of the Analytical Support and Sanctions Monitoring Team Submitted Pursuant to Resolution 2368 (2017) Concerning ISIL (Da'esh), Al-Qaida and Associated Individuals and Entities*.' No. S/2018/705, 6–17 (July 27, 2018). URL: <u>https://undocs.org/S/2018/705</u>.

[68] Seth Jones. 'The Islamic State-Taliban Rivalry in Afghanistan.' *Brookings' Lawfare Blog* (November 27, 2016). URL: <u>https://www.lawfareblog.com/islamic-state-taliban-rivalry-afghanistan</u>.

[69] The White House. 'Background Conference Call on Airstrikes in Syria.' The White House Office of the Press Secretary

(September 23, 2014). URL: <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2014/09/23/background-conference-call-air-strikes-syria</u>.

[70] US Central Command. 'U.S. Military Forces Conduct Airstrikes Against Khorasan Group Terrorist Network in Syria.' News Release (November 06, 2016). URL: <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20141109052426/http://www.centcom.mil/en/news/articles/nov.-6-u.s.-military-forces-conduct-airstrikes-against-khorasan-group-terro</u>.

[71] Aron, Kund. 'What Is the "Khorasan Group" and Why Is the U.S. Bombing It in Syria?' Carnegie Middle East Center (September 23, 2014). URL: <u>https://carnegie-mec.org/diwan/56707</u>.

[72] 'Nusra Leader: Our Mission is to Defeat Syrian Regime.' *Al Jazeera* (May 28, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/</u><u>news/2015/5/28/nusra-leader-our-mission-is-to-defeat-syrian-regime</u>.

[73] 'FBI Head: Khorasan Group Diminished; ISIS Bigger Threat than al-Qaeda.' *Cable News Network* (July 23, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.cnn.com/2015/07/22/politics/fbi-james-comey-isis-khorasan-group/index.html</u>.

[74] Casey Johnson, 2016, op. cit.

[75] Amira Jadoon, et al., 2022, op. cit.

[76] Seth Jones, 2016, op. cit._

[77] Nazar Mutma'an, 2015, op. cit.

[78] Casey Johnson, 2016, op. cit.

[79] Ibid., 75.

[80] Katja Mielke and Nick Miszak. 'Making Sense of Daesh in Afghanistan: A Social Movement Perspective.' Bonn International Center for Conversion (BICC). Bonn: Working Paper 6 (2017). URL: <u>https://www.bicc.de/uploads/tx_bicctools/BICC_Working_Paper_6_2017.pdf</u>.

[81] Cole Bunzel, 'Al Qaeda Versus ISIS: The Jihadi Power Struggle in the Taliban's Afghanistan.' *Foreign Affairs* (September 14, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/afghanistan/2021-09-14/al-qaeda-versus-isis?utm_medium=promo_email&utm_source=lo_flows&utm_campaign=registered_user_welcome&utm_term=email_1&utm_content=20211028.</u>

[82] Bayanzai. 'Research and writings about the ISIS Mujahideen.' *NunnAsia* (July 29, 2014). URL: <u>https://www.nunn.</u> asia/19438/.

[83] Qari Saeed Khosti. 'Introduction to Daesh.' NunnAsia (June 30, 2014). URL: https://www.nunn.asia/16765/.

[84] Mujtaba Zaka. 'NATO is More Radical than Daesh.' NunnAsia. (October 10, 2014). URL: https://www.nunn.asia/25471/.

[85] Kamal Marjaan. 'If Daesh was not Radical...? Another (example) of Collusion of Islam with the West.' *NunnAsia* (September 13, 2014). URL: <u>https://www.nunn.asia/23134/23134/</u>.

[86] Qari Saeed Khosti. 'ISIS from Mosul to Nangarhar, 19th episode.' *Azam News* (October 25, 2017). URL: <u>https://azamnews.</u> <u>com/?p=24766</u>.

[87] Faiz Mohammad Pasarli. 'The Taliban Sent Letter to Al-Baghdadi.' *NunnAsia* (June 16, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.nunn.</u> <u>asia/46955/</u>.

[88] Ibid., 85.

[89] Antonio Giustozzi, 2018, op. cit.

[90] Al-Hayat Media Center. [A Fatwa for Khurasan]. *Dabiq*: The Law of Allah or the Laws of Men. Issue 10. Ramadan 1436 [July 2015].

[91] Ibid., 87.

[92] Nazar Mohammad Mutma'an, February 9, 2015, op. cit.

[93] Ibid., 90.

[94] Antonio Giustozzi, 2018, op. cit.

[95] Qari Saeed Khosti. 'ISIS from Mosul to Nangarhar, 17th episode.' *Azam News* (October 21, 2017). URL: <u>https://azamnews.</u> <u>com/?p=24766</u>.

[96] Abu Sulayman Alutaybi. [Letter from Shiekh Abu Sulayman al-Utaybi to the Leadership in Khurasan]. *AlaBasirah.* Zulheja 24, 1438. URL: <u>https://alabasirah.com/node/705</u>.

[97] Nazar Mohammad Mutma'an, Feb. 09, 2015, op. cit.

[98] Faiz Mohammad Pasarli, June 16, 2015, op. cit.

[99] Ibid., 95.

[100] Antonio Giustozzi, 2018, op. cit.

[101] Cole Bunzel, 'Al Qaeda Versus ISIS: The Jihadi Power Struggle in the Taliban's Afghanistan.' *Foreign Affairs* (September 14, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/afghanistan/2021-09-14/al-qaeda-versus-isis</u>.

[102] Ibid., 98.

[103] ISIS-K. 'Who are the Taliban?' Voice of Khurasan 1, Jumad al Thani, 1443 [Feb. 2022]. Al-Azam Foundation.

[104] Khosti, Qari Saeed Khosti. 'ISIS from Mosul to Nangarhar, 21st episode.' *Azam News* (November 1, 2017). URL: <u>https://azamnews.com/?p=25345</u>.

[105] Muhammad Ibn Ahmad Sarakhsi. Kitab al-Mabsut. DKI, Beirut. (2016).

[106] Qari Saeed Khosti. 'ISIS from Mosul to Nangarhar, 22nd episode.' *Azam News* (November 3, 2017). <u>https://azamnews.com/?p=25430</u>.

[107] Qari Saeed Khosti. 'ISIS from Mosul to Nangarhar, 23rd episode.' *Azam News* (November 11, 2017). <u>https://azamnews.com/?p=25646</u>.

[108] Qari Saeed Khosti. 'ISIS from Mosul to Nangarhar, 24th episode.' *Azam News*. (November 11, 2017). <u>https://azamnews.</u> <u>com/?p=25842</u>.

[109] Ibid., 106.

[110] 'The Taliban Confront the Realities of Power.' *The New Yorker* (February 28, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.newyorker.com/</u> magazine/2022/02/28/the-taliban-confront-the-realities-of-power-afghanistan.

[111] Islamic Emirates of Afghanistan. 'Taliban's Field Visits Report on the Uzbek Militants in Zabul Province.' *Azam News* (November 26, 2015). URL: <u>https://azamnews.com/?p=9951</u>.

[112] Department of Defense. 'Statement by Deputy Press Secretary Gordon Trowbridge on Strike Targeting an ISIL Leader in Afghanistan.' US Department of Defense (August 12, 2016). URL: <u>https://dod.defense.gov/News/News-Releases/News-Release-View/Article/913820/statement-by-deputy-press-secretary-gordon-trowbridge-on-strike-targeting-an-is/</u>.

[113] 'Head of Isis in Afghanistan Confirmed Killed in Joint US Operation.' *The Guardian* (May 7, 2017). URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2017/may/08/head-of-isis-in-afghanistan-confirmed-killed-in-joint-us-operation</u>.

[114] 'US Confirms Death of Emir of Islamic State Khorasan.' *Long War Journal* (September 3, 2018). URL: <u>https://www.long-warjournal.org/archives/2018/09/us-confirms-death-of-emir-of-islamic-state-khorasan.php</u>.

[115] 'Taliban Surge Rout in Northern Afghanistan.' *The New York Times* (April 01, 2018). URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.</u> com/2018/08/01/world/asia/afghanistan-taliban-isis.html.

[116] Interview with RUA, key informant in Kunduz-Baghlan provinces. March, 2022.

[117] Interview with BAS, resident of Andarab District. February, 2022.

[118] 'Taliban Overruns Kandahar jail, Frees Hundreds of Prisoners as Part of Offensive.' *India Today* (August 11, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.indiatoday.in/world/story/afghanistan-taliban-kandahar-prison-jailbreak-prisoners-released-vid-eo-1839742-2021-08-11</u>.

[119] 'Taliban Releases Over 1,000 Criminals, Drug Traffickers from Prisons after Capturing Key Cities. *The Times of India* (August 12, 2021). URL: <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/world/south-asia/taliban-releases-over-1000-criminals-drug-traf-fickers-from-prisons-after-capturing-key-cities/articleshow/85264377.cms</u>.

[120] 'Video Shows Thousands of Prisoners, Reportedly Including Islamic State and al Qaeda Fighters, Freed from Kabul Jail by the Taliban.' *Business Insider* (August 15, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.businessinsider.com/watch-afghan-prisoners-isis-al-qaeda-fighters-freed-by-taliban-2021-8</u>.

[121] 'Pentagon: 'Thousands' of ISIS-K Combatants Released by Taliban.' *National Review* (August 27, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.nationalreview.com/news/pentagon-thousands-of-isis-k-combatants-released-by-taliban/</u>.

[122] IS-K. 'Who are the Taliban?' Voice of Khurasan 1, Jumad al Thani, 1443 [Feb. 2022]. Al-Azam Foundation.

[123] 'Kabul Airport Attack Kills 13 U.S. Service Members, at Least 90 Afghans.' *The Wall Street Journal* (August 27, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/afghanistan-kabul-airport-explosion-11629976397</u>.

[124] Ibid., 120.

[125] 'Taliban Say No al Qaeda or ISIS in Afghanistan." *Reuters* (September 21, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/taliban-say-no-al-qaeda-or-isis-afghanistan-2021-09-21/</u>.

[126] 'In Afghanistan, ISIS-K is Infiltrating the Taliban.' *The National Interest* (October 13, 2021). URL: <u>https://nationalinterest.</u> org/blog/middle-east-watch/afghanistan-isis-k-infiltrating-taliban-195046.

[127] Interview with SA, key informant in Jalalabad. January, 2022.

[128] 'The Taliban Confront the Realities of Power.' *The New Yorker* (February 28, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.newyorker.com/</u> magazine/2022/02/28/the-taliban-confront-the-realities-of-power-afghanistan.

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

[129] 'No Place for Daesh/ISIS in Afghanistan: Taliban Spokesman.' *Anadolu Agency* (September 09, 2021). URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/asia-pacific/no-place-for-daesh-isis-in-afghanistan-taliban-spokesman/2443077</u>.

[130] Multiple respondents in the northern region.

[131] Interview with RUA, key informant in Kunduz-Baghlan provinces, March, 2022; Interview with BAS, resident of Andarab District, February, 2022.

[132] Interview with NMT, key informant in Kabul. December, 2021.

[133] Interview with RUA, key informant in Kunduz-Baghlan provinces.

[134] Interview with Bismillah of Dashti Archi district, March, 2022.

[135] Interview with Qowmandan Musa, Faryab Province, March, 2022.

[136] Interview with Najeebulah, Balkh Province, April, 2022.

[137] Islamic Emirates of Afghanistan. 'Islamic Emirate and its Order [Al-Emirate Al-Islami'a wa Nezamaha].' Office of Dar-ul-Ulum Shari'a. April 2022.

[138] 'Removal of Jafari Fiqh from Bamiyan University'. *Bahesab* (June 16, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.bahesab.ir/time/conversion/</u>.

Security Implications for India and Pakistan from the Taliban Regime since the U.S. Withdrawal from Afghanistan

by Dalbir Ahlawat and M. Raymond Izarali

Abstract

Since the withdrawal of the U.S. forces from Afghanistan and the takeover by the Taliban regime more than one year ago, the new regime has been struggling to get legitimacy from the members of the United Nations. The past year has also exposed the complex network of various militant groups in Afghanistan that supported the Taliban against the U.S. but have now started pursuing their own interests. India and Pakistan face several militancy challenges that emanate from Afghan soil. In turn, India and Pakistan counterbalance each other by supporting different groups in Afghanistan. This article addresses the Taliban's rise to power, the complexity of engagement with the new rulers, and the security implications for India and Pakistan in relation to Afghanistan. It suggests that zero-sum behavior and strategic theory can be windows through which Pakistan's and India's engagement may best be viewed.

Keywords: Afghanistan-India-Pakistan, al-Qaeda, Islamic State, strategic theory, Taliban, zero-sum game

Introduction

The Taliban is likely to stay at the helm of Afghan affairs now that a year has passed since it seized control of the country. However, it remains unrecognized internationally and within South Asia. Since the U.S. withdrawal in August 2021, the Taliban rule has affected trade and the economy and has exacerbated a dire humanitarian crisis and raised human security issues.[1] While the resurgence of Taliban control is a concern for Afghanistan and the West, given the safe haven provided to al-Qaeda and its role in the 9/11 attacks, it also has significant implications for the long-standing rivalry between India and Pakistan over Jammu and Kashmir (referred to as Kashmir) as the two states engage in Afghanistan through proxies and through development support to counteract each other. They try to anticipate each other's actions and influence in Afghanistan and proactively assess and strategize to neutralize the gains of the other. Some may view their engagement as zero-sum behavior or analyze it through the lens of strategic theory. Regardless of which lens through which one assesses their behavior, the resurgence of the Taliban has major consequences for India and Pakistan. This article examines the security implications for India and Pakistan in relation to Afghanistan. It utilizes scholarly literature, news reports, and primary source data from the UN and the World Bank in developing the analysis.

Afghanistan: Current Context

The World Bank's Afghanistan Monitoring Survey of March 2022 indicates that 70% of the respondents claim they could not meet basic food and other necessary goods, compared to 35% in May 2021.[2] Roughly half (37%) of that sample population could not cover food expenses. A major decline in the amount of food consumed and its quality was also noticed. About 94% of people needing medical attention could not get it in autumn 2021.[3] While there has been an increase in rural and urban employment (except in the public sector, owing to a decline in jobs in the security and government spheres), there has been a substantial fall in earnings. Not surprisingly, the Taliban regime is eager to seek developmental support, especially as some U.S. \$9 billion of Afghan assets have been seized and held in U.S. banks. This situation creates a yearning on the part of the state and the civilian population for engagement to lift them from despair. At the same time, the Taliban is mindful of its image not to be seen as desperately pleading for Western support.[4] In the West, skepticism continues about the Taliban's intentions and objectives, while the Taliban tries to project an image of having things under control and having left behind its own past image.[5]

Although the Taliban has taken complete control of the Arg (presidential palace),[6] other constituent militant groups that resisted U.S. forces, along with the Taliban, have started to pursue their own ideological/religious aspirations. Both al-Qaeda in the Indian Subcontinent (AQIS) and Islamic State-Khorasan (IS-K) have their

own agendas for South Asia.[7] Pakistan played a vital role in bringing the Taliban to the negotiation table with the United States, which ultimately led to the signing of the February 2020 Peace Agreement.[8] Ever since the Taliban's inception, Pakistan has supported it and the groups such as Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT), Jaish-e-Mo-hammed (JeM), and others that were created by Pakistan's Inter-Services Intelligence (ISI) and fought along with the Taliban.[9] In addition, one of the groups, Tehrik-e-Taliban Pakistan (TTP), which is supported by the Afghan Taliban but works against the interests of Pakistan, remains active.[10] Pakistan accuses India of supporting TTP as its proxy and tends to blame Indian intelligence for supporting the planning and execution of violent attacks on Pakistan from Afghan soil.[11] India has had cordial relations with Afghanistan except during the period of the Taliban regime from 1996 to 2001. Since August 2021, India has been reassessing its level of relations with Afghanistan under Taliban control while at the same time offering humanitarian support for the civilian population.[12] India is still mindful of the fact that during the first reign of the Taliban, there was a significant rise in terrorist attacks in Kashmir.[13]

India is generally perceived as a friendly country by broad sectors of the Afghan population;[14] the Taliban itself appears to have no antagonism against New Delhi. India has provided \$3 billion in aid to Afghanistan over the last few decades in support of water supply, roads, health care, agriculture, power generation, and education, among other things.[15] Pakistan has also provided \$1 billion in aid to Afghanistan over the years. [16] So far, the Taliban has not made any statement hostile to India; on the contrary, in August 2022, the Taliban regime's foreign ministry spokesman Abdul Qahar Balkhi stated that Afghanistan has requested India to complete the development projects that it had begun in Afghanistan such as the Shahtoot Dam in Kabul, and to upgrade its diplomatic mission in Kabul, giving India assurances of protection.[17]

Notwithstanding support from Pakistan, the Taliban, as Lisa Curtis notes, "are not puppets of the Pakistani government, but the Pakistanis are able to establish indirect control over the group through careful manipulation."[18] In some respects, the Taliban has demonstrated a level of autonomy from Pakistan's policy toward India. For example, it considers Kashmir an internal matter of India.[19] However, the groups supported by Pakistan, specifically the Haqqani Network (a constituent of the Taliban), are considered harmful to India's interests there. In this way, Afghanistan contains complex strings of networks and state actors.

Complex Strings of Networks and the Role of the ISI

Afghanistan has become a complex playground for the Taliban, Pakistan, and India as the latter two engage in proxy wars over the Kashmir conflict.[20] As Zhang notes, "Although the two countries have no direct border, Afghanistan has extremely important geographical significance to India."[21] Shah and Hussain argue similarly for Pakistan, noting that a peaceful Afghanistan would benefit Islamabad.[22] Taye and Ahmed echo this sentiment in their focus on the potential benefits of economic cooperation between the two, an area of study for which there is a paucity of scholarly literature.[23]

To understand the predicament in which Afghanistan is currently placed, it is pertinent to unravel the complex web of relations the Taliban maintains with the major actors in Afghanistan—notably, al-Qaeda, IS-K, and the ISI.[24] In this regard, John Allen, who led the U.S. and NATO forces in Afghanistan, underscores the intricacy of the relations when he writes: "Too often we treat [Taliban] as one homogeneous entity when in fact it is a loose conglomeration of local tribal leadership, independent warlords, and disconnected or siloed cells. Any argument that the Taliban can control violence in the long-term is a fantasy."[25] If Allen's assessment is correct it would be germane to be reminded that only the Taliban signed the peace agreement with the United States; other non-state actors like IS-K, al-Qaeda, and clandestine state actors like the ISI remain outside the purview of the agreement and thus feel free to operate on Afghan soil without violating the agreement.[26] More specifically, neither the Afghan government at the time nor the other groups were engaged by the U.S. in dialogue for the peace agreement. Therefore, any potential of these groups harming the U.S., its allies, or their respective interests, is left for the Taliban to assess and act upon. It does not help that the Taliban and al-Qaeda have maintained a connection since the war on terror began.[27] Currently, the Taliban appears to have only limited operational and financial capacity and capability to bring the varying groups under its control.[28] The local geographical domination by each of these groups further complicates the situation in Afghanistan. These groups compete and cooperate on different levels according to their interests, strengths, vulnerabilities, and strategic dominance. This is due to their decentralized structure at the local levels, divided loyalties, linkages of kinship and intermarriage by some of the members and commanders, and ideological affinities. New groups are being formed from the splintering of other groups, and also due to the perspective in certain instances that they have a common enemy.[29] For example, in the northern region, where the Taliban had a limited presence, it cooperated with the IS-K to harm the Kabul government and U.S. interests before signing the agreement with the U.S.[30] Subsequently, in facing pressure from U.S. forces, the Taliban cooperated with the Afghan military to launch a military campaign against the Islamic State, harming the IS-K and stirring defections in its cadres.[31]

Yousaf and Jabarkhail state: "As for the IS-K, the group remains a problem for the Taliban. The Kabul airport attack on 26 August 2021, which claimed nearly 200 lives (mostly Afghans), brought into perspective the seriousness of the IS-K threat in Afghanistan."[32] Indeed, as D'Souza points out, attacks have intensified since the U.S. withdrawal.[33] Ibrahimi and Akbarzadeh underline that "both groups maintain their strategic rivalry while fighting over resources and territorial control in some parts of the country and engaging in informal collaborations in others."[34] The Special Report by the UN Assistance Mission in Afghanistan highlighted that in August 2017, "Anti-Government elements attacked Mirza Olang village from multiple directions...Taliban and self-proclaimed Daesh [Islamic State] fighters fought [against] Pro-Government Militia and Afghan Local Police..." and that "the attack involved local Taliban with regional Taliban support from nearby provinces, as well as some self-identified local Daesh/Islamic State fighters."[35] It further states: "Those interviewed by UNAMA noted that cooperation and coordination between Taliban and local, self-identified *Daesh* has been observed for some time in Sayyad district, and is believed to be based upon family and tribal connections."[36]

This see-saw game in the public domain aside, the arrest of IS-K's top leader Aslam Farooqi in April 2020 and senior commander Munib Mohammad (alias Abu Bilal) by Afghan security forces revealed that the "Taliban promised that it will not allow Al-Qaeda to operate from areas under its control."[37] If such is correct, this takes the level of complexity even deeper. Muhammad Amir Rana, a Pakistani security expert, noted that "Al Qaeda, IS (Khorasan chapter) and TTP were merely" the Taliban's "tools through which the U.S. withdrawal was made possible."[38] Furthermore, Taliban spokesperson Zabiullah Mujahid, in clarifying the Taliban's relations with al-Qaeda, stated that "nowhere in the agreement has it been mentioned that we have or don't have ties with anyone. The issue of relations with other groups is not considered; what has been agreed upon is that no threat should be posed from Afghan soil to the U.S. and its allies."[39] Indeed, a UN (2021) report noted that ties between the Taliban, al-Qaeda and the Haqqani Network, which has been the primary channel of the Taliban's engagement with al-Qaeda, continue to be strong due to ideological alignment, common struggles, and intermarriages.[40]

The strategic calculations of Pakistan's ISI are also notable, as it played a vital role in bringing the Taliban to the negotiation table with the US. This role implies that the ISI enjoys a degree of strategic influence in Afghanistan and holds some sway over the Taliban leadership.[41] For example, the ISI captured the chief Taliban negotiator Mullah Abdul Ghani Baradar in 2010 to stop him from entering into negotiations with the Hamid Karzai government because the signing of an agreement between the Taliban and the Karzai government would have limited Pakistan's influence in Afghanistan.[42] In the post-Peace Agreement, given the Taliban's attempt to pursue an independent path in contravention of the ISI's interests,[43] the ISI continued cultivating close relations with the Haqqani Network to offset the Taliban's influence. In addition, it also appears to support the IS-K so that there are channels to retain its dominance.[44] Munib Mohammad also confirmed the ISI's counterbalancing approach during his interrogation by Afghan security forces, stating that "his primary job in the ISKP was to coordinate with Inter-Service Intelligence regularly and through them connect with other terrorist groups like Lashkar-E-Taiyabba, Jaish-E-Muhammad, Sipah-E-Sahaba, Haqqani Network, Jamayat-Ul-Ulema-E-Islam, and Taliban Peshawar Shura."[45] He revealed at the time that "all the ISKP units operating in Nangarhar and Kabul area are reporting and taking directions from none other than Sirajuddin Haqqani...a Taliban commander."[46]

Pakistan's key interest in Afghanistan is having what some of its military leaders call "strategic depth." [47] This interest suggests that Pakistan continues to have sway in Afghan affairs and keeps the Afghan state weak or at its disposal. [48] While Pakistan supports the Taliban, it is arguable that it may also be worried that total control by the Taliban over Afghanistan will reduce its influence and put pressure to resolve the disputed Durand Line to the latter's advantage. Curtis captures this concern when she writes, "Now that the Taliban control Afghanistan and no longer require their Pakistani safe haven, Pakistani military and intelligence officials are undoubtedly worried about losing leverage over the Taliban." [49] It is significant that the ISI seeks to counterbalance India's influence in Afghanistan in the same vein. [50] Islamabad sees New Delhi as posing a threat to destabilize its border areas, specifically in Baluchistan, along the Afghan border. [51]

From this perspective, it may be argued that there is a complex network in which the Taliban, al-Qaeda, and the IS-K had operated before the Taliban took control of Kabul.[52] Furthermore, the complexity is deepened by the shifting loyalty of the cadres/mujahideen and their sharing of operational information of one group with another.[53] While these groups have autonomy and conflicting interests, they are also individually influenced if not controlled by the ISI. This situation has given the ISI an advantage to counterbalance one group against the other and undermine India's interests in Afghanistan and elsewhere.[54] As Fair writes: "Most of the militant groups that have terrorized India since the early 1990s—e.g., Harkat-ul-Jihad-Islami (HuJI), Jaish-e-Mohammad (JeM), Harkat-ul-Mujahideen/Harkat-ul-Ansar (HuM/HuA), and Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT)—have trained in Afghanistan, with varying degrees of connection to the Afghan Taliban and, by extension al-Qaeda."[55]

Complex Triangle: Afghanistan, India and Pakistan

While the agreement between the Taliban and the U.S. stipulates that the Taliban would not allow harm to the U.S. and its allies' interests from Afghan soil, neighboring countries like India and Pakistan that do not quite qualify as U.S. allies do feel vulnerable, despite what seems to be a shift by the U.S. in leaning closer to India. This vulnerability exists because the Taliban-associated groups motivated by the Taliban's victory have their own agendas and interests to pursue in these countries. Specifically, in the case of India, the Haqqani Network on Afghanistan soil, and LeT, JeM, AQIS and IS-K on Indian soil pose severe challenges.[56] In the case of Pakistan, the border dispute with Afghanistan along the Durand Line and the TTP pose challenges to the state's sovereignty. Adding to this challenge is the India-Pakistan ongoing rivalry over Kashmir and Pakistan's proximity with the Taliban and support for militant groups like JeM and LeT in their efforts to liberate Kashmir from India.[57]

India-Afghanistan Dynamics

India has long-term security and strategic interests in the outcome of Afghanistan in the current transition period. During the Taliban's rule in Afghanistan from 1996 to 2001, India's interests came under intense pressure and attacks that led it to close its embassy in Kabul. In the post-9/11 period, with the U.S. declaration of war on international terrorism and the ouster of the Taliban because of its support to al-Qaeda, India reopened its missions in Kabul, Jalalabad, Kandahar, Mazar-e-Sharif, and Herat.

The withdrawal of U.S. forces from Afghanistan in August 2021 yielded very different dynamics in the trilateral relations between Afghanistan, India and Pakistan, as the Taliban supported by Pakistan controls Kabul. This impinges on India's interests as the Taliban's militant wing, the Haqqani Network, continues to be seen as harming India's interests in Afghanistan, having attacked Indian assets and its personnel.[58] Currently, India faces three challenges that emanate from Afghanistan.

a) The Al-Qaeda Challenge

With the launch of AQIS in September 2014, cadres of several major militant organizations like HuJI and Lashkar-e-Jhangvi joined it. The ISI initially formed these groups to support its cause in Kashmir. Later, with the convergence of interests, the ISI broadened its horizon; however, except for its collusion with LeT in the Mumbai attacks in 2008, al-Qaeda has not involved itself in any major attack in India.[59] Its role seems limited to making verbal announcements. For instance, in June 2017, when it announced its first comprehensive strategic plan, a major emphasis was put on atrocities committed by the Indian government against the Kashmiris. It encouraged the militants to target the Indian Security Forces (ISF).[60] A month later, it announced the formation of Ansar Ghazwat-ul-Hind (AGH). In December 2017, AQIS released a video highlighting the excesses committed by the ISF.[61] However, the ISF eliminated the group's leader Zakir Musa in mid-2019 and his successor Hameed Lelhari in October 2019. Thus, that created a leadership void in implementing AQIS's strategy in Kashmir. With this development, AGH was declared "wiped out" in Kashmir by the ISF.[62] Notwithstanding the ISF's claim, AQIS changed the title of its magazine from *Nawai Afghan Jihad* to *Nawai-Ghazwa-ul-Hind* in March 2020, emphasizing that after defeating U.S. forces in Afghanistan, its focus will shift to the liberation of Kashmir.[63] Indeed, after the Taliban signed the Peace Agreement with the U.S. in February 2020, a prominent AGH ideologue, Hafiz Mustafa Abdul Kareem, became active in recruiting new cadres in Kashmir.

Based on intelligence-led inputs, the ISF conducted major operations in Kashmir to neutralize the different militant groups. In addition, the government of India revoked the special status granted to Kashmir under Article 370 and divided it into two union territories.[64] This action, along with the Kashmiris' syncretic culture and their aversion to jihad led by foreign fighters, appears to have deterred the AQIS from getting local support. The high number of ISF deployments, their vigilance over cross-border movements with Pakistan, and their undertaking of carrying out strikes on the militant launching pads and airstrikes on training camps have played a significant role in deterring AQIS operations in Kashmir. However, the week before the 20th anniversary of 9/11, a reference to Kashmir was made in a video message released by the al-Qaeda leader Ayman al-Zawahiri.[65] Al-Zawahiri's killing in July 2022 has given India time to recalibrate its strategy, as it is unclear who will be his successor and what his policy orientation will be toward India.

b) The IS-K Challenge

The Islamic State (IS) had India on its agenda long before the IS-K was launched in 2015. The 13th issue of the IS magazine, Dabiq, claimed in June 2014 that "it will not be long before Kashmir is run by the organization."[66] Groups like Indian Mujahideen (IM) and Ansar-ut-Tawheed (AuT) took oaths of allegiance to the IS-K. While the IS-K was in the process of unfolding its operations in Kashmir, it got a big jolt in 2016 with the killing of its key leader, Shafi Armar, and other leaders in command in the subsequent years. The IS declared in May 2019 the establishment of Wilayah *Hind* in India to overcome the loss.[67] It lured local groups into its jihadi fold in response to the revocation of Article 370 in Kashmir. In IS's weekly paper *al-Naba*, an editorial called for attacks on Hindus living in the Arab Gulf states.[68]

One group, the Islamic State Jammu and Kashmir (ISJK) made some dent by attacking the ISF bases and discrediting local militant groups that did not support the IS-K's ideology of narrating the Kashmir conflict as religious.[69] However, the ISJK cadres and its commander, Ishfaq Ahmed Sofi, were eliminated by the ISF by May 2019.[70] In essence, the ISF eliminated the *Wilayah Hind* members before they could establish a foothold in Kashmir. The IS-K, in turn, perpetrated attacks on Indian interests in Afghanistan, specifically attacking a Sikh temple in Kabul, killing 25 people in March 2020, and two people in another attack in June 2022.[71]

Although the IS-K has been neutralized on Indian soil, its propaganda publications continue highlighting the Kashmir issue. For example, the IS-K's affiliate Al-Qitaal Media Centre, in its publication *Sawt-al-Hind*, highlighted a violent protest in New Delhi as communal during President Donald Trump's visit to India in February 2020.[72] An August 2020 issue of this publication showed a militant with an IS flag on the road leading to the al-Babri Mosque (a disputed site between Hindus and Muslims) in Ayodhya, India.[73] However, lack of support from the Kashmiris and strong vigilance by the ISF have so far prevented the IS-K from establishing a foothold in India, but India treats it as an ongoing concern.[74]

c) Groups Supported by the ISI

Two major groups, LeT and JeM, originated in Pakistan and have since been supported by the ISI. The cadres of both groups joined al-Qaeda and fought along with the Taliban against U.S. forces in Afghanistan. Some cadres who were disillusioned with al-Qaeda and the Taliban joined the IS-K.[75] Consequently, there has

been regular mobility of the cadres among these groups. Such mobility perhaps serves as leverage for the ISI to get internal information about the Taliban, AQIS, and IS-K. Moreover, the ISI continues to influence these groups' leadership. As a result, the ISI is in a strong position to use these groups to its advantage. Members of these groups have perpetrated high-value target attacks in India, such as in Mumbai, Uri, Pulwama, also hitting the national parliament in Delhi.[76] The reactions of the United States and Afghanistan to these attacks led to Pakistan being placed on the Financial Action Task Force (FATF) Grey List which has acted as a deterrent. Since being placed on the FATF list, Pakistan reduced militant activities from its soil. However, following the precedent of the 1996–2001 period, it can use Afghanistan as a launching pad.[77]

Afghanistan-Pakistan Relations

Since gaining independence in 1947, Pakistan has had strained relations with Afghanistan, except from 1996 to 2001, during the first Taliban regime.[78] As Shah and Hussain write: "A disputed border and the associated issues of Pashtunistan have continued to contribute towards ill-will and bad blood between Pakistan and Afghanistan right from the outset."[79] Afghanistan had voted against recognizing Pakistan at the UN in 1947 because of the presence of the Pashtun community across the Durand Line.[80] The Afghan government also did not support Pakistan's claims over Kashmir. During the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan in 1979, Pakistan chose to become a frontline ally of the United States. To supply religious fighters/mujahideen, the then–Pakistani president Muhammed Zia-ul-Haq turned Pakistan toward a theocratic state with the ultimate motive to make "Afghanistan [Pakistan's] fifth province."[81] Since then, most Afghan authorities have been suspicious of Pakistan's ulterior motives and have remained adamant in safeguarding their sovereignty.

Notwithstanding this aversion, after the Soviet withdrawal from Afghanistan in 1989, Pakistan facilitated Taliban control over Afghanistan from 1996 to 2001. Having been trained on Afghan soil, some mujahideen were directed to cross the border into Kashmir to liberate and separate it from India. However, Afghan-Pakistani differences over the Durand Line continued.

In the post-9/11 period, Pakistan reluctantly joined the United States in its "War on Terror". This placed Pakistan in the uncomfortable position of having to fight the Taliban, whom it created and nourished. Although Islamabad acted adroitly while fighting against the Taliban rank and file, it protected the top Taliban leadership. But the finding of Osama bin Laden's hiding place in Abbottabad exposed Islamabad's dual role. Setting aside trust deficits with the US, Islamabad facilitated the February 2020 agreement between the Taliban and the US.

Since August 2021, the Pakistan-supported Taliban regime has again been in power in Afghanistan. Pakistan has made attempts for recognition of the Taliban regime on different platforms and has appealed for humanitarian assistance but, so far, has had limited success. Aside from soliciting support for the Taliban regime, Pakistan faces two major challenges emanating from the Taliban regime.

a) The Challenge of Tehrik-e-Taliban Pakistan (TTP)

The TTP was formed in December 2007 by Pashtun militants located along the Afghanistan-Pakistan border in reaction to the Pakistani military's operation against al-Qaeda militants in the Federally Administered Tribal Area (FATA).[82] Since then, TTP has been fighting against Pakistan's armed forces and poses a threat to Pakistan's national sovereignty.

While supporting the Taliban in Afghanistan, TTP continued attacks against the Pakistani state. Facing high-value target attacks from the TTP, Pakistan's military launched two major operations, Operation Zarbe-Azb in 2014 and Operation Radd-ul-Fasaad in 2017. These offensives neutralized many TTP militants or forced them to cross the border into Afghanistan. Some of the TTP members changed their allegiance to IS-K. [83] Others, such as the TTP chief Noor Wali Mehsud, publicly reiterated their pledge of allegiance to Taliban leader Maulvi Hibatullah Akhundzada and "claimed the TTP to be a branch of the Taliban in Pakistan." [84] According to the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, "since July 2020, ten militant groups opposed to the Pakistani state have merged with the TTP, including, among others, three Pakistani affiliates of al-Qaeda and four major factions that had separated from the TTP in 2014." [85] Thus, aware of the United States's plan to exit Afghanistan, TTP increased the intensity of its attacks against Pakistan's security forces while operating both from Afghan and Pakistani soil. TTP was strengthened when the Taliban, after capturing power in August 2021, opened the prison gates, and many of its leaders and cadres were free again.

Pakistan has tried to exert pressure on TTP through its ally, Taliban leader Sirajuddin Haqqani, and also by simultaneously offering an olive branch for political negotiation, namely, if TTP surrenders, disarms, and accepts the writ of the state, the government would provide a general amnesty.[86] But during the 20-day cease-fire declaration by the Shura of TTP in North Waziristan in December 2021, the government did not agree to release over 100 TTP leaders and cadres from Pakistani prisons due to fear of reprisals. In reaction, TTP walked away from the cease-fire agreement.[87] Since then, the intensity of high-value attacks by TTP against Pakistani forces has multiplied. Furthermore, the killing of TTP cofounder and senior commander Omar Khalid Khorasani in a roadside blast in eastern Afghanistan in August 2022 when a ceasefire between TTP and the army was in place, may lead to reprisals for Pakistan, as the ISI is claimed to have perpetrated this blast.[88] In addition, the Taliban has taken strong cognizance of the killing of al-Zawahiri through an over-the-horizon drone strike in Kabul. The Taliban's acting defense minister, Mullah Yaqoob, blamed Pakistan for this when he stated: "Our information shows that they (US drones) are entering into Afghanistan from Pakistan, using the airspace of Pakistan."[89] However, Pakistan has denied the use of its airspace.[90] This has led to a trust deficit and strained Taliban-Pakistani relations.

This situation has brought Pakistan to a crossroads. It does not want to lose a friendly Taliban government in Afghanistan, whereas the Taliban continues to support the TTP. At the same time, Pakistan is neither in a position to provide sufficient financial aid nor get the Taliban government international recognition. Thus, Pakistan appears to be left with limited leverage while, at the same time, it does not want to cede Afghan space; it worries that India may fill the void and harm Pakistan's interests.

b) Border Dispute

In anticipating the withdrawal of U.S. forces from Afghanistan and a subsequent spill-over of refugees and a flow of militants across the border, Pakistan had started to fence the disputed Durand Line since 2018. The then–Ashraf Ghani government objected to this move.[91] In witnessing the continuation of the fence installation, the Taliban militants started breaking down the fence, firing at the Pakistani forces, and killing several soldiers. In a sharp reaction, Pakistan's military asserted that there would be a continuation of the Pak-Afghan border fencing and that the fence's construction involved martyred soldiers' blood.[92] The Taliban's ministry of defense spokesman at the time, Enayatullah Khwarizmi, condemned the fence construction by Pakistan as "illegal." He warned that Pakistan had "no right' to divide Pashtuns living on both sides of the border."[93]

Moreover, to deter increasing TTP attacks from Afghan soil, Pakistan launched air raids on TTP hideouts in eastern Afghanistan in April 2022 which killed dozens of civilians. Instead of controlling the TTP activities, the Taliban took strong notice of Pakistan's breach of its sovereignty. Taliban spokesman Zabiullah Mujahid termed the killing of civilians "cruelty" and stated such actions by Pakistan would lead to "enmity between Afghanistan and Pakistan."[94] This situation has diluted Pakistan's influence and reinforced the notion in some quarters that TTP's attacks against the Pakistani state were somehow justified.

Conceptual Analysis: Zero-Sum Behavior and Strategic Theory

Given the preceding discussion, it may be argued that Afghanistan has been turning into a battleground for India and Pakistan, wherefrom both countries face terrorism challenges. India denies proxy engagements in Afghanistan, but as Fair points out, claims of complete innocence on the part of India are questionable.[95] The Taliban assured the UN of its "commitment not to allow Afghan soil" to threaten other countries.[96] But its inaction and the undertakings between India and Pakistan to outmaneuver each other on Afghan soil can be viewed as zero-sum behavior. While some scholars may treat Pakistan's engagement in Afghanistan as merely seeking to expand its economic space in that country as opposed to countering India and that India's engagement in and with Afghanistan relates to its regional standing, the long-standing rivalry over Kashmir between the two states suggests otherwise. A zero-sum game is a situation where one country's gain is equivalent to another country's loss. To achieve their geostrategic interests, rivals vie for power/influence in a third country and use government and non-state actors as proxies to gain an advantage over the other. A zero-sum game is all encompassing; it assumes to incorporate the entire range of power instruments.[97]

If one state gains influence, it will be at the expense of the opponent's loss. This may have two outcomes: either the external rival states are so strong as to make the third country vulnerable and subject to external manipulation, or the third country enjoys a degree of autonomy and has the capacity to play one rival state against the other.[98] There can be substantial effects on the third country: its territory may be used, its people may become polarized, and even the third country's sovereignty itself may be affected. Taking cognizance of the India-Pakistan conflict of interests, Perkovich notes that they perceive the "phenomena around them so divergently that they have become world leaders in zero-sum thinking."[99]

A problem with a zero-sum conceptualization is that while it gives a rough picture of the situation, it is difficult to measure the actual weight of each player's undertaking. That would require an elaborate empirical design going well beyond the ambition of this article. Zero-sum games are based on the idea of rational choice. Rational choice theory has been criticized in criminology because of certain assumptions of agency and actors' time and effort to carefully compute the loss and gains of each situation before making a move.

From the standpoint of political theory, there may be questions about whether there really exists a zero-sum outcome, considering that many situations may yield positive-sum (as in multilateral initiatives) or negative-sum outcomes where both sides become losers. In other words, non-zero-sum outcomes seem more probable. Nevertheless, while the net outcome of the situation in the India-Pakistan rivalry in Afghanistan may not necessarily be an actual zero-sum, the undertaking as each state actor perceives it in taking countermeasures to offset any gains and influence by the other in Afghanistan in some fundamental respect points to a zero-sum mentality of both state actors.

Support for local terrorist groups can occur as a war-by-proxy when those holding state power are unwilling or unable to take on another state directly in armed conflict.[100] After having fought three wars since independence, India and Pakistan do not appear willing to take on each other in direct armed conflict anymore. However, each state is engaged in acquiring as much information as possible about the other through its intelligence agencies, embassies, and other sources. The intelligence and other information may sometimes be inaccurate or insufficient, but they are gathered to contemplate one's own and anticipate each other's strategic moves. What is effectively at play is India and Pakistan strategizing to offset each other's gain, to undermine, and to contain each other. While some scholars have alluded to a "zero-sum" situation, a detailed framework for analysis is still lacking.[101]

Strategic theory can be another useful window, as it extends beyond the scope of a zero-sum framework in taking into account a broader range of variables and thereby avoids binary and polarized perspectives.[102] While it is primarily a theory of bargaining and may have good yield in an analysis of the U.S. withdrawal, it may also provide insights into the India-Pakistan conflict as played out in Afghanistan. As Pinfold and Smith write: "In a conflict-as-bargaining model, each actor watches the adversary, whilst aware that their own actions are being anticipated and interpreted."[103] Yarger elaborated that insight when writing: "Strategic theory opens the mind to all the possibilities and forces at play, prompting us to consider the costs and risks of our decisions and weigh the consequences of those of our adversaries, allies, and others."[104]

Strategic theory takes cognizance of the complexity of the strategic environment and the inherent frictions. [105] The theory is "proactive" and "anticipatory" as opposed to "predictive," and is underpinned by assumptions that both state and non-state actors have interests that affect their focus and pursuit in various ways— among them, national survival and economic well-being.[106] Thus, the strategy embodies a logic and assumes that rational actors are carefully assessing what is beneficial or costly to them in employing means to achieve their desired ends.[107]. State actors engage in tactical analysis concerning the ends they have in mind and the values associated with them. Thus, strategic theory may identify the utility of the tactics of the relevant actors.

India has been very absorbed in monitoring Pakistan and the undertakings of its proxies in Afghanistan. Likewise, Pakistan has been similarly obsessed with India, especially concerning the conflict over Kashmir.[108] They each tend to take carefully strategized initiatives to neutralize the gains of the other side or to fight their battles on Afghan territory. They each anticipate what the other side may do and proactively undermine each other. Strategic theory, then, may offer a practical tool to assess each side's objectives, methods, and outcomes. Like zero-sum, strategic theory also has its limitations, due to its origins in public choice economics.[109] Nevertheless, it provides a valuable window to interpret and assess the India-Pakistan rivalry.

Furthermore, it is not our objective here to elaborate on a developed theory of the long-standing rivalry between these two countries that span since the independence of each in 1947. Nor is it our intention to make a choice between these two frameworks. Since this conflict has been ongoing for more than 75 years, scholars have expended considerable energy discussing it from many angles. Our humble aim has been to outline for analysis some elements that are particularly relevant to the post–US withdrawal Afghan situation and sketch two conceptual windows through which the conflict between India and Pakistan can be viewed.

Conclusion

The different militant groups that operate in Afghanistan maintain complex networks of relations; on different levels they cooperate and compete, unite for a common cause and retain autonomy, experience shifts in the loyalty of cadres, and act as proxies for different external actors. This complexity in some ways contributed to the exit agreement with the United States. However, now it forms a significant hurdle for the Taliban regime to obtain international recognition. Different militant groups exploit this situation to pursue their respective agendas. In this regard, India faces challenges from AQIS, IS-K, and the ISI-supported militant groups that operate from Afghan soil, while Pakistan has to confront the TTP. Until now, India appears to be successfully countering the terrorism threats emanating from Afghan soil, whereas Pakistan is still subject to TTP attacks. [110]

The many militant groups existing in Afghanistan are harmful as they keep the country unstable. Currently, Afghanistan is experiencing a severe food shortage and human security challenges. Pakistan faces an economic and leadership crisis while India is on the verge of becoming a supra-regional power. Their bilateral behavior of mistrust and subversion will neither beget secure futures for either of them nor benefit the region.[111] The trust deficit among them is deep and real. An atmosphere conducive to peace, security, and stability is greatly needed for their societies.[112] Therefore, they ought to collaboratively take sincere steps to work with each other to eliminate terrorism and move forward in a spirit of cooperation.

About the Authors

Dalbir Ahlawat, PhD, *is a senior lecturer in the Department of Security Studies and Criminology, Macquarie University, Australia. His areas of specialization include terrorism in South Asia, India-China strategic competition, and security challenges in the Indo-Pacific region.*

M. Raymond Izarali, PhD, *is a philosopher and associate professor in the Department of Criminology at Wilfrid Laurier University, Canada. His research interests include globalization, global terrorism and security, human rights theory, Africa, the Caribbean, and South Asia.*

Notes

[1] Syed Muhammad Zaidi and Nirmal, "Regional Political Paradigm Shift: Challenges and Opportunities for Pakistan," *Asian Journal of Comparative Politics*, June 2022, pp. 1–18. DOI: 10.1177/2057891121103358; Laurel Miller, Protecting interests in Afghanistan, *Survival* 64(2), 2022, pp. 25–34.

[2] World Bank, *Afghanistan Welfare Monitoring Survey, Round 1*, March 2022. URL: <u>https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/138d-0857c9a66e7e2a963a1a6137860e-0310062022/original/Afghanistan-Welfare-Monitoring-Survey.pdf</u>

[3] Ibid., p. 4.

[4] Laurel Miller, op. cit.

[5] Barbara Elias, "Why Rebels Rely on Terrorists: The Persistence of the Taliban-al-Qaeda Battlefield Coalition in Afghanistan," *Journal of Strategic Studies* 45(2), 2022, pp. 234–257; Lisa Curtis, "Picking up the Pieces in Afghanistan: Need for Smarter Diplomacy and Targeted Counterterrorism," *Global Policy* 13(1), March 2022, pp. 114–119.

[6] L. O'Donnell, "As the world watches Ukraine, Afghanistan goes full Taliban," Foreign Policy, March 24, 2022.

URL: https://foreignpolicy.com/2022/03/22/afghanistan-taliban-control-arrest-journalists-women/_____

[7] Shanthie Mariet D'Souza, "Countering insurgencies, terrorism and violent extremism in South Asia," *Small Wars & Insurgencies* 28(1), 2017, pp. 1–11; Abdul Basit, "What next for the Islamic State after territorial losses?" *International Centre for Political Violence and Terrorism Research* 11(6), 2019, pp. 1–7; Lisa Curtis, op. cit.

[8] Lisa Curtis, op. cit.; Raj Verma, "US-Taliban peace deal and regional powers as potential spoilers: Iran as a case study," *International Politics* 59(2), 2022, pp. 260–279.

[9] Raj Verma (2022), op. cit. pp. 267–68; C. Christine Fair, "Securing Indian interests in Afghanistan beyond 2014," *Asia Policy* 17, January 2014, pp. 27–32; Raj Verma, "The US-Taliban peace deal and India's strategic options," *Australian Journal of International Affairs* 75(1), 2021, pp. 10–14.

[10] Lisa Curtis, op. cit.

[11] Manoj Joshi, "Non-traditional security threats to India from Afghanistan?," *Global Policy* 13(1), 2022, pp. 120–124; C. Christine Fair, op. cit.; Safiullah Taye and Zahid Shahab Ahmed, "Dynamics of trust and mistrust in the Afghanistan-Pakistan relationship," *Asian Studies Review* 45(4), 2021, pp. 557–575; Zahir Sherazi, "Will Afghanistan's powerful neighbours engage the Taliban?," *Al Jazeera*, October 16, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2021/10/16/will-afghanistans-powerful-neighbours-en-</u> gage-the-taliban

[12] Raj Verma (2021), op. cit.; Manoj Joshi, op. cit.; Smruti Pattanaik. "India's 'neighbourhood first' policy: The primacy of geoeconomics," *The Round Table* 111(3), 2022, pp. 440–452.

[13] Raj Verma (2022), op. cit.

[14] C. Christine Fair, op. cit.

[15] Manoj Joshi, op. cit.; Smruti Pattanaik, op. cit.

[16] Safiullah Taye and Zahid Shahab Ahmed, op. cit.

[17] Nirupama Subramanian, "Taliban: asked India to complete its development projects in Afghanistan," *Indian Express*, August 15, 2022.

[18] Lisa Curtis, op. cit., p. 116.

[19] Avik Roy, "Internal, bilateral: Taliban 'clarify' position on Kashmir," *Hindustan Times*, August 17, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/taliban-kashmir-pakistan-terror-groups-insurgency-afghanistan-security-situa-tion-101629204421516.html</u>

[20] Chunfang Zhang, "The impact of Afghanistan's changed situation on India's geo-environment," *Asian Journal of Social Science Studies* 7(6), 2022, pp. 33–37; Syed Muhammad Zaidi and Nirmal, op. cit.; Raj Verma. (2022), op. cit.; Lisa Curtis, op. cit.; Safiullah Taye and Zahid Shahab Ahmed, op. cit.; Shanthie Mariet D'Souza, "Afghanistan," *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses*, 14(1), 2022, pp. 55–89.

[21] Chunfang Zhang, op. cit., p. 33.

[22] Syed Kamal Shah and Safdar Hussain, "Drivers of Pakistan's Afghanistan Policy," Pakistan Horizon 75(1), 2022, pp. 67-85.

[23] Safiullah Taye and Zahid Shahab Ahmed, op. cit.

[24] Lisa Curtis, op. cit.

[25] John R. Allen, "The US-Taliban peace deal: A road to nowhere," *Brookings*, March 5, 2020. URL: <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2020/03/05/the-us-taliban-peace-deal-a-road-to-nowhere/</u>

[26] Lisa Curtis, op. cit.

[27] UN, "Letter dated 20 May 2021 from the chair of the security council committee established pursuant to resolution 1988 (2011) addressed to the president of the security council," UN Security Council, 2021. URL: <u>https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/107/61/PDF/N2110761.pdf</u>; Barbara Elias, op. cit.; Farooq Yousaf and Moheb Jabarkhail, "Afghanistan's future under the Taliban regime: Engagement or Isolation?" *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism* 17(1), 2022, pp. 117–134; C. Christine Fair, op. cit.; Raj Verma (2021), op. cit.

[28] Shanthie Mariet D'Souza (2022), op. cit.

[29] C. Christine Fair, op. cit.; Antonio Giustozzi, "Counterinsurgency challenge in post-2001 Afghanistan," *Small Wars & Insurgencies* 28(1), 2017, pp. 12–33; UN, "Afghanistan: Human Rights and Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict. Special Report,

Attacks in Mirza Olang, Sari Pul Province: 3–5 August 2017," *United Nations Assistance Mission in Afghanistan, Kabul*, August 2017. URL: <u>https://unama.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/english.pdf</u>; UN (2021), op. cit.; Niamatullah Ibrahimi and Shahram Akbarzadeh, "Intra-jihadist conflict and cooperation: Islamic State-Khorasan Province and the Taliban in Afghanistan," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 43(12), 2020, pp. 1086–1107; Farooq Yousaf and Moheb Jabarkhail, op. cit.

[30] "NSA Mohammad Haneef Atmar's interview with the Times of India (March 9, 2017)," *New Delhi: Embassy of Islamic Republic of Afghanistan*, April 4, 2017. URL: <u>https://newdelhi.mfa.af/media-center-4/speeches-remarks-interviews/848-nsa-mohammad-haneef-atmar-s-interview-with-the-times-of-india-mar-09-2017</u>

[31] Asfandyar Mir, "Afghanistan's Terrorism Challenge: The Political Trajectories of Al-Qaeda, the Afghan Taliban, and the Islamic State," *Middle East Institute*, October 2020. URL: <u>https://www.mei.edu/sites/default/files/2020-10/Afghanistan%27s%20</u> <u>Terrorism%20Challenge.pdf;</u> Catrina Doxsee, Jared Thompson and Grace Hwang, "Examining Extremism: Islamic State Khorasan Province (ISKP)," *Center for Strategic & International Studies*, September 8, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.csis.org/blogs/examining-extremism/examining-extremism-islamic-state-khorasan-province-iskp</u>.

[32] Farooq Yousaf and Moheb Jabarkhail, op. cit., p. 124.

[33] Shanthie Mariet D'Souza (2022), op. cit.

[34] Niamatullah Ibrahimi and Shahram Akbarzadeh, op. cit., p. 1094.

[35] UN. (2017), op. cit., p. 4.

[36] Ibid.

[37] Amit Bansal, "What will be the Future of Afghanistan after the Withdrawal?," *India.com*, November 18, 2020. URL: <u>https://www.india.com/news/world/what-will-be-the-future-of-aghanistan-after-the-us-withdrawal-4214402/</u>

[38] Muhammad Amir Rana, "Concerns of proxy wars," *The Dawn*, September 19, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.dawn.com/</u><u>news/1647180/concerns-of-proxy-wars</u>.

[39] "Interview with Taliban's Zabihullah Mujahid: Full Transcript," *Tolo News*, July 12, 2021. URL: <u>https://tolonews.com/afghani-stan-173452</u>.

[40] UN. (2021), op. cit.

[41] Lisa Curtis, op. cit.; Farooq Yousaf and Moheb Jabarkhail, op. cit.

[42] Dexter Filkins, "Pakistanis Tell of Motive in Taliban Leader's Arrest," *New York Times*, August 22, 2010. URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2010/08/23/world/asia/23taliban.html</u>

[43] William Dalrymple, "Taliban can assert independence from their Pakistani paymasters: William Dalrymple," *The Economic Times*, August 31, 2021. URL: <u>https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/taliban-can-assert-indepen-dence-from-their-pakistani-paymasters-william-dalrymple/articleshow/85796419.cms?utm_source=contentofinterest&utm_medi-um=text&utm_campaign=cppst_</u>

[44] Anurag Sharma, The Presence of Islamic State-Khurasan Province in Taliban-Controlled Afghanistan, *Vivekananda International Foundation*, May 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.vifindia.org/article/2022/may/26/the-presence-of-islamic-state-khurasan-prov-</u> <u>ince-in-taliban-controlled-afghanistan</u>; Sushant Sarin, "ISKP: The exaggerated threat," *Observer Research Foundation*, August 29, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/iskp-the-exaggerated-threat/</u>

[45] India Blooms News Service, "Afghanistan: Pakistani-origin ISKP commander linked with Taliban, LeT arrested," *India Blooms*, April 22, 2020. URL: <u>https://www.indiablooms.com/world-details/SA/23942/afghanistan-pakistani-origin-iskp-command-er-linked-with-taliban-let-arrested.html</u>

[46] Rajeshwari Krishnamurthy, "The Relevance of Aslam Farooqui's Arrest," *Institute of Peace and Conflict Studies*, April 6, 2020. URL: <u>http://www.ipcs.org/comm_select.php?articleNo=5674</u>

[47] Aidan Parkes, "Considered Chaos: Revisiting Pakistan's 'Strategic Depth' in Afghanistan," *Strategic Analysis* 43(4), 2019, pp. 298–99; Syed Muhammad Zaidi and Nirmal, op. cit.; Raj Verma. (2021), op. cit.

[48] C. Christine Fair, "Afghanistan in 2017: Another Year of Running in Place," *Asian Survey* 58(1), January/February 2018, pp. 110, 115.

[49] Lisa Curtis, op. cit., p. 116.

[50] Chunfang Zhang, op. cit.; Raj Verma. (2021), op. cit.

[51] C. Christine Fair, op. cit.

[52] Catrina Doxsee, Jared Thompson and Grace Hwang, op. cit.; Sushant Sareen, op. cit.

[53] UN. (2021), op. cit.; C. Christine Fair, op. cit.; Shanthie Mariet D'Souza, "Taliban: The rebels who aspire to rule," *Journal of Asian Security*, 3(1), 2016, pp. 20–40.

[54] Namrata Biji Ahuja, "How Pakistan's ISI is building nexus between terror outfits and ISKP," *The Week*, September 9, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.theweek.in/news/world/2021/09/09/how-pakistans-isi-is-building-nexus-between-terror-outfits-and-iskp.html</u>

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

[55] C. Christine Fair, op. cit., p. 28.

[56] Raj Verma (2022), op. cit.; Shanthie Mariet D'Souza (2022), op. cit.

[57] Shanthie Mariet D'Souza (2022), op. cit.

[58] Raj Verma. (2021), op. cit.; Manoj Joshi, op. cit.; Prakhar Sharma, India-Afghanistan Relations: Pragmatism towards Political Normalisation, in: Aparna Pande (Ed)., Routledge Handbook on South Asian Foreign Policy (London: Routledge, 2021), p. 147; Matt Waldman, The Sun in the Sky: The Relationship between Pakistan's ISI and Afghan Insurgents, Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, June 2010, p. 17. URL: https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/117472/dp%2018.pdf

[59] Bruce Riedel, Avoiding Armageddon: America, India and Pakistan to the Brink and Back (Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press, 2013), p. 2.

[60] Thomas Joscelyn, "AQIS emphasizes allegiance to Ayman al Zawahiri, Taliban in new 'code of conduct," *FDD's Long War Journal*, June 26, 2017. URL: <u>https://www.longwarjournal.org/archives/2017/06/aqis-emphasizes-allegiance-to-ayman-al-zawahiri-tali-</u> <u>ban-in-new-code-of-conduct.php</u>

[61] Australian Government, *Al-Qa'ida in the Indian Subcontinent (AQIS)*. URL: <u>https://www.nationalsecurity.gov.au/Listedterror-istorganisations/Pages/Al-qaida-in-the-indian-subcontinent-aqis.aspx</u>

[62] IANS, "Here's why IS failed to find ground in Jammu and Kashmir," *India TV*, October 27, 2019. URL: <u>https://www.indiat-vnews.com/news/india/here-why-is-failed-to-find-ground-in-jammu-and-kashmir-559401</u>

[63] Kabir Taneja and Mohammed Sinan Siyech, "Terrorism in South Asia After the Fall of Afghanistan," *War on the Rocks*, August 23, 2021. URL: <u>https://warontherocks.com/2021/08/terrorism-in-south-asia-after-the-fall-of-afghanistan/</u>

[64] Dalbir Ahlawat and M. Raymond Izarali, "India's Revocation of Article 370: Security Dilemma and Options for Pakistan," *The Round Table: Commonwealth Journal of International Affairs* 109(6), 2020, pp. 664–65.

[65] Mark Moore, "Al Qaeda leader, believed dead, appears in video on 9/11 anniversary," *New York Post*, September 12, 2021. URL: <u>https://nypost.com/2021/09/12/al-qaeda-leader-ayman-al-zawahiri-seen-in-video-after-death-rumors/</u>

[66] "Interview with: The Wal of Khurasan," *Dabiq* 13, 2014. URL: <u>https://clarionproject.org/factsheets-files/Issue-13-the-rafidah.</u> pdf

[67] Sam Mullins, "Terrorism in the Indo-Pacific: The Year Gone by and the Road Ahead," *Journal of Indo-Pacific Affairs* 3(2), Summer 2020, p. 7.

[68] "Islamic State (India)," BBC Monitoring, September 15, 2020. URL: https://monitoring.bbc.co.uk/product/dib8uaipbs

[69] Mohammed Sinan Siyech, "Why Has the Islamic State Failed to Grow in Kashmir?" *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses* 10(5), May 2018, pp. 11–15.

[70] Shakir Mir, "What the Unveiling of IS's "Wilaya al-Hind" Branch Will Mean for Kashmir," *The Wire*, May 11, 2019. URL: <u>https://thewire.in/security/isis-jammu-kashmir-ishfaq-ahmad-sofi</u>

[71] Ruchi Kumar, "Deadly attack on Sikh temple in Kabul leaves community in fear," *Aljazeera*, June 18, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/6/18/deadly-attack-on-sikh-temple-in-kabul-leaves-community-in-fear</u>

[72] Prithvi Iyer and Maya Mirchandani, "Can Communal Violence Fuel an ISIS Threat in India? An analysis of 'Voice of Hind," *Observer Research Foundation*, September 4, 2020. URL: <u>https://www.orfonline.org/research/can-communal-violence-fuel-an-isis-threat-in-india/</u>

[73] Kabir Taneja, "IS Khorasan, the US–Taliban Deal, and the Future of South Asian Security," *Observer Research Foundation, ORF Occasional Paper No. 289*, December 2020. URL: <u>https://www.orfonline.org/research/is-khorasan-the-us-taliban-deal-and-the-fu-ture-of-south-asian-security/?amp=&s=03</u>

[74] Amarnath Amarasingam and Shweta Desai, "ISIS in South Asia: Struggle for Survival Beyond 'Khorasan," *Newlines Institute for Strategy and Policy*, July 20, 2020. URL: <u>https://newlinesinstitute.org/isis/isis-in-south-asia-struggle-for-survival-beyond-khorasan/</u>

[75] Shanthie Mariet D'Souza (2016), op. cit.

[76] Manoj Joshi, op. cit.

[77] Agnieszka Kuszewska, "Nation building and Kashmir," in: Piotr Balcerowicz and Agnieszka Kuszewska (Eds.), *Kashmir in India and Pakistan Policies* (London: Routledge, 2022), p. 89.

[78] Safiullah Taye and Zahid Shahab Ahmed, op. cit.; Muhammad Ayaz Khan and Sajid Hussain, "Withdrawal of troops from Afghanistan: Implications for Pakistan," *FWU Journal of Social Sciences* 1(2), 2015, pp. 96–103.

[79] Syed Kamal Shah and Safdar Hussain, "Drivers of Pakistan's Afghanistan Policy," Pakistan Horizon 75(1), 2022, p. 69.

[80] Safiullah Taye and Zahid Shahab Ahmed, op. cit.; Muhammad Ayaz Khan and Sajid Hussain, op. cit.

[81] Cited in Kunwar Khuldune Shahid, "Afghanistan and Pakistan's Troubles Won't End with the Taliban Victory," The Diplomat,

January 26, 2022. URL: https://thediplomat.com/2022/01/afghanistan-and-pakistans-troubles-wont-end-with-the-taliban-victory/

[82] United States Department of State, "Country Reports on Terrorism 2016 - Foreign Terrorist Organizations: Tehrik-e Taliban Pakistan (TTP)," *Ref World*, July 19, 2017. URL: <u>https://www.refworld.org/docid/5981e3bd26.html</u>

[83] Shanthie Mariet D'Souza (2016), op. cit.

[84] Asfandyar Mir, "After the Taliban's Takeover: Pakistan's TTP problem," *United States Institute of Peace*, January 19, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.usip.org/publications/2022/01/after-talibans-takeover-pakistans-ttp-problem</u>

[85] Abdul Sayed, "The Evolution and future of the Tehrik-e-Taliban Pakistan," *Carnegie Endowment for International Peace*, December 21, 2021. URL: <u>https://carnegieendowment.org/2021/12/21/evolution-and-future-of-tehrik-e-taliban-pakistan-pub-86051</u>

[86] Arshad Ali, "Peace Talks with the Pakistani Taliban: Challenges and Prospects," *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses* 5(4), 2013, pp. 11–13.

[87] Ibid.

[88] Abhinandan Mishra, "Is Khorasani killing a warning to TTP by the Pakistan Army?" *Sunday Guardian*, August 13, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.sundayguardianlive.com/world/khorasani-killing-warning-ttp-pakistan-army</u>

[89] ANI, "Pakistan denies use of Islamabad airspace for strike on Al-Qaeda leader," *Business Standard*, August 29, 2022. URL: https://www.business-standard.com/article/international/pakistan-denies-use-of-islamabad-airspace-for-strike-on-al-qaeda-leader-122082900026_1.html; *CNN-News* 18, "'Pak Airspace Used By U.S. For Ops': Inside Scoop of Killing of Ayman al-Zawahiri," August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XRCqkVUyWwA

[90] Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Transcript of the Press Briefing by Spokesperson on Saturday," August 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://mofa.gov.pk/transcript-of-the-press-briefing-by-spokesperson-on-saturday-04-august-2022/</u>

[91] Ben Farmer and Ihsanullah Tipu Mehsud, "Pakistan Builds Border Fence, Limiting Militants and Families Alike," *The New York Times*, July 31, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/15/world/asia/pakistan-afghanistan-border-fence.html</u>

[92] Dawn.com, "Martyrs' blood went into Pak-Afghan border fencing, will continue as planned: DG ISPR," *Dawn*, January 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1667785/martyrs-blood-went-into-pak-afghan-border-fencing-will-continue-as-planned-dg-ispr</u>

[93] News Desk, "Taliban Spokesman Says Pakistan Has 'No Right' To Fence Durand Line," *The Friday Times*, January 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.thefridaytimes.com/2022/01/03/taliban-spokesman-says-pakistan-has-no-right-to-fence-durand-line/</u>

[94] Cited in Abubakar Siddique, "Pakistan's Deadly Air Strikes Inside Afghanistan Increase Tensions with Taliban," *Gandhara*, April 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/pakistan-air-strikes-afghanistan-taliban-relations/31814993.html</u>

[95] C. Christine Fair, op. cit.

[96] Security Council, "Millions of Lives Will Depend on How Afghanistan's New Interim Government Chooses to Govern, Special Representative Tells Security Council," *United Nations Security Council*, September 9, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/press/</u> en/2021/sc14628.doc.htm

[97] Beate Kohler-Koch, "Territorial Politics in Europe: A Zero-Sum Game?: La renaissance de la dimension territoriale en Europe: entre illusion et réalité" (Florence: European University Institute, April 21–22, 1997). URL: <u>https://madoc.bib.uni-mannheim.</u> <u>de/14192/</u>

[98] John Von Neumann and Oskar Morgenstern, *Theory of Games and Economic Behavior* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2007), pp. 220–223.

[99] George Perkovich, "India, Pakistan, and the United States: The Zero-Sum Game," *World Policy Journal* 13(2), Summer 1996, p. 50.

[100] Alex P. Schmid, "Frameworks for Conceptualizing Terrorism," Terrorism and Political Violence 16(2), 2004, p. 220.

[101] Syed Muhammad Zaidi and Nirmal, op. cit.; Raj Verma (2022), op. cit.; Abdul Basit, op. cit.; Waseem Ishaque, Ghulam Qumber and Syed Jawad Shah, "Prospects of enduring peace in Afghanistan: avoiding zero-sum game in Af-Pak region," *Global Social Sciences Review* 2(2), 2017, pp. 146–161; Safiullah Taye and Zahid Shahab Ahmed, op. cit.

[102] Rob Geist Pinfold and M. L. R. Smith, "Theorizing territorial withdrawal: The need to think strategically," *Studies in Conflict* & *Terrorism* 45(4), 2022, pp. 285–310; M.L.R. Smith and John Stone, "Explaining strategic theory," *Infinity Journal* 1(4), 2011, pp. 27–30.

[103] Rob Geist Pinfold and M. L. R. Smith, op. cit., p. 298.

[104] Harry R. Yarger, *Strategic Theory for the 21st Century: The Little Book on Big Strategy* (Carlisle, PA: Strategic Studies Institute, US Army War College, 2006), p. 2.

[105] Ibid.

[106] Ibid.

[107] M. L. R. Smith and John Stone, op. cit.

[108] Dalbir Ahlawat and Kedar Thaakar, "Kashmir Imbroglio Resolved: Strategic Options for Pakistan," Journal of Indo-Pacific Affairs 4(2), 2021, pp. 147–48.

[109] M. L. R. Smith and John Stone, op. cit.

[110] Abdul Basit, "Pakistan," Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses 14(1), 2022, pp. 72-82.

[111] M. Raymond Izarali and Dalbir Ahlawat, "Contextualizing terrorism, security, and development in South Asia," in: M. Raymond Izarali and Dalbir Ahlawat (Eds.), *Terrorism, Security and Development in South Asia: National, Regional and Global Implica-tions* (London: Routledge, 2021), pp. 12–13.

[112] M. Raymond Izarali, "Some rumination on the impact of terrorism, insurgencies, and (in)security in South Asia in the age of globalization," in M. Raymond Izarali and Dalbir Ahlawat, Ibid, pp. 287–303.

Recognizing Trade-Offs in Indonesian Counterterrorism Strategy

by Alif Satria and Cameron Sumpter

Abstract

Counterterrorism policies often suffer from a troubling dilemma: Thwarting violence and the development of extremist networks in the near-term may require uncompromising operations that ultimately impact a broader section of society than the intended targets. When whole communities or certain demographics become entangled in sweeping strategies, the suspicion generated can fuel counterproductive grievances and hinder longer-term prevention initiatives. On the other hand, if policies prioritize softer social programs aiming for gradual (re-)conciliation, this approach may provide undue space for violent actors to exploit. Finding the right balance between deterring violence in the short-term and addressing the underlying issues is crucial—but difficult. A pertinent example is playing out in the criminal justice system of Indonesia. Recent updates to the nation's counterterrorism legislation have provided law enforcement with preemptive powers that have generated hundreds of arrests since late 2018. At the same time, new regulations have sought to develop a community policing philosophy for preventing violent extremism. While the two strategies are not mutually exclusive, the atmosphere generated by repressive tactics may inhibit the trust-dependent community-focused approach. Balance will depend on ensuring that community policing remains focused on procedural justice and building relationships, rather than cultivating informants and collecting information.

Keywords: Community Policing; Preventive Detention; Preventing Violent Extremism; Indonesia

Introduction

Indonesia's counterterrorism capacity has increased significantly in the past 20 years. In 2001, Indonesia was one of Southeast Asia's most skeptical and uncommitted countries in dealing with the threat of international terrorism. Not only was the security apparatus more focused on separatists in Aceh and ethnic conflicts in Maluku,[1] but the government also had little to no political will to acknowledge the threat.[2] By 2021, however, Indonesia had established a robust set of counterterrorism measures. The government developed a well-trained counterterrorism police unit, Special Detachment 88 (Densus 88) in 2004, created a vigorous legal anti-terrorism infrastructure through revision of its anti-terrorism law in 2018, and set up a comprehensive national action plan on preventing/countering violent extremism (P/CVE), known as RAN PE in 2021.[3] The efficacy of these modalities is evident—terrorist attacks in Indonesia today are notably less frequent and less lethal than in the early 2000s.[4]

However, a common dilemma that states face as they strengthen their counterterrorism capacities is the emergence of policy trade-offs—such as between expansive surveillance and respect for individual privacy or between indefinite detention and the right to proper procedural justice. The most common counterterrorism dilemma is the trade-off between operational aggressiveness and the maintenance of public trust. Various case studies have noted that as counterterrorism policies become increasingly focused on arresting terrorist suspects, governments risk alienating and losing support among communities with a similar demographic profile to those of terrorist groups.[5] During France's fight against the Front de Liberation National (FLN) in Algeria, for example, the torture of FLN members to gain intelligence ultimately diminished the support from both Algerians and French citizens—resulting in the exit of France from Algeria.[6] A similar case occurred in Israel, where British colonial forces' torture tactics eventually undercut their authority and increased population support for the paramilitary Irgun organization.[7]

The present article considers this counterterrorism trade-off in the context of Indonesia. Specifically, it analyzes the trade-offs between two of Indonesia's counterterrorism policies: the use of preventive detention and the adoption of a strategy of community policing. While Indonesia's increasingly aggressive use of preventive detention since 2018 has indeed helped to reduce the threat of terrorism, it has also led to increasing distrust toward the counterterrorism apparatus, particularly from conservative Islamic communities. This erosion of trust is counterproductive as it complicates the implementation of community policing in at-risk populations.

This article will be divided into four main segments. The first segment will summarize the relevant literature on preventive detention and community policing, before outlining how Indonesia has developed and currently implements both policies. A third segment will analyze the practical trade-off between the two policies, while the final section will conclude with discussion of the potential implications.

Understanding Preventive Detention

Preemptive arrest, also commonly referred to as preventive detention, is the act of detaining an individual who is expected to commit a crime, based on less evidence than ordinary criminal law would generally allow. [8] In the context of counterterrorism, national governments have implemented various practices referred to as preventive detention, ranging from pre-charge detention of a potential terrorist suspect, or detainment during an immigration process, to indefinite detention without trial under an executive order.[9] However, a commonality between them is their deviation from the standard arrest procedure in administering justice. For many state authorities, this deviation in the context of counterterrorism is vital as it overcomes various challenges associated with investigating terrorist activities, such as limited time frames, the difficulty of obtaining evidence, and the need to withhold sensitive intelligence information. Proponents believe the strategy is proportional to preventing the risk of mass-casualty terrorist attacks.[10]

The use of preventive detention is not new nor exclusive to modern-day counterterrorism policing.[11] The United Kingdom employed the practice between 1970 and 1989 to detain citizens suspected of supporting the Irish Republican Army in Northern Ireland.[12] The United States used it in World War II to detain people of Japanese descent in internment camps out of prejudiced fear for their support of the Axis powers.[13] Other countries also adopt the preventive approach of indefinitely detaining "habitual criminals"—such as violent recidivists or repeat sexual offenders.[14] The use of preventive detention is not limited to any specific nation or region. The United States, for example, legalizes indefinite detention of suspected terrorists in Guantanamo Bay; Trinidad and Tobago allow its executive to "make provision for the detention of previation of previati

However, not all preventive detention practices are the same. On the spectrum of least to most right-stripping, practices can be clustered into three frameworks. The first is the pretrial detention framework. Countries such as Germany and Spain only detain individuals without charge in advance of a trial that is set to occur. This practice is the least extreme framework as it involves the constant presence of judicial oversight. Second is the immigration detention framework. Nations such as Canada and New Zealand delegate authority to detain suspected terrorists to administrative officers during immigration processes.[16] While there is a lack of judicial oversight during the initial detainment in such cases, decisions are made accountable to judicial review—ensuring some level of rights protection for the suspects. The third is the national security framework. Countries with this framework, such as Malaysia and the United States, derive detention authority from the powers their constitutions and special regulations delegate to the executive. To that end, this is the most extreme detention framework as there is little to no judicial oversight over the executive branch's decisions to detain.[17]

Understanding Community Policing

Another judicial approach that has been associated with effective counterterrorism strategy is community policing, which developed following research showing the benefits of closer interactions between citizens and the police.[18] During the 1980s, several countries began establishing neighborhood police posts, while foot patrols were increasingly seen on urban and suburban streets as officers attempted to build better relationships with community members. The idea was to be less reactive and focus more on preventing problems through close collaboration with residents, who were no longer seen as the referent object of law enforcement but as "co-producers of public safety."[19] Police would seek information on criminality from community members but also provide updates on police activities, listen to community concerns, and offer appropriate support.

The reciprocity of these relationships is a crucial feature and requires a high degree of trust in the institution of law enforcement and its personnel. An effective way of building this trust is by ensuring what is known as procedural justice, which links satisfaction of a conflict resolution outcome with the perceived fairness of the process. If people believe police officers act with integrity, they are more likely to cooperate. There are four key aspects of procedural justice: (1) people have opportunities to express their problems to the police; (2) they believe police operate with transparency and neutrality; (3) they think the police are trying to do what's best for the community; and (4) police treat everyone with respect and dignity.[20] One study from EU nations found that the "quality of relations" between residents and the police was even more important than police competence when it came to their perceived legitimacy.[21]

Procedural justice is particularly important if community policing is framed as a way of preventing violent extremism. Human intelligence often plays a central role in thwarting terrorist attacks and dismantling networks, but residents cannot be compelled or coerced into cooperation; information must come from genuine collaboration. This has been a problem in some Western nations, where Muslim communities have been expected to cooperate with the police but were also made to feel like suspects themselves.[22] Ideally, a properly implemented and observed community policing approach would avoid this dynamic while more broadly respecting human rights and addressing the underlying grievances associated with violent extremism. Of course, this is not straightforward in practice, particularly where police culture is playing catch-up with public opinion.

Developing Indonesia's Preventive Detention and Community Policing Practice

Indonesia's Preventive Detention in Practice

The authority of Indonesia's current preventive detention for counterterrorism originates from the 2018 legislative amendments (Law No. 5/2018 on Anti-Terrorism) which, aside from having expanded the definition of terrorism,[23] has also specifically expanded Densus 88's ability to conduct preventive detention against terrorist suspects in two ways. First, the regulation extended the pre-charge and pretrial detention periods for suspected terrorists. In the original anti-terrorism regulation, Law No. 15/2003 on Anti-Terrorism, police were allowed to detain a suspected terrorist for seven days before charging the individual and 120 days before trial.[24] This alone was already expansive in comparison to provisions for other crimes, which only allow for one day of pre-charge detention and a maximum of 60 days of pretrial detention.[25] In the amended anti-terrorism regulation, however, this detention authority is further extended to allow the detention of suspected terrorists for 21 days prior to charging and 200 days prior to trial.[26]

Second, the regulation has extended the scope of prosecutable activities under terrorism clauses to include nonviolent activities not directly connected to terrorist operations. The original 2003 anti-terrorism regulation only authorized security forces to arrest suspects who either conduct, attempt to conduct, or directly support the conduct of terrorist attacks. These included activities such as *knowingly* procuring firearms for terrorist attacks (Article 9), contributing funds toward an attack (Article 11), or directing individuals to conduct attacks (Article 14).[27] In the amended anti-terrorism regulation, security forces can criminalize individuals even if they do not contribute to, or participate in, such attacks. It now assumes that while these nonviolent actions may not directly contribute to any attack, they generally still facilitate the terrorist organization's or network's activities. These include arresting members affiliated with designated terrorist organizations (Article 12A), individuals who create, collect, or distribute training materials (Article 12B), and individuals who distribute terrorist propaganda material (Article 13A).[28]

These two de facto expansions of detention powers provide security forces with a larger window of opportu-

nity to find actionable evidence post-arrest, reducing the possibility of the trial being waived or the suspect walking free due to a lack of evidence. In turn, this enables security forces to conduct preemptive detention more confidently without needing a full set of evidence before the arrest. Additionally, the increased scope of prosecutable offenses allows security forces to target individuals deemed vital to the survival of a terrorist organization (e.g., funders, trainers, and ideologues) despite their not conducting or directly supporting acts of violence. As National Police Chief Gen. Tito Karnavian stated in 2018, for security forces, "prosecuting early action is better so that police can prevent or launch pre-emptive strikes. [It is better] than waiting until we have evidence."[29]

The expanded use of preventive detention as authorized in the 2018 anti-terrorism law has greatly increased the number of arrested terrorist suspects over the past four years. In 2018 alone, Densus 88 arrested over 396 terrorist suspects—marking a 117% increase on the previous year.[30] Although arrests in 2019 and 2020 were reduced to 275 and 228 cases, this number increased again in 2021. Between January and December last year, Indonesian security forces arrested and killed more than 384 terrorist suspects.[31] Most of these suspects were alleged members of Jemaah Islamiyah (JI) (42.5%), Indonesia's notorious pro–Al Qaeda group that has, however, not conducted any successful attacks since 2011; Jemaah Ansharut Daulah (JAD) (31%), Indonesia's largest pro–Islamic State group; and the West Papua National Army-Free Papua Organization (TNPB-OPM) (13.5%), a separatist group that the Indonesian government labeled as a terrorist organization in early 2021.[32]

The expanded use of preventive detention has also increased the diversity in the roles of those arrested. Out of the 113 suspects arrested in 2021 whose organizational role was publicized in police reports, only 28.3% were militaristic/operational (e.g., planning and preparing for attacks). Many of these suspects' roles were instead aimed at supporting the terrorist organization rather than involving any specific plan of attack. These roles include logistical distribution (30.9%), fundraising roles (23.8%), and ideological indoctrination and propaganda roles (12.3%). One key example of this was the arrest of four suspected terrorists in the southern Sumatra province of Lampung, whose main role was to operate the Abdurahman Bin Rauf foundation, a charity organization that has raised money for JI by distributing more than 6,000 charity boxes across the province. Notably, these individuals do not necessarily focus on conducting attacks but are vital to the organization's survival.[33]

The large numbers and diversity of arrests have significantly helped to reduce the threat of terrorist organizations in Indonesia. Notably, over the past two decades, terrorist attacks in Indonesia have become less frequent and lethal. Whereas the 2002 Bali Bombing by JI resulted in over 502 casualties, the 2018 Surabaya bombing attack by JAD resulted in 13 deaths and 41 injured.[34] The most recent attack by the JAD, the 2021 Makassar Bombing on Easter Sunday, only resulted in two deaths and 20 injured—the deaths being the two suicide bombers.[35] Additionally, arrests have significantly disrupted organizations' attempts to regroup and rebuild by arresting individuals who have fulfilled vital roles in supporting the organization. For example, by arresting key JAD leaders and ideologues in 2018, their once robust and centralized organizational structures are now de facto nonfunctional.[36] Similarly, by arresting senior JI officials, such as Abu Rusydan and Siswanto, whose role focused more on giving JI leaders strategic guidance and not on orchestrating attacks, counterterrorism operations have greatly disrupted JI's leadership selection process.[37]

However, preventive detention is not without its unintended problems. The exponential increase of arrested terrorist suspects in the past four years has added significant strain on Indonesia's already-overcrowded prison system. In 2020, for example, Indonesian prisons were at 109% overcapacity, with prisons in key areas such as Jakarta reaching 160% overcapacity.[38] Coupled with the fact that these prisons are mostly understaffed,[39] large additional numbers of terrorist inmates due to preventive detention have made close monitoring of these inmates increasingly difficult. If prison reform is not adequately and quickly implemented, these conditions could create ripe environments for the further radicalization of suspects who were initially arrested for low-risk activities, potentially leading them toward participation in more decisive operational roles once they leave prison. Abdul Rauf, for example, an inmate arrested for his involvement in fundraising for the 2002 Bali Bombing, was further radicalized in prison, and ultimately left to fight for ISIS in Iraq after

he was released.[40]

Indonesia's Community Policing in Practice

In Indonesia, community policing occupies a point of focus in the nation's emerging national action plan to prevent violent extremism (known by its Indonesian acronym, RAN PE). The ambitious plan was instituted by presidential regulation in January 2021 and aims to facilitate stakeholder coordination, improve data collection methods, and build the capacity to conduct prevention programs.[41] Pillar one of the three-pillar plan includes an article on building resilience among vulnerable groups, which involves the "optimization of community policing in preventing violent extremism."[42] When the regulation was issued, media commentary seized on this point, as both human rights activists and representatives of Islamic organizations expressed concern that the strategy would generate mutual suspicion and division if people were encouraged to spy on one another.[43]

This apprehension is well-founded. During the authoritarian Suharto regime, which spanned the last 30 years of the 20th Century, the army stationed nonommissioned officers throughout the archipelago, where they coordinated with neighborhood and village leaders to collect information on perceived subversive activity. Then from the early 1980s onward, police developed a system of organizing informal neighborhood-watch-type community patrols, which became a form of central state surveillance.[44] These practices were largely phased out through democratic reforms in the late 1990s. However, more recently, the government has urged neighborhood associations (known as *rukun tetangga/rukun warga*) to report on certain community behaviors, which has generated some persecution of LGBT and minority religious groups.[45] To be sure, such co-opted neighborhood surveillance is not the same as community policing, which requires building trust rather than stripping it away through suspicion and discrimination.

While the P/CVE plan calls for further development, Indonesia's experience with community policing dates back to the democratic transitional period of the early 2000s. A collaboration between UNDP, the World Bank, Asia Development Bank, and the Indonesian government called the *Partnership for Governance Reform* was the first to introduce the community approach in 2001.[46] Subsequent projects from the International Organisation for Migration (IOM) and the Asia Foundation conducted specific capacity-building programs, including cultural competency training for officers working in the outer regions of Maluku and Papua.[47] Additional pilot projects involved dozens of community task forces in four provinces, which reportedly improved trust and opened lines of communication for community members to share their concerns.[48]

Projects on the ground have been backed by evolving government regulations over the years since the beginning of democratic reform. A police chief regulation (*Peraturan Kepala Kepolisian*) in 2005 established what became known as Police and Community Partnership Forums (FKPM) in over 5,000 police precincts across the country.[49] Three years later, a more detailed regulation aimed to become a guideline manual for implementation, which was updated again in 2015, following a restructuring of the national police.[50] Regulation No. 3/2015 described how the concept of community policing was to be understood, emphasizing accountability, transparency, "intensive two-way communication" between officers and residents, mutual respect, and collective problem-solving.[51] Regarding implementation, the regulation sought to: (1) empower social institutions; (2) enhance capability and instill community policing values throughout the institution; and (3) draw on strategies developed in Japan, the UK, Australia, and New Zealand to establish models that fit the Indonesian context.[52]

In early 2021, a further policy update defined the particular strategy deemed most suitable for Indonesia and outlined the roles, responsibilities, and oversight of dedicated community policing officers. The new police regulation 1/2021 settled on two versions: the *wilayah* (regional) model in residential areas such as neighborhoods, villages, and hamlets; and the *kawasan* (area) model in commercial and industrial quarters. [53] The wilayah approach is based on each community's "will, awareness, and interest" to get involved in local security and order issues. In the Kawasan model, business owners and commercial tenants can form an

FKPM, based on "mutual agreement" among each other and with police.[54] However, there is also a broader and important distinction between internalizing community policing values at the institutional level and implementing relevant activities on the ground.

Discussion: The Trade-Off

The Challenge in Community Policing: Building Public Trust

Establishing trust between communities and counterterrorism agencies plays a significant role in ensuring that counterterrorism strategies succeed. First and foremost, this trust is important strategically—consistently high public trust in counterterrorism agencies is necessary for parliamentary bodies to justify their support for new initiatives and programs.[55] This support is particularly vital when terrorist attacks are few and far between, as these are the times when the public begins doubting the gravity of the terrorist threat, while terrorist organizations can focus on rebuilding their ranks. Secondly, public trust is also important for operational purposes. Notably, successful CVE depends on the cooperation of various service providers. [56] These service providers range from teachers and local imams whose credibility makes them key actors in countering radical narratives to youth organizations and neighborhood leaders whose embeddedness in society makes them important actors in facilitating the reintegration of ex-terrorist inmates—individuals who would not cooperate if trust was not present.[57]

The significance of trust is particularly important in the practice of community policing. As mentioned above, the strategy of community policing requires the public to perceive themselves as "co-producers of public safety" vis-à-vis the police—partners that would voluntarily provide human intelligence on close neighbors or locally reputable imams to the police for suspected terrorist activities.[58] Without trust between communities and counterterrorism agencies, this voluntary cooperation would easily be perceived as coerced surveillance. In the United States, for example, Muslim communities' distrust of the Federal Bureau of Investigation and certain municipal police agencies has led them to perceive the FBI's community policing efforts to be merely a pretext to "entrap young Muslims" and "coerce people to spy on their Muslim-American friends."[59] A study among Danish communities also found that a lack of trust between Muslim communities and counterterrorism agencies has prevented cooperation out of fear that counterterrorism units will "keep tabs" on individuals and register them as potential terrorists.[60]

The importance of public trust in community policing is also true in Indonesia's case. Various clauses in Indonesia's community policing regulations reflect this. For example, one regulation states that community policing officers (known as *Petugas Polmas*) are generally noncommissioned officers who have served for at least five years and must reside in the assigned community.[61] The operational principles mentioned in the 2005 police chief regulation provide these officers with long-term or even permanent postings to allow rapport to develop organically between them and their surrounding community.[62] The regulation No. 3/2015 update also mentions public trust as both community policing's main goals and criterion for success evaluation.[63] *Petugas Polmas* are expected to develop this trust through various means, ranging from establishing partnerships with local stakeholders, conducting foot patrols, visiting households, solving local disputes, and communicating effectively with residents.

However, several challenges remain. First, while their activities and engagements with communities are potentially constructive in terms of building trust, community policing officers on the street also rely on broader community perceptions of law enforcement, which repressive or heavy-handed practices can erode. In the past, police in Indonesia have been seen as acting with a degree of superiority toward the public, being quick to use their firearms, and seeking 'pocket money' during inspections and interactions with local business owners.[64] A 2009 review commissioned by the National Police (Polri) on community policing found that "it is difficult to change the officers from behaving with superiority to becoming the partner or even servants of the community."[65] The review also noted that most police recruits actually join the force to seek this "superior" status. More recent research finds that such rent-seeking remains a problematic practice, which represents a significant obstacle to building trust and reaping the benefits of this community-based

approach.[66]

A second challenge, particularly when it comes to counterterrorism, is that certain provisions in recent regulations appear to require a more covert form of community policing. Reminiscent of the nation's late 20th-century authoritarian era, noncommissioned community policing officers stationed in neighborhoods once again have a designated intelligence function. Articles in the January 2021 regulation obligate community officers to "identify and document community data and activities related to security and public order" and then submit associated reports to their superiors.[67] A subsequent regulation issued in August 2021 built on these designations of duty and included specific provisions for preventing violent extremism. According to police chief regulation 7/2021, community officers should encourage residents to identify new neighborhood arrivals and the presence of "suspected" extremists, and officers should supervise, monitor, and record certain "traditional teachings/beliefs," which is vague and unhelpfully open to interpretation.[68] There is a fine line between collaborating with community members and using them as a source of information to be sent up the chain of command.

The Complication of Preventive Detention: Eroding Public Trust

Indonesia's use of preventive detention has further complicated security forces' efforts to build the public trust necessary for community policing to be effective. This is most recently evidenced by the increased public outcry against Densus 88 and Indonesia's National Counterterrorism Agency (BNPT) from conservative Muslim communities for their heavy-handed treatment of terrorist suspects. However, it is important to note that the reduction of public trust due to right-stripping counterterrorism practices such as preventive detention is not exclusive to Indonesia. Studies in the United Kingdom and the United States have found similar dynamics—when communities have an increased perception that police are deviating from the standard procedure of administering justice when dealing with terrorist suspects with a similar identity to them; or an increased perception that counterterrorism agencies are unfairly targeting certain communities based on their identity, cooperation and trust between such communities and the police erode.

In the case of Indonesia, this has been evident in the public outcry against Densus 88 and the BNPT following the arrest of suspected terrorists who held prominent positions in notable Islamic organizations. For example, after the arrest of Ahmad Zain an-Najah, a member of the Fatwa Committee of the Indonesia Ulama Council (MUI), and Farid Okbah, head of the Indonesian People's Da'wah Party (PDRI), in November 2021 for being suspected JI members, hundreds of protesters demonstrated in Solo, Central Java calling for the disbandment of Densus 88.[69] Protesters claimed that Densus was unprofessional and Islamophobic in conducting the arrest. More specifically, the police were accused of unfairly targeting *ulamas* who have not yet been proven to have engaged in any terrorist activities. One protester claimed a double standard: "As to the extent of [Okbah and an-Najah's] involvement, what kind of terror was committed? He is a preacher who is considered righteous ... [while] in Papua it is clear that there are acts of terror carried out [there]. Why are our ulama the ones being arrested?"[70]

Such criticism continued in 2022. After the arrest of three suspected terrorists in Bengkulu in early February, two of whom were administrators of MUI's Bengkulu branch, the deputy chairman of the MUI, Anwar Abbas, also made strong criticisms against Densus 88 and BNPT. In his interview with Tempo Magazine, Abbas noted that the current counterterrorism strategy was "too extreme" and that suspects such as Farid Okbah and Zain an Najah, people whom he knew to be kind and polite, should not be arrested immediately but given the opportunity for dialogue. Abbas added that "the definition of terrorists are people who create fear in the community. Try sitting near Farid Okbah and Zain an Najah. There will be no fear with them... [The arrest] confused me too. How can such a person be considered a terrorist?"[71] To that end, he believed arrests and preventive detention should only be used as a last resort after civil dialogue fails to deradicalize them.[72]

This backlash toward Densus 88 has also led to increasing distrust regarding the legitimacy of BNPT's counter-radicalization initiatives. For example, as part of their counter-radicalization initiative, the BNPT, in early March, released a list of five characteristics of radical ulama. This list included preaching pro-caliphate sermons, labeling other religions as *kaffir* (infidels), using sermons to sow distrust and criticism toward the government, being intolerant toward diversity, and adopting anti-traditional culture stances.[73] Shortly after, the head of the MUI, Amirsyah Tambunan, released a statement rejecting the criteria. He argued that contrary to BNPT's belief, ulama who carry these characteristics are not necessarily bad and that "some beliefs which deviate from the Islamic faith, such as the Ahmadiyya followers, should be categorized as heretical because they believe in another prophet after Muhammad." Amirsyah concluded, "BNPT should not interfere in matters of religion as it is not their domain."[74]

Such public outcries are detrimental to community policing for two reasons. First, while the majority of the Indonesian public does not share these outcries and distrust, they are commonly shared among conservative Islamic groups. These groups include members from organizations such as the *Aksi Bela Islam* alumni and Dewan Syariah Kota Surakarta (DSKS), which called for Densus 88's dissolution in November 2021. This is particularly concerning as this demographic would likely be an area of focus for a CVE community policing strategy, given their strong antipathy to democracy, belief in the supremacy of sharia law, and (in the case of DSKS) actual connections to terrorist organizations.[75] Second, these outcries are significant as they involve not only grassroots organizations but also the MUI—which is a state-sponsored religious organization with one of the highest authorities to issue fatwa in Indonesia.[76] They were asked by then-President Susilo Bambang Yudhoyono to "formulate policies regarding Islam," and in 2017, issued a fatwa that became the catalyst for nationwide demonstrations against a Jakarta governor who was perceived to have insulted Islam. [77] Having the MUI discredit the counterterrorism agency's authority would be detrimental to engendering buy-in and trust from the population.

Conclusion

Counterterrorism strategies tend to either emphasize short-term gains or longer-term benefits. When responses require immediate results, such as during the wave of attacks associated with pro-ISIS extremists in the mid- to late-2010s, the interests of public safety may demand aggressive counterterrorism practices that will inevitably have residual effects, such as false accusations and perceptions of persecution. Such adverse impact should clearly be avoided, but there will always be trade-offs when the critical priority is preventing the death of innocent civilians. The importance of recognizing such trade-offs, however, is finding the right balance between keeping people safe in the near term and avoiding the exacerbation of grievances that may lead to discord down the road. In Indonesia, this trade-off is most evident between two of its counterterrorism policies: preventive detention and community policing.

Indonesia's intention to institutionalize a community-oriented approach to policing violent extremism is a much-needed step to improve prevention. To make community policing effective, high public trust is needed. However, some of the specific provisions in recent regulations suggest that the version of community policing being developed to prevent violent extremism could actually exacerbate problems associated with trust. For example, encouraging residents to discuss the presence of ideological study groups their children or siblings may be attending would be prudent if the process is transparent and solutions to any perceived dangers are developed collectively. But if descriptions of activities are treated as data to be eventually passed on to a counter-terrorism police unit through periodic reports, this would undermine the intention and values of a community policing model. Neighborhood officers should not have a prescribed intelligence function involving the documentation of local activities. The idea is to listen to community concerns, not to query people on particular threats.

This already challenging circumstance is currently made worse by some unintended consequences of preventive detention. Notably, while the use of preventive detention since 2018 has helped reduce the terrorist threats Indonesia faces, it has also led to a reduction in communities' trust in the intentions and practices of counterterrorism agencies. Similar to the experiences of other countries, Indonesia's deviation from the standard procedure when administering justice toward terrorist suspects belonging to a specific community has eroded trust between such communities and the state's counterterrorism agencies—leading to various protests and vocal opposition toward the government. While these public outcries have yet to become widespread, the fact that conservative Islamic groups and MUI continue to voice them indicates that such distrust is a cause of concern.

About the Authors

Alif Satria is a researcher in the Department of Politics and Social Change of the Centre for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS) Jakarta. His work focuses on the issue of terrorism, intolerance, and political violence. In the last five years, he has conducted various research ranging from understanding radicalization processes of Indonesian terrorists, mapping terrorist organizational dynamics, and developing the Collective Violence Early Warning (CVEW) Dataset, a dataset on collective violence in Indonesia.

Cameron Sumpter coordinates the preventing/countering violent extremism (P/CVE) thematic area of an EUbacked initiative called ESIWA, which seeks to enhance security cooperation in and with Asia through a range of practical exchanges and engagements. Cameron is also an adjunct fellow with the Centre of Excellence for National Security (CENS) in Singapore, where he was based until mid-2022. As part of CENS's radicalization studies program, Cameron analyzed and discussed the policy and practice of preventing violent extremism, particularly in Indonesia, where he conducted regular fieldwork.

Notes

[1] Peter Chalk et al. (2009), *The Evolving Terrorist Threat to Southeast Asia: A Net Assessment*, (Arlington: RAND Corporation), pp. 153–154.

[2] Strategic Survey (2003), "Indonesian Security and Countering Terrorism in Southeast Asia," *Strategic Survey* 103 No. 1, p. 223.

[3] Greg Barton (July 2, 2018), "How Indonesia's counter-terrorism force has become a model for the region," *The Conversation*. URL: <u>https://theconversation.com/how-indonesias-counter-terrorism-force-has-become-a-model-for-the-region-97368</u>; Leo Suryadinata, (2018) "Islamism and the New Anti-Terrorism Law in Indonesia," *ISEAS Perspective*, No. 39, p. 3; Irene Gayatri (February 11, 2021), "Indonesia's NAP CVE as an Instrument of a Gendered Non-Traditional Security Approach in Indo Pacific," *AIIS Australian Outlook*. URL: <u>https://www.internationalaffairs.org.au/australianoutlook/indonesias-nap-cve-as-an-instrument-of-a-gendered-non-traditional-security-approach-in-indo-pacific/</u>.

[4] Iis Gindarsah and Andi Wijayanto (2021), "Tilik Data: Pola 552 Serangan Teror di Indonesia," Laporan Lab 45, p. 3.

[5] Bruce Hoffman (2017), *Inside Terrorism*, (New York: Columbia University Press), p. 50; Peter Neumann and M. L. R. Smith, "Strategic Terrorism: The Framework and Its Fallacies," *Journal of Strategic Studies* 28, No. 4 (2005), pp. 579–582.

[6] Alistair Horne (2006), A Savage War of Peace: Algeria 1954-1962, (New York, NY: New York Review Books), p. 118.

[7] Bruce Hoffman (2015), Anonymous Soldiers, (New York, NY: Vintage Books), pp. 192–194.

[8] Claire Macken (2011), Counter-terrorism and the Detention of Suspected Terrorists: Preventive Detention and International Human Rights Law, (New York, NY: Routledge), p. 7.

[9] Stella Burch Elias (2009), "Rethinking 'Preventive Detention' from a Comparative Perspective: Three Frameworks for Detaining Terrorist Suspects," *Columbia Human Rights Law Review* 41, No. 99, p. 112.

[10] John McLoughlin, Gregory P. Noone, and Diana C. Noone (2009), "Security Detention, Terrorism, and the Prevention Imperative," *Case Western Reserve Journal of International Law* 40, No. 3, p. 467; Jude McCulloch and Sharon Pickering (2011), "Counter-Terrorism Law: Preventing terrorism or pre-empting the future?" *Precedent*, No. 102; p. 5.

[11] Jude McCulloch and Sharon Pickering (2009), "Pre-Crime and Counter-Terrorism: Imagining Future Crime in the 'War on Terror," *The British Journal of Criminology* 49, No. 5, pp. 636–638.

[12] McCulloch and Pickering, "Counter-Terrorism Law", op. cit., pp. 5–6.

[13] Natsu T. Sato (2010), "Internments Then and Now: Constitutional Accountability in Post-9/11 America," *Duke Forum for Law and Social Change* 71, No. 2, p. 74; Macken, *Counter-terrorism*, op. cit., p. 11.

[14] Bernadette M. McSherry (2005), "Indefinite and Preventive Detention Legislation: From Caution to Open Door," *Criminal Law Journal* 29, No. 2, p. 95.

[15] Elias, "Rethinking 'Preventive Detention", op. cit., p. 140.

[16] Idem., pp. 111–112.

[17] Idem., pp. 112–113.

[18] George L. Kelling and Mark H. Moore (1988), "The Evolving Strategy of Policing", Perspectives on Policing, No. 4, p. 10.

[19] David H. Bayley and Clifford Shearing (1996), "The Future of Policing", Law & Society Review 30, No. 3, p. 588.

[20] Tom R. Tyler (2000), "Social Justice: Outcome and Procedure", International Journal of Psychology 35, No. 2, p. 117.

[21] Mark Hough, Jonathan Jackson, and Ben Bradford (2013), "Trust in justice and the legitimacy of legal authorities: Topline findings from a European comparative study"; in: Body-Gendrot, S., Hough, M., Kerezsi, K., Levy, R., and Snacken, S. (Eds.), *The Routledge Handbook of European Criminology*, (Abingdon: Routledge).

[22] Marie Breen-Smyth (2013), "Theorising the 'suspect community': counterterrorism, security practices and the public imagination", *Critical Studies on Terrorism* 7, No. 2, pp. 223–240, URL: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2013.867714</u>.

[23] The Law No. 5/2018 on Anti-Terrorism expanded the definition of terrorism to include not only ideologically motivated acts, but also politically motivated acts—allowing the government to arrest "political threats" if they desire so. Whereas the original Anti-Terrorism Law specifically mentions that politically motivated acts cannot be arrested under Anti-Terrorism Law, its amended version explicitly mentions otherwise. See more on this in Undang Undang Republik Indonesia No. 5/2018 Tentang Perubahan atas Undang Undang No. 15/2003 Tentang Penetapan Peraturan Pemerintah Pengganti Undang Undang No. 1/2022 Tentang Pemberantasan Tindak Pidana Terorisme Menjadi Undang Undang, Article 1 and Undang-Undang Republik Indonesia No. 1/2002 Tentang Pemberantasan Tindak Pidana Terorisme, Menjadi Undang-Undang, October 18, 2002, Chapter 2, Article 5.

[24] Undang-Undang Republik Indonesia No. 1/2002, Chapter 5, Articles 25 and 28.

[25] Undang-Undang Republik Indonesia No. 8/1981 Tentang Hukum Acara Pidana, December 31, 1981, Chapter 5, Article 19.

[26] Undang Undang Republik Indonesia No. 5/2018, Articles 25 and 28.

[27] Undang-Undang Republik Indonesia No. 1/2002, Chapter 3, Article 14.

[28] Undang Undang Republik Indonesia No. 5/2018, Articles 12A, 12B, and 13A.

[29] The Jakarta Post (December 28, 2018), "'Arrest first, get evidence later': Police record more terrorism cases," *The Jakarta Post*. URL: <u>https://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2018/12/27/arrest-first-get-evidence-later-police-record-more-terrorism-cases.html</u>.

[30] Irine Hiraswari Gayatri (July 23, 2021), "Even Through a Pandemic, Terrorism Persists in Indonesia," *Australian Institute of International Affairs*. URL: <u>https://www.internationalaffairs.org.au/australianoutlook/even-through-a-pandemic-terrorism-persists-in-indonesia/</u>.

[31] These data are obtained from a dataset that the first author has constructed, based on reports from local and national news sources.

[32] Nikolaus Harbowo (May 3, 2021), "Mahfud MD: Pelabelan Teroris KKB Papua atas Usulan Berbagai Kalangan," *Kompas*. URL: <u>https://www.kompas.id/baca/polhuk/2021/05/03/mahfud-md-pelabelan-teroris-kkb-papua-atas-usulan-berbagai-kalangan</u>.

[33] Kurnia Yunita Rahayu (November 4, 2021), "Kelompok Teroris JI Raup Rp 70 Juta Per Bulan dari Ribuan Kotak Amal di Lampung," *Kompas*. URL: <u>https://www.kompas.id/baca/polhuk/2021/11/04/kelompok-teroris-ji-raup-rp-70-juta-per-bulan-dari-ribuan-kotak-amal-di-lampung</u>.

[34] Kirsten E. Schulze (2018), "The Surabaya Bombings and the Evolution of the Jihadi Threat in Indonesia," *CTC Sentinel* 11, No. 6, p. 1.

[35] Al Jazeera (March 28, 2021), "Suicide attack rocks Indonesia church, several wounded," *Al Jazeera*. URL: <u>https://www.alja-</u> zeera.com/news/2021/3/28/suspected-suicide-attack-rocks-indonesia-church-many-wounded.

[36] Institute for Policy Analysis of Conflict (2021), "The Decline of ISIS in Indonesia and the Emergence of New Cells," *IPAC Report*, No. 69, p. 6; Direktori Putusan Mahkamah Agung Republik Indonesia (2018), "Putusan Sidang Shalihin alias Sholihin alias Andriansyah alias Andre," *Court Decision*, No. 1394/Pid.Sus/2018/PN.Jkt.Tim., p. 35.

[37] Institute for the Policy Analysis of Conflict (2021), "The Impact of The Taliban Victory on Indonesia's Jemaah Islamiyah," *IPAC Report*, No. 73, p. 8.

[38] Sistem Database Permasyarakatan, "Tingkat Hunian Lembaga Pemasyarakatan dan Rumah Tahanan Negara." URL: <u>http://sdppublik.ditjenpas.go.id/analisis/public/tingkat-hunian-lembaga-pemasyarakatan-dan-rumah-tahanan-negara</u>. Accessed on August 31, 2022.

[39] Institute for the Policy Analysis of Conflict (2016), "Update on Indonesian Pro-ISIS Prisoners and Deradicalization Efforts," *IPAC Report*, No. 34, p. 3.

[40] Muh Taufiqurrohman (2015), "The Road to ISIS: How Indonesian Jihadists Travel to Iraq and Syria," *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analysis* 7, No. 4, pp. 20–21.

[41] Peraturan Presiden Republik Indonesia No. 7/2021 Tentang Rencana Aksi Nasional Pencegahan dan Penanggulangan Ekstremisme Berbasis Kekerasan Yang Mengarah Pada Terorisme Tahun 2020–2034, January 6, 2021.

[42] Peraturan Presiden Republik Indonesia No. 7/2021, p. 37.

[43] A. Muh. Ibnu Aqui (January 18, 2021), "New antiterror policy sparks fears of witch hunt", *The Jakarta Post*. URL: <u>https://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2021/01/18/new-antiterror-policy-sparks-fears-of-witch-hunt.html</u>.

[44] Joshua Barker (1998), "State of Fear: Controlling the Criminal Contagion in Suharto's New Order", *Indonesia*, No. 66, pp. 8–9.

[45] Sana Jaffrey (April 23, 2018), "Civic structures and uncivil demands in Indonesia", *New Mandala*. URL: <u>https://www.new-mandala.org/civic-structures-uncivil-demands-indonesia/</u>.

[46] BPS-Statistics, Bappenas, and UNDP (2001), "Indonesia Human Development Report 2001 - Towards a New Consensus: Democracy and Human Development in Indonesia," (BPS-Statistics, Bappenas, and UNDP). URL: <u>https://hdr.undp.org/sites/</u><u>default/files/indonesia_2001_en.pdf</u>.

[47] Celia Finch (June 2016), "Midterm Evaluation Report for Supporting Community Policing Efforts in Tanah Papua and Maluku," (*International Organisation for Migration*).

[48] The Asia Foundation September 1, (2007), "Reducing Crime and Building Trust Through Community-Oriented Policing in Indonesia", *The Asia Foundation*. URL: <u>https://asiafoundation.org/2007/09/01/reducing-crime-and-building-trust-through-community-oriented-policing-in-indonesia/</u>.

[49] Intan Fitri Meutia (2016), "The Implementation of Community Policing in Indonesia", (PhD diss., Kanazawa University), p. 53.

[50] This restructuring was ordered by the Presidential Regulation No. 52/2010 concerning the organizational structure and working procedure of the Indonesian National Police.

[51] Peraturan Kepala Kepolisian Negara Republik Indonesia No. 3/2015 Tentang Pemolisian Masyarakat, May 26, 2016, Chapter 1, Articles 3 and 4.

[52] Peraturan Kepala Kepolisian Negara Republik Indonesia No. 3/2015, Chapter 3, Article 9.

[53] Peraturan Kepolisian Negara Republik Indonesia No. 1/2021 Tentang Pemolisian Masyarakat, January 12, 2021, Chapter 2, Article 4.

[54] Peraturan Kepolisian Negara Republik Indonesia No. 1/2021, Chapter 2, Articles 6 and 9.

[55] Paul R. Pillar, Terrorism and U.S. Foreign Policy, Washington, DC, Brookings Institution Press, 2003. p. 202.

[56] Gordon Clubb, Ryan O'Connor, Daniel Koehler, and Jonatan Schewe (2022), "The Importance of Public Relations in Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism", *ICCT Policy Brief*, p. 3.

[57] Charlie Winter and Jordan Bach-Lombardo (February 13, 2016), "Why ISIS Propaganda Works," *The Atlantic*. URL: <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2016/02/isis-propaganda-war/462702/</u>.

[58] Bayley and Shearing, "The Future of Policing", op. cit., p. 588.

[59] Eric Rosand (February 16, 2017), "Fixing CVE in the United States requires more than a name change," *Brookings*, URL: <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2017/02/16/fixing-cve-in-the-united-states-requires-more-than-just-a-name-change/</u>.

[60] Anja Dalgaard-Nielsen & Patrick Schack (2016), "Community Resilience to Militant Islamism: Who and What?: An Explorative Study of Resilience in Three Danish Communities", *Democracy and Security* 12, No. 4, pp. 318–319.

[61] Community policing officers are also known by the Indonesian portmanteau, Bhabinkamtibmas, which broadly translates to supervisor of community security and order.

[62] International Crisis Group (2012), "Indonesia: The Deadly Cost of Poor Policing," ICG Asia Report, No. 218, p. 3.

[63] Peraturan Kepala Kepolisian Negara Republik Indonesia No. 3/2015, Chapter 2, Article 7 and Chapter 4, Articles 19 and 21.

[64] International Crisis Group, "The Deadly Cost of Poor Policing", op. cit., p. i.

[65] Idem, p. 4.

[66] Arrijal Rachman (February 3, 2021), "Peneliti LIPI Paparkan 4 Bentuk Korupsi di Tubuh Kepolisian", *Tempo*. URL: <u>https://nasional.tempo.co/read/1429406/peneliti-lipi-paparkan-4-bentuk-korupsi-di-tubuh-kepolisian</u>.

[67] Peraturan Kepolisian Negara Republik Indonesia No. 1/2021, Chapter 2, Article 16.

[68] Peraturan Kepala Kepolisian Negara Republik Indonesia, No. 7/21 Tentang Bhayangkara Pembina Keamanan Dan Ketertiban Masyarakat, August 23, 2021, Chapter 2, Articles 3, 4, and 7.

[69] Detik (November 19, 2021), "Aksi Bela Islam di Solo Tuntut Pembubaran Densus 88," *DetikNews*. URL: <u>https://news.detik.</u> <u>com/berita/d-5818462/aksi-bela-ulama-di-solo-tuntut-pembubaran-densus-88</u>.

[70] Syd (November 19, 2021), "Aksi Bela Ulama di Solo, Ormas Islam Desak Densus 88 Dibubarkan," *CNN Indonesia*. URL: https://www.cnnindonesia.com/nasional/20211119180547-20-723624/aksi-bela-ulama-di-solo-ormas-islam-desak-densus-88-dibubarkan.

[71] Tempo (February 27, 2022), "BNPT dan Densus 88 Seperti Beternak Terorisme," Tempo, p. 30.

[72] Idem, pp. 32-33.

[73] Egidius Patnistik (March 5, 2022), "5 Indikator untuk Tahu Penceramah Radikal Menurut BNPT," *Kompas*. URL: <u>https://nasional.kompas.com/read/2022/03/05/19453191/5-indikator-untuk-tahu-penceramah-radikal-menurut-bnpt</u>.

[74] Dal (March 8, 2022), "MUI: BNPT Blunder soal Penceramah Radikal, Tak Paham Islam & Khilafah," *CNN Indonesia*. URL: <u>https://www.cnnindonesia.com/nasional/20220308153443-20-768341/mui-bnpt-blunder-soal-penceramah-radikal-tak-pa-</u> <u>ham-islam-khilafah</u>.

[75] JI members joined the DSKS in 2013. One of them, Tengku Azhar, even became its secretary-general. For background, see: Institute for the Policy Analysis of Conflict, "The Impact of the Taliban Victory," p. 5.

[76] Tim Lindsey (2012), "Monopolising Islam: The Indonesian Ulama Council and state regulation of the 'Islamic economy," *Bulletin of Indonesian Economic Studies* 48, No. 2, pp. 256–257.

[77] Idem, pp. 264–269.

Google and Corporate Social Responsibility: YouTube in the Service of Terrorism

by Raphael Cohen-Almagor

Abstract

This article is concerned with the boundaries of freedom of expression on the Internet and, more specifically, with manifestations of terrorism on YouTube. The article opens with two definitions of terrorism. Section II discusses various responsibilities that businesses have: economic, legal, moral, social and discretionary. Section III addresses the concept of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR). Unfortunately, not all companies adhere to the principles of Corporate Social Responsibility. Therefore, ethical standards should be anchored in appropriate laws and enforced by responsible governments. Section IV clarifies that incitement to violence is in the focus of attention. The philosophy of John Stuart Mill is instrumental in explaining the difference between advocacy (or preaching) and incitement (or instigation). Sections V and VI examine the influences of Anwar al-Awlaki, the American-Muslim jihadi preacher, and of Anjem Choudary, the British-Muslim jihadi preacher, on their followers. The words of al-Awlaki and of Choudary instigated many of the terrorist activities that the West had seen in recent years. There are direct links between their incitement and extreme violent incidents. Both of them were able to spread their instigation to terror on platforms provided by Google and specifically its subsidiary YouTube. Finally, **Section VII** probes YouTube and CSR. It is argued that the Internet is international in character, but it cannot be abused to override law. There is not one law for people and another for the Internet. It is further argued that power without responsibility is dangerous and corrosive.

Keywords: al-Qaeda; Anjem Choudary; Anwar al-Awlaki; Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR); freedom of expression; Google; incitement; Internet; Islamic State; jihad; terror; YouTube

I. Introduction

The focus of this article is on incitement to terrorism on YouTube. There is no universally agreed-upon definition of terrorism, but some common features are repeated in many definitions. The 22 U.S. Code § 2656f holds that the term terrorism means "premeditated, politically motivated violence perpetrated against non-combatant targets by subnational groups or clandestine agents,"[1] while the UK Crown Prosecution Service defines it as "the use or threat of action, both in and outside the UK, designed to influence any international government organisation or to intimidate the public." It must also be for "the purpose of advancing a political, religious, racial or ideological cause."[2] According to the Crown Prosecution Service, terrorism is not limited to conducting attacks and includes the planning, assistance and collecting of information for the intended purpose of terrorist activities. Additionally, Part 1 of the Terrorism Act 2006, Encouragement of terrorism, holds: "A person commits an offence if—

(a) he publishes a statement to which this section applies or causes another to publish such a statement; and

(b) at the time he publishes it or causes it to be published, he—

(i) intends members of the public to be directly or indirectly encouraged or otherwise induced by the statement to commit, prepare or instigate acts of terrorism or Convention offences; or

(ii) is reckless as to whether members of the public will be directly or indirectly encouraged or otherwise induced by the statement to commit, prepare or instigate such acts or offences."[3]

YouTube is an American online video-sharing platform. It was established by Chad Hurley, Steve Chen, and Jawed Karim in February 2005. In November 2006, Google bought the site for US\$1.65 billion. In August 2007, the service started to include adverts. In May 2010, YouTube had more than two billion views per day.

By March 2013, YouTube saw one billion monthly active users.[4] Google is an international company and it needs to abide by the laws of the countries in which it is operating. This highly popular Internet platform provides an important outlet for many individuals and organizations. Unfortunately, however, YouTube has been abused by antisocial users, criminals and terrorists. Because of YouTube's wide reach and because it is a legitimate company that operates in the open and not in the Deep Dark Web, responsible operation is a must. Unlike the Dark Web, the website is not encrypted and there is no need for a special secure browser to access it. YouTube is easily accessible and is said to be regulated in accordance with the company's Code of Practice. In 2020, YouTube generated a revenue of \$19.7 billion, a 30.4 percent increase year-on-year and it is estimated that more than 2.3 billion people access YouTube once a month.[5] With great profit and great power should also come great responsibility to ensure a safe and secure environment for its billions of users.

Our discussion considers YouTube's terrorism problem in the context of the concept of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) to which, unfortunately, not all companies adhere. Ethical standards—which have a rich history—should be anchored in appropriate laws and enforced by responsible governments. When corporate activity causes harm, nations need to assert their regulatory authority. Insisting on a safe Internet free of terrorism is in the interests of individuals, business and democratic governments.[6]

This article is structured as follows: Section II discusses various responsibilities that businesses have: economic, legal, moral, social and discretionary. Section III discusses the concept of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR). Section IV accentuates that in the focus is incitement to violence. Sections V and VI examine two influential jihadi preachers, Anwar al-Awlaki and Anjem Choudary, and their dangerous influence on their followers. Finally, Section VII probes YouTube and CSR.

II. Economic, Legal, Moral, Social and Discretionary Responsibilities

Businesses have economic, legal, moral, social and discretionary responsibilities. *Economic responsibility* refers to the production of goods and services that society needs. *Legal responsibility* requires businesses to conduct their affairs within the confines of transparent legislation and regulation. In *moral responsibility*, the agent's conscience is at issue in terms of a causal connection between the agent and the action or the consequences of the action. When people perform a morally significant act, they deserve praise. When they fail to perform a morally significant act, we may blame them for omission.[7] Businesses should assume ethical responsibilities that are extended to actions, decisions, and practices beyond what is required by the law.[8] *Social responsibility* assumes that individuals have responsibilities to their communities, and businesses should both better the societies in which they operate and refrain from inflicting harm on communities. Finally, *discretionary (or philanthropic) responsibilities* represent voluntary roles and practices that businesses assume although there are no clear and explicit societal provisions as to how to perform these responsibilities. These are left to individual managers' and corporations' judgments and choices in accordance with prevailing social norms.[9]

Two bones of contention are (a) whether Internet intermediaries have any moral responsibilities beyond the professional responsibility to carry and disseminate information, and (b) whether Internet intermediaries should monitor and filter the content circulating on the web in order to prevent the dissemination of harmful material. In the view of this author, both questions ought to be answered in the affirmative. These questions relate to technological abilities and to the expectations that we may have regarding the conduct of Internet gatekeepers. In *Confronting the Internet's Dark Side: Moral and Social Responsibility on the Free Highway*, I argued that Internet intermediaries should adopt a proactive stance in combating antisocial and violent content. Those who control the access to the information highway should assume an obligation as trustees of the public good. Responsibility dictates that Internet intermediaries must not be neutral toward antisocial and violent content. I argued that absolute content net neutrality constitutes irresponsible conduct.[10] Among the prime troubling antisocial and violent activities that have significant presence on the Internet are terrorism and its relationship to crime.

Marc Rotenberg, president of the Electronic Privacy Information Center, said that the capability to monitor the Internet is greater than what most people assume. It is a question of will rather than of ability.[11] Edward

Snowden's revelations about the National Security Agency (NSA) surveillance program opened our eyes to the growing technological capabilities and the rapid expansion of security surveillance over the past decade.[12]

III. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

The concept of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) emerged during the 1950s out of recognition that adopting norms of social responsibility could be beneficial for business.[13] The modern era of CSR was stimulated by Howard R. Bowen's *Social Responsibilities of the Businessman* (1953).[14] CSR is defined broadly to encompass the economic, legal, ethical and philanthropic expectations placed on businesses by society.[15] Important expectations of business include their recognition that business integrity and ethical conduct go beyond mere compliance with laws and regulations. Part of the ethical expectation is that businesses will be responsive not only to the letter of the law but also to the "spirit" of the law as well as to social mores and ethical norms.[16] Ethics should guide the pursuit of knowledge and the development of skills. However, CSR has never been motivated by pure altruism. CSR is sustainable because it benefits not only society but also business. As the eminent CSR scholar Archie Carroll notes, CSR is enlightened self-interest that has come of age.[17] Granted that companies wish to make profit for their owners and shareholders and to enhance corporate performance, adherents of CSR believe that this concept is the perfect scheme for maximizing profit for stockholders.[18]

Corporate Social Responsibility refers to democratic accountability to the public as a whole; responsibility for meeting general and special needs as decided by the public; a commitment to quality, not determined by profit or the market; and often some subordination to national needs or priorities in cultural, economic, and political matters.[19] In the context of professional activity, social responsibility entails that professionals have a duty to serve their clients' interests and also some wider social interests.

The arguments for CSR are strong. It is believed that CSR ensures the company's long-term viability. Responsible planning which includes anticipating and initiating policies is more practical and less costly than reacting to social problems. Furthermore, ethical practice enhances the firm's reputation and marketing and it wards off government regulation. Government intervention can be forestalled if the firm applies responsible standards and fulfills society's expectations.[20]

Adherents of CSR believe that decisions of business managers need to respect human dignity and provide for the common good.[21] Ethical leadership should include care, compassion and foresight. Leaders should have the ability to analyze and be responsible for the consequences of their decisions. Ethical leaders are people who care about the greater good of their employees, organization, and society rather than their own self-interests. These ethical role models adopt socially responsible behavior and strive to balance the various needs of stake-holders in a way that serves the interests of all.[22]

Corporate Social Responsibility carries a special meaning in the context of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT). It is argued that ICTs should be accountable for the digital platforms and for the way information is transferred.[23] Members of these professions have a duty to institute and enforce codes of practice as well as ensure that their clients are safe and secure. Certain standards and qualifications need to be maintained. While Internet companies are for-profit and, as such, wish to expand their businesses, to enjoy wide clientele and see that their interests are been served, companies need also to ensure a safe environment for their customers. In the democratic world, Internet companies operate under liberal norms and regulations that enable their empowerment. First and foremost, it is the premise of freedom that enables their operation. However, freedom of use is not freedom of abuse. Boundless liberty might lead to chaos and lawlessness. The Democratic Catch (the very principle of liberty might undermine democracy) prescribes certain boundaries to enable a safe environment. [24] All democracies, including the American, bar incitement to violence.

IV. Incitement

The United States is the most liberal country in the world when it comes to freedom of expression. The First Amendment to the American Constitution explicitly instructs: "Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the

press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of grievances."[25] The text is written in negative terms upholding individual rights and prohibiting state action that interferes with speech. The First Amendment condemns with its absolute disapproval any suppression of ideas, even the vilest. Racist and hate speech, in its varied general manifestations, is therefore protected speech in the United States.[26] In the United States, people are free to hate everybody with gusto and verve. The United States has an active Nazi party.[27] However, even the United States does not tolerate incitement to violence. The American legal system, like most democratic legal systems in the world, has accepted in broad terms John Stuart Mill's reasoning on the importance, scope and boundaries of freedom of expression.

Indeed, in the field of political philosophy, one of the thinkers who has influenced the liberal discourse on freedom of expression is John Stuart Mill. Mill's book, *On Liberty*, published in 1859, is still widely quoted today as before—and not only by academics but also by journalists, politicians and judges. Mill's philosophy is instrumental in explaining the difference between advocacy (or preaching) and incitement (or instigation). Mill argued for the protection of all opinions, including the most unorthodox and false.[28] He welcomed the expression of nonconformist opinions as they would provoke debate and advance us to the discovery of another facet of truth. Silencing such opinions might rob the entire human race because many scientific breakthroughs originated in singular minds. Mill also emphasized the use of speech to express and promote our ethical convictions. At the same time, in Chapter 5 of *On Liberty*, Mill wrote that "It is one of the undisputed functions of government to take precautions against crime before it has been committed, as well as to detect and punish it afterwards."[29]

On Liberty, as the title suggests, celebrates freedom. The important thing for Mill was to revel freedom of expression, not circumscribe it. Precisely because of our awareness of Mill's intention, his exclusionary treatment of incitement is very important. The essential distinction between "instigation" or "incitement" on the one hand, and "advocacy," "preaching" or "teaching" on the other is that those to whom the instigation is addressed must be urged to do something now or in the immediate future, rather than merely convinced to believe in something. Advocacy attests to democratic deliberation when diverse interests openly compete for a period of time in order to reach a decision.[30] Mill considered as instigation a speech that is intended or that is recklessly uttered to lead to some mischievous action in circumstances that are conducive to the taking of that dangerous action.[31] Incitement is not mere advocacy, discussion or debate voiced as a matter of ethical conviction which are protected under Mill's theory. Three elements must be met for speech to be considered as incitement: (1) the speaker must intend to cause violence, (2) s/he intends that the violence occur immediately, and (3) the violence is likely to occur immediately. A speaker who explicitly says that he wishes to stir violence against his target group strengthens our conclusion that the speech can be described as incitement and that, therefore, it should be prohibited. The clear intention to do harm should not be facilitated by society's permission to attack victims.

In 1859, when John Stuart published *On Liberty*, the press was the main vehicle for circulating news. Today, in addition to newspapers, there are many other means to circulate news. The Internet with its multiple news and social platforms plays a magnificently important role. Incitement can be uttered many miles away from the target group and the online and offline media will transmit it to the audience who might act upon it. Further, the media might create an atmosphere of incitement against the designated target. The media amplify violent expressions, multiply its strength tenfold, and inspire more people to adopt aggression. The Internet is extremely powerful in conveying messages, positive and negative. It can mobilize people into action. We have witnessed this time and again in organizing events, demonstrations, petitions, charity campaigns, marches, customer initiatives and political campaigns.

Boundaries to freedom of expression should be considered very carefully. Whenever we come to restrict speech, the onus for limiting free expression is always with the one who wishes to limit expression, and that one should bring concrete evidence to justify restriction. The speech must be dangerous and/or harmful. Here the focus is on incitement, also called speech-act, when it is difficult to ascertain where the speech ends and the action begins.[32]

V. Anwar al-Awlaki

In September 2001, the coordinated Al Qaeda attack on several targets in the United States not only killed almost 3,000 people, but also brought a sense of urgency that terrorism was a substantial threat to world peace and order. The twenty-first century has witnessed numerous terrorist attacks around the globe, many of which were orchestrated by Islamic terrorist organizations, such as Al Qaeda and the Islamic State, that have been using American companies' digital platforms, such as YouTube, to fight against the United States and other countries, perceived as enemies of their kind of Islam. The Internet has been used for indoctrinating and radicalizing people. It has been abused to promote and support homegrown terrorism—i.e., terrorism in many countries—based on local people who became radicalized via the Internet and were willing to attack their own countries in the name of religion and violent political ideology. Effective propaganda has been translated to successful recruitment of people who are willing to commit their lives to jihad as well as to raise funds for terrorist operations.[33]

The Internet has amplified terrorism, provided conditions for terrorists to develop and see success in achieving their aims of spreading hatred and translating heinous ideas into destructive deeds. Direct correlations can be made between violent words and violent deeds. The British MI5 warned that "Extremists use websites and social media to recruit and radicalise individuals through videos and propaganda."[34] Such websites can also "provide advice and instructions on how to plan and prepare for attacks, acting as a 'virtual training camp' or ideas forum. Terrorists in the UK and elsewhere have been convicted of running or contributing to extremist websites or have been found in possession of downloaded material that would assist in preparation of terrorist attacks."[35]

Anwar al-Awlaki is one of the iconic figures of modern terrorism. The American-Yemeni cleric was the leading English-speaking propagandist for al-Qaeda who was embraced also by the Islamic State. For his operational and leadership roles with al-Qaeda and for plotting attacks intended to kill Americans, al-Awlaki was killed by an American drone in 2011 but his influence endures beyond the grave.[36] His presence on the Internet is immortal. Strikingly, YouTube used to host the largest collection of al-Awlaki's lectures and sermons.

On January 18, 2015, I conducted a simple YouTube search for "Anwar al-Awlaki". My search produced 68,400 results, including many of his lectures. I repeated this same search on January 5, 2017, yielding 68,000 results. Captured titles included "Battle of the hearts and minds", "Islam judgment day", "Never trust a non-Muslim", "Death: the hereafter series", "The grave", and "Allah is preparing for victory". In 2017, some of the titles were "Persevere and Endure", "The Uniqueness of the Shaheed", "The Resurrection Day of Judgment", and "Islam judgment day". For many years, YouTube managers ignored the ethical dimension of their business and were inattentive to the implications of their conduct on stakeholders. In the name of "freedom of expression," YouTube provided a powerful platform and facilitated incitement to violence. Anwar al-Awlaki's videos have proved to be most influential in inciting terror.[37]

Anwar al-Awlaki's depiction of the world is one of violence in which true Muslims fight nonbelievers to the death. At the end of this bloody struggle, Islam will rule the world and all "Kuffar" (nonbelievers) will be stamped out because their choice is simple: Islam or death. In a series of lectures titled "The Hereafter," al-Aw-laki explicated his worldview in detail. This series remained on the Internet for a very long time.[38] Security experts called on YouTube to ban videos of lectures by al-Awlaki, which helped radicalize some very dangerous jihadists, including the terrorist Nidal Hasan from Fort Hood, Texas who murdered 13 people and wounded 32 others in a 2009 shooting rampage;[39] Farouk Abdulmutallab who attempted to detonate a bomb on a Northwest Airlines flight;[40] Zachary Adam Chesser who was convicted of attempting to provide material support and resources to Somalia's al-Shabaab terrorist organization and who threatened to murder two American satirists;[41] Roshonara Choudhry, a 21-year-old student who stabbed in May 2010 MP Stephen Timms because of his 2003 vote in British parliament in support of the Iraq war;[42] Rajib Karim who in 2011 conspired with al-Awlaki to plant a bomb on a British Airways plane;[43] Dzhokhar Tsarnaev and his brother Tamerlan Tsarnaev, known as the Boston Marathon bombers, who on April 14, 2013 detonated two bombs near the finish line of the Boston Marathon, killing three spectators and wounding more than 260 others;[44] Moner Mo-

hammad Abu-Salha, who drove a massive truck bomb into a restaurant in Jabal Al-Arbaeen, Syria;[45] Minh Quang Pham who planned to blow himself up at London's Heathrow airport,[46] and Syed Rizwan Farook and Tashfeen Malik, the San Bernardino terrorists who on December 2, 2015 attacked Farook's office holiday party, killing 14 and wounding 22.[47] Farook's neighbor Enrique Marquez, who was charged with complicity in the murders, had spent with Farook many hours watching the recorded lectures of al-Awlaki and had followed the bomb-making instruction that al-Awlaki published in the terrorist magazine *Inspire*.[48]

Via the Internet, al-Awlaki was acting globally, motivating and instigating violence by individuals and groups. A bloodthirsty terrorist, a fundamentalist Imam, and an eloquent orator who was able to support his worldview with Quranic references, al-Awlaki's thirst to evoke violence whenever possible was infinite. The Bangladeshi wing of al-Qa`ida in the Indian Subcontinent (AQIS), known as Ansar al-Islam, had carried out attacks against secular bloggers, quoting al-Awlaki's online sermons as justifications, speaking of the duty of Muslims to act against anybody defaming their religion.[49]

Al-Awlaki financed Cherif Kouachi who, together with his brother, murdered 12 people in a massacre at the French satirical magazine *Charlie Hebdo* in 2015.[50] He also inspired Elton Simpson and Nadir Soofi, the terrorists who aimed to kill people who attended the "Draw Muhammad" cartoon contest in Garland, Texas. On May 3, 2015, they opened fire at the entrance to an exhibit featuring controversial cartoons of the Muslim Prophet.[51] Simpson used al-Awlaki's portrait as his profile picture on Twitter while Soofi's mother stated that the drone strike that killed the cleric was the turning point in her son's radicalization, instigating deeper passion for al-Awlaki's calls for violence against those who vilified the Prophet.[52]

Al-Awlaki also radicalized Mohammad Youssef Abdulazeez who on July 16, 2015 murdered four US marines in attacks on two facilities in Tennessee; [53] Omar Mateen, who murdered 49 people and wounded 53 others in a June 2016 mass shooting at Pulse nightclub in Orlando; [54] the London Bridge attacker Usman Khan who killed two people and injured three others before he was shot dead by the police in November 2019; [55] and several other plots that featured young men who watched and identified with al-Awlaki online, after his death. [56] Al-Awlaki also inspired Junaid Hussain, one of the leaders of the ISIS 'Cyber Caliphate', the terrorists' branch of hackers. [57] In "The Battle of Hearts and Minds" (2008) al-Awlaki urged that now is the time to establish the khilafah. [58] In "Call to Jihad," recorded in March 2010, al-Awlaki urged his followers to join the fight in Iraq and other places. [59] A study of the social media activity of 104 British citizens and residents who traveled to Syria and Iraq to fight jihad found that al-Awlaki was mentioned favorably by 24 of them (23 percent). [60] Posthumously, with the help of social media, al-Awlaki continues to influence the ideological and strategic trajectory of jihadism and terrorism.

In the face of such evidence, Eric Posner said that "Never before in our history have enemies outside the United States been able to propagate genuinely dangerous ideas on American territory in such an effective way."[61] Posner suggests enacting a law that would make it a crime to access websites that glorify, express support for, or provide encouragement for ISIS or support recruitment by ISIS; to distribute links to those websites, or to encourage people to access such websites by supplying them with links or instructions. Posner supports urging Facebook, YouTube and other social networking sites to crack down on terrorist propaganda.[62]

Likewise, Mark D. Wallace, chief executive of the Counter Extremism Project, an advocacy group based in Washington, called on YouTube and other platforms to permanently ban all of al-Awlaki's material, saying that it should be treated in the same way that child pornography is treated. It should be censored.[63]

Under increased pressure and criticism, in November 2017 YouTube finally upheld its CSR responsibilities and removed thousands of videos of Anwar al-Awlaki in a significant step-up that was described as part of the site's anti-extremism campaign.[64] In 2019, *The Times* reported more than 100 videos of propaganda speeches by al-Awlaki, including some in which the preacher glorified "martyrs" and was recruiting people to the Islamic State. The paper notified Google and in response the company removed the videos identified by the reporter. [65]

On April 12, 2020, I searched YouTube for "Anwar al-Awlaki". My search results led to many videos about

51

Awlaki, rather than authored by him. The top results concerned the killing of the jihadi preacher. YouTube reversed its freedom of expression policy at least regarding al-Awlaki, acknowledging that the virtual life that YouTube had granted the jihadi preacher was extremely dangerous to human life. After years of reciting the freedom of expression mantra, YouTube balanced one against another two important values: freedom of expression and social responsibility and reached the right conclusion. Common sense does prevail, eventually. Unfortunately, it took the managers of YouTube several years to reach the right conclusion. During those years, al-Awlaki abused the YouTube platform to incite violence against the enemies of Jihad.[66]

Anwar al-Awlaki was a frequent contributor to the *Inspire* magazine, an English language jihadist magazine published by Al Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP). The magazine inspires jihadists, instructs how to mount terrorist attacks, and encourages people to carry out a comprehensive battle to establish a world caliphate. It attempts to target traditionally adversarial populations, Muslims who live in the West, encouraging them to engage in terrorist activity where they are.[67] In 2015, the 14th issue of *Inspire* was published, focusing on lone-wolf operations in the West, including the attack on Charlie Hebdo's office in Paris, capitalizing on the then-ongoing racial unrest in the US, and called on African Americans to embrace Islam and to kill "racist politicians". *Inspire* No. 15, published in 2016, reiterated the call for lone-wolf operations; instructed how to make parcel bombs, magnetic car bombs, and door trap bombs; and warned about a knife revolution heading toward America as part of the Jihadi holy war. *Inspire* No. 16, published later in 2016, contained praise for terrorists, rulings of lone Jihad, and a message to "our Muslim brothers" in America. It also explained how to prepare pressure-cooker bombs. The magazine is available on multiple websites, including some counter-terrorism sites.

Inspire repeatedly calls for killing innocent civilians. Anwar al-Awlaki told jihadists in his videos to kill any American: "Don't consult with anybody in killing the Americans, fighting the devil doesn't require consultation or prayers seeking divine guidance. They are the party of the devils."[68] Following the Fort Hood shootings in 2009, al-Awlaki wrote a post headlined "Nidal Hassan Did the Right Thing,"[69] in which he argued that the army psychiatrist's shooting spree had been entirely justified: "Nidal Hassan is a hero. He is a man of conscience who could not bear living the contradiction of being a Muslim and serving in an army that is fighting against his own people. This is a contradiction that many Muslims brush aside and just pretend that it doesn't exist."[70]

VI. Anjem Choudary

Anwar al-Awlaki is not the only zealot cleric who benefited from Google's irresponsible conduct. Another is Anjem Choudary, a jihadist preacher of radical Islam and ISIS supporter considered one of the most dangerous religious leaders in the United Kingdom, also exploited YouTube. Choudary directed the operations of Al Muhajiroun ("the emigrants"), a militant Salafi jihadist group that was founded by a radical Muslim cleric, Omar Bakri Muhammad. They wished to bring the end of British democracy and introduce Sharia law by force.[71] The message of Islam, so he claimed, will stem from the United Kingdom and spread all over the world to establish the Islamic caliphate. In 1999, Al Muhajiroun urged supporters to travel to Chechnya to wage jihad against the Russians.[72] Its posters hailed the 9/11 terrorists as "the Magnificent 19".[73]

The Counter Extremism Project provides a detailed account of Choudary's ties to extremists, arguing that between 1999 and 2016, Choudary and al-Muhajiroun were linked to almost one-quarter of the terror plots in the United Kingdom.[74] The list of terrorist plots linked to the group is agonizingly long. It includes the 2003 suicide bombing attack on Mike's Place bar in Tel Aviv; the failed 2004 fertilizer bomb plot; the 2005 London bombings; the failed 2012 plot to blow up a Territorial Army base with an explosives-filled toy car; the murder of Lee Rigby in 2013, and the London Bridge attacks in 2017 and 2019.[75] Many of Choudary's recruits have fought for ISIS, al-Qaeda and the Taliban in Syria, Iraq and other places. Nick Lowles, chief executive of a British anti-racist watchdog group, Hope Not Hate, said: "No other British citizen has had so much influence over so many terrorists as Choudary."[76]

For 20 years, Choudary used his training as a qualified lawyer to evade the law. Al-Muhajiroun and its succes-

sor organizations have contributed to the radicalization of hundreds of British Muslims. Choudary used You-Tube to incite religious-Islamic war against the West, providing theological justifications for launching terrorist attacks against the enemies of Islam.[77] Via the Internet, Choudary's influence stretched well beyond the United Kingdom. AIVD, the Dutch intelligence agency, assessed him to be a key influence in the spread of the jihadi movement in the Netherlands.[78] In Belgium, Choudary helped set up Sharia4Belgium that "engaged in organised indoctrination and recruitment of young people to participate in the armed conflict in Syria."[79] Choudary and his aid, Mohammed Rahman, used YouTube to encourage support for ISIS. One of the speeches titled "How Muslims Assess the Legitimacy of the Caliphate" was uploaded to Choudary's YouTube channel on September 9, 2014, and played over the image of a map of northern Africa, the Middle East, north-west Asia and southern Europe, explaining the need for establishing an Islamic caliphate over this huge territory.[80]

In 2014, the British authorities arrested Choudary for supporting ISIS. In 2015, a jury convicted Choudary for inciting his followers to join the Islamic State in Syria. He was sentenced to five and a half years in prison and was released on licence in October 2018 after serving half of his sentence. According to the *New York Times*, having served their time, many members of Choudary's old network are being released from detention.[81] They constitute a lingering security threat.

Before his arrest, Choudary was very candid in pronouncing his violent beliefs. In an interview with CBN, he said that Islam is not a religion of peace. Islam does not mean peace. Islam means submission to the will of Allah. Choudary openly declared: "There is a place for violence in Islam. There is a place for jihad in Islam." [82] He explained that jihad is the second-most-talked-about duty in the Quran, after belief. The duty to fight is frequently mentioned. According to him, it is difficult to refute the belief that Quran dictates terrorism. This belief for him is a matter of religion, an ideology and a way of life. [83]

Google, one should note, is much less tolerant of terrorist incitement nowadays. In June 2020, I searched for "How Muslims Assess the Legitimacy of the Caliphate" on YouTube and was unable to find it. The search yielded a video titled "The Islamic State (Full Length)" by Vice News that requires age verification for access. I was able to find many clips on "Anjem Choudary", including reports about his imprisonment and release from jail, and his interviews with prestigious networks. I was unable to find his sermons and speeches. His ideas are heard when he was interviewed by news outlets. On RT, Choudary said that terrorizing the enemy is part of Islam. This is something that we need to understand and embrace as part of the jurisprudence of jihad. Furthermore, Islam does not make a distinction between soldiers and civilians because civilians are those who send soldiers to conduct war and, therefore, they are accountable for the war conduct. Specifically, journalists are the right-hand of politicians in their propaganda machine justifying wars against Muslim countries.[84] On BBC HARDtalk, Choudary said: "when we say innocent people we mean Muslims, as far as non-Muslims are concerned they have not accepted Islam... as far as we are concerned that is a crime against god... you are guilty of not believing in god... the whole world is Dar al-Harb (house of war)... Britain is Dar al-Fitna (house of strife)."[85] CNN provided Choudary a platform to propagate his violent ideas including justifications to wage war on the USA and killing of journalists who covered the war on ISIS.[86] On Fox television, Choudary had several shouting contests with Sean Hannity.[87]

On March 12, 2021, I conducted on YouTube yet another search for "Anjem Choudary." The search yielded dozens of results. The majority were interviews that Choudary granted to conventional media such as RT UK, BBC, ITV, Fox and Sky as well as news reports about Choudary. There are also plenty of clips that denounce Choudary and his worldview.

It is impossible in the scope of this article to discuss other people who explicitly incite violence. Anwar al-Awlaki and Anjem Choudary are two examples in a sea of hatred. I choose them because they constitute clear examples. I wanted to make the point that their preaching is beyond the scope of tolerance. Readers are welcome to employ the rationale exhibited here to analyze other cases and decide whether the content under scrutiny is mere advocacy and, therefore, legitimate, or constitutes incitement and, therefore, should not be tolerated.

VII. YouTube and Corporate Social Responsibility

YouTube has "Respect" in the YouTube community guidelines in its Policy and Safety section.[88] One of them concerns violent or graphic content. It says: "It's not okay to post violent or gory content that's primarily intended to be shocking, sensational, or disrespectful. If posting graphic content in a news or documentary context, please be mindful to provide enough information to help people understand what's going on in the video. Don't encourage others to commit specific acts of violence." [89] YouTube has not been enforcing its own standards effectively. Having community standards and not enforcing them is a sham.

Since 2008, YouTube has improved its adherence to Corporate Social Responsibility and to its own guidelines. Still, in 2016 it was reported that British authorities made repeated efforts to get Choudary's Twitter posts and YouTube videos taken down but had no power to force corporations to remove material from the Internet even if it was believed to have fallen foul of UK anti-terror laws.[90] At that time, Choudary had more than 32,000 followers on his active Twitter account. Repeated requests for the removal of his account were all declined. In June 2016, a request was sent to YouTube for the removal of a video titled "Duties of the Kilafah by Anjem Choudary". The request was refused.[91] A video titled "The Caliphate will expand into Europe and US" was not referred because YouTube considers it "journalistic" as it was uploaded on Memri TV, a Middle East research institute.[92] A request to remove Mohammed Rahman's videos was partially accepted.[93] In June 2020, I was unable to find those videos on YouTube. Common sense does prevail. Sometimes it hesitates, but eventually it does prevail.

The recent YouTube Violent or graphic content policies state that "Violent or gory content intended to shock or disgust viewers, or content encouraging others to commit violent acts are not allowed on YouTube."[94] They instruct users not to post content that is, *inter alia*, "Inciting others to commit violent acts against individuals or a defined group of people",[95] footage, audio, or imagery involving war aftermath, terrorist attack aftermath, street fights, physical attacks, sexual assaults, "immolation, torture, corpses, protests or riots, robberies, medical procedures, or other such scenarios with the intent to shock or disgust viewers",[96] or "footage of corpses with massive injuries, such as severed limbs."[97] YouTube policies provide examples of prohibited violent and shocking content which include videos of beheadings and footage filmed by the perpetrator during a deadly or major violent event, "in which weapons, violence, or injured victims are visible or audible. Note: there are no exceptions for this example, even if there is educational, documentary, scientific, or artistic context in your content."[98]

These policies are certainly steps in the right direction. They were installed relatively late—but better late than never. CSR scholar Keith Davis asserts that it is a firm's obligation to consider the effects of its decisions on society in a manner that will accomplish social benefits as well as traditional economic benefits.[99] This means that "social responsibility begins where the law ends. A firm is not being socially responsible if it merely complies with the minimum requirements of the law, because this is what any good citizen would do."[100]

The main principles of CSR dictate a careful decision-making process which takes into consideration the potential consequences of decisions; corporate obligation to consider the stakeholders' interests; transparency; accountability; respect for societal values; liability for decisions; enactment of remedial measures to redress harmful side effects and, lastly, community investment to benefit the public good.[101]

Adopting norms of social responsibility would contribute to corporate reputation and marketing. Indeed, there is a significant positive relationship between CSR activities and consumers' purchasing decisions.[102] Stewart Lewis argues that corporate social responsibility, referring to practices that improve the workplace and benefit society beyond what companies are legally mandated to do, is established as a fundamental criterion for judg-ing companies, and calls for a reappraisal of companies' brand and reputation management.[103] Upholding norms of corporate social responsibility benefit both the firm and the societies in which it operates.

Social responsibility raises important contractual obligations that the company arguably violates by allowing terrorists' videos to be uploaded and/or to stay up on its platform. The corporate statement to consumers is purposefully ambiguous to make liability highly unlikely in the United States, especially in light of 47 U.S.C.

230 - "Good Samaritan Immunity" that says: "No provider or user of an interactive computer service shall be treated as the publisher or speaker of any information provided by another information content provider."[104] Section 230 allows Internet intermediaries to exercise editorial discretion without fear of publisher liability and provides broad immunity for online service providers for third-party statements. Therefore, in the United States, legally cognizable ways to sue YouTube are rather limited. However, other countries are less tolerant than the USA. If Google will continue to fail to accept and adhere to CSR principles, countries should not hesitate to enforce their national laws to stamp out media-induced terrorism. The belief that the Internet transcends national laws due to its international nature is false. Internet intermediaries, such as Google, are not above the law. We have seen that when legal authorities of a given country decide to assert their jurisdiction, Internet companies then need to abide by national laws if they wish to operate in that country. The Yahoo! Saga that took place in France in 2000 when Yahoo! was selling Nazi artefacts on its auction site, in violation of French Criminal Code that prohibits the display of Nazi symbols, is a case in point. The Paris court found that Yahoo! had committed "a manifestly illegal disturbance" under the French New Code of Civil Procedure.[105] The French ruling contended that it is illegal to host criminal platforms. Yahoo! was forced to remove all Nazi memorabilia from its auction sites.[106] Another case is Vivi Down Association v. Google[107] where Google was forced to take off its servers an abusive, obscene and defamatory video clip.[108] As in the Yahoo! Saga, this ruling meant, in essence, that hosting platforms are required to be cognizant of the laws of the countries in which they operate.

VIII. Conclusion

The ingenuity and ubiquity of digital devices make the Internet an asset for communication between people. However, Internet companies and other stakeholders must be aware that the Internet's massive potential might be abused, and the international community should devise appropriate ways to tackle the challenges.

While a great deal is dependent on how we use the Internet, a great deal is also dependent on Internet intermediaries. Google is one of the largest companies in the world, a member of the prestigious trillion-dollar club, together with Apple, Microsoft and Amazon.[109] Yet power without responsibility might undermine not only our well-being but also the mega companies that operate under democratic norms and procedures. Therefore, we must insist that Internet intermediaries take responsibility and ensure that Internet users can enjoy the vast capabilities of the Internet without putting themselves in danger. The Internet should be enlightening, innovative, entertaining, productive, and voicing the best of humanity. To enable this, boundaries should be introduced and safe environments should be established. This requires a combined effort of users, business, governments, and the international community at large.

I have put a lot of emphasis on censoring YouTube because of its great significance on the Internet as the leading video platform nowadays. Granted that extremists can view violent material in many other places. Granted that the goal of limiting incitement to violence fully and comprehensively is not achievable. Still, there is great value in making YouTube clean up such violent content because of its popularity, because of its accessibility, and because it is the place for people to go first when they wish to upload and watch video content. YouTube has the greatest ability to promote certain content. What is taking place on this platform, and the way it runs and makes a profit can serve as a model to follow for other companies. For a considerable amount of time, You-Tube was awash with inciting calls for violence and terrorism. It took Google's directors years to understand that "free to use" is different from "free to abuse", and that words can be powerful and destructive. In 2017, Google announced that it intends to recruit some 10,000 reviewers to reduce the amount of "problematic content" on its video platform. YouTube CEO Susan Wojcicki said: "Some bad actors are exploiting our openness to mislead, manipulate, harass or even harm",[110] adding that YouTube's trust and safety teams have reviewed nearly 2 million videos for violent extremist content in six months.[111] During the second half of 2017, its machine learning algorithms have helped remove more than 150,000 videos from YouTube that depict violent extremism. Many of those videos included al-Awlaki's violent and inciting speeches. Still, there is room for Google to refine its content moderation algorithms further, making it more robust to identify extreme and violent content more effectively. Google should stop recommending ever-more-extreme content.[112]

Archie Carroll, the well-known writer on corporate social responsibility, articulated that—beyond the obvious economic and legal obligations that a firm has—the social responsibility of businesses also encompasses ethical and discretionary responsibilities.[113] Carroll's pyramid of CSR depicted the economic category at the base and then built upward through legal, ethical and philanthropic categories. In his view, a CSR company is one that strives to make a profit, obeys the law and behaves ethically.[114] While the focus of this article is on Google, the rationale holds true for other Internet intermediaries. There is growing awareness of the threats and of the need to provide human security. Ignorance and complacence, whether circumstantial or normative, cannot serve as an excuse. The role of gatekeeping should be clarified and defined. Google and other Internet intermediaries slowly realize the scope and importance of their responsibilities. There can be no power without responsibility. For years, Facebook, Google, Twitter, Yahoo! and others thought there is. In fact, I accentuate that greater power requires greater responsibility.

These giant companies are at an important crossroads. Google should assist security agencies in countering the dissemination of terrorist propaganda. The use of flagging mechanisms as a standard feature across all social networking media and Internet search engines will improve the likelihood of timely removal of propaganda intended to further terrorist purposes. The UN Office of Drugs and Crime advised that increased measures to identify terrorism-related content, combined with enhanced information-sharing partnerships between state and private stakeholders, could significantly assist in identifying and countering terrorist activity on the Internet.[115]

When corporate activity results in loss of life, government can expect businesses to adhere to responsible norms and codes of practice. If businesses fail to ensure a safe digital environment, governments should assert their regulatory authority. A balance needs to be struck between freedom of expression and social responsibility. Social responsibility prescribes certain boundaries to freedom in order to ensure public safety. Internet intermediaries are required to comply with social and business norms as well as with national laws and international conventions. While responsible Internet practices do impose costs on business, irresponsible practices impose far greater costs on society—which in the end will backfire on Internet firms tolerating incitement to terrorism.

N.B.: All cited websites were accessed during March 2021.

Acknowledgments: The author thanks Jeff Kaplan, David Kanin, Gary Edles and the referees for their constructive comments.

About the Author

Raphael Cohen-Almagor, DPhil, *St. Catherine's College, University of Oxford, is professor of politics and founding director of the Middle East Study Centre, University of Hull and a global fellow, Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars. Raphael has taught, inter alia, at the universities of Oxford, Jerusalem, Haifa, UCLA, Johns Hopkins, and Nirma, India. He was also senior fellow at the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, Washington DC, and distinguished visiting professor, Faculty of Laws, University College London. In 2022, he was a public policy fellow at the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, and in 2023 he will be the Olof Palme guest professor, Lund University, Sweden. Raphael has published extensively in the fields of politics, philosophy, media ethics, medical ethics, law, education, sociology, and history, including The Boundaries of Liberty and Tolerance (1994), The Right to Die with Dignity (2001), Euthanasia in the Netherlands: The Policy and Practice of Mercy Killing (2004), Speech, Media and Ethics (2005), The Scope of Tolerance (2006), The Democratic "Catch": Free Speech and Its Limits (2007); Confronting the Internet's Dark Side (2015), Just, Reasonable Multiculturalism (2021), and The Republic, Secularism and Security: France versus the Burqa and the Niqab (2022). He is now working on several publications, including two books: Resolving the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict: A Critical Study of Peace Mediation, Facilitation and Negotiations between Israel and the PLO, and Euthanasia in Belgium: The Policy and Practice of End-of-Life Care.*

Notes

[1] 22 USC § 2656f(d)(2). Legal Information Institute, Cornell Law School. URL: <u>https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/tex-t/22/2656f</u>.

[2] Crown Prosecution Service, Terrorism (2017). URL: https://www.cps.gov.uk/terrorism.

[3] For discussion on the complicated task of defining terrorism, see Boaz Ganor, "Defining Terrorism: Is One Man's Terrorist another Man's Freedom Fighter?," *Police Practice and Research*, 3(4) (2002): pp. 287–304; Gus Martin, *Essentials of Terrorism* (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 2011): pp. 2–25; Gus Martin, *Understanding Terrorism: Challenges, Perspectives, and Issues* (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 2015); Alex P. Schmid, "The Definition of Terrorism," in Alex P. Schmid (Ed.), *The Routledge Handbook of Terrorism Research: Research, Theories and Concepts* (London: Routledge, 2011): pp. 39–98.

[4] Kit Smith, "57 Fascinating and Incredible YouTube Statistics," Brandwatch (2020). URL: https://www.brandwatch.com/blog/youtube-stats/.

[5] Mansoor Iqbal, "YouTube Revenue and Usage Statistics (2022)", *Business of Apps* (January 11, 2022). URL: <u>https://www.businessofapps.</u> <u>com/data/youtube-statistics/</u>.

[6] Jack Goldsmith, and Tim Wu, *Who Controls the Internet? Illusions of a Borderless World* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2006): pp. 160–161. See also Amy-Louise Watkin, *Regulating terrorist content on tech platforms: A proposed framework based on social regulation*, submitted to Swansea University in fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Criminology, Swansea University (2021): 38–39.

[7] R. Cohen-Almagor, *Confronting the Internet's Dark Side: Moral and Social Responsibility on the Free Highway* (NY and Washington DC: Cambridge University Press and Woodrow Wilson Center Press, 2015).

[8] Archie B. Carroll, "Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and Corporate Social Performance (CSP)"; in: Robert W. Kolb (Ed.), *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Business Ethics and Society* (Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, 2018): pp. 746–754.

[9] Ibid.; Andrew Crane (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility* (Oxford Handbooks Online, September 2009); William B. *Werther, and David B. Chandler, Strategic Corporate Social Responsibility: Stakeholders in a Global Environment* (Los Angeles, CA: Sage, 2010).

[10] R. Cohen-Almagor, Confronting the Internet's Dark Side, op. cit.

[11] Interview with Marc Rotenberg, president of the Electronic Privacy Information Center, Washington, DC (May 2, 2008).

[12] Edward Snowden, *Permanent Record* (Godalming Surrey: Picador, 2020); Ewan Macaskill, and Gabriel Dance, "NSA Files: Decoded," *The Guardian* (November 1, 2013), URL: <u>http://www.theguardian.com/world/interactive/2013/nov/01/</u><u>snowden-nsa-files-surveillance-revelations-decoded#section/1;</u> Citizenfour (2014), URL: <u>http://www.imdb.com/title/tt4044364/</u>.

[13] Archie B. Carroll, "Corporate Social Responsibility: Evolution of a Definitional Construct," *Business and Society*, 38(3) (September 1999): pp. 268–295; Archie B. Carroll, "Corporate Social Responsibility: The Centerpiece of Competing and Complementary Frameworks," *Organizational Dynamics*, 44 (2015): pp. 87–96; Gabriel Abend, *The Moral Background: An Inquiry into the History of Business Ethics* (NJ: Princeton University Press, 2014).

[14] Howard R. Bowen, Social Responsibilities of the Businessman (NY: Harper and Row, 1953).

[15] Archie B. Carroll, "Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Is on A Sustainable Trajectory," *Journal of Defense Management*, 5(2) (2015): pp. 132–133. URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/289366605</u> Corporate Social Responsibility CSR is on a <u>Sustainable Trajectory</u>; Archie B. Carroll, *Business Ethics* (London: Routledge, 2019). See also Lan Jiang, "Definitions of Corporate Social Responsibility," in David Crowther and Shahla Seifi (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility* (London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2021).

[16] Archie B. Carroll, "Carroll Pyramid of CSR: Taking Another Look," *Int. J. of CSR*, 1 (2016): Article 3. URL: <u>https://jcsr.sprin-geropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40991-016-0004-6</u>; George G. Brenkert and Tom L. Beauchamp (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Business Ethics* (NY: Oxford University Press, 2010); Bryan Horrigan, *Corporate Social Responsibility in the 21st Century: Debates, Models and Practices Across Government, Law and Business* (Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar, 2010).

[17] Archie B. Carroll, "Corporate Social Responsibility: The Centerpiece of Competing and Complementary Frameworks", op. cit.

[18] Peter Sena Gawu, and Husein Inusah, "Corporate Social Responsibility: An Old Wine in a New Gourd," *J. of Philosophy and Culture*, 7(1) (March 2019): pp. 1–6; Michael Blowfield and Alan Murray, *Corporate Social Responsibility* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2019).

[19] Denis McQuail, Media Accountability and Freedom of Publication (New York: Oxford University Press, 2003): p. 55.

[20] A. B. Carroll, and Kareem M. Shabana, "The Business Case for Corporate Social Responsibility: A Review of Concepts, Research and Practice," *International J. of Management Review* (2010): pp. 85–105; Ki-Hoon Lee, and Dongyoung Shin, "Consumers' Responses to CSR Activities: The Linkage between Increased Awareness and Purchase Intention," *Public Relations Review*, 36 (June 2010): pp. 193–195. See also Andreas Rasche, Mette Morsing, et al. (Eds.), *Corporate Social Responsibility: Strategy, Communication, Governance* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2017).

[21] William J. Mea, and Ronald R. Sims, "Human Dignity-Centered Business Ethics: A Conceptual Framework for Business Lead-

ers," Journal of Business Ethics, 160 (2019): p. 56.

[22] Christine A. Hemingway, and Ken Starkey, "A Falling of the Veils: Turning Points and Momentous Turning Points in Leadership and the Creation of CSR," *Journal of Business Ethics*, 151 (2018): pp. 875–890; Kenneth De Roeck, and Omer Farooq, "Corporate Social Responsibility and Ethical Leadership: Investigating Their Interactive Effect on Employees' Socially Responsible Behaviors," *Journal of Business Ethics*, 151 (2018): p. 926.

[23] L. Floridi, and J. W. Sanders, "Artificial Evil and the Foundation of Computer Ethics," *Ethics and Information Technology* 3(1) (2001): pp. 55–66; André Martinuzzi, Robert Kudlak, Claus Faber, and Adele Wiman (2011) "CSR Activities and Impacts of the ICT Sector", *RIMAS Working Papers*, No. 5/2011 (Vienna: University of Economics and Business, 2011). For further discussion, see Øyvind Ihlen, and Jennifer L. Bartlett (Eds.), *The Handbook of Communication and Corporate Social Responsibility* (Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, 2014); Ivri Verbin, *Corporate Responsibility in the Digital Age* (London: Routledge, 2020); R. Cohen-Almagor, "Freedom of Expression, Internet Responsibility and Business Ethics: The Yahoo! Saga and Its Aftermath", *J. of Business Ethics*, 106(3) (2012): pp. 353–365.

[24] R. Cohen-Almagor, *The Scope of Tolerance: Studies on the Costs of Free Expression and Freedom of the Press* (London and New York: Routledge, 2006), and *Just, Reasonable Multiculturalism* (New York and Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2021).

[25] The First Amendment - Freedom of Speech, Religion, and the Press (2021), URL: <u>http://caselaw.lp.findlaw.com/data/constitu-tion/amendment01/.</u>

[26] Anthony Smith, *Freedom for the Thought That We Hate* (NY: Basic Books, 2007); Jeremy Waldron, "Dignity and Defamation: The Visibility of Hate," *Harvard Law Review*, 123 (2010): pp. 1596–1657; Jeremy Waldron, *The Harm in Hate Speech* (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 2012); Steven J. Heyman, *Free Speech and Human Dignity* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 2008); R. Cohen-Almagor, "Hate and Racist Speech in the United States - A Critique", *Philosophy and Public Issues*, 6(1) (2016): pp. 77–123; R. Cohen-Almagor, "Tolerating Racism and Hate Speech: A Critique of C. E. Baker's 'Almost' Absolutism", in Mitja Sardoc (Ed.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Toleration* (Cham: Palgrave, 2021).

[27] The American Nazi Party, URL: https://www.americannaziparty.com.

[28] J. S. Mill, *Utilitarianism, Liberty, and Representative Government* (London: J. M. Dent. Everyman's edition, 1948): p. 151.[29] Ibid.

[30] Nadia Urbinati, *Mill on Democracy: From the Athenian Polis to Representative Government* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2002): pp. 81–82.

[31] R. Cohen-Almagor, "JS Mill's Boundaries of Freedom of Expression: A Critique," *Philosophy*, 92(4) (October 2017): pp. 565–596.

[32] R. Cohen-Almagor, *The Boundaries of Liberty and Tolerance* (Gainesville, FL: The University Press of Florida, 1994), and R. Cohen-Almagor, *Speech, Media, and Ethics: The Limits of Free Expression*, (Houndmills and New York: Palgrave-Macmillan, 2005).

[33] Interview with Philip Mudd, Associate Executive Assistant Director, National Security Branch, Federal Bureau of Investigation, at the Woodrow Wilson Center, Washington DC (March 25, 2008).

[34] MI5, Terrorist training and indoctrination, URL: <u>https://www.mi5.gov.uk/terrorist-training-and-indoctrination (no longer available).</u>

[35] Ibid.

[36] Scott Shane, *Objective Troy: A Terrorist, a President, and the Rise of the Drone* (NY: Tim Duggan Books, 2016), and S. Shane, "The Enduring Influence of Anwar al-Awlaki in the Age of the Islamic State", *CTC Sentinel*, 9(7) (June 2016): pp. 15–19.

[37] For discussion on YouTube's evident refusal to remove al-Awlaki's videos, see Alexander Tsesis, "Terrorist Speech on Social Media", *Vanderbilt Law Rev.*, 70(2) (2017): pp. 651–708. See also R. Cohen-Almagor, "The Role of Internet Intermediaries in Tack-ling Terrorism Online", *Fordham Law Review*, 86 (November 2017): pp. 425–453.

[38] Anwar al-Awlaki, "The Hereafter." URL: https://archive.org/details/nooor90.

[39] Billy Kenber, "Nidal Hasan sentenced to death for Fort Hood shooting rampage", *The Washington Post* (August 28, 2013). URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/nidal-hasan-sentenced-to-death-for-fort-hood-shooting-ram-page/2013/08/28/aad28de2-0ffa-11e3-bdf6-e4fc677d94a1_story.html?utm_term=.90607d6ce9ba.</u>

[40] Alexander Meleagrou-Hitchens, *Incitement: Anwar al-Awlaki's Western Jihad* (Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press, 2020).

[41] Ibid.

[42] Vikram Dodd and Alexandra Topping, "Roshonara Choudhry jailed for life over MP attack", *The Guardian* (November 3, 2010). URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2010/nov/03/roshonara-choudhry-jailed-life-attack</u>.

[43] Steve Swann, "Rajib Karim: The terrorist inside British Airways," *BBC* (February 28, 2011). URL: <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-12573824</u>.

[44] History, "Boston Marathon Bombing" (2019). URL: <u>https://www.history.com/topics/21st-century/boston-marathon-bomb-ings</u>.

[45] Robert Windrem, "American Suicide Bomber Says He Was Watched by FBI, Inspired by Awlaki," *NBC* (August 27, 2014). URL: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/news/investigations/american-suicide-bomber-says-he-was-watched-fbi-inspired-awlaki-n190606</u>.

[46] "UK citizen Minh Quang Pham jailed for Heathrow suicide plot," *BBC* (May 27, 2016). URL: <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-36403825</u>.

[47] *LA Times*, "Everything we know about the San Bernardino terror attack investigation so far," *LA Times* (December 14, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.latimes.com/local/california/la-me-san-bernardino-shooting-terror-investigation-htmlstory.html</u>.

[48] Adam Nagourney, Richard Pérez-Peña and Ian Lovett, "Neighbor of San Bernardino Attackers Faces Terrorism Charges," *NY Times* (December 17, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2015/12/18/us/san-bernardino-enrique-marquez-charges-justice-de-partment.html</u>.

[49] S. Shane, "The Enduring Influence of Anwar al-Awlaki in the Age of the Islamic State", op. cit.

[50] "Charlie Hebdo shooter says financed by Qaeda preacher in Yemen," *Reuters* (January 9, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/</u> <u>article/us-france-shooting-yemen-finance-idUSKBN0KI1Y320150109</u>.

[51] Catherine Shoichet, and Michael Pearson, "Garland, Texas, shooting suspect linked himself to ISIS in tweets," *CNN* (May 5, 2015). URL: <u>https://edition.cnn.com/2015/05/04/us/garland-mohammed-drawing-contest-shooting/.</u>

[52] Manny Fernandez, Richard Perez-Pena, and Fernanda Santos, "Gunman in Texas Shooting Was F.B.I. Suspect in Jihad Inquiry," *New York Times* (May 4, 2015), URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2015/05/05/us/garland-texas-shooting-muhammad-cartoons.</u> <u>html</u>; Dan Frosch and Ana Compoy, "Mother of Texas Gunman Sought to Keep Son from Extremism," *Wall Street Journal* (May 6, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/mother-of-texas-gunman-sought-to-keep-son-from-extremism-1430951298</u>.

[53] Jamiles Lartey, "Four US marines and gunman killed in 'act of terrorism' in Tennessee," *The Guardian* (July 16, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2015/jul/16/chattanooga-tennessee-active-shooter-navy-reserve-center</u>.

[54] Ralph Ellis, <u>Ashley Fantz</u>, <u>Faith Karimi</u> and <u>Eliott C. McLaughlin</u>, "Orlando shooting: 49 killed, shooter pledged ISIS allegiance", *CNN* (June 13, 2016). URL: <u>http://edition.cnn.com/2016/06/12/us/orlando-nightclub-shooting/</u>.

[55] *Irish Times*, "London Bridge attacker radicalised by online al-Qaeda propaganda," *Irish Times* (November 30, 2019). URL: <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/news/world/uk/london-bridge-attacker-radicalised-by-online-al-qaeda-propaganda-1.4100817</u>.

[56] Liz Goodwin, "San Bernardino attacks latest example of Anwar al-Awlaki's deadly legacy", *Yahoo!* (December 23, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.yahoo.com/politics/san-bernardino-attacks-latest-example-1327003987255350.html</u>; Robert Windrem, "Dead Cleric Anwar al-Awlaki Still Sways Terror Wannabes", *NBC News* (July 25, 2015). URL: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/dead-cleric-anwar-al-awlaki-still-sways-terror-wannabes-n397506; Alexander Tsesis, "Terrorist Speech on Social Media", op. cit.</u>

[57] John P. Carlin with Garrett M. Graff, *Dawn of the Code War: America's Battle Against Russia, China, and the Rising Global Cyber Threat* (NY: Public Affairs, 2018); Alexander Meleagrou-Hitchens, *Incitement: Anwar al-Awlaki's Western Jihad.*

[58] S. Shane, "The Enduring Influence of Anwar al-Awlaki in the Age of the Islamic State", op. cit.

[59] Ibid.

[60] A. Meleagrou-Hitchens, Incitement: Anwar al-Awlaki's Western Jihad, op. cit.

[61] Eric Posner, "ISIS Gives Us No Choice but to Consider Limits on Speech", *Slate* (December 15, 2015). URL: <u>http://www.slate.</u> com/articles/news_and_politics/view_from_chicago/2015/12/isis_s_online_radicalization_efforts_present_an_unprecedented_danger.2.html.

[62] Ibid.

[63] Scott Shane, "Internet Firms Urged to Limit Work of Anwar al-Awlaki", *NY Times* (December 18, 2015). URL: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2015/12/19/us/politics/internet-firms-urged-to-limit-work-of-anwar-al-awlaki.html?emc=edit_th_20151219&nl=to-daysheadlines&nlid=33802468& r=0.</u>

[64] Alex Hern, "YouTube Islamist' Anwar al-Awlaki videos removed in extremism clampdown," *The Guardian* (November 13, 2017). URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2017/nov/13/youtube-islamist-anwar-al-awlaki-videos-removed-google-ex-tremism-clampdown.</u>

[65] Mark Bridge, Fariha Karim, and Olivia Bizot, "YouTube still hosting lectures by Islamist hate preacher Anwar al-Awlaki," *The Times* (December 5, 2019). URL: <u>https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/youtube-still-hosting-lectures-by-islamist-hate-preacher-anwar-al-awlaki-ng52tmm28</u>.

[66] In his comments, Jeff Kaplan wrote that he also tried to search for al-Awlaki's videos and was unable to get them for research purposes. In Kaplan's view, the absolute ban seemed heavy-handed in that it also removed some of al-Awlaki's apolitical Quranic exegesis. Researchers who wish to study al-Awlaki's tracts need to rely on secondary sources that interpret the tracts and quote from them.

[67] R. Cohen-Almagor, "In Internet's Way: Radical, Terrorist Islamists on the Free Highway", *International Journal of Cyber War-fare and Terrorism*, 2(3) (2012): pp. 39–58.

[68] Robert Mackey, "Anwar al-Awlaki in his own words", *The Guardian* (September 30, 2011). URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2011/sep/30/anwar-al-awlaki-video-blogs.</u>

[69] Maj. Nidal Malik Hasan was sentenced to death for committing the worst mass murder at a military installation in US history. Billy Kenber, "Nidal Hasan sentenced to death for Fort Hood shooting rampage", op. cit.

[70] Robert Mackey, "Anwar al-Awlaki in his own words", op. cit.

[71] Richard Watson, "Al-Muhajiroun and the long tail of UK terror," *The New Statesman* (February 19, 2020). URL: <u>https://www.newstatesman.com/politics/uk/2020/02/al-muhajiroun-and-long-tail-uk-terror.</u>

[72] Ibid.

[73] Ibid.

[74] Counter Extremism Project, *Anjem Choudary's Ties to Extremists* (2020). URL: <u>https://www.counterextremism.com/sites/de-fault/themes/bricktheme/pdfs/Anjem_Choudary_Ties_to_Extremists_021120.pdf.</u>

[75] Gabriella Swerling, "Where are they now? Anjem Choudary and his 'nine lions', the three terror cells who joined forces," *The Telegraph* (September 30, 2019).

[76] Ceylan Yeginsu, "One of U.K.'s Most Prolific Extremist Cells Is Regrouping," *New York Times* (May 18, 2019). URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/05/18/world/europe/uk-extremist-cell-anjem-choudary.html.</u>

[77] BBC, "Muslim cleric Omar Bakri Muhammad arrested in Lebanon," *BBC* (November 14, 2010). URL: <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/</u> <u>news/world-africa-11579274.</u>

[78] Vikram Dodd, and Jamie Grierson, "Revealed: how Anjem Choudary influenced at least 100 British jihadis," *The Guardian* (August 17, 2016).

[79] Ibid.

[80] Ibid. See also Graeme Wood, *The Way of the Strangers: Encounters with the Islamic State* (London: Penguin, 2018): pp. 177–212.

[81] Ceylan Yeginsu, "One of U.K.'s Most Prolific Extremist Cells Is Regrouping", op. cit.

[82] CBN, "Islam is not a religion of peace says Anjem Choudary," *CBN* (February 17, 2011). URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=f5FBOtKWDCE&ab_channel=ubiquitousparadox.

[83] Ibid.

[84] "Sharia Tells Muslims to Commit Terrorism and Kill Civilians," *RT* (October 31, 2016). URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=H0q7b-tUODE&ab_channel=DeshKapoor.

[85] BBC HARDtalk, "Radical Islamist Cleric Anjem Choudary," *BBC* (August 8, 2005). URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=223gLcfCj_c.

[86] CNN, "Islamist preacher Anjem Choudary on how radicals use the media to spread their message," *CNN* (August 31, 2014). URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VanFYSGcstA.</u>

[87] Fox News, "Sean Hannity VS Anjem Choudary," Fox (May 25, 2017). URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=04oJix6mj40.

[88] URL: <u>http://www.youtube.com/yt/policyandsafety/communityguidelines.html</u>.

[89] URL: <u>http://www.youtube.com/yt/policyandsafety/communityguidelines.html</u>.

[90] Press Association, "Twitter and YouTube would not remove Anjem Choudary's posts, court told," *The Guardian* (August 16, 2016). URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/media/2016/aug/16/twitter-youtube-anjem-choudary-social-media</u>.

[91] Ibid.

[92] Ibid.

[93] Ibid.

[94] YouTube, "Violent or graphic content policies" (2021). URL: <u>https://support.google.com/youtube/answer/2802008?hl=en</u>.

[95] Ibid.

[96] Ibid.

[97] Ibid.

[98] Violent or graphic content policies. URL: <u>https://support.google.com/youtube/answer/2802008?hl=en#zippy=%2Cage-re-stricted-content%2Cviolent-shocking-content%2Canimal-abuse-content</u>.

[99] Keith Davis, "The Case for and against Business Assumption of Social Responsibilities," Academy of Management Journal 16

(1973): pp. 312-322.

[100] Ibid. See also Howard R. Bowen, *Social Responsibilities of the Businessman*; Philip Kotler, and Nancy Lee, *Corporate Social Responsibility: Doing the Most Good for Your Company and Your Cause* (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, 2005); Jeremy Galbreath, "Drivers of Corporate Social Responsibility: The Role of Formal Strategic Planning and Firm Culture," *British J. of Management*, 21 (June 2010): 511–525; Mollie Painter-Morland, *Business Ethics as Practice* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011).

[101] Kenneth E. Goodpaster, "Corporate Responsibility and Its Constituents"; in: George G. Brenkert and Tom L. Beauchamp (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Business Ethics* (NY: Oxford University Press, 2010): pp. 126–157; Gabriel Abend, *The Moral Back-ground: an inquiry into the history of business ethics* (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2014); Michael Kerr, Richard Janda and Chip Pitts, *Corporate Social Responsibility – A Legal Analysis* (Markham, Ontario: LexisNexis, 2009); Stefan Tengblad, and Claes Ohlsson, "The Framing of Corporate Social Responsibility and the Globalization of National Business Systems," *J. of Business Ethics*, 93 (June 2010): pp. 653–669; R. Cohen-Almagor, "Freedom of Expression, Internet Responsibility and Business Ethics: The Yahoo! Saga and Its Aftermath" op. cit.

[102] Ki-Hoon Lee, and Dongyoung Shin, "Consumers' Responses to CSR Activities: The Linkage between Increased Awareness and Purchase Intention", op. cit.: pp. 193–195.

[103] Stewart Lewis, "Reputation and Corporate Responsibility," Journal of Communication Management 7(4) (2003): pp. 356–394.

[104] 47 U.S. Code § 230 - Protection for private blocking and screening of offensive material | U.S. Code | US Law | LII / Legal Information Institute (cornell.edu)

[105] Arts. 808 and 809 of the New Code of Civil Procedure.

[106] *LICRA v. Yahoo! Inc. and Yahoo! France* (Tribunal de Grande Instance de Paris, May 22, 2000), affirmed in *LICRA and UEJF v. Yahoo! Inc. and Yahoo! France* (Tribunal de Grande Instance de Paris, November 20, 2000). See also R. Cohen-Almagor, "Freedom of Expression, Internet Responsibility and Business Ethics: The Yahoo! Saga and Its Aftermath", op. cit.

[107] Tribunal of Milan, February 24, 2010, n. 1972; Court of Appeal of Milan, December 21, 2012, n. 8611; Supreme Court (*Corte di Cassazione*) criminal section III, February 3, 2014, n. 3672.

[108] R. Cohen-Almagor, and Natalina Stamile, "Freedom of Expression v. Social Responsibility on the Internet: *Vivi Down Association v. Google,*" *Seattle Journal of Technology, Environmental & Innovation Law*, 11: Issue 2, Article 5 (2021): pp. 350–389.

[109] A. Ghoshal, "Alphabet joins the trillion-dollar club," *The Next Web* (2020). URL: <u>https://thenextweb.com/google/2020/01/17/alpha-bet-joins-the-trillion-dollar-club/</u>.

[110] Rishi Iyengar, "Google is hiring 10,000 people to clean up YouTube," *CNN* (December 6, 2017), URL: <u>https://money.cnn.</u> <u>com/2017/12/05/technology/google-youtube-hiring-reviewers-offensive-videos/index.html.</u>

[111] Ibid.

[112] Becca Lewis, "Alternative Influence: Broadcasting the Reactionary Right on YouTube. Data & Society (2018); Becca Lewis, "I warned in 2018 YouTube was fueling far-right extremism. Here's what the platform should be doing," The Guardian (December 12, 2020). URL: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2020/dec/11/youtube-islamophobia-christchurch-shooter-hate-speech?utm term=76e56b9a17f5140daa5d450ce1c19a0c&utm campaign=GuardianTodayUK&utm source=esp&utm medium=Email&CMP=GTUK; Ben Quinn, Molly Blackall and Vikram Dodd, "YouTube accused of being 'organ of radicalisation.' Algorithms push viewers to extremes, senior MP says at launch of report on far right," The Guardian (March 2, 2020). URL: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2020/mar/02/youtube-accused-of-being-organ-of-radicalisation?utm term=RWRpdG9yaWFsX0d1YXJkaWFuVG9kYXIVS19XZWVrZGF5cy0yMDAzMDM%3D&utm source=esp&utm medium=Email&CMP=GTUK_email&utm_campaign=GuardianTodayUK.

[113] Archie B. Carroll, "A Three-dimensional Conceptual Model of Corporate Social Performance," *Academy of Management Review*, 4 (1979): pp. 497–505; A. B. Carroll, *Business and Society: Managing Corporate Social Performance* (Boston: Little, Brown, 1981).

[114] Archie B. Carroll, "Corporate Social Responsibility: Evolution of a Definitional Construct"; in: A.B. Carroll, and A. K. Buchholtz, *Business and Society: Ethics and Stakeholder Management* (NY: South-Western College Publishing, 2011): chapters 2 and 6.

[115] United Nations, The Use of the Internet for Terrorist Purposes. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2012). URL: https://www.unodc.org/documents/frontpage/Use of Internet for Terrorist Purposes.pdf. For further discussion, see R. Cohen-Almagor, "The End of Self-Regulation: On the Role of Internet Intermediaries in Countering Terror"; in: Jack Goldstone *et al.* (Eds.), *The Post ISIS-era: Regional and Global Implications* (The Netherlands: IOS Press, 2021): pp. 215–238.

Cyberterrorism: Four Reasons for Its Absence-So Far

by Jeppe T. Jacobsen

Abstract

Why has cyberterrorism (still) not happened? This article revisits two existing explanations and adds two novel ones. First, developing fear-inducing destructive cyberattacks is more difficult and involves more uncertainty in terms of producing harmful effects than conventional terrorist attacks. Second, cyberattacks rarely produce spectacular imagery. Since cyberattacks with the potential to cause fear do not necessarily require as high technical barriers of entry as an imagined cyber 9/11, the author adds two additional explanations to better understand the absence of cyberterrorism. Third, a corporal explanation: Violent bodies most often come into being through memetic practices of other violent figures and artefacts but the hacker's subjectivity is different from the typical non-state terrorist. Rather than through violence, the thrill of hacking emerges after having stared at endless lines of code, when a technical puzzle is solved, and access to an IT system is achieved. And fourth, a social explanation: it is difficult for prospective cyberterrorists to build the necessary amount of trust online. Based on these four explanations, the article sketches the likely characteristics of a future cyberterrorist. If we are to experience cyberterrorism from non-state actors, we will most likely face an antisocial Unabomber-like figure who has acquired the necessary technical knowhow independently, while not being attracted to a violent spectacle or to violent imitations of a jihadi or right-wing corporality.

Keywords: cyberattacks, cyberterrorism, hacking, terrorist profile

Introduction

The fear of cyberterrorism—the so-called cyber 9/11—reached a high at the beginning of the new millennium.[1] However, national threat assessments all over the world have incrementally downgraded the threat,[2] and other threats have started to dominate the security political debate, both in the public domain and in academia. In 2012, a questionnaire among IT-security experts showed that 79% expected a "major cyberterrorist attack" within one year.[3] Yet, the large, devastating and fear-inducing cyberattack conducted by a terrorist group or a lone wolf did not happen. This was a surprise to former head of CIA and NSA, Michael Hayden, who characterized the general use of cyberspace by terrorist groups as "sophisticated".[4] In 2010, then–FBI director Robert Mueller underlined that terrorists and extremists showed clear interest in the use of hacking.[5] Two years later, the former head of NSA and commander of the US Cyber Command, General Keith Alexander, worried later that online activists possess the skills to shut down the US power grid.[6] This article explores why cyberterrorism has still not happened.

The academic discussions on the missing cyberterrorism peaked over a decade ago. Here, two overall explanations dominated: destructive cyberattacks that seek to cause direct violence against civilians or noncombatants performed for fear-generating and propagandistic effect, ultimately to (politically) coerce populations or conflict parties—or simply *cyberterrorism* [7]—are, first, technically too difficult and, second, lacking a spectacular visual effect.[8] Yet, the technical barriers of entry are not static over time. Today hacking tools have become more accessible than ever. Gangs of cybercriminals have shut down pipelines (causing panic-buying of gas) and disrupted hospital networks (resulting in the postponing of critical surgeries), while unknown hackers have come close to successfully poisoning water treatment plants in the United States.[9] We are also experiencing an increasing amount of unintentional diffusion of cyber capabilities from militaries and intelligence agencies to other actors by leakages and theft.[10] Yet, we are still waiting for the first act of cyberterrorism to occur.

This article starts by revisiting the two existing explanations as to why destruction and mass mobilization of fear through hacking is not necessarily very attractive to those subjects who are normally associated with conducting acts of terrorism. These technical and visual explanations approach cyberterrorism mainly as

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

a potential tool or means through which to conduct violence and pursue political ends. Yet, this article proposes to supplement such explanations with other explanations that perceive terrorism not simply as a technique, but as a form of violent subjectivity.[11] A prospective cyberterrorist must embrace both hacker subjectivity and a violent subjectivity. This leads to two additional explanations: a bodily and social challenge for the cyberterrorist. The addition of more explanations is needed to explain why cyberterrorist attacks that do not require as high technical barriers of entry as spectacular cyber 9/11-style attacks have not happened. Furthermore, and importantly, the additional explanations help to identify what to look for when searching for the cyberterrorist. In other words, this article attempts to draw the profile of the most likely future cyberterrorist.

The article's explanations and arguments find support in examples from existing research on well-known Islamist terrorist groups and from Anders B. Breivik, a Norwegian right-wing terrorist. Additionally, the article draws on anecdotal evidence from previous cyber incidents ranging from ransomware attacks to activities of so-called hacktivist groups, including the Cyber Partisans in the ongoing Russo-Ukrainian war and Anonymous, whose computer-savvy online subgroups were part of the early discussions on the possibility of a future cyberterrorist attack.

The article argues that the technical difficulties and uncertainties involved in developing spectacular, fear-inducing physical destruction are harder to overcome for cyberattacks than for conventional terrorist attacks. It is further argued that the online distrust and lack of ability to express oneself physically means that a future cyberterrorist is likely to look very different from the terrorists currently dominating Western political discourse. The article concludes by drawing a profile of what a future cyberterrorist is likely to look like.

The Cyberterrorist's Technical Challenge Revisited

The expectation that terrorism will take place using hacking techniques is tied to some general characteristics of cyberattacks. Cyberattacks hit with lightning speed. They can be executed and affect computers independently of geographical distance. Most are cheap to develop and easily accessible. They are also difficult to defend against and it is possible for the attacker to remain anonymous.[12] Several researchers have pointed to these characteristics when arguing that cyberattacks are an attractive tool for terrorists.[13] Yet, not all computers are of interest to the terrorist who wants to create fear through violence. This means that violence and destruction through the use of computer network intrusions are not as straightforward as alarmists tend to suggest. The simplest and most common explanation as to why e.g. the Islamic State and their violence-prone sympathizers have not turned to cyberterrorism is that they do not possess sufficient technical know-how.[14] In short, hacking with the aim of producing physical violence requires more skills than simply issuing fancy recruitment videos, spreading online propaganda on Twitter and sending standardized phishing emails to target audiences.[15]

This point is connected to the fact that computer code only causes violent destruction indirectly. In other words, the primary effect of computer code is always to alter computer code in another computer. This is why cyberterrorists must "weaponize" the targeted computer in such a way that it enables it to cause material destruction or bodily harm.[16] As a result, the cyberterrorist must have in-depth knowledge, not only about how to access, read, find vulnerabilities and write computer code, but also possess specific knowledge about the technical processes that can cause destruction in the selected target. If a cyberterrorist seeks to derail a train, destroy a dam or melt down a nuclear reactor, it is necessary to be more than a good hacker. The hacker must also acquire sufficient understanding of how a train network, a dam or a nuclear reactor actually works, and understand which part of the computer code controls the potentially damaging elements. At the same time, the cyberterrorist must be careful not to get caught in the planning phase while also ensuring that no manual override functions are enabled on the side of the receiver, preventing the malicious code from having the desired effect. Such a planning process tends to require more time and more specialized resources than conventional terrorist attacks.[17]

The fact that terrorists are currently not spending their time developing sophisticated and targeted cyberat-

tacks does, however, not mean that the necessary skills are nowhere to be found. Since the last big wave of academic contributions on cyberterrorism in the early 2010s, more and more actors have become capable of producing harmful cyber effects. However, such actors do rarely consist of lone individuals. They are instead collectives of skillful hackers, whose specialized technical skills complement each other in the process of developing highly targeted malware. Previously, these skillful hacking collectives were located almost exclusively in the states' intelligence agencies or militaries. However, today private companies and criminal groups develop and sell sophisticated ransomware and surveillance software, which—with minor adjustments—could cause destruction.[18] This development has caused concern among some scholars. They fear that top criminal hackers can be hired to conduct cyberterrorist attacks, thereby overcoming the technical challenges.[19]

Yet, it remains unlikely that terrorists will succeed in hiring gray or black hat private hacking companies or cybercriminal hacker collectives. Such entities are currently experiencing great economic benefits by staying below the threshold of states' national security politics—something the facilitation of terrorism would change immediately. The Colonial Pipeline ransomware attack is illustrative here. On May 7, 2021, the Russian cybercriminal syndicate DarkSide successfully targeted the 5,500 mile Colonial Pipeline—one of the largest and most vital oil pipelines in the United States—causing the company to halt all operations. DarkSide extracted \$4.4 million in ransom. However, what appeared to be a straightforward ransomware incident quickly became a national security issue. The long queues of cars in front of American gas stations became a political issue and President Biden had to get involved. A week later, DarkSide seemed to have gone dark, a month later the US Justice Department announced it had recovered more than half of the ransom paid, and six months later Russia arrested some of the individuals responsible.[20] This development underlines that ransomware and other forms of cybercrime are both extremely lucrative and of relatively low risk as long as they do not interfere with national security. Supporting the terrorists' agenda by conducting destructive cyberattacks, on the other hand, is, by definition, involving national security policy.[21]

Furthermore, a collaboration between cybercriminals and terrorists is unlikely for two additional reasons. First, terrorists who are making themselves dependent on, and share information with, people outside the trusted inner circle, significantly increase the risk of being caught. This point touches upon the cyberterrorism's social challenge, which will be further discussed in the last section. And second, it is far from certain that the types of cyberattacks the hackers try to sell to terrorists are what the latter are looking for. This is because terrorism needs a particular visual expression to instill the much-needed fear. This is the second challenge that has dominated the cyberterrorism literature so far.

The Cyberterrorist's Visual Challenge Revisited

For decades, terrorism research has studied the close relationship between the terrorists' need to create spectacular, horrifying acts of violence and the media's desire to report about such events.[22] If no one knows about a terrorist attack (or why it took place), the terrorists face difficulties generating fear and thus ultimately promoting particular political goals. That is why one of the core characteristics of a cyberattack—the possibility of anonymity—is not very useful for terrorists.[23] Terrorists usually take responsibility after an attack—either directly or indirectly—and they are dependent on the media reporting it.

The iconic pictures from September 11, 2001, are arguably the most obvious example of the importance of a spectacular attack: the fear painted in the eyes of the Americans fleeing the dust cloud of the collapsing towers or the lost souls plunging into the nothingness from the burning building was shown again and again in the national and global media. These images have engraved themselves in our collective memory and shaped US security policies ever since. Even lesser acts of terrorism—car bombs, beheadings, suicide bombings—put terrorists and their cause on display in a spectacular fashion: they kill, destroy and make noise, and in a digital age, the violent images can be live streamed.[24] Especially videos of beheadings—as Simone Molin Friis has shown [25]—have the capacity to instill fear in those who identify with the victims.

Cyberterrorism scholars have long emphasized that cyberattacks do not have the same element of visuality.

[26] The most popular worst-case scenario—the large-scale power outage—does not come with an explosion, and although the image of a completely blacked-out city would be spectacular, it is difficult to know if the incident was an accident or an attack. Al Qaeda flew two planes into the World Trade Center for a reason: they wanted to make sure it did not appear like an accident. During power outages, it is not possible to live stream or find out exactly what is going on. Most people also experience power outages every now and then and it often leads to irritation and frustration but rarely creates fear.[27] Michael Stohl points to the 2003 power outage in the northeastern part of the United States as an example of a major power outage that initially was suspected to be an act of cyberterrorism.[28] Later, it became clear that a combination of incompetence, poor maintenance and a fallen tree were to blame.[29] However, even when terrorists were believed to be behind it, it did not lead to fear, to significant economic damage or to a security political mobilization.

While existing cyberterrorism scholars are correct when stressing that cyberterrorists face much difficulty producing images similar to the ones of the suicide bomber, shooter or vehicular terrorist, fear and panic can have several roots. Both the 1984 Rajneeshee food poisoning attack in Oregon and the anthrax letters that killed four Americans in 2001 caused anxiety and public apprehension.[30] In that sense, the scholarly attention to the cyberterrorists' visual challenge, although in most cases valid, is a product of the current focus on certain forms of terrorist acts that today's right-wing and Islamic terrorists seem to prefer. Such perspective risks overlooking that fear-inducing terrorist attacks can take many visual forms.

In early 2021, what is believed to be a lone hacker gained access to a water plant in the Bay Area and a few weeks later in Oldsmar, Florida. In the latter case, an attempt was made to raise the level of lye (NaOH) in the drinking water to poisonous levels. The poisoning was prevented only because an employee saw on his computer monitor the cursor moving on its own and undid the hacker's changes.[31] It is still unknown who was behind the attack and whether the hacker was actually willing to go through with the poisoning or simply was looking to make a statement. What it tells us, however, is that cyberattacks with the potential to cause fear do not necessarily require as high technical barriers of entry as the imaginary cyber 9/11 spectacle.

This article has so far revisited the existing explanations for the absence of cyberterrorism. The first two sections echo the existing literature's claim that cyberterrorism faces technical and visual challenges—but, importantly, do not deny the possibility of future cyberterrorism. The technical barriers of entry are not static and not all forms of terrorism need big explosions to induce fear. Hacking with the purpose of causing fear and destruction, however, remains a time-consuming exercise. Those engaging in this exercise must embrace and enjoy the practice of sitting in front of a computer searching for mistakes in computer code or network settings and getting access to IT systems. Such practice makes it difficult for a non-tech-savvy violent extremist to opt for, and prefer, destructive cyberattacks as a tactical tool to deploy. Thus, a cyberterrorist must both embrace a hacker identity and a capacity of conducting acts of violence from a distance. The following sections take this as their analytical point of departure, hence adding two additional explanations that aim to bring more nuance to the literature. Such nuancing not only adds ammunition to those scholars who insist that cyberterrorism remains unlikely, it also helps to identify characteristics possessed by a future cyberterrorist. The first additional explanation ties to terrorists themselves, and more specifically to the antithesis between violence as part of the terrorist's (em-)bodied performance and hacking as a nonviolent prank subjectivity. This will be addressed next.

The Cyberterrorist's Challenge of Violent Corporal Subjectivity

For years, studies of violent radicalization and extremism have sought to identify what gets people—mostly young men [32]—to carry out acts of terrorism. It has proven extremely difficult. The causes, whether at the individual, group, community or societal level, are not reducible to single factors. The role of religion and ideology, formative events in childhood, involvement in criminal environments, experiences of discrimination and exclusion, etc. are part of a complex interaction that has led many radicalization researchers to recognize that there are as many causal combinations as there are radicalized subjects.[33] Much of current scholarship has stopped short of making concrete suggestions on how subjects who embrace violent radical ideas actually become capable of performing violent acts.

There are, however, a few notable exceptions. For example, Michael Kimmel demonstrates that the performative act of testing and proving one's manhood in the United States through restorative violence is woven through a historical tapestry of the self-made man and violent frontier masculinity.[34] Manni Crone draws on Foucault's "care of the self" and Marcel Mauss's "techniques of the body" when arguing that the terrorist's readiness for violence is not only shaped cognitively, but mainly through bodily practices—or techniques which are learned through exercise and mimicry.[35] From her fieldwork with prospective militants in Denmark and her study of al Qaida and ISIS videos, Crone argues that while the jihadi video provides the (male) viewer with the ability to identify with the mujahedeen and imagine himself as performing the life of jihad, the mimetic practice of walking, talking, training and even producing fake reenacted beheading videos is transforming the subject and its violent capacities.[36] Similarly, Jonathan Ilan and Sveinung Sandberg argue-here, with inspiration from Bourdieu-that there is much continuity in attitudes and behaviors of the embodied, violent "street capital" of gang member and the violent jihadi, ultimately creating a resonance between the two fields.[37] Through case studies of "Jihadi John" and three Norwegian foreign fighters, the two scholars show that the practical and psychic cultivation of the capacity to effectively dispense violence and commit daring crimes, which the subjects experienced "on the street," are naturally reinvested in violent jihadi milieus.

In other words, individuals rarely become prone to violence solely by participating in intellectual, religious or political discussion about *jihad* or the need to prevent a "Muslim invasion" of Europe. They learn it by staging themselves in the images of idealized figures whether these be mythical cowboys, abstract others or specific gang leaders, jihadists, anti-fascists or right-wing extremists—and be it both in the way they train their body in the gym, mingle with violent (sub-)cultures and criminal environments or travel to training camps, where they get the opportunity to fire real guns.[38] Thus, the violent body of the (male) terrorist literally comes into being in the interaction with the weapons and the artefacts that have come to represent a soldier's or freedom fighter's subjectivity.[39, 40]

This does not mean that the emergence of the violent body has to take place in physical communities. Anders B. Breivik's narcissistic self-portrayal in connection with his description of his preparations for the terrorist attack in Utøya on 22 July, 2011 not only mirrored the temple-knightly representation of the defenders of Christianity, but also involved a cold, masculine, militaristic aesthetic known from first-person shooter games.[41] According to his own statement, Breivik even practiced his shooting skills playing Call of Duty, and he described his goals and missions in the same sober tone that characterizes such video games.[42] He even invested £400 to pose in a homemade uniform, complete with fake medals.[43]

Yet, prospective terrorists' violent, bodily mimetic practices stand in contrast to the hacker groups that have been labeled cyberterrorists in the past such as the online phenomenon Anonymous.[44] Anonymous grew out of the more obscure parts of Internet chat forums where sexual deviations and violence were often very explicitly portrayed.[45] Yet for those who identify as part of Anonymous (Anons), their body performances seem fundamentally different from the one of prospective violent militants. Anons' hacking practices are neither violent nor related to the aesthetic of the physically performing body.

To digital anthropologist Gabriella Coleman, it is in the hacker's DNA to sit still for hours and patiently search for mistakes in almost endless lines of computer code and network settings just to get the thrill of gaining access to a system, simply to prove one's ability to outsmart others or to prank unaware targets.[46] In other words, the bodily thrill of the hacker primarily relates to the moment a technical puzzle is solved and access is gained, not the moment a (violent) body is sacrificed or put on the line. This is clearly evident for the 18-year-old hacker who in September 2022—without having any idea what to do with data—gained full admin access to several Uber systems and thereby to an embarrassingly large amount of sensitive information. The hacker simply ended up posting that Uber had suffered a data breach on the company's Slack channel.[47] This example is consistent with Coleman's argument that the techniques that are learned and mimicked online by hacker communities, and Anons in particular are those that aim to humiliate, prank and display the incompetence of others through the manipulation of online information or the access to it.[48] Therefore, it is not surprising that nonviolent tactics such as the hacking and leaking of confidential

documents and denying access to, or defacing, websites remain the modus operandi of not only Anonymous' activism but hacktivism in general.

During the 50 days in 2011 that the technically capable Anonymous subgroup, LulzSec, existed, it managed to leak classified information from Sony, took the CIA's public website offline and posted fake stories on various official news websites.[49] Similarly in the ongoing Russo-Ukrainian war, hacktivists including Anons joined forces with the Ukrainian IT Army and have since taken credit for posting classified information from Russian government agencies and about Russian soldiers fighting in Ukraine, for playing Ukrainian music and anti-war songs on Russia state radio and for creating traffic jams in Moscow by ordering hundreds of taxis to the same location.[50] Such activities suggest that politically oriented hackers are information warriors rather than violent freedom fighters.

So far, this section has approached hacking not simply as a tactic anyone can deploy but as a particular form of subjectivity without a violent corporality. However, trying to embrace this form of subjectivity comes with a caveat. Obviously, there are hackers out there who—while being structured, meticulous, patient and systematic when searching for programming or IT administrative mistakes and when developing exploits—do not embrace the prankers-identity that Coleman describes. In the above instances, the highly skillful criminal hackers or those working in private cyber surveillance companies are clearly driven mainly by economic incentives when they patiently work to outsmart other network administrators, end users or programmers.

Yet, a cyberterrorist not drawn toward a violent corporality, whether emerging from radicalized online collectives or from a successful recruitment campaign by terrorist groups such as IRA or Aum Shinrikyo, faces a last challenge, namely distrust. As is argued in the next section, online distrust is a serious challenge to terrorist groups.

The Cyberterrorist's Social Challenge

The first section on the technical challenges emphasized that the development of sophisticated, targeted cyberattacks is generally a team sport. And it was argued that it remains unlikely that non-state terrorist groups can simply procure the technical capabilities from private companies or cybercriminal syndicates. This means that the few sympathizers of terrorist groups who actually manage to recruit individuals with a high degree of technical skills, in all likelihood have to facilitate cooperation between these individuals in order to be able to develop and execute targeted cyberattacks. However, as the skills are in both high demand and in low supply, it is unlikely that such individuals can be brought together physically. This is especially the case, as argued in the previous section, because it is unlikely that hackers are drawn to the same kind of physical training and bodily performativity as most prospective terrorists. As a result, the attempts to coordinate and collaborate to conduct acts of cyberterrorism are more likely to be reminiscent of what we have experienced around the online phenomenon Anonymous or other hacktivist collectives where all interaction, planning and execution continue to take place exclusively online.

Anonymous is hard to pin down. The individuals identifying with the phenomenon vary in technical skills and political interest and include hackers, nerds, spammers, activists, and sexual deviants.[51] The online collective (or collectives) around Anonymous is characterized by anonymity (or pseudonymity) and lack of leadership, which has often led to spontaneous and relatively random forms of mobilization. However, anonymity—which is otherwise described as cyberspace's greatest asset [52]—is part of the social challenge for prospective cyberterrorists. The online operations and hacktivism carried out by some of the most skilled of Anonymous' breakaway groups, LulzSec and AntiSec, are again illustrative. First, the social nature of the Internet led to the capture and conviction of the vast majority of the group members. The members obtained social recognition online and were not willing to give up their pseudonyms, as this would inevitably mean the loss of the much-sought-after idol status that the groups' activities had given them. The desire for social recognition enabled the police to collect data on the pseudonyms and wait for carelessness and errors that made actual, physical identification possible.[53] By the time LulzSec transitioned into AntiSec and members became increasingly political and revolutionary in their rhetoric as well as more ambitious in their hacking operations, the police had collected enough evidence to arrest the majority of the participants.[54] The lesson from this is that those groups that emerge, develop and radicalize their political identity exclusively online are challenged by the social dynamics that exist in the online community supporting the group. However, already-constituted terrorist groups also face a social challenge if they seek to recruit a cyberterrorist, namely the challenge of trust.

Second, anonymity and pseudonymity are not conducive to building trust in social communities. Although mistrust and trust building are often inevitable conditions of terrorist groups,[55] the lack of physical interaction in online groups makes it less risky to pretend to be a sympathizer, thus rendering infiltration easier. And it makes it more difficult to build the "thick trust"—to use Putnam's formulation—that several terrorism scholars have argued is vital for recruits to become properly involved in the terrorist organization's activities.[56] Furthermore, trust not only relates to interpersonal relations, but to the technology as well. Terrorists must trust that the encryption software and servers actually ensure their anonymity. The more members suddenly disappear from the communication platforms, the more the online communities will become permeated by mistrust. When it became evident that one of the founders of LulzSec, Hector "Sabu" Monsegur, was an FBI informant, it led to outright paranoia among the other group members and supporters. Coleman described how the mistrust since then has almost eradicated the attempts to engage in more serious and explicitly political collaborations in Anonymous.[57]

Political collaborations both in the context of Anonymous and other hacktivist groups, however, have seen a revival with increasing tension in Eastern Europe and particularly after the outbreak of the ongoing Russo-Ukrainian war. Groups such as the Cyber Partisans have been active in targeting the authoritarian governments, and their recent coordinated cyber activities provide more nuance to the issue of trust. The Belarusian Cyber Partisans whose members, apart from the spokesperson, are anonymous even to each other, have successfully compromised dozens of databases in the Lukashenko government and most spectacularly disrupted the Belarusian railway system to prevent mobilization efforts of Russian troops near the Ukrainian border.[58] The group's capacity to collaborate or coordinate exclusively online without the usual amount of distrust relates to the fact that all its members are believed to be exiled Belarusian IT professionals.[59] Living in exile (most likely in the West) means that they do not fear being prosecuted as criminals or terrorists by Russia or Belarus—even if they could be identified. Since the Russian war of aggression started on 24 February, 2022, many Western governments allow hackers to actively support the Ukrainian IT Army. [60] This would most likely also be the case if groups such as the Cyber Partisans succeeded in performing destructive cyberattacks. Thus, distrust becomes problematic mainly when those involved fear prosecution.

However, if hacktivists in peacetime were able to create widespread fear in society through destructive cyberattacks for political or religious ends, then international efforts to trace, arrest and bring to court the hackers as cyberterrorists would be significantly more likely. As a result, the social challenges associated with recognition and trust-building mean that a prospective cyberterrorist is most likely going to be working alone and is willing to work isolated for months to secretly plan, develop and ultimately execute a destructive cyberattack.

Conclusion: Identifying the Potential Non-State Cyberterrorist

The article opened with the question of why no instances of cyberterrorism have occurred until today. In response to this question, the article provided a pair of well-known and a pair of new explanations: a technical and visual explanation on the one hand, and a corporal and social on the other. Based on these four explanations, it becomes possible to suggest the likely characteristics of the cyberterrorist of the future. The cyberterrorist embodies a fundamentally different figure than the Islamist or right-wing terrorists who dominate the current Western security discourse. The figure is also fundamentally different from Hollywood's representation of cyberterrorism in the form of the evil, psychotic Bond movie-type villain who wants to produce a cyber 9/11 or the anarchist collective in the TV series Mr. Robot that comes together physically in one place to throw the world into chaos. If we are to experience cyberterrorism, we will most likely face an antisocial Unabomber-like figure who has independently acquired the necessary technical know-how, while

not being drawn to a violent visual spectacle or to the dominant imitations of a violent jihadi or right-wing corporality. Instead, the figure is likely drawn to the meticulous, solitary and patient practice of hacking but must not get enough bodily thrill from gaining access to an IT system or from receiving praises online for having outsmarted others. Rather, the cyberterrorist must somehow be drawn to, and be bodily capable of, conducting acts of violence without having possessed a hacker figure—or other unrealistic, evil Bond mov-ie-type villains—to mimic. Thus, if and when cyberterrorism is to occur, the non-state cyberterrorist will first have to overcome the four challenges outlined in this article.

About the Author

Jeppe T. Jacobsen, PhD, *is an assistant professor at the Institute for Military Technology, the Royal Danish Defence College where he focuses his research on new military technologies and states' political and military behavior in cyberspace. Jeppe is the editor of the Scandinavian Journal of Military Studies and has published in several journals such as International Affairs, Review of International Studies, European Journal of International Security, and Critical Studies on Security.*

Notes

[1] Verton, D. (2003). Black Ice: The Invisible Threat of Cyber-Terrorism. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; Weimann, G. 2005. 'Cyberterrorism: The Sum of All Fears?' Studies in Conflict & Terrorism 28(2), pp. 129–149.

[2] Office of the Director of National Intelligence (2021). 'Annual Threat Assessment of the US Intelligence Community'. Washington DC: Office of the Director of National Intelligence Publications; National Network of Safety and Security Analysts. 2019. 'Dutch National Risk Assessment'. Den Haag: Ministry of Justice and Security. URL: <u>https://english.nctv.nl/documents/publications/2019/09/18/dutch-national-risk-assessment</u>; Center for Cyber Security. 2021. 'The Cyber Threat against Denmark 2021'. Copenhagen: Centre for Cyber Security.

[3] Conway, M. (2014). 'Reality Check: Assessing the (Un)Likelihood of Cyberterrorism'. In *Cyberterrorism: Understanding, Assessment, and Response*, edited by T. M. Chen, L. Jarvis, and S. MacDonald, pp. 103–21. New York, NY & Heidelberg: Springer, 103.

[4] Gilsinan, K. (2018). 'If Terrorists Launch a Major Cyberattack, We Won't See It Coming'. *The Atlantic*. 1 November 2018. URL: <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2018/11/terrorist-cyberattack-midterm-elections/574504</u>.

[5] FBI. (2010). 'The Cyber Threat: Using Intelligence to Predict and Prevent'. *FBI Archives*. 4 March 2010. <u>https://www.fbi.gov/news/stories/2010/march/cyberintel030410/the-cyber-threat-using-intelligence-to-predict-and-prevent</u>.

[6] Smith, G. (2012). 'Hacking Group Anonymous Could Shut down the Entire U.S. Power Grid, Head of National Security Warns'. *Daily Mail Online*. 22 February 2012. <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-2104832/Hacking-group-Anonymous-shut-entire-U-S-power-grid-head-national-security-warns.html</u>.

[7] While discussions on the definition of (cyber-)terrorism continue, most of the early attempts to define cyberterrorism insisted on a direct link between destructive acts of violence, fear and the use of hacking techniques to penetrate computers. This was done in order to make a clear distinction to terrorists' general use of the Internet to support their activities. The absence of cyberterrorism, however, has meant that the concept is often diluted to such an extent that it does not simply refer to a multitude of less-serious online activities but is also exploited by authoritarian regimes to justify the surveillance and persecution of dissidents and other critical voices. This article follows the early definitions of cyberterrorism and discusses the concept exclusively in relation to the actual act of causing extreme fear by engaging in violence and destruction with cyberattacks. See Whiting, A. (2020). *Constructing cybersecurity: Power, expertise and the internet security industry*. Manchester: Manchester University Press, pp. 16–19; Pollitt, M. M. (1998). 'Cyberterrorism — Fact or Fancy?' *Computer Fraud & Security* 1998 (2), pp. 8–10; Post, J. M., K. G. Ruby, and E. D. Shaw. (2000). 'From Car Bombs to Logic Bombs: The Growing Threat from Information Terrorism'. *Terrorism and Political Violence* 12(2), pp. 97–122; Denning, D. E. (2000). 'Cyberterrorism: The Logic Bomb versus the Truck Bomb'. *Global Dialogue* 2(4), pp. 29–37; Jarvis, L., and S. MacDonald. (2014). 'Locating Cyberterrorism: How Terrorism Researchers Use and View the Cyber Lexicon'. *Perspectives on Terrorism* 8(2), pp. 52–65; Broeders, D. F. Cristiano and D. Weggemans. (2021). 'Too Close for Comfort: Cyber Terrorism and Information Security across National Policies and International Diplomacy'. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* First View. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2021.1928887.

[8] Conway (2014), op. cit.

[9] International Cyber Law: interactive toolkit contributors. (2022). 'Colonial Pipeline ransomware attack (2021)'. *International cyber law: interactive toolkit. 7 March 2022.* URL: <u>https://cyberlaw.ccdcoe.org/w/index.php?title=Colonial_Pipeline_ransomware_attack (2021)&oldid=3340</u>; Kaspersky. n.d. 'What is WannaCry ransomware?' *Kaspersky.* URL: <u>https://www.kaspersky.</u> com/resource-center/threats/ransomware-wannacry (accessed October 3, 2022); Collier, K. (2021). '50,000 security disasters

waiting to happen: The problem of America's water supplies'. *NBC*, 17 June 2021. URL: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/tech/security/</u><u>hacker-tried-poison-calif-water-supply-was-easy-entering-password-rcna1206</u>.

[10] Smeets M. (2022). No Shortcuts—why states struggle to develop a military cyber-force. London: Hurst Publishers.

[11] This is why the article draws on the existing terrorism literature that has contributed to our understanding of the dynamics of being drawn to, engage with and perform fear-generating political violence.

[12] Farwell, J. P., and R. Rohozinski. (2012). 'The New Reality of Cyber War'. *Survival* 54(4), pp. 107–120; Borghard, E. D., and S. W. Lonergan. (2021). 'Deterrence by Denial in Cyberspace'. *Journal of Strategic Studies* First View, pp. 1–36.

[13] Collin, B. C. (1997). 'Future of Cyberterrorism: The Physical and Virtual Worlds Converge'. *Crime and Justice International* 13(2), pp. 15–18; Embar-Seddon, Ayn. 2002. 'Cyberterrorism: Are We Under Siege?' *American Behavioral Scientist* 45(6), pp. 1033–1043: Verton, op. cit.; Weimann, op. cit., p. 137; Matusitz, J. (2010). 'Cyberterrorism: Postmodern State of Chaos'. *Journal of Digital Forensic Practice* 3(2–4), pp. 115–123.

[14] Conway, M. (2011). 'Against Cyberterrorism'. Communications of the ACM 5(2), pp. 26–28.

[15] Giacomello, G. (2020). 'Research Note: More Bucks, Still No Bangs? Why a Cost-Benefit Analysis of Cyberterrorism Still Holds True'. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* First View (September), pp. 1–10. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/105761</u> 0X.2020.1822591.

[16] Rid, T. (2013). 'More Attacks, Less Violence'. *Journal of Strategic Studies* 36(1), pp. 139–142; Rid, T., and P. McBurney. (2012). 'Cyber-Weapons'. *The RUSI Journal* 157(1), pp. 6–13.

[17] Conway, M. (2014). 'Reality Check: Assessing the (Un-)Likelihood of Cyberterrorism'; in: *Cyberterrorism: Understanding, Assessment, and Response*, edited by T. M. Chen, L. Jarvis, and S. MacDonald, pp. 103–121. New York, NY & Heidelberg: Springer, p. 110; Lindsay, Jon R. (2013). 'Stuxnet and the Limits of Cyber Warfare'. *Security Studies* 22(3), pp. 365–404, 389.

[18] Deibert, R. J. (2013). Black Code: Surveillance, Privacy, and the Dark Side of the Internet. Toronto: Signal, pp. 195-216.

[19] Wilson, C. (2014). 'Cyber threats to critical information infrastructure'. In *Cyberterrorism—Understanding, Assessment, and Response*, edited by T. M. Chen, L. Jarvis, and S. MacDonald, pp. 121–136. New York, NY & Heidelberg: Springer; Silke, A., (Ed.) (2018). *Routledge Handbook of Terrorism and Counterterrorism*. London: Routledge.

[20] International Cyber Law 2022, op. cit.

[21] This of course does not mean that terrorist networks can utilize criminal networks for other parts of their activities and organization. See Ruggiero, V., (Ed.) (2019). *Organized Crime and Terrorist Networks*. London: Routledge.

[22] Schmid, A. P., and J. de Graaf. (1982). Violence as Communication: Insurgent Terrorism and the Western News Media. London: Sage; Virilio, P. (1989). War and Cinema: The Logistics of Perception. Translated by P. Camiller. London & New York, NY: Verso; Long, D. E. (1990). The Anatomy of Terrorism. New York, NY & Toronto: Maxwell Macmillian International; Baudrillard, J. (2003). The Spirit of Terrorism and Other Essays. Translated by C. Turner. London: Verso; Hoffman, B. (2006). Inside Terrorism: Revised and Expanded Edition. New York, NY: Columbia University Press; Evans, B., and H. A. Giroux. (2015). Disposable Futures: The Seduction of Violence in the Age of Spectacle. San Francisco, CA: City Lights Publishers.

[23] Gartzke, E. (2013). 'The Myth of Cyberwar: Bringing War in Cyberspace Back down to Earth'. *International Security* 38(2), pp. 41–73, 69.

[24] Conway (2014), op. cit., p. 115.

[25] Friis, S. M. (2015). "Beyond Anything We Have Ever Seen": Beheading Videos and the Visibility of Violence in the War against ISIS'. *International Affairs* 91(4), pp. 725–746; Friis, S. M. (2018). "Behead, Burn, Crucify, Crush": Theorizing the Islamic State's Public Displays of Violence'. *European Journal of International Relations* 24(2), pp. 243–267.

[26] Conway (2014), op. cit.

[27] Gartzke op. cit., p. 69; Jones, A. (2005). 'Cyber Terrorism: Fact or Fiction'. Computer Fraud & Security 2005(6): pp. 4-7.

[28] Stohl, M. (2007). 'Cyber terrorism: a clear and present danger, the sum of all fears, breaking point or patriot games?' *Crime, Law and Social Change* 46(4–5), pp. 223–238.

[29] Bennett, J. (2010). Vibrant matter: a political ecology of things. Durham, NC, and London: Duke University Press.

[30] Miller, J., Broad, W. J., and S. Engelberg, (2001). *Germs: biological weapons and America's secret war*. New York: Simon & Schuster.

[31] Collier (2021), op. cit.

[32] Kimmel, M. S. (2018). *Healing from hate: how young men get into - and out of - violent extremism*, Oakland, CA: University of California Press; Pearson, E. (2019). 'Extremism and toxic masculinity: the man question re-posed' *International Affairs* 95(6), pp. 1251–1270.

[33] Borum, R. (2011). 'Radicalization into Violent Extremism I: A Review of Social Science Theories'. *Journal of Strategic Security* 4(4), pp. 7–36; Borum, R. 2011. 'Radicalization into Violent Extremism II: A Review of Conceptual Models and Empir-

ical Research'. *Journal of Strategic Security* 4(4), pp. 37–62; Kundnani, A. (2016). 'Radicalisation: The Journey of a Concept'. In *Counter-Radicalisation: Critical Perspectives*, edited by C. Baker-Beall, C. Heath-Kelly, and L. Jarvis. London and New York, NY: Routledge.

[34] Kimmel (2018), op. cit.; Burns, J. (2017). 'Biopolitics, Toxic Masculinities, Disavowed Histories, and Youth Radicalization' *Peace Review*, 29(2), pp. 176–183.

[35] Crone, M. (2014). 'Religion and Violence: Governing Muslim Militancy through Aesthetic Assemblages'. *Millennium: Journal of International Studies* 43(1), pp. 291–307; Andersen, J. C., and S. Sandberg. (2020). 'Islamic State Propaganda: Between Social Movement Framing and Subcultural Provocation'. *Terrorism and Political Violence* 32(7), pp. 1506–1526.

[36] Ibid.; Crone, M. (2016). 'Radicalization revisited: violence, politics and the skills of the body', *International Affairs* 92(3), pp. 587–604.

[37] Ilan, J. & Sandberg, S. (2019). 'How 'gangsters' become jihadists: Bourdieu, criminology and the crime-terrorism nexus'. *European Journal of Criminology*, 16(3), pp. 278–294.

[38] Crone, M. (2016). 'Radicalization revisited: violence, politics and the skills of the body', *International Affairs* 92(3), pp. 587–604.

[39] There are of course terrorism cases where the violent corporality is still unclear. A good example is Roshonara Choudhry, the first and only British woman convicted of a violent Islamist attack. For a gendered take on her radicalization, see Pearson, E. 2015. 'The Case of Roshonara Choudhry: Implications for Theory on Online Radicalization, ISIS Women, and the Gendered Jihad', *Policy and Internet*, 8(1), pp. 5–33.

[40] Crone (2014), op. cit.; Crone, M. (2020). 'It's a man's world: carnal spectatorship and dissonant masculinities in Islamic State videos'. *International Affairs* 96(3), pp. 573–591; Meiches, B. (2017). 'Weapons, desire, and the making of war'. *Critical Studies on Security* 5(1), pp. 9–27; Danil, L. R. (2018). 'Weapons, desire and the making of war: a Lacanian response'. *Critical Studies on Security* 6(3), pp. 330–342.

[41] Behnke, A. 2014. 'Dressed to Kill: The Sartorial Code of Anders Behring Breivik'; in: *Terrorist Transgressions: Gender and the Visual Culture of the Terrorist*, edited by Malvern, S. and G. Koureas, pp. 137–156. London: Bloomsburg.

[42] Ravndal, J. (2013). 'Anders Behring Breivik's Use of the Internet and Social Media'. *Journal EXIT-Deutschland* 2, pp. 172–185.

[43] Brighi, E. (2015). 'The mimetic politics of lone-wolf terrorism'. Journal of International Political Theory, 11(1), pp. 145–164.

[44] Olson, P. (2013). *Inside the Hacker World of LulzSec, Anonymous, and the Global Cyber Insurgency.* London: William Heinemann; Woolford, T. and J. Matusitz. (2011). 'The Memetic Engineering of Anonymous, the Cyberterrorist Group'. *International Journal of Cyber Warfare and Terrorism* 1(4), pp. 1–9.

[45] Ibid.

[46] Coleman, G. (2013). *Coding Freedom: The Ethics and Aesthetics of Hacking*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; Coleman, G. (2017). 'From Internet Farming to Weapons of the Geek'. *Cultural Anthropology* 58(S15), pp. 91–102; Graham, Robert. (2018). 'Why No Cyber 9/11 for 15 Years?' *Errata Security*. 2 November 2018. URL: <u>https://blog.erratasec.com/2018/11/why-no-cyber-911-for-15-years.html</u>.

[47] Wickens, K. (2022). 'Uber's been hacked by an 18 year old, go figure'. *Pcgamer*, 16 September 2022. URL: <u>https://www.pcgamer.com/uber-hacked-18-year-old/.</u>

[48] Olson (2013), op. cit.; Coleman, G. (2014). *Hacker, hoaxer, whistleblower, spy: the many faces of Anonymous*. London: Verso; Kushner, D. 'An Inside Look at Anonymous, the Radical Hacking Collective'. *The New Yorker*, Issue 8. URL: <u>https://www.newyo-rker.com/magazine/2014/09/08/masked-avengers</u>.

[49] Coleman (2014) op. cit., pp. 237–276; Olson, (2013), op. cit., pp. 244–295.

[50] Holroyd, M. (2022). 'Gridlock as hackers order hundreds of taxis to same place in Moscow'. *Euronews*. 7 September 2022. URL: <u>https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2022/09/02/gridlock-as-hackers-order-hundreds-of-taxis-to-same-place-in-mos-cow;</u> Newman, J. (2022). 'Anonymous hacks Russian media censorship agency and leaks 340,000 files amid claims Moscow could try to cut the country off from the internet'. *Daily Mail*. 11 March 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/arti-cle-10602197/Anonymous-hacks-Russian-censorship-agency-leaks-340-000-files-amid-fears-internet-shutdown.html</u>; Chirinos, C. (2022). 'Anonymous takes revenge on Putin's brutal Ukraine invasion by leaking personal data of 120,000 Russian soldiers'. *Fortune*. URL: <u>https://fortune.com/2022/04/04/anonymous-leaks-russian-soldier-data-ukraine-invasion/;</u> O'Kane, C. (2022). 'Russian radio station hacked to play Ukrainian anthem and anti-war song'. *CBS News*. 9 June 2022. <u>https://www.cbsnews.com/news/russian-radio-station-hacked-ukrainian-anthem-and-anti-war-song-kommersant-fm/.</u>

[51] Olson (2013) op. cit.; Coleman (2014), op. cit.

[52] Weimann op. cit.; Holt, T. J. (2012). 'Exploring the Intersections of Technology, Crime, and Terror'. *Terrorism and Political Violence* 24(2), pp. 337–354.

[53] Coleman (2014), op. cit.

[54] Idem., pp. 277-316.

[55] Morrison, J. F. (2016). 'Trust in Me: Allegiance choices in a post-split terrorist movement'. *Aggression and Violent Behavior* 28(2), pp. 47–56.

[56] Vertigans, S. (2011). *The Sociology of Terrorism: People, Places and Processes*. New York, NY: Routledge, p. 97; Hegghammer, T. (2013). 'The recruiter's dilemma: Signalling and rebel recruitment tactics'. *Journal of Peace Research*, 50(1), pp. 3–16.

[57] Coleman, G. (2013). 'Anonymous in Context: The Politics and Power behind the Mask'. Internet Governance Papers, Paper No. 3, Waterloo, ON: The Centre for International Governance Innovation.

[58] Roth, A. (2022). "Cyberpartisans" hack Belarusian railway to disrupt Russian buildup'. *The Guardian*. 25 January 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jan/25/cyberpartisans-hack-belarusian-railway-to-disrupt-russian-buildup</u>.

[59] Sly, L. (2022). 'The Belarusian railway workers who helped thwart Russia's attack on Kyiv'. *Washington Post.* 23 April 2022. URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/04/23/ukraine-belarus-railway-saboteurs-russia/.</u>

[60] Haslund, A. 2022. 'Danmark giver grønt lys til danske hackere, der vil bekæmpe Rusland: Men du må ikke hacke fra dansk jord'. *Computerworld*. 15 March 2022. URL: <u>https://www.computerworld.dk/art/260114/danmark-giver-groent-lys-til-danske-hackere-der-vil-bekaempe-rusland-men-du-maa-ikke-hacke-fra-dansk-jord</u>.

Research Notes

Findings and Implications from a Project on White Supremacist Entry and Exit Pathways

by Matthew DeMichele, Wesley S. McCann, Kathleen Blee and Peter Simi

Abstract

This Research Note provides an overview of the main findings from a project on white supremacist pathways - or why some individuals join and leave white supremacist groups - with a specific focus on elucidating common themes, theoretical applications, main takeaways, and providing recommendations for academics and policy-makers. One key lesson is that identity is central to entry and exit pathways.

Keywords: white supremacy, extremism, P/CVE, pathways

Introduction

The spread of, and involvement in, domestic extremist organizations are some of the most pressing issues facing the criminal justice field. Although researchers, policymakers and criminal justice practitioners have studied, developed policies, and prosecuted violent extremists, there is little research studying the trajectories of former members of extremist organizations. The current Research Note attempts to address the gaps in knowledge about white supremacist pathways by gathering firsthand accounts from former members of white supremacist organizations in the U.S. and presenting the findings from the extant literature. The literature on white supremacy is vast, but there have only been a few studies on entry to and exit from these groups and movements using in-depth qualitative field interviews.[1]

The goal of this note is to understand the pathways to disengagement and deradicalization among former white supremacists to provide justice and community organizations with useful information to support prevention and intervention strategies. There is a dearth of systematic information about the motivations, trajectories, and barriers involved with disengagement and deradicalization processes. In this Research Note we chart the social and psychological processes involved in exiting domestic extremist organizations by analyzing the detailed life history accounts of 47 former domestic extremists.

Disengagement and deradicalization are the processes involved in ending violent extremist behaviors and beliefs, and each require significant cognitive work to dismantle racist identities. For example, some individuals may distance themselves from the extremist group and the related violence but retain lingering extremist views.[2] The findings demonstrate that former white supremacists have childhoods that include neglect, violence, abuse, and family socialization supportive of racist, homophobic, and anti-Semitic views, and these childhood backgrounds fostered vulnerable individuals looking for belonging (i.e., improved self), but after various periods of extremist involvement support for an extremist identity waned. Notions of intentional change coupled with identity transformation provide offramps for these disillusioned members.

Data Sources and Design

1. Sample

The data for this note come from in-depth life history interviews with former members of domestic white supremacist organizations. We identified interviewees by snowball sampling from multiple starts to ensure variety in the location and type of extremist groups.[3] We developed initial contacts for the snowball chains through our research team's extensive prior research with white supremacists, identifying them through public presence (e.g., media, book authors, lecture series), and referrals from our project partners.

The sampling method produced in-depth life history interviews with 47 former members of U.S. white su-

premacist groups. Participants were interviewed in 24 states across all regions of the United States and two provinces in Canada. At the time of the interviews, the individuals were no longer affiliated with organized extremist groups, and all the individuals saw themselves as "former" members. Interestingly, however, not all of the interviewees were deradicalized as some continued to hold onto their white supremacist beliefs.

2. Interview Procedures

The interviews were conducted by one or two of the authors at a time. The authors held regular phone calls and met in-person to cover the logistics, review the interview guide, and discuss general approaches to the interviews. The interview team also regularly discussed the interviews, challenges faced, and made minor adjustments to the interview protocol. This allowed the research team to maintain similar interview processes across its members while enabling discussion of data prior to transcription. The interviews usually lasted between six and eight hours.

We established rapport and vetted individuals prior to agreeing to conduct an interview. We contacted subjects via telephone or e-mail to inform them about the nature and scope of the interview, ensure they fulfilled our inclusion criteria (e.g., prior group affiliation, not an active member), and discuss interview logistics. Interviews followed a semi-structured protocol and took place in private spaces (e.g., homes, hotel rooms) and public spaces (e.g., parks, restaurants). Interviews focused on obtaining in-depth life history information to extract narratives that capture the complexity and interconnectedness of identity, ideology, and experiences.[4]

3. Analytic Strategy

We use a grounded theoretic approach to craft a conceptual framework for examining the data. The interviewing procedures comport with our study foci to understand a variety of social and psychological processes associated with entry to, and exit from, extremist groups. The findings provide a nuanced mosaic of the micro-level processes inherent in extremist pathways. The narratives obtained from participants are illustrative of how individuals make sense of their lives.[5] Each interview ended with structured questions to ensure comparable information was obtained across subjects in terms of background data. The structured items were asked at the end of the interviews after we developed more trust and comfort with the interviewees, which, in some cases, may have contributed to them disclosing more valuable information.

Findings

1. Sample Characteristics

Across the sample, childhood maladjustment issues, prior involvement in crime and delinquent groups, and family background concerns were quite prominent. Over two-thirds (71.7%) of the sample considered themselves either working- or middle-class. More than half of the sample had an individual annual income between \$25,000 and \$74,999 (54.3%) and some reported individual incomes above \$75,000 (10.8%). Most had at least a high school education (89.1%), but close to 37% were chronically unemployed. In terms of family status, close to 59% were either married or cohabitating with a partner, 73.9% had children, and close to 61% were involved in the rearing of their children.

Two-thirds of the formers reported zero family involvement in extremism, but about the same number reported being socialized during childhood with movement ideas. About 18% of our sample reported being coached to perform violence (i.e., encouraged by a family member to engage in violence), and almost three out of ten grew up with a father that had been incarcerated.

Over half of our sample experienced physical abuse during adolescence (56.5%) and a comparable number witnessed neighborhood and/or domestic violence (58.7%) during childhood. About one-third experienced sexual abuse during childhood (32.6%), almost half were neglected by their primary caregiver (45.7%) or abandoned by a parent (44.4%).

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

Close to three-quarters (76.1%) were part of a delinquent peer group, almost 70% had self-reported problems with authority, 65% had engaged in truancy, 58.7% in property offenses, and 11.1% in starting fires. Almost half (45.7%) of the sample consisted of adolescent runaways, with almost one-third being affiliated with gangs, while 71.7% were academic failures. Over half had a history of mental illness (54.3%) and suicidal ideation (56.5%). Over a third reported a family history of mental illness (39.1%), and a majority of the sample committed some combination of violent, property, or other offenses (60.0%), with many having spent time incarcerated (65.0%). Overall, most formers reported some type of adolescent maladjustment issues and prior involvement in crime.

2. The Role of Identity in Extremist Pathways

Identity transformation is at the center of our exploration of white supremacist pathways, consistent with Paternoster and Bushway's identity theory of desistance.[6] Identity is a psychological mechanism connecting individuals to the world they inhabit (i.e., social structures), and identity transformation occurs during both entry and exit processes. Before describing key features of the identity transformations involved, we highlight three findings that fit with prior research:

- 1. <u>Hate as an outcome</u>: Most people did not join white supremacy because they are adherents to an ideology. Hate is a learned outcome of group membership. Individuals find meaning and purpose from the sense of empowerment gained from their new knowledge, awareness, or political awakening.[7]
- 2. <u>Vulnerabilities as a precondition</u>: Individual vulnerabilities make one want a new possible self.[8] Significant life experiences including maladjustment, abuse, and instability foster a longing for an improved and 'better' self. White supremacy was perceived to provide an empowered self with friends, purpose, and belonging. This comports with prior scholarship in that a sense of purpose predisposes people to adopt a collective identity during the transformation process.[9] Many extremists can be described as having experienced a loss of significance in their lives.[10]
- 3. <u>*Temporary membership*</u>: Group membership is often temporary, as most extremists do not remain members for life.[11] This is despite many facing significant challenges in leaving.[12]

2.1 Identity Construction

Becoming a white supremacist requires an initial identity transformation. The formers shared recruitment tactics that focused on grooming vulnerable individuals through a process of incremental exposure to build community and a sense of belonging. The grooming process provides recruits with potential benefits of membership, including friendships and a surrogate "family." The initial grooming processes include slowly learning the acceptable language, values, and attitudes. As recruits come to define themselves as racial extremists, they insulate themselves with other extremists and narrow their interactions and opportunities for non-extremist influences. This in turn produces a collective identity. Rituals and various experiences over time galvanize this collective identity.[13]

2.2 Formers' Identity Transformation

The second identity transformation is when extremists shift to become a former. The narratives reveal that individuals were motivated by both positive (i.e., becoming a better person) and negative future selves (i.e., avoiding becoming a worse person) as they disengaged and deradicalized. Creating a future possible self[14] is a matter of calculating how to be satisfied and pleased with one's life relative to their current self as a white supremacist. Formers were able to perceive that the white supremacy lifestyle was not going to provide long term benefits such that many developed a fear of what their future might hold if they maintain involvement with white supremacy. Desistance scholars have demonstrated that individuals move away from crime to avoid a feared future self.[15]

The exit process is gradual as formers reported slowly becoming dissatisfied with the ideology, tactics, or politics of a group. Formers described an identity that became filled with negative encounters with other

members; even breeding distrust among other members. White supremacy requires the development of a totalizing identity that results in the isolation of members from non-extremists. This marginalization fosters a sense of social stigma that makes white supremacy less attractive and further supports disengagement and deradicalization processes. We highlight five key features from our work on disengagement and deradicalization processes amongst white supremacists:

- 1. Exit processes are non-linear;
- 2. Disillusionment with the organization and ideology;
- 3. Negative group dynamics (e.g., betrayal, infighting);
- 4. Emotional fatigue (e.g., shame, remorse, exhaustion);
- 5. Asymmetrical gender dynamics.

Extremist pathways are characterized as lengthy, non-linear, and emotional in which vulnerable individuals (e.g., due to childhood mistreatment, maladjustment) are recruited into extremist organizations. The formers detailed a life-course not only characterized by abuse, neglect, and loneliness, but also by active participation in reprehensible violent acts against people of color, homosexuals, and Jewish persons. In addition to specific acts of violence, many formers described that their lives focused on a disruptive political agenda that included supporting a Racial Holy War.

A central feature of disengagement and deradicalization is that they are non-linear processes of cognitive transformation. The formers indicated struggling to let go of their commitment to hate, something they equated to an addiction.[16] The struggle to let go of their former identity (and hate) existed as members described employing exit tactics to reduce their frequency of involvement (e.g., attended fewer events), intensity of involvement (e.g., engaged in less violence), and level of commitment to the group.

Disillusionment is a leading reason cited for exiting white supremacy and it interacted with other motivations for exit. Disillusionment is complicated because it manifested both as prior to, and following, exit – meaning it was cause and consequence of exit, depending on the former.[17] Formers were disillusioned with the organization due to negative group dynamics (e.g., infighting) and with the ideology as they came to see inconsistencies with the ideology (e.g., having positive encounters with people of color).

Being a former is also emotionally draining. A recurring theme among formers was one of shame, regret, and exhaustion. Many formers were shameful about the violent acts they committed during their involvement with white supremacy, and they regretted spending so much of their life dedicated to hate. The formers expressed feeling anxious, fearful, and dissatisfied with their life as an extremist, which encouraged them to perceive the possibility of exiting the lifestyle as these emotions weakened their extremist identities and social ties.[18] This conforms to prior scholarly findings as well, as most extremists do not stay in forever,[19] and many become disillusioned and eventually burn out.[20]

We also uncovered a series of asymmetrical gender dynamics due to the male dominated nature of white supremacy.[21] Specifically, women tend to act within and against gender defined roles based on the opportunities available, given group structures and dynamics, as well as the role violence plays within group processes and tactics. Furthermore, the process of becoming disillusioned and eventually leaving is influenced by women's roles and relationships within the group.

White supremacist organizations provide members with the emotional and cognitive tools to overcome any potential moral objections to engaging in violence[22] and to conduct a series of activities to support the broader white supremacist agenda of securing future racial hegemony. The formers provided a nuanced understanding of the individual and social characteristics that support various pathways out of radicalization as they work to eschew these prior attitudes and behaviors. The findings demonstrate that disengagement and deradicalization are not single events, but rather complex processes of requiring commitment to change through cognitive transformation vis-à-vis a desire to avoid a negative future self.

Implications for Criminal Justice Policy and Practice

The lack of firsthand accounts of the exit process from extremism has created a blind spot in the search for practical solutions and policy development. We identify five areas that the findings can contribute to criminal justice policy and practice:

- 1. Knowledge and Awareness;
- 2. Missed Opportunities;
- 3. Community Supervision;
- 4. Community Partnerships;
- 5. Centering Identity.

First, there is a lack of knowledge about the radicalization and exit processes, especially related to white supremacy in the U.S. Increasing knowledge and awareness for criminal justice practitioners and relevant service providers is a foundation for our other recommendations. Understanding the cognitive motivations for joining and leaving extremism, is crucial for policy and practice. White supremacy involves a series of overlapping organizations that have a detailed language (e.g., RaHoWa), use of symbols (e.g., 88, 14 words), and literature (e.g., *Turner Diaries*). Criminal justice stakeholders need to know more about the nuances of white supremacy to develop effective policies and practices. This is especially true for those involved in P/CVE work. Although there is a dearth of P/CVE programming in general, very little tailored programming in the U.S. has been implemented and even less evaluated.[23] More work should center on evaluating the barriers to disengagement, with a specific focus on how white supremacists can discard their racist identities. In fact, many "formers" often fail to eradicate their racist ideology (e.g., de-radicalize) even after disengaging.[24]

Second, the lack of knowledge about the nuances of white supremacy can lead to missed opportunities to intervene with active extremists. Formers revealed that, despite wearing clothes and exposed tattoos that are associated with white supremacy, criminal justice stakeholders did not address their potential affiliation with extremist groups. These interactions are missed opportunities to understand where individuals stand in the course of their extremist career. Increasing knowledge among criminal justice practitioners has the potential to make routine interactions with extremists more effective, especially considering so many of them have significant prior involvement with the criminal justice system. Such interactions could provide viable referrals to exit programming or services that target the underlying causes of their membership in such groups. Practitioners should develop training protocols to enhance criminal justice stakeholders' ability to identify, interact with, and respond to these types of actors during the course of their interactions.

Third, supervision plays an important role in combatting future offending patterns. Many community corrections agencies have adopted risk, needs, and responsivity tools for offender supervision. Community corrections officers (CCOs) should determine if supervision conditions are responsive to whether an individual is, or has been, involved with extremism. However, police need to be educated about the role of community supervision and the capabilities of CCOs, specifically, how intelligence can be used to better inform CCO decision-making and the reintegration process.[25] Of course, reintegration efforts must resist become intelligence gathering operations.[26] Some have identified that the risks and needs for extremists is largely the same as the general offender population, but that CCOs may need to probe not only the underlying reasons for offending and group membership, but also the ideological beliefs as well, which poses numerous challenges.[27] For example, the Proactive Integrated Support Model (PRISM) - which is an intervention tool targeting inmates with terrorism-related convictions and those at risk for radicalization - has shown promise in using risk needs assessments coupled with individually-tailored intervention plans in a correctional setting to get individuals to desist from extremism.[28] Another example is London Probation Trust's (LPT) Central Extremism Unit (CEU), which provides community supervision to bolster reintegration efforts. Although this unit is specifically focused on Islamic extremists and conclusions about program efficacy are largely inconclusive, one study argued that for such an approach to be successful, supervision must be individualized to reduce re-offending, ensure reintegration, promote identity transformation, and create

new routes to express grievances.[29] Substantial progress has been made in the extremism risk assessment field, but more validation of such instruments is needed.[30] Research like this can be of significant utility in developing and validating instruments, as such instruments often serve as the foundation for many interventions. However, research using in-depth life-history interviews is still rare in this arena.

Fourth, criminal justice systems cannot respond to radicalization alone. Instead, law enforcement, courts, and corrections need to develop connections with local resources. Preventing and countering violent extremism (P/CVE) is predicated on a "whole of community" approach that leverages all community resources, including educators, social workers, mental health practitioners, and non-governmental organizations. There is some evidence that police-led multi-agency approaches to P/CVE are ineffective,[31] community-based public health models are not very promising to date,[32] and over-securitized prevention programming (ex: Prevent) can backfire. Yet community-based disengagement programming often leverages these types of resources and has found some success in the form of mentoring programs,[33] while general exit-programming in Norway and Sweden shows promise.[34] The key to success seems to hinge on community collaboration, however. A broad whole-of-community approach that centers on fostering strong partnerships in the community while encouraging transparency and dialogue with community members is one way to do this alongside the inclusion of law enforcement, when practical and necessary.[35] A robust cooperative relationship between public and civil actors as well as NGOs helps to solidify program legitimacy and proper reintegration.[36] However, more work needs to be done in these areas in terms of pilot studies that include formative, process, and outcome evaluations.

Fifth, our research and the work of others has concluded that identity transformation is central to understanding why people join and leave extremist groups. For example, aside from our work presented here, others have found that identity transformation is important to understanding white supremacist's pathways into and out of these groups.[37] It has also been argued that extremists in general tend to submit to a group identity due to an underlying psychological or identity-based need.[38] Uncertainty about one's own identity is remedied by joining a group and adopting its attitudes, norms, and behaviors, and - most importantly - identity.[39] This collective identity thereby provides the individual with a sense of purpose. [40] P/CVE programs need to focus on fostering healthy identity transformation and practitioners need to take into consideration the meaning group membership provides to one's sense of self and belonging. For example, the Motivational and Engagement Intervention (MEI) and the Healthy Identity Intervention (HII) have shown significant promise in facilitating positive shifts in cognitive rigidity and fostering a healthier identity. However, such interventions may not be suitable for people whose behavior is not driven by engagement and identification with an extremist group or some ideology.[41] Methods to obtain disengagement and deradicalization need to be tailored to context, but identity must be considered. Programs that have a reflection- on identity component are an important part of successful desistance interventions, as not all extremists are driven by a strong ideological conviction.[42] Because the disengagement process can induce an identity crisis, some argue that individuals who participate more in pro-social activities during this process are better at reconstructing their identity.[43] Some even argue that adopting a new role and identity acts as a protective factor from re-engagement.[44] Nevertheless, more work needs to be done in this area.

Acknowledgements: We are grateful to the Anti-Defamation League, Simon Wiesenthal Center, Southern Poverty Law Center, and Life After Hate for providing initial assistance building the framework for this project.

About the Authors

Matthew DeMichele is a Senior Research Sociologist in RTI's Applied Justice Research Division. He is the Director of the Center for Courts and Corrections Research and has conducted criminal justice research on correctional population trends, risk prediction, terrorism/extremism prevention, and program evaluation. He has worked with local, state, and federal agencies, and philanthropic partners to conduct research that addresses complex policy issues. His research has recently been published in several journals, including Crime & Delinquency, American Sociological Review, and Criminology & Public Policy.

Wesley S. McCann is a Research Social Scientist at RTI International. His research interests center on extremist pathways, P/CVE program evaluation, terrorists' pursuit of CBRN weapons and interdiction efforts, immigration and border security, and criminal law. He has taught at half a dozen different universities and has published over 30 articles, books, and chapters on many of the foregoing topics.

Pete Simi is a Professor of Sociology at Chapman University and member of the Executive Committee for the National Counterterrorism, Innovation, Technology, and Education (NCITE) Center at the University of Nebraska, Omaha. He is co-author of the book 'American Swastika: Inside the White Power Movement's Hidden Spaces of Hate' and has published more than 60 articles and book chapters on issues related to political extremism, street gangs, and juvenile delinquency.

Kathleen Blee is Distinguished Professor of Sociology at the University of Pittsburgh. She has written extensively about organized white supremacism, including 'Inside Organized Racism: Women in the Hate Movement' and 'Women in the Klan: Racism and Gender in the 1920s', as well as published articles on methodological approaches and the politics and ethics of studying racist hate groups and strategies for combatting racial hate. She has also studied progressive social movements, including 'Democracy in the Making: How Activist Groups Form', and, with Dwight Billings, the origin of regional poverty in 'The Road to Poverty: The Making of Wealth and Hardship in Appalachia'.

Notes

[1] Bubolz, B. F., & Simi, P. (2015). "Leaving the world of hate: Life-course transitions and self-change." American Behavioral Scientist, 59(12), pp. 1588-1608. URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764215588814; Fahey, S., & Simi, P. (2018). "Pathways to violent extremism: a qualitative comparative analysis of the U.S. far-right." Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict, 12(1), pp. 42-66. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2018.1551558</u>; Gaudette, T., Scrivens, R., & Venkatesh, V. (2022). "Disengaged but still radical? Pathways out of violent right-wing extremism." Terrorism and Political Violence, pp. 1-26. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2022.2082288; Simi, P., Blee, K., DeMichele, M., & Windisch, S. (2017). "Addicted to hate: Identity residual among former white supremacists." American Sociological Review, 82(6), pp. 1167–1187. URL: https://doi. org/10.1177/0003122417728719; Simi, P., Sporer, K., & Bubolz, B. F. (2016). "Narratives of childhood adversity and adolescent misconduct as precursors to violent extremism." Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 53(4), pp. 536–563. URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022427815627312; Simi, P., & Windisch, S. (2018). "Why radicalization fails: Barriers to mass casualty terrorism." Terrorism and Political Violence, pp. 1-20. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1409212; Simi, P., Windisch, S., Harris, D., & Ligon, G. (2019). "Anger from within: The role of emotions in disengagement from violent extremism." Journal of Qualitative Criminal Justice & Criminology. URL: https://doi.org/10.21428/88de04a1.7dc6a559; Simi, P., Windisch, S., & Sporer, K. (2016). "Recruitment and radicalization among US far-right terrorists." START. URL: https://doi.org/https://www.start. umd.edu/pubs/START_RecruitmentRadicalizationAmongUSFarRightTerrorists_Nov2016.pdf; Windisch, S., Scott Ligon, G., & Simi, P. (2017). "Organizational [dis]trust: Comparing disengagement among former left-wing and right-wing violent extremists." Studies in Conflict & Terrorism, 42(6), pp. 559-580. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610x.2017.1404000.

[2] Bjørgo, T., & Horgan, J. (2009). Leaving Terrorism Behind: Individual and Collective Disengagement. New York: Routledge.

[3] Wright, R., Decker, S. H., Redfern, A. K., & Smith, D. L. (1992). "A snowball's chance in hell: Doing fieldwork with active residential burglars." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, *29*(2), pp. 148–161.URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002242789</u> 2029002003.

[4] McAdams, D. P. (1997). The Stories we Live By: Personal Myths and the Making of the Self. New York: The Guilford Press.

[5] Blee, K. M. (1996)."Becoming a racist: Women in contemporary Ku Klux Klan and neo-Nazi Groups." *Gender and Society*, *10*(6), pp. 680-702; Copes, H., Hochstetler, A., & Forsyth, C. J. (2013). "Peaceful warriors: Codes for violence among adult male bar fighters." *Criminology*, *51*(3), pp. 761–794. DOI: 10.1111/1745-9125.12019; Giordano, P. C., Johnson, W. L., Manning, W. D., Longmore, M. A., & Minter, M. D. (2015). "Intimate partner violence in young adulthood: Narratives of persistence and desistance." *Criminology*, *53*(3), pp. 330-365.

[6] Paternoster, R., & Bushway, S. (2009). "Desistance and the feared self: Toward an identity theory of criminal desistance." *Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology*, 99(4), pp. 1103–1156.

[7] Blee, K. M. (2002). Inside organized racism: Women in the hate movement. Berkeley: University of California Press.

[8] Markus, H., & Nurius, P. (1986). "Possible selves." American Psychologist, 41(9), pp. 954–969. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.41.9.954</u>

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

[9] Silke, A., Morrison, J., Maiberg, H., Slay, C., & Stewart, R. (2021). "The Phoenix model of disengagement and deradicalisation from terrorism and violent extremism." *Monatsschrift Für Kriminologie Und Strafrechtsreform*, *104*(3), pp. 310–320. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/mks-2021-0128</u>; Simi, Pete, Karyn Sporer and Bryan Bubolz. 2016. "Narratives of childhood adversities and adolescent misconduct as precursors to violent extremism: A life-course criminological approach," op. cit.

[10] Jasko, K., LaFree, G., & Kruglanski, A. (2017). "Quest for significance and violent extremism: The case of domestic radicalization." *Political Psychology*, *38*(5), pp. 815–831. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12376</u>

[11] Simi, P., & Futrell, R. (2015). American Swastika: Inside the White Power Movement's Hidden Spaces Of Hate. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.

[12] Bubolz, B. F., & Simi, P. (2015). "Leaving the world of hate: Life-course transitions and self-change."

[13] Latif, M., Blee, K., DeMichele, M., & Simi, P. (2018). "How emotional dynamics maintain and destroy white supremacist groups." *Humanity & Society*, 42(4), pp. 480–501. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0160597618802552</u>

[14] Markus & Nurius (1986), "Possible selves," op. cit.

[15] Paternoster, R., & Bushway, S. (2009). "Desistance and the feared self: Toward an identity theory of criminal desistance," op. cit.

[16] Simi et al. (2017). "Addicted to hate: Identity residual among former white supremacists," op. cit.

[17] Latif, M., Blee, K., DeMichele, M., Simi, P., & Alexander, S. (2019). "Why white supremacist women become disillusioned, and why they leave." *The Sociological Quarterly*, *61*(3), pp. 367–388. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00380253.2019.1</u>625733

[18] Latif et al. (2018). "How emotional dynamics maintain and destroy white supremacist groups," op. cit.

[19] Simi and Futrell (2015). American swatiska, op. cit.

[20] Altier, M. B., Leonard Boyle, E., Shortland, N. D., & Horgan, J. G. (2017). "Why they leave: An analysis of terrorist disengagement events from eighty-seven autobiographical accounts." *Security Studies*, *26*(2), pp. 305–332. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.108</u> <u>0/09636412.2017.1280307</u>

[21] Latif, M., Blee, K., DeMichele, M., & Simi, P. (2020). "Do white supremacist women adopt movement archetypes of mother, whore, and fighter?" *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, pp. 1–18. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610x.2020.1759264</u>; Latif et al. (2019), "Why white supremacist women become disillusioned, and why they leave," op. cit.

[22] Windisch, S., Simi, P., Blee, K., & DeMichele, M. (2018). "Understanding the micro-situational dynamics of white supremacist violence in the United States." *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(6), pp. 23–37. URL: <u>https://www.jstor.org/sta-ble/26544641#metadata_info_tab_contents</u>

[23] Brouillette-Alarie, S., Hassan, G., Varela, W., Ousman, S., Kilinc, D., Savard, É. L., Madriaza, P., Harris-Hogan, S., McCoy, J., Rousseau, C., King, M., Venkatesh, V., Borokhovski, E., & Pickup, D. (2022). "Systematic review on the outcomes of primary and secondary prevention programs in the field of violent radicalization." *Journal for Deradicalization*, *30*, pp. 117–168. URL: https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/577/337; Gielen, A.J. (2017). "Countering violent extremism: A realist review for assessing what works, for whom, in what circumstances, and how?" *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(6), 1 pp. –19. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1313736; Jugl, I., Lösel, F., Bender, D., & King, S. (2020). "Psychosocial prevention programs against radicalization and extremism: A meta-analysis of outcome evaluations." *The European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context*, *13*(1), pp. 37–46. URL: https://doi.org/10.5093/ejpalc2021a6.

[24] Horgan, J. (2008). *Walking Away from Terrorism*. London: Routledge; Horgan, J. (2009). "Deradicalization or disengagement? A process in need of clarity and a counterterrorism initiative in need of evaluation." *Revista de Psicología Social*, 24(2), pp. 291–298. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1174/021347409788041408</u>; Horgan, J., Altier, M. B., Shortland, N., & Taylor, M. (2016). "Walking away: the disengagement and de-radicalization of a violent right-wing extremist." *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, 9(2), pp. 63–77. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2016.1156722</u>; Horgan, J., & Braddock, K. (2010). "Rehabilitating the terrorists?: Challenges in assessing the effectiveness of de-radicalization programs." *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 22(2), p. 267–291. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546551003594748</u>; Simi et al. (2017). "Addicted to Hate: Identity Residual among Former White Supremacists," op. cit.

[25] Cherney, A. (2021). "The Release and community supervision of radicalised offenders: Issues and challenges that can influence reintegration." *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*, pp. 119–137. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1530661</u>

[26] Cherney, A. (2018). "Evaluating interventions to disengage extremist offenders: a study of the proactive integrated support model (PRISM)." *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, (1), pp. 1–20. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472</u>.2018.1495661.

[27] Cherney, A. (2018). "The Release and community supervision of radicalised offenders: Issues and challenges that can influence reintegration," op. cit.

[28] Cherney, A. (2018). "Evaluating interventions to disengage extremist offenders: a study of the proactive integrated support model (PRISM)"; Cherney, A. (2018). "Supporting disengagement and reintegration: qualitative outcomes from a custody-based counter radicalisation intervention." *Journal for Deradicalization*, (17), pp. 1–27. Retrieved from URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/</u>

index.php/jd/article/view/174/129; Cherney, A., & Belton, E. (2019). "Evaluating case-managed approaches to counter radicalization and violent extremism: An example of the proactive integrated support model (PRISM) Intervention." *Studies in Conflict* & *Terrorism*, 44(8), pp. 1–21. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610x.2019.1577016</u>.

[29] Marsden, S. V. (2015). "Conceptualising "success" with those convicted of terrorism offences: Aims, methods, and barriers to reintegration." *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, 7, pp. 143–165. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1943447</u> 2.2014.1001421.

[30] RTI International. (2018). *Countering violent extremism: The application of risk assessment tools in the criminal justice and rehabilitation process*. Washington, D.C.: Department of Homeland Security. Retrieved from Department of Homeland Security website: URL: <u>https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/OPSR_TP_CVE-Application-Risk-Assessment-Tools-Criminal-Rehab-Process_2018Feb-508.pdf</u>.

[31] Harris-Hogan, S. (2020). "How to evaluate a program working with terrorists? Understanding Australia's countering violent extremism early intervention program." *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *15*, pp. 97–116. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2020.1769852</u>.

[32] Weine, S., Smith, C., Braniff, W., Erdemandi, M., & Day, L. (2021). *Evaluating The Safe Spaces program: Using a community-based public health approach to prevent violent extremism*. Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice. URL: <u>https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/256025.pdf</u>

[33] Spalek, B., & Davies, L. (2010). *Key evaluations findings of the West Midlands (WM) 1-2-1 Mentoring Scheme*. University of Birmingham.

[34] Daugherty, C. E. (2019). "Deradicalization and disengagement: Exit programs in Norway and Sweden and addressing neo-Nazi extremism." *Journal for Deradicalization*, *21*: pp. 219–260).

[35] Weine, Stevan M, Stone, A., Saeed, A., Shanfield, S., Beahrs, J., Gutman, A., & Mihajlovic, A. (2017). "Violent extremism, community-based violence prevention, and mental health professionals." *Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease*, 205, pp. 54–57. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0000000000634</u>.

[36] Christensen, T.W. (2020). "Civil actor's role in deradicalization and disengagement initiatives." In Hansen, Stig Jarle & Stian Lid. (Eds.), *Routledge Handbook of Deradicalisation and Disengagement* (pp. 143-155). Abingdon, Oxon; New York, N.Y: Routledge.

[37] Bérubé, M., Scrivens, R., Venkatesh, V., & Gaudette, T. (2019). "Converging patterns in pathways in and out of violent extremism: insights from former Canadian right-wing extremist." *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(6), pp. 73–89.

[38] Kruglanski, A. W., Gelfand, M. J., Bélanger, J. J., Sheveland, A., Hetiarachchi, M., & Gunaratna, R. (2014). "The psychology of radicalization and deradicalization: How significance quest impacts violent extremism." *Political Psychology*, *35*, pp. 69–93. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12163</u>.

[39] Hogg, M. A. (2014). "From uncertainty to extremism: Social categorization and identity processes." *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *23*(5), pp. 338–342. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721414540168</u>; Hogg, M. A., & Adelman, J. (2013). "Uncertainty-Identity Theory: Extreme Groups, Radical Behavior, and Authoritarian Leadership." *Journal of Social Issues*, *69*(3), pp. 436–454. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12023</u>.

[40] Bérubé et al. (2019). "Converging patterns in pathways in and out of violent extremism: insights from former Canadian rightwing extremist," op. cit.

[41] Dean, C., Lloyd, M., Keane, C., Powis, B., & Randhawa, K. (2018). *Intervening with extremist offenders – A pilot study*. (p. 5). London: HM Prison & Probation Service.

[42] Hansen, Stig Jarle (2020). "Concepts and practices: A brief history of disengagement and deradicalization." In: Hansen, Stig Jarle & Stian Lid. (Eds.), *Routledge Handbook of Deradicalisation and Disengagement* (pp. 26-40). Abingdon, Oxon; New York, N.Y: Routledge.

[43] Gaudette et al. (2022). "Disengaged but still radical? Pathways out of violent right-wing Extremism," op. cit.

[44] Horgan et al. (2016). "Walking away: The disengagement and de-radicalization of a violent right-wing extremist," op. cit.

Understanding Drivers behind Offenders Attacking European Religious Sites – Five Cases

by Katalin Pethő-Kiss

Abstract

This Research Note presents an empirical examination of five violent extremist offenders who attacked European places of worship between 2010 and 2020. This focuses on both personal and socio-economic circumstances that may have been influencing these lone actors. First, the drivers and factors are organized in a matrix. Then the attackers are examined in the light of these matrix elements. Finally, based upon the findings, a number of recommendations are made.

Keywords: religious terrorism, lone actors, root causes

Introduction

A clear surge in violence against religious places in Europe can be witnessed in recent years. Compared to the first decade of the 2000s, since 2011 there has been a 340% increase in the number of violent acts targeting religious communities.[1] In Europe, places of worship were attacked in 117 instances between 2000 and 2020. On the European continent, violent acts targeted 49 Catholic churches and chapels, 52 Muslim mosques, twelve synagogues, two Evangelical, one Presbyterian and one Methodist church. This Research Note seeks to explore the reasons behind some of these attacks, asking questions like: who are the offenders and what were the factors that drove them to commit such acts of violent extremism? Can we identify indicators that signal their radicalization and if so, how could we recognize, prevent or counter these warning signs?

Existing studies indicate that involvement in terrorism is best approached in a multidisciplinary way.[2] The process of radicalization can be better understood by looking at the complexity of relevant factors.[3] It has been argued that open-source information can provide useful insights allowing a better understanding of the pathways to radicalization.[4] With this in mind, this Research Note attempts to focus on five offenders who plotted to attack European religious sites. While previous studies have organized underlying factors into structural [5] and individual-level explanations,[6] this Research Note attempts to assess their relevance in a matrix diagram. At the same time, this Research Note aims to contribute to existing knowledge by focusing specifically on five individuals behind attacks on European religious places.

A database containing the profiles of offenders attacking religious sites within the European Union for the years between 2010 and 2020 was compiled. Offenders were selected from across the ideological spectrum. This wide heterogeneity within the sample allows for comparisons across different attacks. The cases were derived from the Global Terrorism Database (University of Maryland). A set of incidents was examined where there was detailed enough information available to ascertain the correlates of key determinants. All data were gathered from open sources such as newspaper articles and government reports. It is acknowledged that the sample size of the analyzed case studies is small, and that there are also limitations in relying on open-source material alone.

To analyze the five selected offenders' pathways, motivations and actions, twelve potential key influencing factors were identified. Information was collected across their class origins, parental and family factors (married/ children), age, gender, temperament/personality, criminal record, education, vocational achievement, living area, associates and substance abuse. These underlying elements were organized in a matrix. The matrix diagram can visualize the complex risk factors.[7] The impact of each element in the matrix was evaluated on a 5-grade scale, ranging from *no information available* (white color), *no impact* (green color), *low impact* (yellow color), *medium impact* (orange color) and *high impact* (red color). The purpose of this categorization is not to quantify the nexus between determinants and perpetration, but to depict its dynamics. The outline of this Research Note is as follows. First, the selected cases and the matrix evaluation of key influencing factors are presented. In the discussion section, the twelve key variables across the five attackers are examined. Based on these, the Research Note offers some policy recommendations.

Selected Incidents and Offenders

1. Omar el-Hussein

22-year-old Danish Omar el-Hussein killed a civilian at a public cultural event on the evening of February 14, 2015. The Swedish artist, Larks Vilks—previously threatened because of his drawings of Muhammad—also attended the gathering. Later that night the armed el-Hussein killed a young Jewish man on security duty outside Copenhagen's Great Synagogue in Krystalgade. A bat mitzvah ceremony with 80 people was taking place there. El-Hussein pretended to be drunk to get closer to the 37-year-old security guard without suspicion, then upon approaching him, he fired his gun. Later that night the assailant was shot dead by police. El-Hussein's motive for the act remained unknown.[8] The following matrix shows underlying factors deemed relevant in his radicalization:

| Lower class origins | Parental factors | Family factors (married/ kids) |
|---------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Age | Gender | Temperament/Personality |
| Criminal record | Education | Vocational achievement |
| Living area | Associates | Substance abuse |

2. Adel Kermiche

Adel Kermiche and Abdel Malik Petitjean were the two assailants who stormed a church in the French town, Saint-Étienne-du-Rouvray on July 26, 2016. The 19-year-old attackers entered the church while morning mass was taking place. They took two parishioners and two nuns as hostages, then slit the throat of the 86-year-old priest. Both assailants were shot dead by French police as they were leaving the church. They had pledged allegiance to Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant, which claimed responsibility for the attack.[9] The underlying factors in Kermiche's case are deemed to be these:

| Lower class origins | Parental factors | Family factors (married/ kids) |
|---------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Age | Gender | Temperament/Personality |
| Criminal record | Education | Vocational achievement |
| Living area | Associates | Substance abuse |

3. Abdel Malik Petitjean

The following table represents the influencing factors in Petitjean's criminal behavior:

| Lower class origins | Parental factors | Family factors (married/ kids) |
|---------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Age | Gender | Temperament/Personality |
| Criminal record | Education | Vocational achievement |
| Living area | Associates | Substance abuse |

4. Ibrahim Issaoui

21-year-old Ibrahim Issaoui was suspected of stabbing two people to death and beheading a woman at Notre-Dame de Nice in Nice, France on October 29, 2020. His motive for the act has not been clarified.[10] The underlying factors are depicted here:

| Lower class origins | Parental factors | Family factors (married/ kids) |
|---------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Age | Gender | Temperament/Personality |
| Criminal record | Education | Vocational achievement |
| Living area | Associates | Substance abuse |

5. Pavlo Lapshyn

Five days after arriving in the United Kingdom, 25-year-old Pavlo Lapshyn stabbed to death an 82-year-old man on April 29, 2013. Lapshyn had placed an explosive device at a mosque in Walsall, England in June 2013. No injuries were reported, and the explosion caused little damage to the building. Another device targeted Wolverhampton Central Mosque seven days later. The explosion was heard by witnesses, but the device was found only three weeks later. The third device was the most powerful, packed with 600 grams of nails. It went off outside the Kanzul Imam Masjid Mosque in Tipton on 12 July. Pavlo Lapshyn claimed that his motivation was to kill and harm non-whites.[11] The matrix on assessing the main factors in his radicalization is presented below.

| Lower class origins | Parental factors | Family factors (married/ kids) |
|---------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Age | Gender | Temperament/Personality |
| Criminal record | Education | Vocational achievement |
| Living area | Associates | Substance abuse |

Discussion

Low Class Origins

There is limited research on how individual-level socio-economic grievances influence a person's willingness to perpetrate terrorist attacks.[12] Research findings suggest a consensus that there is only a weak link between political violence and the offender's socio-economic circumstances.[13] However, it is important to highlight that social conditions should be understood in relative terms.[14] Accordingly, not absolute poverty, but individual and social factors of its perception may be a cause of radicalization.[15]

Arguably, relative deprivation as a discrepancy between expectations and reality can be a precursor to radicalization.[16] This was the case in el-Hussein's instance, who had high aspirations regarding his future. His former headteacher noted that he was "a talented and smart student."[17] He was eager to graduate from high school in order to proceed to university studies. He was in prison when the school-leaving exams were due. Nevertheless, with an extension, he managed to finish school with good marks. However, he was unable to get into university, as in the meantime he had been charged with stabbing a man on a Copenhagen train.[18] Outside school he was a talented kick-boxer with a "Terminatorish-physiqhe".[19] Prior to serving a two-year prison sentence for stabbing, he had been a rising star at Copenhagen's Muay Thai kickboxing club.[20] Migrating to Europe was Issaoui's opportunity for a better life.[21] He had arrived on September 20, 2020 at Lampedusa, Italy—one of the main landing ports for illegal migration from Africa.[22] His brother later told media that since Ibrahim did not have enough money to pay the smugglers, he received a place on the boat after having clandestinely procured the fuel for the trip.[23] For some weeks he was working illegally in an olive grove in Italy to get by, then he was told he would have better chances to get a permanent job in France and thus decided to travel there.[24]

El-Hussein, Kermiche, Petitjean and Issaoui all had immigrant roots. Although their parents were reported to be well educated, they resided in urban problem areas.[25] El-Hussein lived in the low-rise Mjølnerparken estate in north-west Copenhagen, where most families had immigrant roots.[26] Petitjean's mother settled down in a social housing development in Aix-les-Bains.[27] Issaoui had arrived in Nice only one day prior to his attack. In his home country, Tunisia, his family of seven girls and three boys led a modest life in a working-class neighborhood on the outskirts of Sfax city.[28] These examples point to social marginalization associated with living in peripheral urban districts. Alienation in society tends to lead to a search for identity, often resulting in an increased religiosity.[29] Positive social interactions may effectively mitigate the influence of this factor. By constructive youth-oriented practical activities and gatherings, young people could be exposed to positive role models.[30] Establishing local organizations would create a more concerted focus on district-specific features and also help vulnerable individuals.[31]

These findings seem to contradict the thesis of a weak link between radicalization and the offender's socio-economic circumstances. In light of this, lacking actual opportunities to achieve personal aspirations can beget aggression.[32] Programs for facilitating transition from school to work by providing access to information about careers [33] could diminish this frustration. Offering funding to business firms willing to employ disadvantaged young people may help expand their job opportunities.[34] El-Hussein's story confirms that there was in his case a willingness to ask for help. He was released from jail two weeks prior to the shooting. Within these 14 days, he was unemployed and homeless, and had asked municipal authorities for assistance in finding permanent housing and a job.[35]

Parental Factors

At the time of their offending, two of the five examined attackers lived with their parents. Both Adel Kermiche and Abdel Malik Petitjean were born in France to a family of Algerian origin.[36] Kermiche's mother worked as a teacher and his elder sister was reported to have been studying to become a doctor.[37] His mother told authorities that Petitjean had never talked about the Islamic State.[38] The day after Petitjean got in contact with Kermiche on Telegram, he traveled 700 kilometers to Saint-Étienne-du-Rouvray, where Kermiche was spending his house arrest with his parents. Petitjean sent a message to his mother upon arrival to inform her, he had left to visit a cousin in northeastern France.[39] Petitjean spent the first night at Kermiche's home and then slept in a tent in the garden.[40]

In another three instances, assailants had separated from their parents' home prior to the attack. Copenhagen shooter el-Hussien reportedly had "a happy childhood and good relations with his parents and a younger brother." [41] His parents got divorced [42] and his teachers remembered his mother—who was a biochem-ist[43]—being frustrated over el-Hussein's behavior. He could not get along with his classmates in primary school. [44] Nice attacker Issaoui lived with his seven female and two male siblings in Tunisia prior to setting off in a boat toward Europe. [45] Pavlo Lapshyn coming from Ukraine [46] was a PhD student in the United Kingdom. His grandmother on his father's side had Muslim (Tatar) origins. [47] It was his father with whom he was regularly speaking. [48] His mother was in a serious car crash some days prior to Lapshyn's arrival in Birmingham. [49]

Mothers and fathers have a strong influence in shaping their children's attitudes [50] and this can have a profound impact on the children's decision-making.[51] All attackers went through a process of searching for their identities and their place in society.[52] Belonging to a radical group and sharing its ideology can provide vulnerable young people that sense of belonging and identity that family might have failed to provide.[53] Education programs could successfully fill in this void.[54] First, youngsters should be taught how to strive for their ideals in nonviolent ways.[55] Second, constructive criticism on radical ideologies can help to foster independent critical thinking.[56]

In each case discussed here, there is a reason to assume that parents might have recognized their children's suspicious behavior or interactions. Therefore, efforts should be made to teach family members how to identify signs of radicalization [57] and inform them what to do if they have noticed such signs. It would be beneficial for authorities to establish communication channels [58] with the direct environment of vulnerable individ-uals.[59] Such safe channels could operate as a means for parents to report worrisome activities.[60] Family members' reporting about concerning circumstances should be considered a process and not as a single event. Accordingly, constant efforts are necessary to provide information and support channels of communication. [61] Additionally, family support should also be viewed as a key influencing factor in the process of de-radicalization.[62] However, it is important that family members should be able to report troubling signs "without the fear of prosecution or stigmatization."[63] At the same time, it is of great importance to make sure frontline officers are well trained and well equipped to respond properly to radicalization.[64]

Nuclear Family (Spouse and Children)

Having a spouse and young children[65] may seem to be incompatible with a violent extremist lifestyle. LaFree et al.[66] argued that "individuals who are unmarried, separated or widowed will be more likely turn to violent extremism."[67] All examined male perpetrators were younger than 30 at the time of engaging in an act of terrorism. In their cases, a stable family life with a wife and children was absent.

Age

Criminological research findings show that acts of political violence are undertaken "disproportionately"[68] by young people. As these studies conclude, the chance of engaging in violent extremist activities decline as an individual gets older.[69] All the assailants in our small sample were younger than 35. But what do we mean by young? The definition of youth varies per national legislative context. For the purpose of this analysis, Sommers' concept will be applied. In accordance with this, youth are in a "period of transition from childhood to the cusp of adulthood."[70] Generally speaking, finding a meaning for one's life and taking responsibilities upon one's shoulders is considered to be an expression of an adult-like mindset. The challenges associated with this process are of relevance when investigating the root causes of radicalization.[71]

The energy and creativity of the youth should be a primary source for building resilience against violent extremism.[72] Their familiarity with novel technological solutions and social media can offer innovative ways in countering violent extremism.[73] Young people should be empowered with appropriate instruments to facilitate dialogue with vulnerable members in their community.[74] With this in mind, existing local youth-led organizations should be mapped and their working methodology should be taken into account.[75]

Gender

Gender is a crucial element of identity. Hegemonic masculinity pervades Western and non-Western societies and is perceived as an essential pillar of "adult manhood".[76] It manifests itself as "economic success, dominance, achievement, power, independence".[77] The examined young perpetrators in our case were "unemployed, single with prior criminal record,"[78] not having a dominant position. Extremists strive to prove their maleness by committing violent acts. Failing to reach 'real man' standards inherently triggers personal grievances. These frustrations can be combined by extremist ideologies that enable them to shift responsibility for failure to others.[79] In this sense, the cult of masculinity can be viewed as a driver for radicalization.

Temperament/Personality

Symptoms of frustration and anxiety have been recognized in relation to two of the five offenders. While serving his ten-month sentence in prison, Kermiche's mother told authorities that "He said it wasn't possible to live peacefully in France. He spoke with words that did not belong to him. He was mesmerized, like in a sect."[80] Aggressive behavior characterized one attacker. El-Hussein's teachers from school described him as "a smart student with a short fuse and prone to violence."[81] He was very passionate about political discussions on the Israeli-Palestinian conflict; he was a rebel without any clear cause.[82]

In one case there was an indication of a mental health disorder. Kermiche was regularly hospitalized since the age of six with "psychological troubles"[83] and was sent to a special school for children with behavioral problems when he was 13.[84] Families are often ill-informed about mental health services and what they can do for their children with behavioral problems.[85]

It is also noteworthy that the direct environment of three of the examined attackers did not notice any indications of a radical mindset. Those who knew el-Hussein considered him "a smart and nice guy,"[86] and were shocked when they learned about the shootings. Petitjean's acquaintances knew him as a "polite",[87] "kind",[88] "calm"[89] and "serious"[90] young man.[91] Lapshyn was known to be a "shy and polite student."[92] As his tutor said, "he was not very social."[93] This should remind us that individual socio-psychological factors should be analyzed together with other influencing drivers and personal vulnerabilities.

Grievances, anger, anxiety/frustration, personal vulnerabilities as well as psychological disorders or mental health issues may be driving factors in engaging in acts of political violence.[94] It is important to stress that the link between terrorism and personality traits has not been extensively researched.[95] It may be accepted though, that personal characteristics influence an individual's actions.[96]

Criminal Record

It has been argued that pre-radicalization criminal behavior of offenders is a strong indicator of future political violence.[97] In our case, all perpetrators had a criminal record. Their criminal background varied, however. [98] Omar El-Hussein had several contacts with law enforcement. First, he was arrested in a Copenhagen nightclub for possessing a long knife and a knuckleduster with a metal spike.[99] In two other instances, he was caught in possession of cannabis but was sent home with only a warning.[100] Later, in November 2013 he stabbed a 19-year-old man on a subway train. At that time, he managed to evade police, but two months later he was arrested in connection with a burglary. He was convicted of grievous bodily harm and was sentenced to two years. In court he explained that he stabbed the man because he {wrongly} thought the victim had previously attacked him. He explained he was high and felt angst and paranoia at the time of the stabbing.[101]

According to Ibrahim Issaoui's criminal file, he was arrested for a knife crime in 2016.[102] Pavlo Lapshyn was charged and fined three years prior to his attacks. He had caused serious damage in his home when chemicals exploded during his attempt to manufacture an explosive device.[103] While waiting for trial in the United

Kingdom, prison authorities noticed that Lapshyn was making an explosive substance in the cell of a maximum-security jail. It was the smell of bleach that warned guards of his activity. He had hidden substances such as vinegar, artificial sweetener and salt in the bed of his cell.[104]

Adel Kermiche had attempted to travel to Syria twice in 2015. During his first attempt in March 2015, German police stopped him in Munich and accused him of trying to get to Syria to join the Islamic State.[105] Back in France he was placed on parole while awaiting trial.[106] On his second attempt to go to Syria he was stopped in Turkey. In France he was jailed for ten months until mid-March 2016. Over a prosecutor's objections, the judge placed him under limited house arrest with an electronic surveillance bracelet and with the obligation to report to a probation officer once a week.[107] Although he regularly checked in, acquaintances said that two months before striking the church, he had revealed his attack plans.[108] Abdel Malik Petitjean attempted to travel to Syria via Turkey in June 2016, but—for unknown reasons—he stopped in Turkey and went back to France. Upon arriving, French authorities added him to the so-called "S watch list" which contains persons potentially involved in jihadi activities.[109] Petitjean had posted his allegiance to the Islamic State and called on Muslims to strike France on the Telegram website four days prior to the attack. Police noticed this information but could not identify the author of the post.[110]

Any time spent in detention is a significant predictor of engaging in violent extremism.[111] Imprisonment itself tends to increase efforts at searching for meaning in life.[112] It is still not certain whether el-Hussein was radicalized in prison like the perpetrator of the Paris attack. The head of the Danish prison and probation service noted that authorities had noticed changes in el-Hussein's behavior while he was serving his sentence and alerted intelligence services in a timely manner. While in jail, he was flagged multiple times by prison authorities for expressing extreme views on Islam. In one case, he was reported to share a cell with a prisoner who openly supported the Islamic State.[113]

However, prisons may also provide an opportunity for prisoners to disengage from criminal behavior.[114] Well-trained prison staff can involve inmates in a constructive manner [115] which can also facilitate a more accurate assessment of their risk status.[116] Sentence plans should be designed in line with the situation of individual prisoners.[117] It is also essential to incorporate periodic reviews of the intervention and thereby assess implementation and effectiveness.[118] When tailoring the route to disengagement, the complexity of individual accounts needs to be taken into consideration.[119] The criminal justice system should aim for rehabilitation and for the reintegration of prisoners into the community—something that requires concerted preparations.[120] Support to obtain employment, suitable housing and financial security should be provided in prerelease programs.[121] A multiagency approach,[122] with a systematic exchange of information,[123] close consultations with family and community-based service providers can ensure the continuity of this care. [124] Moreover, post-release supervision can help to reduce the risk that the individual reoffends.[125]

Education

Research findings tend to show that many terrorists are well educated; in several instances they have education even beyond high school.[126] No information was available about Adel Kermiche's schools. In all the remaining four cases, offenders had graduated from a secondary educational institution, and one of them attended a university program. Omar el-Hussein's head teacher remembered him as "a talented and smart student,"[127] saying he was eager to graduate from high school with prospects for entering university studies. It was his prison sentence that stopped these endeavors. Pavlo Lapshyn was a PhD student at the National Metallurgical Academy of Ukraine. He won a prestigious competition and as a result was given the opportunity to visit Coventry University and get work experience at a UK company called Delcam.[128] Petitjean graduated from a vocational school in 2015 and worked part-time in a sales job.[129] In his free time, he would watch sci-fi movies and play video games.[130] Issaoui dropped out of high school and worked as a motorcycle mechanic.[131]

Education, by offering skills to enhance economic opportunities, also contributes to the adoption of an identity and lifestyle that does not favor a career characterized by crime and violence.[132] Schools should foster pro-social behaviors and provide students with a sense of belonging.[133] Reinforced by advice and support from local partners, this can result in real lifestyle changes.[134] A multiagency approach, combined with close interaction between police and educators, is recommended to bring about good results.[135] Such collaboration between stakeholders is also helpful when it comes to bringing about reintegration into society for those who have served a prison sentence.[136]

Vocational Achievement

Stable employment can divert an individual from deviant behavior and crime.[137] Unemployment can exacerbate grievances and thus become an influencing factor when it comes to turning to terrorism.[138] Individuals without permanent employment are more likely to be attracted by violent extremism.[139] Research findings underpin a positive relationship between unemployment and domestic terrorism.[140] It is, however, considered to be only one of many factors that can lead to extremism.[141]

High rates of unemployment have been observed among lone actors. More specifically, compared to single-issue and Islamist terrorists, there are more right-wing attackers without a paid job.[142] In the case of the five terrorists, however, only one was without employment, while three had some form of employment (no information was available on the fifth perpetrator).

Omar el-Hussein was released from jail two weeks prior to his shooting attack. In those 14 days, he was unemployed and homeless.[143] After leaving school, Abdel Malik Petitjean worked, until April 2016, as a baggage handler at Chambéry Airport.[144] Ibrahim Issaoui worked as a motorcycle mechanic in Tunisia prior to migrating to Europe.[145] Upon arriving in Lampedusa, Italy, he worked for six weeks in an olive grove in Italy. Then he was told he would have better chances of getting a permanent job in France and decided to travel there.[146] Pavlo Lapshyn was a PhD student,[147] and, as a chemical engineer, had "a longstanding interest in pyrotechnics."[148] While residing temporarily—for a year—in the United Kingdom on a visa, he was employed by the Delcan software company.[149] No information was available about the employment status of Adel Kermiche.

Having a permanent job tends to create a sense of belonging and lead to greater social cohesion. Where such connectedness is missing, outdoor, extracurricular activities might fill this void.[150] Young people can develop important social and interpersonal competencies through interactions with others. Sport as a remedial can compensate for deficit in socio-economic circumstances and provide new opportunities.[151]

Living Area

Individuals residing in vulnerable residential areas are more exposed to negative social influences. Weak social networks in poor communities make them less able to solve problems. When there is a high level of crime, youth violence is not far away.[152]

Three out of the five offenders examined here were living in disadvantaged suburbs. Already before Omar el-Hussein's conviction, he was well known in the low-rise Mjølnerparken estate in north-west Copenhagen. Most families living on this estate have immigrant roots.[153] The area has been notorious for gang activities. When el-Hussein was around 15 years old, there were turf wars between various immigrant groups and motorcycle gangs about control over local cannabis markets. The availability of weapons and the presence of gang violence may have provided el-Hussein with fighting experience.[154] It is, however, not documented whether or not el-Hussein was himself involved in gang fights. Local sources told media that he was rejected by gangs as being one of those whom gang leaders could not control.[155] Abdel Malik Petitjean lived in Aix-les-Bains with his mother in a social housing complex.[156] In Tunisia, Ibrahim Issaoui lived with modest means in a working-class neighborhood on the outskirts of Sfax city.[157] He had no permanent residence after his migration to Europe.[158]

Social housing projects may keep newly arrived migrants off the streets. Threat assessments ought to be made to localize the residential areas that are most affected by crime and unrest.[159] The objective should be to promote social cohesion and reach out to marginalized youth. Frontline practitioners should be given guidance on

how to detect and report worrisome indicators as well as on options on how to exit from radicalization.[160]

Associates

There is much evidence to suggest that both online and offline associates can play a crucial role in engaging in extremism.[161] Via these interactions individuals can be more easily convinced about the righteous nature of their activities.[162] There are also numerous instances where individuals had no physical interventions, but affiliated themselves with like-minded peers and started to feel related to an online community.[163] Radical online content played a crucial role in three out of the five cases examined here.

Kinship or friendship ties played a role in Ibrahim Issaoui's case. His family told authorities that he turned to religion after being arrested for violence with a knife, taking drugs and drinking alcohol in his teenage years. [164] He was released from prison because, at 17, he was still a minor.[165]

Omar el-Hussein's conduct on February 15, 2015 shows several similarities with the Charlie Hebdo shooting in Paris a month earlier.[166] First, the Paris assailants also had parental immigrant roots but were born in Europe. Second, El-Hussein also targeted a cartoonist who had depicted Mohammed as well as members of the Jewish community. The Charlie Hebdo attackers were linked to Yemen's al Qaeda affiliate.[167] If the Copenhagen shooting was indeed a copycat crime, el-Hussein would have followed the Paris attacks while in a Danish prison, as he was serving a two-year sentence for stabbing a 19-year-old man on Copenhagen's inner-city railway. El-Hussein was released from prison only two weeks prior to the Copenhagen attack.[168] The April edition of Islamic State's Dabiq covered el-Hussein's attack in its pages, but did not take direct responsibility for his actions. "The magazine called him Abu Ramadan Al-Muhajir, and linked him to a Facebook page with that name and a picture of a bare-fanged white wolf as its profile photo."[169] It is still not clear whether el-Hussein acted alone or was a part of a wider group.[170] Two other men were also arrested on February 15, 2015. They were charged with helping el-Hussein to evade police and get rid of his weapon.[171]

The two 19-year-old attackers Adel Kermiche and Abdel Malik Petitjean got to know each other only four days prior to their attack; they were communicating via the encrypted application Telegram. Investigators suggested that an Islamic State affiliate may have introduced them to each other.[172] Petitjean's cousin, 30-year-old Farid K. was also arrested on the night of the attack. Police charged him with being a member of a terrorist association and claimed that Farid had been familiar with Petitjean's plans, except for the exact date and time of the church attack.[173] One of Kermiche's schoolmates told authorities that he started to embrace radical ideologies after al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula claimed the Charlie Hebdo attacks in Paris in January 2015. [174] This was a turning point in his relationships; he broke away from friends and started to reach out to extremists on the Internet.[175]

It has not yet been revealed how Pavlo Lapshyn became radicalized. Investigators could not identify any group affiliations. Lapshyn was reportedly not a member of any wider group; he acted as a "loner".[176] He grew up in Dnipropetrovsk in Ukraine, while in the United Kingdom he lived in an apartment above his place of work in Birmingham.[177] When searching his apartment, police found chemicals and other bomb-making equipment.[178] No fewer than 98 videos with bomb-making tutorials were discovered at his place. His camera also included shots documenting his attempts to make a bomb.[179] Lapshyn had a video game called "Ethnic Cleansing" on his computer.[180] It is known that he prepared the explosions, repeatedly visiting the surroundings of several mosques and also studied their web pages.[181] In court he admitted that he wanted "to increase racial conflict."[182] When he was asked why he targeted mosques, he replied "because they are not white—and I am white."[183] He did not show any remorse or regret for what he had done.[184]

Substance Abuse

Alcohol or substance abuse can also play a role as a driver for both criminal and ideologically motivated violence.[185] Individuals prone to use drugs are arguably more vulnerable to radical influences.[186] Alcohol and drugs can serve as coping mechanisms when engaging in extremist activities.[187] Substance abuse and alcohol were present in three of the five examined cases. Omar el-Hussein admitted that he had been suffering from anxiety and had used cannabis.[188] Ibrahim Issaoui had been arrested for taking drugs and drinking alcohol in his teenage years.[189] CCTV cameras recorded Pavlo Lapshyn buying a bottle of wine after planting the explosive device at Walsall Mosque.[190]

Similar factors may play a role in a person's decision to turn to harmful substances and extremist ideologies. [191] Generally speaking, both may be a way to seek to cope with difficult life circumstances.[192] Drug abuse prevention and extremism prevention might find some common ground.[193] Local communities in their efforts to increase social resilience might wish to focus their efforts on both in new ways.[194]

Conclusion

The present Research Note, although based on a very small sample of cases, reaffirms the viewpoint that there is no such thing as a 'typical extremist'. Those involved in violent extremism come from a range of backgrounds and have had nonuniform experiences. Radicalization has multiple drivers. It is the complexity and diversity [195] of these driving forces that need to be better understood. The root causes of violent extremism are multifaceted but intertwined. Hence, countermeasures need to be taken and combined across various domains.[196] As there is no single pathway into or away from radicalization, responses need to be tailored on a case-by-case basis.

Radicalization is a multidimensional phenomenon. We should remember Weine et al.'s words "If we really want to identify and support resilience in communities under threat, we cannot do so from a distance. We need to listen and observe its residents and learn about its history, culture, social structure, values, needs, resources and daily experiences, in order to determine precisely what resilience means for them."[197] Bottom-up approaches address violent extremism at a local level. Good programs increase the engagement of stakeholders and raise awareness of community-specific risk factors of radicalization. Well-designed initiatives motivate local actors, strengthen community relations with local authorities and advance the involvement of youth and women in efforts of preventing violent extremism. Their ultimate goal should be to build resilient communities.[198]

Radicalization should be examined and countered not only at the "micro-level of vulnerable individuals" [199] but also in the context of the "meso-level radical milieu" [200] as well as the "macro-level of radicalizing public opinion and political parties." [201] We need to raise awareness in our communities about early warning signs of extreme behavior. [202] The first line of defense are families that may require support from outside when their children go astray. Maintaining a consistent relationship with vulnerable families can facilitate identifying their concerns early on and helping them. [203] Engaging with them in informal community meetings can help build trust while also avoiding possible stigmatization resulting from direct contact with authorities. [204] Specific risks should be assessed against the background of individual circumstances. [205] On the other end, social workers and others who have been tasked with monitoring vulnerable individuals should be given appropriate guidelines and be well trained. [206]

One finding that emerges from the five cases discussed here is that all offenders were searching for purposes and bonds in their lives. Seeking meaning, discovering one's identity [207] and striving for significance are human needs and if not guided into the right direction can become drivers of extremism.[208] Mental health care should therefore also include the development of skills for "meaning-making".[209] That can both be taught and learned.[210] People may also endorse extreme beliefs because of a need for belonging.[211] Prevention programs should build more strongly on strengthening social connections that can satisfy the human need for belonging.

Each criterion in the matrix used for this Research Note points to one way of detecting signs of extremism. [212] This also points to the need for comprehensive prevention strategies based on a multiagency approach that should include police, social and health care services, the education domain, youth work and relevant civil society stakeholders. Regular mechanisms and forums should facilitate the exchange of information between them.[213] It is important to stress that establishing working arrangements in a holistic network takes time.[214]

About the Author

Katalin Pethő-Kiss is a senior fellow at the Global Peace Institute and a senior analyst at the Counter Terrorism Information and Criminal Analysis Centre in Hungary. She is the former deputy head of the Central European CBRNE-Training Centre in Budapest. Responsible for counter-terrorism and violent extremism, she covered explosives and CBRN at the law desk of the Hungarian Europol National Unit. She completed her Master of Research Studies in Policing, Intelligence and Countering Terrorism at Macquarie University, in Sydney, as an Endeavour Scholarship recipient.

Notes

[1] On the European continent between 2000 and 2010, 27 terror attacks struck religious sites. This number has more than tripled between 2011 and 2020 when 92 incidents targeted religious communities and places of worship. Sources for this information: The Global Terrorism Database (START, University of Maryland), "Nice attack: Grief and anger in France after church stabbings" *BBC News*, 30 October 2020. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-54745251</u> and "Germany: Halle synagogue shooting suspect charged with double murder" *DW News*, 21 April 2020. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/germany-halle-synagogue-shoot-ing-suspect-charged-with-double-murder/a-53201696.</u>

[2] Bart Schuurman, *Becoming a European Homegrown Jihadist*. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press, 2018. <u>https://muse.jhu.edu/book/66586</u>.

[3] Tore Bjørgo, "Conclusions." In *Root Causes of Terrorism: Myths, Reality and Ways Forward*, edited by Tore Bjørgo. London/New York: Routledge, 2005; and Randy Borum, *Psychology of Terrorism.* Tampa: University of South Florida, 2004.

[4] Gary LaFree, Michael A. Jensen, Patrick A. James and Aaron Safer-Lichtenstein, "Correlates of Violent Political Extremism in the United States," *Criminology* 56, no. 2 (2018), pp. 233–268.

[5] Brynjar Lia and Katja H-W Skjølberg, "Causes of Terrorism: An Expanded and Updated Review of the Literature." Kjeller: Norwegian Defense Research Establishment, 2004.

[6] Donatella Della Porta and Gary LaFree, "Guest Editorial: Processes of Radicalization and De-Radicalization," *International Journal of Conflict and Violence* 6, no. 1 (2012), pp. 4–10.

[7] "What is a Decision Matrix?" URL: <u>https://asq.org/quality-resources/decision-matrix</u>.

[8] "Danish attack echo France," *Washington Post*, 8 May 2015. URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/danish-po-lice-kill-copenhagen-shooting-suspect/2015/02/15/8bed7a70-b50a-11e4-9423-f3d0a1ec335c_story.html.</u>

[9] "French church attack: What we know," BBC News, 28 July 2016. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-36900761.

[10] Tangi Salaün and Eric Gaillard, "Tunisian man beheads woman, kills two more people in Nice church," *Reuters*, 29 October 2020. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-france-security-nice/two-dead-in-knife-attack-in-french-church-official-say-ter-rorism-suspected-idUSKBN27E17D</u>.

[11] "Pavlo Lapshyn 'extremely dangerous individual' – Police," *BBC News*, 25 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/av/uk-24677035</u>.

[12] Simon Copeland and Sarah Marsden, "Economic Influence on Radicalisation," *Knowledge Management Across the Four Counter-Terrorism 'Ps*' November 2020. URL: <u>https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/economic-influences-on-radicalisation/.</u>

[13] Atle Mesøy, "Poverty and Radicalisation into Violent Extremism: A Causal Link?" *Norwegian Peacebuilding Resource Centre*, January 2013. URL: <u>https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/158431/e60a8a679f48427d592a1906daf569d4.pdf</u> and Andreas Freytag, Jens J. Krüger, Daniel Meierrieks, "The Origins of Terrorism: Cross Country Estimates on Socio-economic Determinants of Terrorism," *Economics of Security Working Paper No. 27.* 2010. URL: <u>https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/119352/1/diw_econsec0027.pdf</u>.

[14] Ramya M. Vijaya, Anthony Wilent, Jessica Cathcart and Ryan Fiorellini, "Economic Underpinnings of Violent Extremism: A Cross Country Exploration of Repeated Survey Data," *World Development* 109 (2018). URL: <u>https://stockton.edu/diplomacylab/documents/ve-worlddev.pdf</u>.

[15] European Commission, "Casual Factors of Radicalisation" *Transnational Terrorism*, Security and the Rule of Law series, 1 April 2013.

[16] US AID, "Development Assistance and Counter-Extremism: A Guide to Programming," 2009.

[17] Joel Gunter, "Omar El-Hussein: Copenhagen criminal to prison radical," *BBC News*, 16 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.</u> <u>com/news/world-europe-31489264</u>.

[18] Alexander Tange and Alister Doyle, "Special Report: How Denmark's unexpected killer slipped through the net," *Reuters*, 22 April 2015. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-denmark-attacks-hussein-special-repor-idUSKBN0ND0EJ20150422.</u>

[19] Laura Smith-Spark and Nic Robertson, "Who was Copenhagen gunman Omar Abdel Hamid El-Hussein?" CNN, 27 February

2015. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/2015/02/17/europe/denmark-copenhagen-gunman/index.html.

[20] Angelique Chrisafis, "Copenhagen shooting suspect Omar el-Hussein – a past full of contradictions," *The Guardian*, 16 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/feb/16/copenhagen-shooting-suspect-omar-el-hussein-a-past-full-of-contradictions</u>.

[21] "He showed no signs of being radicalised': Family of Nice terror suspect say he gave no clues about violent attack," *Independent*, 31 October 2020. URL: <u>https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/nice-terror-attack-tunisia-family-france-suspect-ibra-him-issaoui-b1455858.html</u>.

[22] Tangi Salaün and Eric Gaillard, "Tunisian man beheads woman, kills two more people in Nice church," op. cit.

[23] "He showed no signs of being radicalised," Independent, op. cit.

[24] Ibid.

[25] Research has shown that foreign fighters arriving from Europe in Syria and Iraq come from "economically deprived areas and often disadvantaged city neighborhoods." - Lorne L. Dawson and Amarnath Amarasingam, "Talking to Foreign Fighters: Insights into the Motivations for Hijrah to Syria and Iraq," *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism*, 40, no. 3 (2017), pp. 191–210.

[26] "Copenhagen shootings: Police kill 'gunman' after two attacks," *BBC News*, 15 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/</u><u>news/world-europe-31475803</u>.

[27] Alastair Jamieson and Nancy Ing, "France Church Attack: Abdel-Malik Petitjean Was Known Potential Radical," *NBC News*, 28 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/storyline/isis-terror/france-church-attack-abdel-malik-petitjean-was-known-poten-tial-radical-n618661</u>.

[28] "Tunisian in deadly Nice terror attack turned to religion after teen troubles," *The Times of Israel*, 30 October 2020. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/tunisian-suspect-in-nice-attack-turned-to-religion-after-teenage-troubles/</u>.

[29] US AID, "Development Assistance and Counter-Extremism: A Guide to Programming," 2009.

[30] For instance: UNESCO Youth4Peace Program. URL: https://en.unesco.org/preventing-violent-extremism/youth/project.

[31] "Practices and Reflections on Development, Security, and Peace in context of Violent Extremism and Terrorism," *ICCT*, 4 November 2014. URL: <u>https://icct.nl/publication/practices-and-reflections-on-development-security-and-peace-in-context-of-vio-lent-extremism-and-terrorism/</u>.

[32] US AID, "Development Assistance and Counter-Extremism: A Guide to Programming," 2009.

[33] For instance: Asia Development Bank, "Proposed Policy-Based Loan for Subprogram 2 Republic of the Philippines: Facilitating Youth School-to-Work Transition Program," November 2019. URL: <u>https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/project-docu-</u> <u>ments/49117/49117-003-rrp-en.pdf</u>; or: Katherine L. Hughes, Melinda Mechur Karp, "Strengthening Transitions by Encouraging Career Pathways: A look at state policies and practices," 2006. URL: <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/strength-</u> <u>ening-transitions-career-pathways.pdf</u>.

[34] For instance: The Fund for Youth Employment. URL: <u>https://eeagrants.org/topics-programmes/fund-youth-employment</u> or The Challenge Fund Youth Employment <u>https://fundforyouthemployment.nl/</u>.

[35] Daniel E. Agbiboa and Benjamin Maiangwa, "Nigeria United in Grief; Divided in Response: Religious Terrorism, Boko Haram, and the Dynamics of State Response," *African Journal on Conflict Resolution* 14, no. 1 (2014); pp. 63–97.

[36] Michael Rose, "French church attacker: from troubled childhood to altar killer," *Reuters*, 29 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.</u> <u>reuters.com/article/us-europe-attacks-france-killer-idUSKCN1091U5</u> and Alastair Jamieson, Nancy Ing, "France Church Attack: Abdel-Malik Petitjean Was Known Potential Radical," *NBC News*, 28 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/storyline/isis-ter-ror/france-church-attack-abdel-malik-petitjean-was-known-potential-radical-n618661</u>.

[37] "Normandy church attack: Who are the suspects, Adel Kermiche and Abdel Malik P?" *SIV Consultants*, 27 July 2016. URL: <u>https://sivconsultants.com/normandy-church-attack-who-are-the-suspects-adel-kermiche-and-abdel-malik-p/</u>.

[38] Ibid.

[39] Jamie Schram, Yaron Steinbuch, "France was warned about terrorist who killed priest in church attack," *New York Post*, 28 July 2016. URL: <u>https://nypost.com/2016/07/28/france-was-warned-about-terrorist-who-killed-priest-in-church-attack/</u>.

[40] "French church attack: What we know," BBC News, 28 July 2016. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-36900761.

[41] Angelique Chrisafis, "Copenhagen shooting suspect Omar el-Hussein – a past full of contradictions," *The Guardian*, 16 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/feb/16/copenhagen-shooting-suspect-omar-el-hussein-a-past-full-of-contradictions</u>.

[42] Alexander Tange and Alister Doyle, "Special Report," op. cit.

[43] Ibid.

[44] "Danish attacks echo France," *Washington Post*, 8 May 2015. URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/danish-po-lice-kill-copenhagen-shooting-suspect/2015/02/15/8bed7a70-b50a-11e4-9423-f3d0a1ec335c_story.html</u>.

[45] "Tunisian in deadly Nice terror attack turned to religion after teen troubles," *The Times of Israel*, op. cit.

[46] "Mosque bomber Pavlo Lapshyn given life for murder," *BBC News*, 25 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-en-gland-birmingham-24675040</u>.

[47] "British Court Sentences Ukrainian To 40 Years For Murder, Bombs," *Radio Free Europe Radio Liberty*, 25 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.rferl.org/a/ukraine-britiain-mosque-bombs/25148302.html</u>.

[48] "Pavlo Lapshyn's father: 'He was never calculating, no way," *BBC News*, 25 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/av/uk-24671092</u>.

[49] Rahila Bano, "Birmingham mosque murder victim's family 'racially abused," *BBC News*, 24 August 2016. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-england-birmingham-37167961</u>.

[50] Shandon Harris-Hogan, "The Importance of Family: The Key to Understanding the Evolution of Jihadism in Australia," *Security Challenges* 10, no. 1 (2014).

[51] The Commonwealth, "Countering Violent Extremism Toolkits", URL: <u>https://www.thecommonwealth.io/digital-common-wealth/countering-violent-extremism-toolkits/</u>

[52] Stijn Sieckelinck, Micha de Winter (Eds.) Formers and families, Transitional journeys in and out of extremisms in the United Kingdom, Denmark and The Netherlands. Ministry of Security and Justice, 2015.

[53] Ibid.

[54] Ibid.

[55] RAN Collection of Approaches and Practices, "Preventing Radicalisation of Terrorism and Violent Extremism Family Support," 2019. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_awareness_net-work/ran-best-practices/docs/family_support_en.pdf</u>.

[56] For instance: CoVER Program, Anne Aly, Kosta Lucas, "Countering Online Violent Extremism in Australia: Research and preliminary findings", in Sara Zeiger, Anne Aly (Eds.), *Countering Violent Extremism: Developing an Evidence-Base for Policy and Practice*. Hedayah and Curtin University, 2015.

[57] Anaïs F. El-Amraouia, Benjamin Ducol, "Family-Oriented P/CVE Programs: Overview, Challenges and Future Directions," *Journal for Deradicalization*, Fall 2019.

[58] For instance: Stop-Djihadisme. URL: <u>https://www.bas-rhin.gouv.fr/Actualites/Securite/Securite-publique/Stop-Djihad-isme-agir-contre-la-menace-terroriste</u>; or Radicalisation Helpline. URL: <u>http://www.hulplijnradicalisering.nl/nl/Home</u>.

[59] R. Briggs, T. Silverman, "Western Foreign Fighters: Innovations in Responding to the Threat." London: Institute for Strategic Dialogue 2014. pp. 42–43.

[60] Global Counterterrorism Forum, "Initiative to Address the Life Cycle of Radicalization to Violence - The Role of Families in Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism: Strategic Recommendations and Programming Options," 2016. URL: <u>https://www.thegctf.org/Portals/1/Documents/Lifecycle%20Toolkit-documents/English-The-Role-of-Familes-in-PCVE.pd-</u> <u>f?ver=2016-09-13-141058-860</u>.

[61] Michele Grossman, "The Role of Families and Civil Society in Detecting Radicalisation and Promoting Disengagement from Violent Extremism," in *Combatting Violent Extremism and Terrorism in Asia and Europe – From Cooperation to Collaboration*. Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung and S. Rajaratnam School of International Studies, 2018.

[62] Elga Sikkens, Marion van San, Stijn Sieckelinck, Micha de Winter, "Parental Influence on Radicalization and De-radicalization according to the Lived Experiences of Former Extremists and their Families," *Journal for Deradicalization* 12 (Fall 2017).

[63] Ibid.

[64] Freek de Meere, Lisa Lensink, Verwey Jonker Instituut, "Youth Counselling against Radicalization: Guidelines for Front-line Workers," 2015. URL: <u>https://www.ycare.eu/files/YCARE%20Project%20Guidelines.pdf</u>.

[65] Gary LaFree, et al., "Correlates of Violent Political Extremism in the United States," op. cit.

[66] Ibid.

[67] Ibid.

[68] Andrew Silke, "Holy Warriors Exploring the Psychological Processes of Jihadi Radicalization," *European Journal of Criminology* 5 (2008), pp. 99–123; Claude Berrebi, "Evidence about the Link between Education, Poverty and Terrorism among Palestinians" *Peace Economics, Peace Science and Public Policy* 13 (2007), pp. 1–36.

[69] Gary LaFree, et al., "Correlates of Violent Political Extremism in the United States," op. cit.

[70] Marc Sommers, The Outcast Majority: War, Development, and Youth in Africa. Athens, GA: University of Georgia Press. 2015.

[71] Marc Sommers, Youth and the Field of Countering Violent Extremism. Washington, DC: Promundo-US, 2019.

[72] Peta Lowe, "Early Intervention is the Key to Diverting Young People from Violent Extremism." Australian Strategic Policy In-

stitute, 5 June 2020. URL: <u>https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/early-intervention-is-key-to-diverting-young-people-from-violent-ex-</u> <u>tremism/</u>; "Plan of Action to Prevent Violent Extremism: Report of the Secretary-General" *UN General Assembly Seventieth Session*, A/A/70/674.

[73] Search for Common Grounds and Hedayah, "Countering Violent Extremism: An Introductory Guide to Concepts, Programming, and Best Practices," 2019.

[74] "Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism and Radicalization that Lead to Terrorism." OSCE, 2015, Ministerial Declaration MC.DOC/4/15.

[75] Search for Common Grounds and Hedayah, "Countering Violent Extremism: An Introductory Guide to Concepts, Programming, and Best Practices," 2019.

[76] R. W. Connell, Masculinities, 2nd ed. Berkeley: University of California Press, 2005, p. 77.

[77] Beth Windisch, "Lone Actor Terrorists: The Performance of Hegemonic Masculinity through Acts of Violence." Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, September 2020; Anne Maria Möller-Leimkühler, "Why is terrorism a man's business?" *CNS Spectrums*, Cambridge University Press, 2017.

[78] Mark Hamm and Ramon Spaaij, The Age of Lone Wolf Terrorism. New York: Columbia University Press, 2017, p. 50.

[79] E. Madfis, "Triple Entitlement and Homicidal Anger: An Exploration of the Intersectional Identities of American Mass Murderers," *Men and Masculinities* 17, no. 1 (2014).

[80] Lucy Clarke-Billings, "Adel Kermiche: What we know about the Normandy church attacker," *Newsweek*, 27 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.newsweek.com/adel-kermiche-what-we-know-about-normandy-church-attacker-484351</u>.

[81] "Copenhagen shootings: Gunman named as 22yo Omar El-Hussein, may have been inspired by Paris attacks, Danish police say," *ABC News*, 15 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.abc.net.au/news/2015-02-16/copenhagen-shooting-gunmen-in-spired-by-charlie-hebdo-attacks/6111770</u>.

[82] Alexander Tange and Alister Doyle, "Special Report," op. cit.

[83] "French church killer Adel Kermiche: 'A ticking time bomb," *The Irish Times*, 27 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/</u> <u>news/world/europe/french-church-killer-adel-kermiche-a-ticking-time-bomb-1.2735986</u>.

[84] Michael Rose, "French church attacker: from troubled childhood to altar killer," *Reuters*, 29 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.reu-ters.com/article/us-europe-attacks-france-killer-idUSKCN1091U5</u>.

[85] START, "Supporting A Multidisciplinary Approach to Violent Extremism: The Integration of Mental Health in Countering Violent Extremism (CVE) and What Law Enforcement Needs to Know," 2015. URL: <u>https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/OPSR TP_Cross-Training-Primer_Law-Enforcement_2015-508.pdf</u>.

[86] Alexander Tange and Alister Doyle, "Special Report," op. cit.

[87] "Second killer of priest in French named as Abdel Malik Petitjean," *Libyan Express*, 28 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.libyanex-press.com/second-killer-of-priest-in-french-named-as-abdel-malik-petitjean/</u>.

[88] Ibid.

[89] Ibid.

[90] Ibid.

[91] Ibid.

[92] Vikram Dodd, "Pavlo Lapshyn, the 'shy and polite' student turned terrorist," *The Guardian*, 21 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2013/oct/21/pavlo-lapshyn-ukrainian-student-terrorist</u>.

[93] Raffaello Pantucci, "From Ukraine with Hate: What Pavlo Lapshyn Conviction Says About the Far-Right Extremism," *RUSI Commentary*, 25 October 2013. URL: <u>https://rusi.org/commentary/ukraine-hate-what-pavlo-lapshyn-conviction-says-about-far-right-extremism</u>.

[94] Zainab Al-Attar, "Extremism, Radicalisation and Mental Health: Handbook for Practitioners." RAN Handbook 2019.

[95] Canadian Security Intelligence Service, "Personality Traits and Terrorism." Working Paper Series, December 2015. URL: <u>http://www.tsas.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/TSASWP15-05_CSIS.pdf</u>.

[96] I. Ajzen, I., M. Fishben, *Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behavior*. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, 1980.

[97] Michael E. Jensen, Aaron Safer-Lichtenstein, Patrick A. James and Gary LaFree, "The Link Between Prior Criminal Record and Violent Political Extremism in the United States," in: David Weisburd, Ernesto U. Savona, Badi Hasisi, Francesco Calderoni (Eds.), *Understanding Recruitment to Organized Crime and Terrorism*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer, 2020.

[98] Ibid.

[99] Alexander Tange and Alister Doyle, "Special Report," op. cit.

[100] "Danish agents were warned about gunman Omar El-Hussein," *BBC News*, 18 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/</u><u>news/world-europe-31500390</u>.

[101] Alexander Tange and Alister Doyle, "Special Report," op. cit.

[102] "Tunisian in deadly Nice terror attack turned to religion after teen troubles," The Times of Israel, op. cit.

[103] Paul Bentley and Martin Robinson, "Ukrainian white supremacist who murdered Muslim grandfather blew up his parents' flat while testing homemade explosives before planting nail bombs at mosques in UK terror campaign," *Daily Mail*, 22 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-2471786/Pavlo-Lapshyn-blew-parents-flat-testing-homemade-explosives.</u> <u>html</u>.

[104] "Racist murderer and mosque bomber Pavlo Lapshyn found making explosives in cell at 'Monster Mansion," Far-Right Criminals, 7 August 2020. URL: <u>https://far-rightcriminals.com/2020/08/07/racist-murderer-and-mosque-bomber-pavlo-lapshyn-found-making-explosives-in-cell-at-monster-mansion/.</u>

[105] Jessica McBride, "Adel Kermiche: 5 fast facts you need to know," *Heavy.com*, 30 March 2017. URL: <u>https://heavy.com/news/2016/07/adel-kermiche-isis-french-priest-murdered-video-behead-islam-muslim-terrorist-trial-ankle-bracelet/</u>.

[106] Lucy Clarke-Billings, "Adel Kermiche: What we know about the Normandy church attacker," *Newsweek*, 27 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.newsweek.com/adel-kermiche-what-we-know-about-normandy-church-attacker-484351</u>.

[107] Alissa J. Rubin and Adam Nossiter, "French Ask Whether Priest's Killer, Listed as a Threat, Could Have Been Stopped," *The New York Times*, 27 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/07/28/world/europe/france-attack-priest-church-syria.html</u>.

[108] "French church killer Adel Kermiche: 'A ticking time bomb," The Irish Times, op. cit.

[109] "France church attack: 'Gentle' boy who became a killer," *BBC News*, 28 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/</u> world-europe-36914706.

[110] Lara Marlowe, "Priest's killers were ISIS apprentices who met through app," *The Irish Times*, 2 August 2016. URL: <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/news/world/europe/priest-s-killers-were-isis-apprentices-who-met-through-app-1.2741769</u>.

[111] RAND Corporation Europe, "Radicalization or Rehabilitation: Understanding the Challenge of Extremist and Radicalised Prisoners," 2008, pp. 27–36.

[112] Rajan Basra and Peter R. Neumann, "Criminal Pasts, Terrorist Futures: European Jihadists and the New Crime-Terror Nexus," *Perspectives on Terrorism* 10, no. 6, (2016).

[113] Andrew Higgins and Melissa Eddy, "Anger of suspect in Danish killings is seen as only loosely tied to Islam," *The New York Times*, 16 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2015/02/17/world/europe/copenhagen-denmark-attacks.html</u>.

[114] UNODC, Handbook on the Management of Violent Extremist Prisoners and the Prevention of Radicalization to Violence in Prisons, 2016. URL: <u>https://www.unodc.org/pdf/criminal_justice/Handbook_on_VEPs.pdf</u>.

[115] The International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation and Political Violence, "Prisons and Terrorism, Radicalisation and De-radicalisation in 15 countries," 2010. URL: <u>https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/Prisons-and-terrorism-15-countries.pdf</u>.

[116] European Committee on Crime Problems, *Council of Europe Handbook for Prison and Probation Services regarding Radicalisation and Violent Extremism.* 1 December 2016. <u>https://rm.coe.int/16806f9aa9</u>.

[117] Austrian Prison Service, "Action Plan on Prevention of Extremism and De-radicalisation." URL: <u>https://eucpn.org/sites/de-fault/files/document/files/po_at_austrian_prison_service_action_plan_on_prevention_of_extremism_and_de-radicalisation.pdf</u>.

[118] Tinka M. Velduis, "Occasional Paper: Reintegrating Violent Extremist Offenders: Policy Questions and Lessons Learned." October 2015. URL: <u>https://extremism.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2191/f/downloads/Veldhuis.pdf</u>.

[119] Tore Bjorgo and John Horgan, *Leaving Terrorism Behind: Individual and Collective Disengagement*. London: Routledge, 2009, p. 27; United Nations Office of Counter-Terrorism, "Prison management" URL: <u>https://www.un.org/counterterrorism/cct/prison-management</u>.

[120] F. Cilluffo and G. Saathoff, "Out of The Shadows: Getting Ahead of Prisoner Radicalization." *Report by George Washington University, Homeland Security Policy Institute, and University of Virginia, Critical Incident Analysis Group*, 2006, p. 7.

[121] Andrew Silke, "Compilation of Management Practices Related to Violent Extremist Prisoners." *The First UNODC Expert Group Meetings on the Management of Violent Extremist Prisoners* (Vienna, Austria; 16–18 December 2015).

[122] Radicalisation Awareness Network, "Preventing Radicalisation to Terrorism and Violent Extremism. Prison and Probation Interventions" 2019. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_awareness_network/ran-best-practices/docs/prison-and-probation-interventions_en.pdf</u>.

[123] Rajan Nasra and Peter R. Neumann, "Prisons and Terrorism: Extremism Offender Management in 10 European Countries" International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation King's College London, 2020. URL: <u>https://icsr.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/</u> ICSR-Report-Prisons-and-Terrorism-Extremist-Offender-Management-in-10-European-Countries V2.pdf. [124] UNODC, Handbook on the Management of Violent Extremist Prisoners and the Prevention of Radicalization to Violence in Prisons, 2016. URL: <u>https://www.unodc.org/pdf/criminal_justice/Handbook_on_VEPs.pdf.</u>

[125] Ibid.

[126] Gary LaFree and Gary Ackerman, "The Empirical Study of Terrorism: Social and Legal Research," *Annual Review of Law and Social Science* 5 (2009), pp. 347–374.

[127] Joel Gunter, "Omar El-Hussein: Copenhagen criminal to prison radical," *BBC News*, 16 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-31489264</u>.

[128] "Ukrainian Neighbors Portray U.K. Murder Suspect As 'Quiet, Diligent," *Radio Free Europe Radio Liberty*, 25 July 2013. URL: <u>https://www.rferl.org/a/ukraine-uk-suspect-lapshyn/25056349.html</u>.

[129] Jessica McBride, "Abdel-Malik Nabil Petitjean: 5 Fast Facts You Need to Know," Heavy.com, op. cit.

[130] "France church attack: 'Gentle' boy who became a killer" BBC News, op. cit.

[131] "Tunisian in deadly Nice terror attack turned to religion after teen troubles," The Times of Israel, op. cit.

[132] Stephan Kyburz, Andreas Beerli and Adina Rom, "Can Education Prevent Violent Extremism?" Center for Global Development, 30 July 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cgdev.org/blog/can-education-prevent-violent-extremism</u>.

[133] Ibid.

[134] Radicalisation Awareness Network, "Transforming Schools into Labs for Democracy: A Companion to Preventing Violent Radicalization through Education." RAN Policy Paper, October 2018. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/</u> files/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_awareness_network/about-ran/ran-.edu/docs/ran_edu_transforming_schools_into_ labs_for_democracy_2018_en.pdf.

[135] Bernhard Streitwieser, Kristen Allen and Kathryn Duffy-Jaeger, "Higher Education in an Era of Violent Extremism: Exploring Tensions Between National Security and Academic Freedom," *Journal for Deradicalization*, Spring 2019; European Commission Migration and Home Affairs, "RAN EDU Different ways governments can support schools and teachers in preventing/countering violent extremism," 6 May 2019. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_awareness_network/</u> education-and-radicalisation-prevention-different-ways-governments-can-support-schools_en.

[136] Freek de Meere, Lisa Lensink, "Youth Counselling Against Radicalisation Guidelines for Front-Line Workers," 2015. URL: <u>https://www.ycare.eu/files/YCARE%20Project%20Guidelines.pdf;</u> UNESCO, "Preventing Violent Extremism through Education: A Guide for Policymakers," 2017, p. 24. URL: <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000247764</u>; Claudia Wallner, "Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism Through Education Initiatives Assessing the Evidence Base" Occasional RUSI Paper, June 2020. URL: <u>https://rusi.org/sites/default/files/pcve_education_final_web_version.pdf</u>.

[137] Robert J. Apel, Shawn D. Bushway, Raymond Paternoster, Robert Brame and Gary Sweeten, "Using State Child Labor Laws to Identify the Causal Effect of Youth Employment on Deviant Behavior and Academic Achievement," *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 24 (2008), pp. 337–362; UNODC, "Drivers of violent extremism." URL: <u>https://www.unodc.org/e4j/en/terrorism/module-2/key-issues/drivers-of-violent-extremism.html</u>.

[138] Drew Mikhael and Julie Norman, "Refugee Youth, Unemployment and Extremism: Countering the Myth," *Forced Migration Review* 57 (February 2018), pp. 57–58.

[139] Gary LaFree, et al., "Correlates of Violent Political Extremism in the United States," op. cit.

[140] Adesoji Adelaja and Justin George, "Is Youth Unemployment Related to Domestic Terrorism?" *Perspectives on Terrorism* 14, no. 5 (2020). URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-5/</u> adelaja-and-george-2.0.pdf; Armin Falk, Andreas Kuhn and Josef Zweimüller, "Unemployment and Right-wing Extremist Crime" *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 113, no. 2 (June 2011).

[141] Drew Mikhael and Julie Norman, "Refugee Youth, Unemployment and Extremism," op. cit.

[142] Simon Copeland and Sarah Marsden, "Economic Influences on Radicalisation," *Centre for Research and Evidence on Security Threats*, November 2020, p. 12.

[143] Laura Smith-Spark and Nic Robertson, "Who was Copenhagen gunman Omar Abdel Hamid El-Hussein?" CNN, op. cit.

[144] Lara Marlowe, "Priest's killers were ISIS apprentices who met through app," The Irish Times, op cit.

[145] "Tunisian in deadly Nice terror attack turned to religion after teen troubles," The Times of Israel, op. cit.

[146] "He showed no signs of being radicalised," Independent, op. cit.

[147] "Ukrainian Neighbors Portray U.K. Murder Suspect As 'Quiet, Diligent," *Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty*, 25 July 2013. URL: <u>https://www.rferl.org/a/ukraine-uk-suspect-lapshyn/25056349.html</u>.

[148] "Birmingham mosque bomber and murderer found making explosives in jail cell," *ITV*, 10 August 2020. URL: <u>https://www.itv.com/news/central/2020-08-06/birmingham-mosque-bomber-and-murderer-found-making-explosives-in-jail-cell</u>.

[149] Nick McCarthy, "Ukrainian student admits murdering Birmingham grandad and bombing mosques," Birmingham Live,

21 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.birminghammail.co.uk/news/local-news/ukrainian-student-admits-murdering-birming-ham-6216485</u>.

[150] "Reconceptualizing the Drivers of Violent Extremism: An Agenda for Child and Youth Resilience." Wana Institute. URL: <u>https://www.tdh.ch/sites/default/files/tdh_wana_pve_en_light.pdf;</u> UNICRI, "Promoting Social Reintegration of Violent Extremist Offenders." URL: <u>http://www.unicri.it/topics/counter_terrorism/reintegration</u>.

[151] Ibid.

[152] Ontario Ministry of Children, Community and Social Services, "Review of the Roots of Youth Violence: Literature Reviews," Volume 5, Chapter 4. URL: <u>http://www.children.gov.on.ca/htdocs/English/professionals/oyap/roots/volume5/chapter04_social_dis-organization.aspx</u>; Charis E. Kubrin and Ronald Weitzer, "New Directions in Social Disorganization Theory," *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 40, no. 4 (November 2003).

[153] "Copenhagen shootings: Police kill 'gunman' after two attacks," *BBC News*, 15 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/</u><u>news/world-europe-31475803</u>.

[154] "Copenhagen terrorist had Quran during attacks," *The Local*, 8 February 2016. URL: <u>https://www.thelocal.dk/20160208/co-penhagen-terror-gunman-had-quran-when-he-was-shot-dead</u>.

[155] Ibid.

[156] Alastair Jamieson and Nancy Ing, "France church attack: Abdel-Malik Petitjean was known potential radical," *NBC News*, 28 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/storyline/isis-terror/france-church-attack-abdel-malik-petitjean-was-known-poten-tial-radical-n618661</u>.

[157] "Tunisian in deadly Nice terror attack turned to religion after teen troubles," The Times of Israel, op. cit.

[158] "He showed no signs of being radicalised," Independent, op. cit.

[159] "Preventing and Countering Extremism and Radicalisation National Action Plan," October 2016, p. 21. URL: <u>https://ec.eu-ropa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_awareness_network/docs/preventing_counter-ing_extremism_radicalisation_en.pdf</u>.

[160] Yngve Carlsson, "Violent Extremism: Prevention of a Wicked Problem – The Role of Local Authorities," September 2017, p.
23. URL: <u>https://www.sv.uio.no/c-rex/english/publications/c-rex-working-paper-series/Violent-extremism-working-paper-2-2017.</u>

[161] USAID, "Guide to the Drivers of Violent Extremism," 2009, p. 74. URL: <u>https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/Pnadt978.pdf</u>.

[162] Martha Crenshaw, "The Causes of Terrorism," Comparative Politics 13, no. 4 (1981).

[163] John R. Vacca (Ed.) Online Terrorist Propaganda, Recruitment and Radicalization. CRC Press, 2019.

[164] "Tunisian in deadly Nice terror attack turned to religion after teen troubles," The Times of Israel, op. cit.

[165] "He showed no signs of being radicalised," Independent, op. cit.

[166] "Police say Copenhagen attacks suspect had gang past," *Al Jazeera*, 16 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2015/2/16/police-say-copenhagen-attacks-suspect-had-gang-past</u>.

[167] Ibid.

[168] Laura Smith-Spark and Nic Robertson, "Who was Copenhagen gunman Omar Abdel Hamid El-Hussein?" CNN, op. cit.

[169] Alexander Tange and Alister Doyle, "Special Report," op. cit.

[170] Chris Green, "Copenhagen shootings: Suspected gunman Omar Abdel Hamid El-Hussein was a Danish national with a history of gang violence," *Independent*, 15 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/copenhagen-shoot-ings-suspected-gunman-omar-abdel-hamid-el-hussein-was-danish-national-history-gang-violence-10047741.html</u>.

[171] Sören Billing, "Copenhagen attacker's alleged helpers go on trial," *The Local*, 8 March 2016. URL: <u>https://www.thelocal.</u> <u>dk/20160308/alleged-helpers-of-copenhagen-attacker-go-on-trial</u>.

[172] Lara Marlowe, "Priest's killers were ISIS apprentices who met through app," The Irish Times, op. cit.

[173] "Second killer of priest in French named as Abdel Malik Petitjean," *Libyan Express*, 28 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.libyanex-press.com/second-killer-of-priest-in-french-named-as-abdel-malik-petitjean/</u>.

[174] "French church attack: What we know," BBC News, 28 July 2016. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-36900761.

[175] Adam Fleming, Larissa Kennelly, "France church attack: Friends' efforts to save 'brainwashed' Kermiche," *BBC News*, 27 July 2016. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-36907945</u>.

[176] Nick McCarthy, "Pavlo Lapshyn: Academic loner inspired by Oklahoma bomber Timothy McVeigh," *Birmingham Live*, 22 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.birminghammail.co.uk/news/local-news/pavlo-lapshyn-inspired-timothy-mcveigh-6219407</u>.

[177] David Lumb and Dominic Casciani, "Pavlo Lapshyn's 90 days of terror," *BBC News*, 21 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.</u> <u>com/news/uk-england-birmingham-24586050</u>.

[178] Paul Bentley, Martin Robinson, "Ukrainian white supremacist who murdered Muslim grandfather blew up his parents' flat while testing homemade explosives before planting nail bombs at mosques in UK terror campaign," *Daily Mail*, 22 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-2471786/Pavlo-Lapshyn-blew-parents-flat-testing-homemade-explosives.html</u>.

[179] Sean O'Neill, "Police show new video footage of mosque bomber's homemade devices," *The Times*, 6 May 2014. URL: <u>https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/police-show-new-video-footage-of-mosque-bombers-homemade-devices-7ts3t3ng5qw</u>.

[180] Costas Pitas, "Ukrainian jailed for life for killing Muslim, planting bombs in UK," *Reuters*, 25 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-britain-ukraine-murder/ukrainian-jailed-for-life-for-killing-muslim-planting-bombs-in-uk-idUK-BRE99O0OB20131025</u>

[181] Sean O'Neill, "Police show new video footage of mosque bomber's homemade devices," *The Times*, 6 May 2014. URL: <u>https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/police-show-new-video-footage-of-mosque-bombers-homemade-devices-7ts3t3ng5qw</u>.

[182] Matthew Goodwin, "'Lone wolves' such as Pavlo Lapshyn are part of a bigger threat," *The Guardian*, 23 October 2013. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2013/oct/23/pavlo-lapshyn-extremist-bomber-lone-wolves</u>.

[183] Katrin Bennhold, "Murder stirs British debate on the roots of extremism," *The New York Times*, 22 October 2013. URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2013/10/23/world/europe/murder-stirs-british-debate-on-the-roots-of-extremism.html.

[184] Amardeep Bassey, "Revealed: Pavlo Lapshyn driven to kill by far-right paramilitaries and racist football hooligans," *Birmingham Mail*, 10 November 2013. URL: <u>https://www.birminghammail.co.uk/news/local-news/revealed-pavlo-lapshyn-driven-kill-6288513</u>.

[185] Zainab al-Attar, "Extremism, Radicalisation and Mental Health: Handbook for Practitioners," 2019. p. 34. and Mark A. Ballis, Katie Hardcastle, "Preventing Violent Extremism in the UK: Public Health Solutions," Public Health Wales NHS Trust, May 2019, p. 24. URL: <u>https://www.fph.org.uk/media/2475/preventing-violent-extremism-in-the-uk_public-health-solutions-web.pdf</u>.

[186] Wirrak Safeguarding Children Partnership, "Prevent Radicalisation and Extremism." URL: <u>https://www.wirralsafeguarding.</u> <u>co.uk/radicalisation-and-extremism/</u>.

[187] Stein B. et al., "A National Longitudinal Study of the Psychological Consequences of the September 11, 2001 Terrorist Attacks: Reactions, Impairment, and Help-Seeking," *Psychiatry* 67, no. 2 (2004), pp. 105–117.

[188] "Suspect in Copenhagen shootings freed from prison two weeks ago," *The Irish Times*, 15 February 2015. URL: <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/news/world/europe/suspect-in-copenhagen-shootings-freed-from-prison-two-weeks-ago-1.2105021</u>.

[189] "Tunisian in deadly Nice terror attack turned to religion after teen troubles," The Times of Israel, op. cit.

[190] "Pavlo Lapshyn appears in court over Mohammed Saleem murder," *BBC News*, 2 August 2013. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/</u><u>news/uk-england-birmingham-23547621</u>.

[191] Landysh A. Gizyatova, "School-Based Extremism and Drug Abuse Prevention in the UK," International Forum on Teacher Education, 2019.

[192] Regional Academy on the United Nations, "Adolescent Delinquency, Substance Abuse, Gang Membership and Violent Extremism in the US and Europe," p. 16. URL: <u>http://www.ra-un.org/uploads/4/7/5/4/47544571/7_unodc_adolescent_delinquency.</u> <u>pdf</u>.

[193] Landysh A. Gizyatova, "School-Based Extremism and Drug Abuse Prevention in the UK," op. cit.

[194] S. N. Meisel, C. R. Colder, "Social Goals Impact Adolescent Substance Use through Influencing Adolescents' Connectedness to their Schools," *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 46, no. 9, pp. 2015–2027.

[195] Ömer Ta, spinar, "Fighting Radicalism, not 'Terrorism': Root Causes of an International Actor Redefined," *SAIS Review* 24, no. 2 (2009), p. 76. URL: <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/summer_fall_radicalism_taspinar.pdf</u>.

[196] Adrian Cherney, Emma Belton, Siti Amirah Binte Norham and Jack Milts, "Understanding Youth Radicalisation: An Analysis of Australian Data," *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression* (2020), p. 17. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/19434472.2020.1819372?needAccess=true</u>.

[197] Stevan Weine, Schuyler Henderson, Stephen Shanfield, Rupinder Legha and Jerrold Post, "Building Community Resilience to Counter Violent Extremism," *Democracy and Security* 9 (2013), p. 330.

[198] Search for Common Ground, "Bottom-Up Approach to Countering Violent Extremism in Tunisia, Final Evaluation Report." URL: <u>https://www.sfcg.org/tag/violent-extremism/</u>.

[199] Alex P. Schmid, "Radicalisation, De-Radicalisation, Counter-Radicalisation: A Conceptual Discussion and Literature Review." The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism, 2013. URL: <u>http://www.icct.nl/app/uploads/download/file/ICCT-Schmid-Radi-</u> calisation-De-Radicalisation-Counter-Radicalisation-March-2013.pdf

[200] Ibid.

[201] Ibid.

[202] Lisa O. Monaco, "Countering Violent Extremism and the Power of Community," 15 April 2014. URL: https://www.white-

house.gov/the-press-office/2014/04/16/remarks-assistant-president-homeland-security-andcounterterrorism-lisa-.

[203] The Commonwealth, "Countering Violent Extremism Toolkits." URL: <u>https://thecommonwealth.org/countering-violent-ex-tremism-toolkits</u>.

[204] Ibid.

[205] Ibid.

[206] Ann-Sophie Hemmingsen, "An Introduction to the Danish Approach to Countering and Preventing Extremism and Radicalization." Danish Institute for International Studies, 2015, p. 43.

[207] V. DeMarinis, "Countering Violent Extremism: Public Mental Health Promotion in a Public Health Paradigm," in: G. Overland, A. J. Andersen, K. E. Førde, K. Grødum, and J. Salomonsen (Eds.), *Violent extremism in the 21st century: International perspectives*, 2018, pp. 271–281; Freek de Meere, Lisa Lensink (Eds.), *Youth Counselling Against Radicalization. Guidelines for Front-line Workers.*" Newcastle-upon-Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing p. 34. URL: <u>https://www.ycare.eu/files/YCARE%20Project%20</u> <u>Guidelines.pdf</u>.

[208] D. Webber, M. Babush, N. Schori-Eyal, A. Vazeou-Nieuwenhuis, M. Hettiarachchi, J. J. Bélanger, M. Moyano, H. M. Trujillo, R. Gunaratna, A. W. Kruglanski, and M. J. Gelfand, "The Road to Extremism: Field and Experimental Evidence that Significant Loss-induced Need for Closure Fosters Radicalization," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 114, no. 2 (2018), pp. 270–285.

[209] C. S. Lloyd, B. af Klinteberg, V. DeMarinis, "An Assessment of Existential Worldview Function among Young Women at Risk for Depression and Anxiety - A Multi-Method Study," *Archive for the Psychology of Religion* 39, no. 2 (2017), pp. 165–203.

[210] Radicalisation Awareness Network, "A Mental Health Approach to Understanding Violent Extremism." Ex Post Paper RAN Policy and Practice, 3 June 2019, p. 7. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/networks/radical-isation_awareness_network/about-ran/ran-h-and-sc/docs/ran_hsc_prac_mental_health_03062019_en.pdf</u>.

[211] T. Greitemeyer, "Boosting One's Social Identity: Effects of Social Exclusion on Ethnocentrism," *Basic and Applied Social Psychology* 34, no. 5 (2012), pp. 410–416; H. Tajfel, H. (Ed.), *Social Identity and Intergroup Relations*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; J. M. Post, "Rewarding Fire with Fire: Effects of Retaliation on Terrorist Group Dynamics," *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism* 10, no. 1 (1987), pp. 23–35.

[212] The Commonwealth, "Countering Violent Extremism Toolkits." URL: <u>https://www.thecommonwealth.io/digital-common-wealth/countering-violent-extremism-toolkits/</u>

[213] City of Copenhagen Employment and Integration Administration, "Less Radicalization through an Effective and Coherent Effort," August 2015, p. 23. URL: <u>https://www.kk.dk/sites/default/files/uploaded-files/Recommendations%20of%20the%20Ex-pert%20Group%20-%20Municipality%20of%20Copenh...pdf</u>.

[214] Pomme Woltman and Wessel Haanstra, "Ex Post Paper on a Holistic Local Approach to Preventing Radicalization in Helsinki," 2017, p. 9. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_awareness_net-</u> work/ran-papers/docs/ran_paper_holistic_local_approach_to_preventing_radicalisation_8-9_06_en.pdf.

Resources

Counterterrorism Bookshelf: 11 Books on Terrorism & Counter-Terrorism-Related Subjects

Reviewed by Joshua Sinai

So many books are published on terrorism- and counterterrorism-related subjects that it is difficult to catch up on a large backlog of monographs and volumes received for review. In order to deal with this backlog, this column consists of capsule reviews and tables of contents of eleven recently published books.

Godfrey Garner and Maeghin Alarid-Hughes, Origin of Terrorism: The Rise of the World's Most Formidable Terrorist Groups (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2021), 194 pp., US \$ 128.- [Hardcover], US \$ 39.96 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-0-3677-7186-7.

This is a highly interesting and well analyzed examination of the roots, origins and evolution of Islamist terrorism. It examines the varieties of Islamist terrorism from a practitioner focus that addresses the motivations, agendas, and *modus operandi* of its leading figures and insurgent terrorist organizations. Terrorist organizations such as al Qaida, the Islamic State (ISIS), the Taliban, Boko Haram, and others are profiled. This book is recommended as a useful introductory resource for courses on terrorism and counterterrorism and for the general public, as well. Dr. Godfrey Garner, a former U.S. Army Special Forces officer, is a permanent faculty professor at Mississippi College, as well as adjunct at Tulane University and Belhaven University, in Homeland Security and Counterterrorism. Ms. Maeghin Alarid-Hughes is an Adjunct Professor in Terrorism and Risk Analysis for Arapahoe Community College, in Colorado.

Table of Contents: Preface. Author biographies. Chapter 1: Insurgency, Religion and Terrorist Relationships. Chapter 2: Terror Mind Manipulation. Chapter 3: Terrorist Landscape: Laying a Foundation. Chapter 4: How bin Laden Rose to Fame: A Historical Perspective. Chapter 5: A Closer Look at bin Laden. Chapter 6: What about Russia? Chapter 7: Meeting Key Players: Mullah Omar and the Taliban. Chapter 8: Osama bin Laden; Mullah Mohamad Omar; Their Focus During this Period. Chapter 9: Abu Musab Zarqawi. Chapter 10: Birth of the Islamic State. Chapter 11: Women within Terrorism: New Tactics and What Can We Expect Next.

Murat Haner and Melissa M. Sloan (Eds.), Theories of Terrorism: Contemporary Perspectives (New York, NY: Routledge, 2022), 396 pp., US \$ 128.- [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-0-3674-5761-7.

The contributors to this interesting volume apply some of the major academic theories of terrorism to examine issues such as trajectories of how individuals become radicalized into terrorism, as well as the processes involved in disengaging from terrorism. Also discussed are topics such as the ideological, strategic and organizational factors in terrorist target selection, women's involvement in terrorism, far-right wing White Supremacist terrorism, religious terrorism and suicide martyrdom, and the application of the criminology theory of situational crime prevention (SCP) in understanding terrorism and how to prevent it. The final chapter by Leonard Weinberg on "How Terrorism Ends" updates his earlier writings on this topic. The book is recommended as a primary textbook for academic courses on terrorism and counterterrorism.

Table of Contents: Preface; Part I. Becoming a Terrorist; The Psychological Processes of Terrorism; Explaining Political Terrorism; Explaining Religious Terrorism; Explaining White Supremacy and Domestic Terrorism; Part II. Being a Terrorist; Gender and Terrorism. Terrorist Target Selection; Explaining Suicide Bombings; Code of the Terrorist; Part III. Beyond Terrorism; Desistance from Terrorism; Terrorism and Deterrence; Situational Crime Prevention and Terrorism; Fear of Terrorism; How Terrorism Ends?

Daniel Koehler, From Traitor to Zealot: Exploring the Phenomenon of Side-Switching in Extremism and *Terrorism* (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2022), 350 pp., US \$ 110.- [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-

1-1088-4294-5.

This is a conceptually innovative, empirical study on what the author terms as "side-switching" by extremist individuals and groups, primarily in Germany. The book's case studies present significant examples of turncoats - individuals and groups who become, in one example, neo-Nazis, radical left-wingers, and then devout Salafists. To explain this phenomenon, the author applies theories such as social identity theory and devoted actor theory to develop his own theory of motivations and what he terms the defector life cycles. To counter these processes of radicalization into violent extremism, the author proposes a new approach to "become an ex" which is based on understanding the importance of how ideology is interpreted by these individuals' "confused identities." The concluding chapter presents the author's findings and future directions in examining these issues. The author, a veteran practitioner expert in analyzing radicalization and how to counter it, is well suited to explaining this phenomenon. The author is Founding Director of the German Institute on Radicalization and De-Radicalization Studies (GIRDS) and editor-in-chief of the Journal for Deradicalization.

Table of Contents: Foreword: John Horgan; Preface; Betraying the Cause? Side-Switching and Violent Extremism; Nation, Race, and Anti-Semitism: Switching to Far-Right Extremism; Joining the Far Left; Fighting on the Path of Allah: Joining Islamic Extremism from the Far Right and Far Left; Who Are Extremist Side-Switchers and What Drives Them? Toward a Theory of Motivations and Defector Life Cycles; Breaking the Cycle: Learning How to Improve Counter-Radicalization, Counterterrorism, and Deradicalization Programs; Conclusions.

David Lowe, Terrorism, Law and Policy: A Comparative Study [Second Edition] (New York, NY: Routledge, 2022), 368 pp., US \$ 128.- [Hardcover], US \$ 34.36 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-0320-5013-3.

This is a comprehensive and authoritative textbook by a veteran British law enforcement official covering subjects such as how to define terrorism, governments' anti-terrorism-related legislation and policies around the world, the nature of violent extremism and how to counter it, investigating terrorism cases (including surveilling terrorists), and the need to balance security and civil liberties. As a textbook, each chapter begins with topics to be covered, an introduction, student learning outcomes, points for reflection, short case studies, and a conclusion. The author is a retired British Detective Sergeant, and currently a senior research fellow at Leeds Law School, where he researches terrorism and security, policing and criminal law.

Table of Contents: Preface; Introduction; Part I – Current Terrorist Threats; Islamist-inspired terrorist groups; Nationalist causes: The on-going political cause in Northern Ireland; Far-right and extreme far-right (neo-Nazis); Part II – Government and international bodies anti-terrorism policies and roles of international and national counter-terrorism agencies; Inter-governmental and state government anti-terrorism policies; Part III – Legal definition of terrorism and statutory powers used in counter-terrorism investigations; Legal definition of terrorism; Planning acts of terrorism; Passport and border controls and statutory measures to deal with returning fighters; Statutory preventative measures; Surveillance of electron-ic communications; International terrorism intelligence exchange, Snowden revelations, the courts and data protection; Handling informants in terrorist investigations; Funding terrorism and asset-freezing; Part IV – Extremism, freedom of expression, hate crime and prevent strategies; Extremism and radicalization; Freedom of expression and hate crime: Analysis looking at the extreme far-right; Prevent strategies.

John A. Lynne II, Another Kind of War: The Nature and History of Terrorism (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2019), 520 pp., US \$ 40.- [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-0-3001-8881-3.

This is a comprehensive account by a veteran military historian of the history of modern terrorism over the past 150 years. While drawing on David Rapoport's four historical waves of modern terrorism framework, it adds additional dimensions to it by beginning the account with what the author regards as the origins of the first historical wave: the French Revolution in 1789. The discussion of the second, third, and fourth historical waves of terrorism are complemented by the author's discussion of the Palestinian – Israeli conflict from 1881 to 1985, Marxist urban guerrilla warfare, Islamist Jihadist groups, narcoterrorism, as well as the components of homeland security and countering terrorism. The book is accompanied by a website for

additional materials and reference resources. The author is emeritus professor of history at the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign and former president of the United States Commission on Military History.

Table of Contents: A Brief Note to the Reader; On Terrorism; Rule by Fear: State-Regime Terrorism; War on Civilians: Military Terrorism; White Knights: Social Terrorism in America, 1865-1965; Propaganda of the Deed: The First Wave of Radical Terrorism, 1848-1920; Second Wave: Ethno-Nationalist Terrorism: The FLN and the PIRA; Tales of Two Tragedies: Palestinians and Israelis, 1881-1985; Urban Guerrillas: Marxist Terrorism during the 1960s and 1970s; Islamist Terrorism: Ideology and Radicalization in the Third Wave; Regional Jihad: Hezbollah and Hamas; Global Jihad: Al-Qaeda and the Islamic State; Radical Right-Wing Violence in the United States; Narcoterrorism; Homeland Security; Confronting Terrorism; Appendix: A Descriptive Model of Four Strategies of Terrorism.

Yair Sharan, Ted J. Gordon, and Elizabeth Florescu (Eds), Tripping Points on the Roads to Outwit Terror (Cham, Switzerland: Springer, 2021), 222 pp., US \$ 139.99 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-3-0307-2570-9.

This is one of the first accounts of the impacts of recent transformative catastrophic events in terms of new technologies, including the COVID-19 pandemic, on potential future scenarios in the world of terrorism. As explained by the authors, "The objective of this book is to help reduce the probability and severity of terrorism by anticipating new opportunities, errors, and tipping points that may occur in the terrorists' efforts to extend their influence or in the efforts to thwart their planning and attacks" (p. v). To examine these future-oriented issues over the next 20 years, the authors apply "existing technologies (such as CRISPR, the tool for modifying genes, and forensic genealogy) and entirely new technologies (such as deep fake counterfeiting) that may be used by terrorists or those seeking to shut them down" (p. 2). More than a dozen "tripping point" scenarios are discussed, with the scenario vignettes providing "a story with plausible cause and effect links that connect a future condition with the present, while illustrating key decisions, events, and consequences throughout the narrative" (pp. 2-3). Utilizing the Delphi forecasting tool (based on numerous expert respondents), the authors conclude with a series of findings on future trends, such as increasingly effective propaganda and disinformation by terrorists and state actors, "Meaningless terrorism - thousands of people performing small actions that together would have a big effect to disrupt elements of society," and the emergence of "super-empowered individuals" who are "able to harness bio-weapons or technology to wreak mass-scale disruption, destruction and loss of life" (p. 134). The authors' innovative approach and worrisome findings about future trends in terrorist warfare make this book an important contribution to advancing our understanding of the types of terrorist warfare that need to be anticipated by governments' counterterrorism campaign planners. Yair Sharan, is Director of the FIRS2T Group (Foresight Insight Research Security Society and Technology) in Israel, and is active in the security and technology field. Theodore J. Gordon is a specialist in forecasting methodology, planning, and policy analysis. Elizabeta Florescu is Director of Research and Board Member of The Millennium Project.

Table of Contents: Introduction; Instead of Executive Summary. Tripping Points: An Overview; Defining Terrorism: Future Perspectives; Pandemics; CRISPR and the New Biology; Identification: Forensics and DNA Databases; Artificial Intelligence and Autonomous Weapons; Challenges in Space; The Little Things Sometimes Count; The Fuzzy Line: Are We at War?; Technology Early Warnings: A Plethora of Threats and Opportunities; Deep Fakes; Unintended Consequences; Conclusions; Appendix: Evolution of the Definitions of Terrorism: Results of a Real-Time Delphi.

Al Qaida

Nelly Lahoud, The Bin Laden Papers: How the Abbottabad Raid Revealed the Truth about Al-Qaeda, its Leader and his Family (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2022), 384 pp., US \$ 28.- [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-0-3002-6063-2.

This is a fascinating inside account of al Qaida and its leader Usama bin Laden, based on the author's unique access to the nearly 6,000 pages of Arabic private communications that were captured by the U.S. Special Forces who had successfully killed bin Laden at his hideout in Abbottabad, Pakistan, on May 2, 2011. These materials outlined bin Laden's plans for future attacks, and al Qaida's position towards countries ranging

from Saudi Arabia, Iran, and Pakistan to the United States, its "far-enemy." The author's conclusions are worth noting, as she describes al Qaida's jihadists as "variously hiding, incompetent, unruly, extremists, and disunited, and Usama's optimism border [ing – JS] on delirium" (p. 285). She adds that bin Laden was "not worldly," as he "had only a perfunctory understanding of international relations," and his "political goals were alarmingly sophomoric" (p. 286). This book is highly recommended for its insights in exposing the true nature of Usama bin Laden and al Qaida. The author is associate professor of security studies in the Department of National Security and Strategy at the U.S. Army War College.

Table of Contents: Prologue: Eighteen Minutes; Introduction; Part I: "Afflicted" Al-Qaeda (2001-2011); "The Birth of the Idea"; Jihadis Between Borders; Global Jihad on Autopilot; Al-Qaeda "Hides"; The "Calamity"; The "Americans"; Part II: The Rise of the "Brothers" (2004-2011); Some "Brothers" Are More Brotherly Than Others; Part III: The Family; The "First Martyr"; The Escapes; The Final Chapter; The Real Courier; Epilogue; Appendix One: Usama bin Laden's Will; Appendix Two: Dramatis Personae.

Kurdistan Workers' Party (PKK)

Murat Haner, The Freedom Fighter: A Terrorist's Own Story (New York, NY: Routledge, 2018), 498 pp., US \$ 208.- [Hardcover], US \$ 56.76 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-1-1381-0451-8.

This is an extensively detailed account of the PKK, using the life-story of "Deniz," a high-level PKK terrorist who was incarcerated in a Turkish prison (and whom the author interviewed), to shed light on the processes of radicalization and activism of Kurds into PKK-type terrorism to achieve national independence. In the concluding chapter, the author observes that "the PKK is a decades-old, very sophisticated military organization," and that "Attempts to eradicate it through a concerted Turkish military campaign are unlikely to be effective" (p. 443). The author is a Visiting Professor in the Department of Socials Sciences, Program of Criminology, at the University of South Florida, Sarasota-Manatee.

Table of Contents: Foreword by Francis T. Cullen; Preface; Part I: Terrorism in Context; Meeting Deniz; The History of Kurds and the PKK; Part II: The Freedom Fighter's own Story; Section A: Becoming a Terrorist; The Early Years; Joining the PKK; Mission Trainings; Section B: Being a Terrorist; Rangers and My First Mission; Turkish Oppression Toward the Kurdish Villagers; The PKK Organization; On the Way to Damascus, Syria; War against Barzani's Peshmergas; Chaotic Situation at Central Headquarters; The Women Guerillas of the Organization; The War against the YNK; The Invasion of Iraq by U.S. Forces; That's All She Wrote!; The Trip to Amed; Recruiting New Guerrillas; Decision to Keep My Hands Off; Section C: Prison and Beyond; Leaving the PKK; The Prison and the General; Penitence (Second Thoughts); The Turks, The Kurds and the Last Chance; Part III: Conclusion; Lessons from a Terrorist's own Story; Appendix: List of Major Individuals and Abbreviations in the Life History.

Military Warfare

B. A. Friedman, On Operations: Operational Art and Military Disciplines (Annapolis, MD: Naval Institute Press, 2021), 256 pp., US \$ 31.95 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-1-6824-7706-9.

With military warfare conducted at the strategic (overall vision and end-states), operational and tactical (combat unit) levels, this book covers the operational level of warfare. It is defined by the author as "the planning, preparation, synchronization, and sustainment of tactics over a sustained period of time, a large geographic expanse, or both" (p. 5). To examine the operational level of war, the book's chapters cover topics such as administration, operations, fire support, logistics, command and control, and campaigns and battles. These topics are illustrated in five historical case studies. In the conclusion, the author insightfully observes that "there are no levels of war" because "Neither tactics nor strategy are a level, but rather activities or functions that operate continuously and in parallel" (p 141). The author, a Marine Corps Reserves field artillery officer, is enrolled in King's College London,.

Table of Contents: Preface; Introduction; Operations and the Napoleonic Revolution; German Operational Thought; Soviet Operational Thought; American Operational Thought; The Operational Level and the Civil-Military Relationship;

A Theory of Operational Art; Administration; Information; Operations; Fire Support; Logistics; Command and Control; Campaigns, Battles, and Decision; Campaign Taxonomy I; Campaign Taxonomy II; Operational Art Actualized through a Modern Staff System; A Note on Force Protection; Conclusion; Case Study 1. The Austerlitz Campaign, 1805; Case Study 2. The Königgrätz Campaign, 1866; Case Study 3. The Atlantic Campaign, 1914-18; Case Study 4. The Battle of Britain, 1940; Case Study 5. Operation Watchtower, 1942.

Mark Galeotti, The Weaponisation of Everything: A Field Guide to the New Way of War (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2022), 248 pp., US \$ 26.- [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-0-3002-5344-3.

This is a highly informed and authoritative account of the transformation of what used to be 'conventional' warfare into what is now termed hybrid war, grey zone warfare, and unrestricted war, in which cyberwarfare, disinformation and espionage play a major role. This book was written prior to Russia's military invasion of Ukraine, where 'conventional' warfare is being waged mainly with long-range artillery fire and weaponized drones, but the author's insights about future 'unconventional' trends in warfare are still pertinent. However, the author is mistaken when he concludes that "big wars' may be in decline", but he is correct in observing that new technological systems are required to "reinvent war" because "outside explicitly military conflicts, notions of war and peace, victory and defeat become similarly hazy" (p. 223). The author is a London-based political scientist and senior associate fellow at the Royal United Services Institute.

Table of Contents: Introduction; The Renaissance of Weaponisation; Part 1: Ain't Gonna Study (Shooting) War No More; The Deweaponisation of Warfare?; Soldiering-plus and Gig Geopolitics; Part II: Business, and Other Crimes; Business; Buying Friends and Influencing People; Crime; Part III: War is All Around Us; Life; Law; Information; Culture; Part IV: Welcome to the Future; Weaponised Instability; Learning to Love the Permanent, Bloodless War.

Mick Ryan, War Transformed: The Future of Twenty-First Century Great Power Competition and Conflict (Annapolis, MD: Naval Institute Press, 2022), 312 pp., US \$ 39.95 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-1-6824-7741-0.

This is a highly insightful and important account by a retired Major-General in the Australian Army about the future of warfare. It is especially pertinent in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic, which, as the author observes, has ushered in a new "era of accelerations" in the form of "the fourth Industrial Revolution, pinned by rapid technological development across the fields of information technology, biotechnology, space, communications, and many others. The COVID-19 pandemic is providing a 'supercharging' function in some of these areas, driving change at an unanticipated pace. This, combined with the impact of the ongoing disruptions in our environment, will fundamentally change the structure and resilience of societies and how they interact, as well as the way nations compete and make war" (p. 4). Regarding terrorism, the author observes that surveillance technologies across multiple spectra enable "around-the-clock surveillance across the battlespace" of 'conventional forces,' but not the "actions of low-technology insurgents [i.e., terrorists -JS] in the urban or rural environments", with "No platform in the inventory" able to "see the intentions of a group of insurgents or the strategies of regional terrorist leaders" (p. 90). The author presciently concludes this excellent account by noting that "We must better understand the types of competitions and wars we will face in this new age of war. We need to develop the adaptive mindset to keep pace with threats and keep at bay the major threats to our societies" (p. 225). The author is a retired Major General in the Australian army, and an adjunct fellow at the Center for Strategic and International Studies, in Washington, DC.

Table of Contents: Introduction; Revolutions and Military Change; Future War: New-Era Competition and Conflict; Institutions, Ideas, and Future Military Effectiveness; People in Future Competition and War; Conclusion: War Is Transforming (Again); Epilogue: A Changing Nature of War?

About the Reviewer: Dr. Joshua Sinai is the Book Reviews Editor of 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. He can be reached at: <u>Joshua.sinai@comcast.net</u>.

Book Review: David C. Rapoport. *Waves of Global Terrorism. From 1879 to the Present.* New York, NY: Columbia University Press, 2022. 440 pp., US \$ 121.78 [Hardcover], US \$ 35.00 [Paperback], US \$ 17.99 [E-Book], ISBN: 978-0-2311-3303-6.

Reviewed by Alex P. Schmid

The author of this monograph, David C. Rapoport, Emeritus Professor of Political Science at the University of California, Los Angeles, has been lecturing and researching on political and religious violence since the late 1960s. He is one of the founding fathers of academic terrorism studies and also founded *Terrorism and Political Violence*, one of the three leading journals in the field. The book under review is a much longed-for and extended version of his seminal article "The Fourth Wave: September 11 in the History of Terrorism" published in *Current History* in December 2001 - an article which two of his critics (Tom Parker and Nick Sitter) called "one of the most influential articles ever written in the field of terrorism studies". Documented by 90 pages of notes, and equipped with a 44-page index, Prof. Rapoport extends and details over 440 pages his cyclical approach to the surge and decline of four historical waves of global terrorism: (i) the first Anarchist Wave (1879-1920s), the second Anticolonial Wave (1919-1960s), the third New Left Wave (1960s-1990s) and the fourth Religious Wave (1979-2020s).

The volume's first part (pp. 1-63) focuses on "Terrorism before the Global Form: From the First Century to the Twentieth". This overview also contains the author's definition of terrorism: "Terror is violence employed for a religious or political objective and is not limited by the accepted moral norms that limit violence. Both governments and rebels may use terror. (...) Rebels using violence to achieve a political or religious end are terrorists when they operate unfettered by military rules governing violence" (p.3). The author explicitly excludes from his analysis "terrorist groups that fight to protect the dominant system" (p.3) as well as mere-ly local terrorism which has different patterns and durations. His main concerns are secret underground groups; therefore, he also excludes, for instance, the 200,000 Fascist Blackshirts of Benito Mussolini in Italy and the 500,000 Nazi Brownshirts of Adolf Hitler in Germany who showed their true colours above ground and openly when engaging in acts of political violence against their perceived opponents in the 1920s and beyond.

In terms of theory, Prof. Rapoport uses the half-forgotten concept of "generation" as principal conceptual tool, with each generation lasting around 40 years. He finds that "each wave of global terror was generated with the hope that the world could be changed dramatically" (p.10). "A wave", he notes, "is stimulated by dramatic international political events, [and] consists of the actions of many different organizations sharing similar tactics and/or objectives" (p.10). He argues that "Waves overlap in the sense that during one's decline, a new one is emerging" (p.270). The book is rich in empirical details. Regarding the first historical wave, Prof. Rapoport notes, for instance, that "At the high point (1890-1910) terror activity occurred on all six inhabited continents and in at least thirty-eight nation-states" (p.102). The third, New Left historical wave, he specifies, "contained 404 groups, 212 'separatists' and 192 'revolutionaries' (p.159). Only about two percent of the third historical wave groups were successful in achieving at least one important aim (p.185).

In the concluding chapter, the author addresses the question whether or not a Fifth Wave is emerging. Based on the criteria Rapoport specified for historical waves, Vincent Augur, among others, has argued in *Perspectives on Terrorism* (Vol.14, Issue 3, June 2020) that Europe's far right apparently initiated the Fifth Wave in 2010 (p.270). Prof. Rapoport, after listing and discussing far right terrorist attacks since 2010, leaves the question open:" Far-right terror and its distinctive characteristics will certainly persist for a few more years, but will it last long enough to constitute a Fifth Wave?" (p.305).

What makes this volume an especially significant contribution to the academic literature, is the author's depth and width of historical knowledge, laced with bold observations of parallels between past and present terrorism events and trends. He notes that "The first three waves aimed to achieve various goals the French

Revolution had introduced. But the Fourth Wave was hostile to the French Revolution's aim of creating a world of secular nation-states" (p.199). Prof. Rapoport's writing is crisp and going to the heart of the issues he highlights in his survey of 140 years of modern non-state terrorism. The text is spiced with lengthy insightful quotes from terrorist theorists and practitioners; this gives his narrative both authenticity and vividness. Prof. Rapoport has taken note of the criticism that met his seminal article from 2001 and bolstered his case with new evidence. As a result, his historical wave theory stands stronger than before. However, his book does not stand or fall with the acceptance of rejection of his grand theory. It is a vivid history of how non-state modern terrorism originating in Europe spread across the globe by imitation and contagion.

Rapoport embeds his narrative in the wider history of militant and revolutionary social movements and also takes into account the effects of individual and collective counter-terrorist measures by governments. *Waves of Global Terrorism* is bound to become a classic and deserves to be read as basic text by all students and analysts of modern terrorism.

About the Reviewer: Alex P. Schmid is Editor-in-Chief of 'Perspectives on Terrorism' and a Distinguished Fellow of the International Centre for Counter-Terrorism (ICCT) in The Hague.

Bibliography: Terrorism Research Literature (Part 4)

Compiled and selected by Judith Tinnes

[Bibliographic Series of Perspectives on Terrorism – BSPT-JT-2022-3]

Abstract

This bibliography contains journal articles, book chapters, books, edited volumes, theses, and grey literature on the field of Terrorism Research, its sub-disciplines (such as Critical Terrorism Studies), and related disciplines (such as Security Studies), central concepts, theories, methods, models, approaches, frameworks, and research topics. It focuses on recent publications (up to September 2022) and should not be considered as exhaustive. The literature has been retrieved by manually browsing more than 200 core and periphery sources in the field of Terrorism Studies. Additionally, full-text and reference retrieval systems have been employed to broaden the search.

Keywords: bibliography, resources, literature, terrorism research, terrorism studies, concepts, theories, methods, models, approaches, frameworks, research topics.

NB: All websites were last visited on 17.09.2022. This subject bibliography is the fourth installment of a four-part series (for earlier bibliographies, see: <u>Part 1</u>, <u>Part 2</u>, and <u>Part 3</u>). To avoid duplication, this compilation only includes literature not contained in the previous parts. - See also Note for the Reader at the end of this literature list.

Bibliographies and Other Resources

For a compilation of resources (including a meta-bibliography) see:

Tinnes, Judith (2022, August): A Resources List for Terrorism Research: Journals, Websites, Bibliographies (2022 Edition). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(4), 64-101. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/</u> <u>content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-4/tinnes.pdf</u>

Books and Edited Volumes

Abbas, Ali E.; Tambe, Milind; von Winterfeldt, Detlof (Eds.) (2017): *Improving Homeland Security Decisions*. New York: Cambridge University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316676714</u>

Ahmed, Shamila (2020): *The "War on Terror"*, *State Crime and Radicalization: A Constitutive Theory of Radicalization.* (Palgrave Studies in Risk, Crime and Society). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40138-2</u>

Akhgar, Babak; Staniforth, Andrew; Bosco, Francesca (Eds.) (2014): *Cyber Crime and Cyber Terrorism Investigator's Handbook*. Waltham: Syngress.

Al-Attar, Zainab (2019): *Extremism, Radicalisation and Mental Health: Handbook for Practitioners.* [e-Book]. Brussels: Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN). URL: <u>https://home-affairs.ec.europa.eu/</u> <u>pages/page/ran-hsc-handbook-extremism-radicalisation-mental-health-handbook-practitioners-november-2019_en</u>

Ashe, Stephen D. et al. (Eds.) (2021): *Researching the Far Right: Theory, Method and Practice*. (Routledge Studies in Fascism and the Far Right). Abingdon: Routledge.

Atamuradova, Farangiz; Macdonald, Stuart; Burchill, Richard (Eds.) (2019): *Lessons from P/CVE Research: Innovative Methods, Challenges, and Good Practices.* [e-Book]. Abu Dhabi: Hedayah. URL: <u>https://hedayah.</u> <u>com/resources/lessons-from-p-cve-research-innovative-methods-challenges-good-practices</u>

Atamuradova, Farangiz; Zeiger, Sara (Eds.) (2021): *Researching the Evolution of Countering Violent Extremism.* [e-Book]. Abu Dhabi: Hedayah. URL: <u>https://hedayah.com/resources/researching-the-evolu-</u> <u>tion-of-cve</u> Awan, Akil N.; Lewis, James (in press): Radicalisation: A Global and Comparative Perspective. C. Hurst.

Bakker, Edwin; Jeanine de Roy van Zuidewijn (2022): *Terrorism and Counterterrorism Studies: Comparing Theory and Practice.* (2nd revised edition). Leiden: Leiden University Press.

Balleck, Barry J. (2018): Modern American Extremism and Domestic Terrorism: An Encyclopedia of Extremists and Extremist Groups. Santa Barbara: ABC-CLIO.

Basuchoudhary, Atin et al. (2018): *Predicting Hotspots: Using Machine Learning to Understand Civil Conflict.* Lanham: Lexington Books.

Bellasio, Jacopo et al. (2018): *Counterterrorism Evaluation: Taking Stock and Looking Ahead*. [e-Book]. (RAND Research Reports, RR-2628-WODC). Santa Monica: RAND Corporation. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/RR2628</u>

Ben Jaffel, Hager; Larsson, Sebastian (Eds.) (2022): *Problematising Intelligence Studies: Towards a New Research Agenda*. (Routledge New Intelligence Studies). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003205463</u>

Ben Slama, Brahim; Kemmesies, Uwe (Eds.) (2020, July): *Handbuch Extremismusprävention: Gesamtgesell-schaftlich. Phänomenübergreifend.* [e-Book]. (Polizei+Forschung, Vol. 54). Wiesbaden: Bundeskriminal-amt. URL: <u>https://www.bka.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/DE/Publikationen/Publikationsreihen/PolizeiUnd-Forschung/1_54_HandbuchExtremismuspraevention.html</u>

Berger, J. M. (2018): Extremism. (The MIT Press Essential Knowledge Series). Cambridge: The MIT Press.

Bliesemann de Guevara, Berit; Bøås, Morten (Eds.) (2021): *Doing Fieldwork in Areas of International Intervention: A Guide to Research in Violent and Closed Contexts.* (Spaces of Peace, Security and Development). Bristol: Bristol University Press.

Brown, Joseph M. (2020): *Force of Words: The Logic of Terrorist Threats*. (Columbia Studies in Terrorism and Irregular Warfare). New York: Columbia University Press.

Bunker, Robert J.; Bunker, Pamela Ligouri (2018, August): *Radical Islamist English-Language Online Magazines: Research Guide, Strategic Insights, and Policy Response.* [e-Book]. Carlisle: Strategic Studies Institute (SSI) / U.S. Army War College Press. URL: <u>https://press.armywarcollege.edu/monographs/934/</u>

Byrne, Sean et al. (Eds.) (2020): *Routledge Companion to Peace and Conflict Studies*. (Routledge Companions). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315182070</u>

Chenoweth, Erica et al. (Eds.) (2019): *The Oxford Handbook of Terrorism*. (Oxford Handbooks). Oxford: Oxford University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780198732914.001.0001</u>

Clark, Janine A.; Cavatorta, Francesco (Eds.) (2018): *Political Science Research in the Middle East and North Africa: Methodological and Ethical Challenges.* New York: Oxford University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780190882969.001.0001</u>

Crelinsten, Ronald (2021): *Terrorism, Democracy, and Human Security: A Communication Model.* (Political Violence). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003016816</u>

Daase, Christopher; Deitelhoff, Nicole; Junk, Julian (Eds.) (2019): Gesellschaft Extrem: Was wir über Radikalisierung wissen. Frankfurt a.M.: Campus-Verlag.

Dawson, Laura; Edwards, Charlie; Jeffray, Calum (2014, May): *Learning and Adapting: The Use of Monitoring and Evaluation in Countering Violent Extremism: A Handbook for Practitioners.* [e-Book]. London: Royal United Services Institute (RUSI). URL: <u>https://rusi.org/explore-our-research/publications/ru-</u> <u>si-books/learning-and-adapting-use-monitoring-and-evaluation-countering-violent-extremism</u>

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

Dean, Christopher; Kessels, Eelco (2018, August): *Compendium of Good Practices in the Rehabilitation and Reintegration of Violent Extremist Offenders*. [e-Book]. Washington, DC: Global Center on Cooperative Security. URL: <u>https://www.globalcenter.org/publications/compendium-of-good-practices-in-the-rehabili-tation-and-reintegration-of-violent-extremist-offenders</u>

de Goede, Marieke; Bosma, Esmé; Pallister-Wilkins, Polly (Eds.) (2020): *Secrecy and Methods in Security Research: A Guide to Qualitative Fieldwork*. Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429398186</u>

Desch, Michael C. (2019): *Cult of the Irrelevant: The Waning Influence of Social Science on National Security.* (Princeton Studies in International History and Politics). Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Deschaux-Dutard, Delphine (Ed.) (2021): *Research Methods in Defence Studies: A Multidisciplinary Overview*. Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429198236</u>

Deutschmann. Emanuel et al. (Eds.) (2020): *Computational Conflict Research*. (Computational Social Sciences). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29333-8</u>

de Werd, Peter (2020): US Intelligence and Al Qaeda: Analysis by Contrasting Narratives. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Dorroll, Courtney M. (Ed.) (2019): *Teaching Islamic Studies in the Age of ISIS, Islamophobia, and the Internet.* Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Dunning, Michael (2021): *Britain and Terrorism: A Sociological Investigation*. (Palgrave Studies on Norbert Elias). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72300-2</u>

English, Richard (Ed.) (2021): *The Cambridge History of Terrorism*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108556248</u>

Fadil, Nadia; de Koning, Martijn; Ragazzi, Francesco (Eds.) (2019): *Radicalization in Belgium and the Netherlands: Critical Perspectives on Violence and Security.* (Library of European Studies). London: I.B. Tauris.

Faure Walker, Rob (2021): *The Emergence of "Extremism": Exposing the Violent Discourse and Language of "Radicalization"*. London: Bloomsbury Academic.

Feddes, Allard R. et al. (2020): Psychological Perspectives on Radicalization. Abingdon: Routledge.

Fitzgerald, James; Ali, Nadya; Armstrong, Megan A. (Eds.) (2018): *Terrorism and Policy Relevance: Critical Perspectives*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Forsberg, Erika; Birnir, Jóhanna K.; Davenport, Christian (Eds.) (2018): *Ethnic Politics and Conflict/Violence: State of the Field and New Directions*. (Ethnopolitics). Abingdon: Routledge.

Frank, Aaron B. et al. (2022): *An Exploratory Examination of Agent-Based Modeling for the Study of Social Movements*. [e-Book]. (RAND Research Reports, RR-A1646-1). Santa Monica: RAND Corporation. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/RRA1646-1</u>

Frumkim, Lara A.; Morrison, John F.; Silke, Andrew (Eds.) (in press): *A Research Agenda for Terrorism Studies*. (Elgar Research Agendas). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Gasztold, Aleksandra (2020): *Feminist Perspectives on Terrorism: Critical Approaches to Security Studies*. Cham: Springer. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-37234-7</u>

Gearon, Liam Francis (2018): Education, Security and Intelligence Studies. Abingdon: Routledge.

Gearon, Liam Francis (Ed.) (2020): *The Routledge International Handbook of Universities, Security and Intelligence Studies.* (Routledge International Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.</u>

org/10.4324/9780203702086

Gentry, Caron (2020): *Disordered Violence: How Gender, Race and Heteronormativity Structure Terrorism.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3366/edinburgh/9781474424806.001.0001</u>

Gohel, Sajjan M.; Forster, Peter K. (Academic Project Leads & Eds.) et al. (2020, May): *Counter-Terrorism Reference Curriculum (CTRC)*. [e-Book]. Brussels, Belgium: North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO). URL: <u>https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics_176310.htm</u>

Grimm, Jannis J. et al. (2020): *Safer Field Research in the Social Sciences: A Guide to Human and Digital Security in Hostile Environments.* London: SAGE.

Gunaratna, Rohan; Hussin, Sabariah (Eds.) (2019): *Deradicalisation and Terrorist Rehabilitation: A Framework for Policy-Making and Implementation*. (Routledge Studies in the Politics of Disorder and Instability). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429469534</u>

Gupta, Dipak K. (2021): Understanding Terrorism and Political Violence: The Life Cycle of Birth, Growth, Transformation, and Demise. (2nd ed.). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429297427</u>

Haner, Murat; Sloan, Melissa M. (Eds.) (2022): *Theories of Terrorism: Contemporary Perspectives*. (Advances in Criminological Theory, Vol. 28). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003026303</u>

Hansen, Stig Jarle; Lid, Stian (Eds.) (2020): *Routledge Handbook of Deradicalisation and Disengagement*. (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge.

Harff, Barbara; Gurr, Ted Robert (Eds.) (2019): *Preventing Mass Atrocities: Policies and Practices*. (Routledge Studies in Genocide and Crimes against Humanity). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315665931</u>

Hendrickson, Noel (2018): *Reasoning for Intelligence Analysts: A Multidimensional Approach of Traits, Techniques, and Targets.* (Security and Professional Intelligence Education Series, Vol. 28). Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.

Herzog-Evans, Martine; Benbouriche, Massil (Eds.) (2019): *Evidence-Based Work with Violent Extremists: International Implications of French Terrorist Attacks and Responses.* Lanham: Lexington Books.

Hock, Klaus; Käsehage, Nina (Eds.) (2020): "Militant Islam" vs. "Islamic Militancy"? Religion, Violence, Category Formation and Applied Research: Contested Fields in the Discourses of Scholarship. (Religionswissenschaft: Forschung und Wissenschaft). Zürich: LIT.

Hofman, Joanna; Sutherland, Alex (Eds.) (2018): *Evaluating Interventions that Prevent or Counter Violent Extremism: A Practical Guide*. [e-Book]. (RAND Research Reports, RR-2094-EC). Santa Monica: RAND Corporation. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/RR2094</u>

Holzer, Jacob C. et al. (Eds.) (2022): *Lone-Actor Terrorism: An Integrated Framework*. New York: Oxford University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/med/9780190929794.001.0001</u>

Jackson, Paul; Beswick, Danielle (2018): *Conflict, Security and Development: An Introduction*. (3rd ed.). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351264167</u>

Jackson, Richard et al. (Eds.) (2018): *Critical Terrorism Studies at Ten: Contributions, Cases and Future Challenges*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Jones, David Martin et al. (Eds.) (2019): *Handbook of Terrorism and Counter Terrorism Post 9/11*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Kattelman, Kyle; Chouraeshkenazi, Monique M.; Boateng, Francis (Eds.) (2019): Terrorism: Strategic and

Methodological Approaches. San Diego: Cognella Academic Publishing.

Keskin, Tugrul (2018): *Middle East Studies after September 11: Neo-Orientalism, American Hegemony and Academia.* (Studies in Critical Social Sciences, Vol. 120). Leiden: Brill.

Khader, Majeed et al. (Eds.) (2019): *Learning from Violent Extremist Attacks: Behavioural Sciences Insights for Practitioners and Policymakers*. Singapore: World Scientific. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1142/11134</u>

King, Colin; Walker, Clive; Gurulé, Jimmy (Eds.) (2018): *The Palgrave Handbook of Criminal and Terrorism Financing Law*. (Palgrave Handbooks). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: <u>https://doi.</u> <u>org/10.1007/978-3-319-64498-1</u>

Lindahl, Sondre (2018): A Critical Theory of Counterterrorism: Ontology, Epistemology and Normativity. (Routledge Critical Terrorism Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Lippman, Matthew (2019): *Terrorism and Counterterrorism: Theory, History, and Contemporary Challeng*es. San Diego: Cognella Academic Publishing.

Loadenthal, Michael (Ed.) (2021): *Prosecuting Political Violence: Collaborative Research and Method.* (Political Violence). Abingdon: Routledge.

Logan, Caroline (Ed.) (2022): *Violent Extremism: A Primer for Mental Health Practitioners*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Lohlker, Rüdiger; Abu-Hamdeh, Tamara (2019): *Jihadism Revisited: Rethinking a Well-Known Phenomenon*. (Jihadism and Terrorism, Vol. 2). Berlin: Logos.

Lueg, Klarissa; Lundholt, Marianne Wolff (Eds.) (2021): *Routledge Handbook of Counter-Narratives*. (Routledge International Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge.

Lynch, Orla; Joyce, Carmel (2019): *Applying Psychology: The Case of Terrorism and Political Violence*. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons.

Lynn, John A., II (2019): Another Kind of War: The Nature and History of Terrorism. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Malešević, Siniša (2017): *The Rise of Organised Brutality: A Historical Sociology of Violence*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316155332</u>

Marcellino, William et al. (2020): *Counter-Radicalization Bot Research: Using Social Bots to Fight Violent Extremism.* [e-Book]. (RAND Research Reports, RR-2705-DOS). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/RR2705</u>

Marrero Rocha, Inmaculada; Trujillo Mendoza, Humberto M. (Eds.) (2019): *Jihadism, Foreign Fighters and Radicalization in the EU: Legal, Functional and Psychosocial Responses*. (Contemporary Terrorism Studies). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429468506</u>

Martin, Clarence Augustus; Prager, Fynnwin (2019): *Terrorism: An International Perspective*. Los Angeles: SAGE.

Martini, Alice (Ed.) (2021): *Bringing Normativity into Critical Terrorism Studies*. (Routledge Critical Terrorism Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Martini, Alice; Ford, Kieran; Jackson, Richard (Eds.) (2020): *Encountering Extremism: Theoretical Issues and Local Challenges*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

McDonald, Kevin (2018): Radicalization. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Mickolus, Edward (2021): *Terrorist Events Worldwide 2019-2020*. La Vergne: Wandering Woods Publishers.

Moskalenko, Sophia; McCauley, Clark (2020): *Radicalization to Terrorism: What Everyone Needs to Know*[®]. New York: Oxford University Press.

Mozaffari, Mehdi (2017): Islamism: A New Totalitarianism. Berlin: Hans Schiler.

Muro, Diego; Wilson, Tim (Eds.) (2022): *Contemporary Terrorism Studies*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Nilsson, Per-Erik (2018): *Open Source Jihad: Problematizing the Academic Discourse on Islamic Terrorism in Contemporary Europe*. (Elements in Religion and Violence). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108552233</u>

Pearson, Elizabeth; Winterbotham, Emily; Brown, Katherine E. (2020): *Countering Violent Extremism: Making Gender Matter.* (Rethinking Political Violence). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-21962-8</u>

Phelan, Alexandra (Ed.) (2021): *Terrorism, Gender and Women: Toward an Integrated Research Agenda.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Phillips, Peter J.; Pohl, Gabriela (2021): *Behavioural Economics and Terrorism: Law Enforcement and Patterns of Behaviour*. Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003144373</u>

Prunckun, Henry W. (2019): *Methods of Inquiry for Intelligence Analysis*. (3rd ed.). Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield.

Prunckun, Henry W.; Whitford, Troy (2019): Terrorism & Counterterrorism: A Comprehensive Introduction to Actors and Actions. Boulder: Lynne Rienner.

Python, Andre (2020): *Debunking Seven Terrorism Myths Using Statistics*. (ASA-CRC Series on Statistical Reasoning in Science and Society). Boca Raton: CRC Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003034230</u>

Rabenstein, Christiane; Ratcliffe, Marnie (2019): *Blackstone's Counter-Terrorism Handbook*. (4th ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Rapoport, David C. (2022): *Waves of Global Terrorism: From 1879 to the Present*. New York: Columbia University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7312/rapo13302</u>

Ronczkowski, Michael R. (2018): *Terrorism and Organized Hate Crime: Intelligence Gathering, Analysis, and Investigations*. (4th ed.). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315203133</u>

Rosand, Eric et al. (2020, January): Non-Custodial Rehabilitation and Reintegration in Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism and Radicalization that Lead to Terrorism: A Guidebook for Policymakers and Practitioners in South-Eastern Europe. [e-Book]. Vienna: Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe [OSCE]. URL: <u>https://www.osce.org/secretariat/444838</u>

Rothenberger, Liane et al. (Eds.): *Terrorismusforschung: Interdisziplinäres Handbuch für Wissenschaft und Praxis*. (ISPK Studien zur Terrorismusforschung, Vol. 3). Baden-Baden: Nomos. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5771/9783748904212</u>

Saul, Ben (Ed.) (2020): *Research Handbook on International Law and Terrorism*. (2nd ed.). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Schmid, Alex P. (Ed.) (2021): *Handbook of Terrorism Prevention and Preparedness*. The Hague: ICCT Press. URL: <u>https://icct.nl/handbook-of-terrorism-prevention-and-preparedness</u>

Shiffman, Gary M. (2020): *The Economics of Violence: How Behavioral Science Can Transform our View of Crime, Insurgency, and Terrorism.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316136072</u>

Silke, Andrew (Ed.) (2019): *Routledge Handbook of Terrorism and Counterterrorism*. (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315744636</u>

Silva, Derek M. D.; Deflem, Mathieu (Eds.) (2020): *Radicalization and Counter-Radicalization*. (Sociology of Crime, Law and Deviance, Vol. 25). Bingley: Emerald. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S1521-6136202025</u>

Stohl, Michael; Burchill, Richard; Englund, Scott (Eds.) (2017): *Constructions of Terrorism: An Interdisciplinary Approach to Research and Policy*. Oakland: University of California Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.</u> <u>org/10.1525/9780520967397</u>

Tar, Usman A. (Ed.) (2021): *The Routledge Handbook of Counterterrorism and Counterinsurgency in Africa*. Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351271929</u>

Taylor, Max; Horgan, John (Eds.) (2022): Ethics and Terrorism. Abingdon: Routledge.

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) (2017): Handbook on Children Recruited and Exploited by Terrorist and Violent Extremist Groups: The Role of the Justice System. [e-Book]. Vienna: Author. URL: <u>https://www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/Child-Victims/Handbook on Children Recruited and Exploited by Terrorist and Violent Extremist Groups the Role of the Justice System.E.pdf</u>

van den Bos, Kees (2018): Why People Radicalize: How Unfairness Judgments are Used to Fuel Radical Beliefs, Extremist Behaviors, and Terrorism. (Perspectives on Justice and Morality). New York: Oxford University Press.

Vuori, Juha A.; Saugmann Andersen, Rune (Eds.) (2018): *Visual Security Studies: Sights and Spectacles of Insecurity and War.* (Routledge New Security Studies). Abingdon: Routledge.

Wilkinson, Matthew L. N. (2019): *The Genealogy of Terror: How to Distinguish Between Islam, Islamism and Islamist Extremism.* (Law and Religion). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315514451</u>

Williams, Michael J. (2021): *Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism: Designing and Evaluating Evidence-Based Programs*. (Political Violence). Abingdon: Routledge. DOI: <u>https://doi.</u> <u>org/10.4324/9780429441738</u>

Yakeley, Jessica; Cundy, Paul (Eds.) (2019): *Psychoanalytic Perspectives on Fundamentalism, Radicalisation and Terrorism.* Abingdon: Routledge.

Zeiger, Sara (Ed.) (2018): *Expanding the Evidence Base for Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism: Research Solutions*. [e-Book]. Abu Dhabi: Hedayah. URL: <u>https://hedayah.com/app/uploads/2021/09/File-782018161624.pdf</u>

Theses

Alshabani, Bayan Omar (2015, September): *The Misrepresentation of Jihad in Public and Academic Discourse and its Impact on the Integration of a Multi-Faith Society.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom). URL: <u>http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/78418</u>

Alshahrani, Haya Mesfer (2020): *Classification of Arabic Extremist Web Content through Arabic Textual Analysis*. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom). DOI: <u>https://doi.</u> <u>org/10.48730/c6bk-nn58</u>

Atta, Francis Kwabena (2019, July): *Constructing to Destroy: A Critical Examination of the Role of Identity Construction in the Study of Terrorism in West Africa*. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Ghana, Legon, Ghana). URL: <u>http://ugspace.ug.edu.gh/handle/123456789/33378</u>

Bartels, Elizabeth M. (2020): *Building Better Games for National Security Policy Analysis: Towards a Social Scientific Approach*. (Doctoral Thesis, Pardee RAND Graduate School, Santa Monica, United States). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/RGSD437</u>

Benigni, Matthew Curran (2017, May): *Detection and Analysis of Online Extremist Communities*. (Doctoral Thesis, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, United States). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1184/R1/6715841.</u> <u>v1</u>

Berkowitz, Jeremy Matthew (2018): *Dangerous Delegation: Explaining the Rationales and Outcomes of State Sponsorship of Terrorism through the Principal-Agent Framework*. (Doctoral Thesis, State University of New York at Binghamton, Binghamton, United States). URL: <u>https://orb.binghamton.edu/dissertation_and_theses/30</u>

Blackmar, John M. (2018, November): *The Spread of Terror: A Geospatial Analysis of Civilian Attacks in Afghanistan, 2001 to 2015.* (Master's Thesis, Harvard University, Cambridge, United States). URL: <u>http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:42004031</u>

Brady, Erika (2021): *Assessing Counter-Terrorism Strategies through a Mixed Methods Research Design: The Case of Contest in the UK.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of St Andrews, St Andrews, United Kingdom). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.17630/sta/183</u>

Burns, Alexander George (2019, November): *The Development of Strategic Culture in Terrorist Organisations*. (Doctoral Thesis, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.26180/5e-9d3a3ecb5fb</u>

Clarke, Rosalie D. (2019, May): A Feminist Critique of the Militarization of Knowledge Production on Terrorism Studies: A Scholar-Activist Counter-Narrative Account. (Doctoral Thesis, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, United Kingdom). URL: <u>http://irep.ntu.ac.uk/id/eprint/37682</u>

Doering, Sara (2019, August): *Exploring the Covariates of Domestic Terrorism in Canada: A Model of Provincial Variation in Terrorist Incidents.* (Master's Thesis, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, Canada). URL: <u>https://summit.sfu.ca/item/19716</u>

Dumont, Dion (2016, August): Dutch and Belgian Foreign Fighter Pathways: A First Empirical Analysis of Dutch and Belgian Foreign Fighters Using a Theoretical Framework Developed to Map Pathways and their (Un)intended Consequences in Syria and Iraq. (Master's Thesis, Leiden University, Leiden, The Netherlands). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/53670</u>

Eady, Gregory Daniel (2018): *Essays in the Study of Large-Scale Survey Data*. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1807/82958</u>

Fodeman, Ari (2020): *Measuring the Thresholds of Extremism: Testing for Measurement Invariance Between Muslim Converts and Muslim Non-Converts of Radicalism with an Ordinal Model.* (Master's Thesis, Georgia State University, Atlanta, United States). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.57709/18371405</u>

Frissen, Thomas (2019): (Hard)wired for Terror: Unraveling the Mediatized Roots and Routes of Radicalization. (Doctoral Thesis, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium). URL: <u>https://limo.libis.be/permalink/f/1kvepl3/</u> <u>LIRIAS2790809</u>

Gallagher, Martin Joseph (2021, August): *At the Edges of Terror: An Assessment of the Role of Lone Wolf Terrorists, Terrorist Group Participants and Organised Criminals in Contemporary Terrorism.* (Doctoral Thesis, Lancaster University, Lancaster, United Kingdom). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.17635/lancaster/the-sis/1456</u>

Gielen, Amy-Jane (2020): *Cutting through Complexity: Evaluating Countering Violent Extremism (CVE)*. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands). URL: <u>https://hdl.handle.net/11245.1/6dcc3045-7d30-497d-9c04-26e36df2e47c</u>

Gillani, Dayyab (2016, December): *The Definitional Dilemma of Terrorism: Seeking Clarity in Light of Terrorism Scholarship*. (Doctoral Thesis, University of St Andrews, St Andrews, United Kingdom). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10023/12258</u>

Gutfraind, Alexander (2010, February): *Mathematical Terrorism*. (Doctoral Thesis, Cornell University, Ithaca, United States). URL: <u>https://hdl.handle.net/1813/14741</u>

Hammons, Joseph J. (2018): *Exploitation and Domination: A Marxist Analysis of the Impact of Class Structure on State Terrorism.* (Master's Thesis, Wright State University, Dayton, United States). URL: <u>http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=wright1621010238325563</u>

Holm, Raven R. (2017, March): *Natural Language Processing of Online Propaganda as a Means of Passively Monitoring an Adversarial Ideology.* (Master's Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, United States). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/52993</u>

Hudd, Ellie Catherine (2020, April): *Quantifying and Typifying Image Use in Television News Coverage of Mass Shootings*. (Master's Thesis, University of Kentucky, Lexington, United States). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.13023/etd.2020.347</u>

Ippolito, Steven Christopher (2017, July): *Convergence – A Homeland Security and Educational Problem: A Mixed Methodological Study.* (Doctoral Thesis, Northcentral University, Prescott Valley, United States). URL: <u>https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/convergence-homeland-security-educational-problem/docview/1972843370/se-2</u>

Johnston, Amanda K. (2009, December): *Assessing the Effectiveness of Deradicalization Programs on Islamist Extremists*. (Master's Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, United States). URL: <u>http://hdl.</u> <u>handle.net/10945/4420</u>

Kleinmann, Scott Matthew (2017, September): *Jihadist Radicalisation in the United States: Testing a Model of New Religious Movement Conversion*. (Doctoral Thesis, King's College London, London, United Kingdom). URL: <u>https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/jihadist-radicalisation-in-the-united-states-</u> <u>(bbdd0181-47dc-4aa5-b8cb-c775d30f0b52).html</u>

Koopman, Daan (2018, June): *Modelling Terrorist Attacks*. (Master's Thesis, Delft Institute of Applied Mathematics, Delft, The Netherlands). URL: <u>http://resolver.tudelft.nl/uuid:8be343eb-300f-456e-b700-b8251d1f2c0e</u>

Lindberg, Nikolaj (2022, March): *In Other Words: Crafting Fiction to Understand Theory*. (Master's Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, United States). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/69672</u>

Mazicioglu, John (2017, August): *Adversarial Decision Making in Counterterrorism Applications*. (Doctoral Thesis, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, United States). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.25772/</u> JCXP-PF06

Neudecker, Christine Helene (2017, Summer): *CVE Programs and Initiatives through the Ages: A Snapshot of the Past, Present, and Future.* (Master's Thesis, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, Canada). URL: <u>http://summit.sfu.ca/item/17537</u>

Nigitsch, Philipp (2020): Spielarten des Fifth-Wave-Terrorism: Kritische Perspektiven für neue Strategien in der Terrorismusbekämpfung. (Master's Thesis, University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.25365/thesis.61728</u>

Python, André (2017, July): *Modelling the Spatial Dynamics of Non-State Terrorism: World Study, 2002-2013.* (Doctoral Thesis, University of St Andrews, St Andrews, United Kingdom). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10023/12067</u>

Qureshi, Asim (2018, September): Experiencing the War on Terror: Bringing Experiential Knowledge into

Critical Terrorism Studies. (Doctoral Thesis, University of Kent, Canterbury, United Kingdom). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.22024/UniKent/01.02.73277</u>

Raitanen, Jenni (2021): *Deep Interest in School Shootings Online*. (Doctoral Thesis, Tampere University, Tampere, Finland). URL: <u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-03-1814-7</u>

Ryabchiy, Kateryna (2018, May): *Rethinking the Crime-Terror Continuum in the 21st Century: Post-9/11 to the Present.* (Master's Thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2263/65313</u>

Shanks, Spencer A. (2018, May): *China's International Socialization? A Case Study of the Definition of Terrorism*. (Master's Thesis, University of Kansas, Lawrence, United States). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1808/27951</u>

Shapiro, Brandon A. (2021, Spring): *Kinetic Action and Radicalization: Theory, Data, and Model.* (Doctoral Thesis, George Mason University, Fairfax, United States). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1920/12611</u>

Tench, Stephen Ashley (2018, May): *Space-Time Modelling of Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism*. (Doctoral Thesis, University College London, London, United Kingdom). URL: <u>https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10058705</u>

Vanderzee, Anthony B. (2018, June): *Predicting the Spread of Terrorist Organizations Using Graphs*. (Master's Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, United States). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/59610</u>

Wang, Siyi (2020, September): *Self-Exciting Point Process for Modelling Terror Attack Data*. (Master's Thesis, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Canada). URL: <u>https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/2323</u>

Wilcox, Peter R. (2017, December): *Forecasting the Future of the Islamic State: An Agent-Based Rational Choice Model and Social Network Analysis Approach*. (Master's Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, United States). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/56846</u>

Journal Articles and Book Chapters

Abay Gaspar, Hande et al. (2020): Radicalization and Political Violence – Challenges of Conceptualizing and Researching Origins, Processes and Politics of Illiberal Beliefs. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *14*(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3802</u>

Abeysinghe, Bhashithe et al. (2020): A Semantic Segmentation Approach to Recognize Assault Rifles in ISIS Propaganda Images. In: *ICSC 2020: 14th IEEE International Conference on Semantic Computing: Proceedings*. Piscataway: Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 424-429. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ICSC.2020.00082</u>

Abozaid, Ahmed M. (2022): Terrorism Studies, Counterterrorism, and the Use of Force. In: *Counterterrorism Strategies in Egypt: Permanent Exceptions in the War on Terror*. Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 1.

Abrahms, Max (2020): Discussion 2 – Baghdadi Should Have Read Rules for Rebels. *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 18-21. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Abrahms, Max (2020): In Response – Terrorism Studies: Blind Spots in the Field. *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 30-32. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Ackerman, Gary A.; Burnham, Michael (2021): Towards a Definition of Terrorist Ideology. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(6), 1160-1190. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2019.1599862</u>

Acosta, Benjamin (2019, September): Reconceptualizing Resistance Organizations and Outcomes: Introducing the Revolutionary and Militant Organizations Dataset (REVMOD). *Journal of Peace Research*, 56(5), 724-734. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343319835888</u> URL: <u>https://ir.huji.ac.il/sites/default/</u> files/internationalrelations/files/21-11-2018_benjamin_acosta_- paper.pdf

Aggarwal, Neil Krishan (2021, October): Analyzing Predisposing, Precipitating, and Perpetuating Factors of Militancy through Declassified Interrogation Summaries: A Case Study. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 58(5), 683-696. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461520919317</u>

Ahmad, Shakeel et al. (2019, December): Detection and Classification of Social Media-Based Extremist Affiliations Using Sentiment Analysis Techniques. *Human-centric Computing and Information Sciences*, 9(1), Article 24. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13673-019-0185-6</u>

Alberda, Daphne et al. (2021, April): The European Database of Terrorist Offenders (EDT): Development, Usability and Options. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2), 77-99. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/bi-naries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/alberda-et-al.pdf</u>

Albert, Karen E. (2022, July): What Is Rebel Governance? Introducing a New Dataset on Rebel Institutions, 1945–2012. *Journal of Peace Research*, 59(4), 622-630. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00223433211051848</u>

Aleroud, Ahmed; Gangopadhyay, Aryya (2018): Multimode Co-Clustering for Analyzing Terrorist Networks. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 20(5), 1053-1074. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-016-9712-4</u>

Alexander, Dean C. (2018, December): General Principles of Terrorism. *Terrorism: An Electronic Journal and Knowledge Base*, 7(3). URL: <u>https://www.terrorismelectronicjournal.org/terrorism-journal-1/vol-ume-vii-number-3/peer-reviewed-article-general-principles-of-terrorism</u>

Alghamdi, Hanan; Selamat, Ali (2022, January): Techniques to Detect Terrorists/Extremists on the Dark Web: A Review. *Data Technologies and Applications*, 56(4), 461-482. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/DTA-07-2021-0177</u>

Allison, Benjamin V. (2021, April): The Devil's in the Details—or Is He? The Ethics and Politics of Terrorism Data. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2), 125-141. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/con-tent/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/allison.pdf</u>

Alptekin, Hüseyin (2021, March): Tracking Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism: Introducing the Turkey Terrorism Incidents Database. *Mediterranean Politics*. Advance Online Publication. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/1</u>0.1080/13629395.2021.1894727

Al-Saggaf, Yeslam (2018): Online Radicalisation Along a Continuum: From When Individuals Express Grievances to When they Transition into Extremism. In: Raheem Beyah et al. (Eds.): *Security and Privacy in Communication Networks: 14th International Conference, SecureComm 2018, Singapore, Singapore, August 8-10, 2018, Proceedings, Part II.* Cham: Springer, 429-440. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01704-0_24</u>

Alshdaifat, Shadi A.; Silverburg, Sanford R. (2021): Can Terrorism Mold Itself to Outer Space? An International Legal Perspective. *International Journal of Cyber Warfare and Terrorism*, *11*(2), 56-75. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/IJCWT.2021040105</u>

Ambrozik, Caitlin (2019, October): Countering Violent Extremism Globally: A New Global CVE Dataset. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(5), 102-111. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/</u> customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-5/7--ambrozik.pdf

Anders, Therese (2020, November): Territorial Control in Civil Wars: Theory and Measurement Using Machine Learning. *Journal of Peace Research*, *57*(6), 701-714. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320959687</u> URL: <u>https://dornsife.usc.edu/assets/sites/880/docs/territorialcontrol_anders.pdf</u>

Andrew, Christopher (2020): Discussion 6 – Intelligence and Counterterrorism in a Long-Term Perspective: The Perils of Historical Attention-Span Deficit Disorder (HASDD). *Contemporary Voices*, 1(4), 54-58. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u> Andrew, Christopher (2020): In Response – The Study of Terrorism and the Problem of "Apocalyptic". *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 81-84. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Annis, Franklin C. (2019, November): When Editors Fail the PME Community Suffers. *Small Wars Journal*, 11/2019. URL: <u>https://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/when-editors-fail-pme-community-suffers</u>

Anwar, Tasniem (2022, April): Time Will Tell: Defining Violence in Terrorism Court Cases. *Security Dialogue*, *53*(2), 130-147. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/09670106211013716</u>

Aoláin, Fionnuala Ní; Campbell, Colm (2018, November): Managing Terrorism. *Journal of National Security Law & Policy*, 9(3), 367-411. URL: <u>https://jnslp.com/2018/11/12/managing-terrorism</u>

Aran, Gideon (2019): Striking Home: Ideal-Type of Terrorism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(5), 987-1005. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1300581</u>

Araque, Oscar; Iglesias, Carlos A. (2020): An Approach for Radicalization Detection Based on Emotion Signals and Semantic Similarity. *IEEE Access*, 8, 17877-17891. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/AC-</u> <u>CESS.2020.2967219</u>

Araque, Oscar; Iglesias, Carlos A. (2022): An Ensemble Method for Radicalization and Hate Speech Detection Online Empowered by Sentic Computing. *Cognitive Computation*, *14*(1), 48-61. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12559-021-09845-6</u>

Ardovini, Lucia; Biagini, Erika (2021): 10 Years On: New Contextual Factors in the Study of Islamism. *Middle East Critique*, *30*(1), 411-429. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19436149.2021.1989552</u>

Asaka, Jeremiah O. (2021, February): Climate Change – Terrorism Nexus? A Preliminary Review/Analysis of the Literature. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(1), 81-92. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/</u> <u>content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-1/asaka.pdf</u>

Atsa'am, Donald Douglas; Wario, Ruth (2021): Knowledge Extraction on the Nexus Between Terrorism Criteria and Attacks on Private Citizens and Property. *International Journal of Cyber Warfare and Terrorism*, *11*(1), 20-30. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/IJCWT.2021010102</u>

Atsa'am, Donald Douglas; Wario, Ruth; Okpo, Fiona Emokpaire (2020): A New Terrorism Categorization Based on Casualties and Consequences Using Hierarchical Clustering. *Journal of Applied Security Research*, *15*(3), 369-384. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19361610.2020.1769461</u>

Atsa'am, Donald Douglas; Wario, Ruth; Okpo, Fiona Emokpaire (2020): TerrorClassify: An Algorithm for Terror Groups Placement into Hierarchical Categories of Casualties and Consequences. *Journal of Applied Security Research*, 15(4), 568-579. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19361610.2020.1812475</u>

Auger, Vincent A. (2020, June): Right-Wing Terror: A Fifth Global Wave? *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 14(3), 87-97. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terror-ism/2020/issue-3/auger.pdf</u>

Augestad Knudsen, Rita (2020): Measuring Radicalisation: Risk Assessment Conceptualisations and Practice in England and Wales. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *12*(1), 37-54. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2018.1509105</u>

Ayanian, Arin H. et al. (Guest Eds.) (2018): Processes of Radicalization and Polarization in the Context of Transnational Islamist Terrorism. [Special Issue]. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *12*. URL: <u>https://www.ijcv.org/index.php/ijcv/issue/view/259</u>

Baaken, Till et al. (2020): Dissecting Deradicalization: Challenges for Theory and Practice in Germany. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *14*(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3808</u>

Baele, Stephane J. et al. (2018, May): The Ethics of Security Research: An Ethics Framework for Contempo-

rary Security Studies. *International Studies Perspectives*, 19(2), 105-127. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/isp/ekx003</u>

Baier, Dirk (2020): Violence and Radicalism – State of Research and Prevention Perspectives. In: Claudia Heinzelmann; Erich Marks (Eds.): *International Perspectives of Crime Prevention 11: Contributions from the 12th Annual International Forum 2018 within the German Congress on Crime Prevention and from the International Conference on Prevention of Violence and Extremism (PV&E)*. Mönchengladbach: Forum Verlag Godesberg, 29-117. URL: <u>https://www.praeventionstag.de/dokumentation/download.cms?id=2684</u>

Bakali, Naved (2019, Fall): Challenging Terrorism as a Form of "Otherness": Exploring the Parallels Between Far-Right and Muslim Religious Extremism. *Islamophobia Studies Journal*, 5(1), 99-115. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.13169/islastudj.5.1.0099</u>

Bakas, Jason A. (2020, June): "Remodelling:" The Need for More Robust Models and Metrics for Counterterrorism Threat Analysis. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(3), 116-124. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.</u> <u>nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-3/bakas.pdf</u>

Ball, Patrick; Price, Megan (2019, March): Using Statistics to Assess Lethal Violence in Civil and Inter-State War. *Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application*, 6, 63-84. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-statis-tics-030718-105222</u>

Barabash, Natalia; Zhukov, Dmitry (2018): Terrorism as a Self-Organised Criticality Phenomenon. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, 12. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3115</u>

Baruch, Ben et al. (2018, October): Evaluation in an Emerging Field: Developing a Measurement Framework for the Field of Counter-Violent-Extremism. *Evaluation*, *24*(4), 475-495. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389018803218</u>

Batzdorfer, Veronika; Steinmetz, Holger (2020, Summer): Reviewing Radicalization Research Using a Network Approach. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 23, 45-95. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/361</u>

Bayrak, Rıza (2020): A Literature Review on "The Effects of Terrorism on Economy". *Defence Against Terrorism Review*, 13, 85-140. URL: <u>https://www.coedat.nato.int/publication/datr/volumes/Datr_Vol.13.pdf</u>

Beccaro, Andrea (2018): Contemporary Irregular Conflicts: New and Old Ideas. *Sicurezza, Terrorismo e Società*, 8(2), 121-140. URL: <u>http://www.sicurezzaterrorismosocieta.it/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/An-drea-Beccaro-Contemporary-irregular-conflicts_new-and-old-ideas.pdf</u>

Beelmann, Andreas (2020): A Social-Developmental Model of Radicalization: A Systematic Integration of Existing Theories and Empirical Research. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *14*(Focus 1). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3778</u>

Bell, Christine; Badanjak, Sanja (2019, May): Introducing PA-X: A New Peace Agreement Database and Dataset. *Journal of Peace Research*, 56(3), 452-466. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343318819123</u>

Bellavita, Christopher (2019, September): How to Learn About Homeland Security. *Homeland Security Affairs*, *15*, Article 5. URL: <u>https://www.hsaj.org/articles/15395</u>

Bennett, Gina (2019): What I Have Learned About Countering Terrorism. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(3), 328-334. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1518205</u>

Berglund, Christofer; Souleimanov, Emil Aslan (2020): What Is (not) Asymmetric Conflict? From Conceptual Stretching to Conceptual Structuring. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, 13(1), 87-98. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2019.1680855</u>

Berntzen, Lars Erik; Bjørgo, Tore (2021, June): The Term "Lone Wolf" and its Alternatives: Patterns of Public and Academic Use from 2000 to 2020. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(3), 132-141. URL: <u>https://www.</u>

universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-3/bernt-zen-and-bjorgo.pdf

Bieber, Hannah (2021, Fall): Conference Note: The Challenges of Researching Extremism Today. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 28, 183-195. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/499</u>

Binder, Markus K.; Ackerman, Gary A. (2021): Pick Your POICN: Introducing the Profiles of Incidents involving CBRN and Non-State Actors (POICN) Database. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 44(9), 730-754. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2019.1577541</u>

Bjelopera, Jerome P. (2021, November): Commentary: Placing Terrorism in a Violent Non-State Actor Framework for the Great Power Competition Era. *CTC Sentinel*, *14*(9), 21-30. URL: <u>https://ctc.usma.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CTC-SENTINEL-092021.pdf</u>

Blacksin, Isaac (2022, June): Death's Common Sense: Casualty Counts in War Reportage from Syria and Beyond. *Media, War & Conflict.* Advance Online Publication. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/17506352221101269</u>

Blair, Robert A.; Sambanis, Nicholas (2020, November): Forecasting Civil Wars: Theory and Structure in an Age of "Big Data" and Machine Learning. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 64(10), 1885-1915. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002720918923</u>

Blakeley, Ruth; Raphael, Sam (2020): Conducting Effective Research into State Complicity in Human Rights Abuses. *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 196-210. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2017.1</u> 391406

Bloom, Mia M. (2021): Outbidding and Terrorism Research. In: Mona Kanwal Sheikh; Isak Svensson (Eds.): *Religion, Conflict, and Global Society: A Festschrift Celebrating Mark Juergensmeyer.* Copenhagen: Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS), 137-143. URL: <u>https://www.diis.dk/node/24829</u>

Bobashev, Georgiy et al. (2018): Turning Narrative Descriptions of Individual Behavior into Network Visualization and Analysis: Example of Terrorist Group Dynamics. In: Robert Thomson et al. (Eds.): *Social, Cultural, and Behavioral Modeling: 11th International Conference, SBP-BRiMS 2018, Washington, DC, USA, July 10-13, 2018, Proceedings.* (Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 10899). Cham: Springer, 315-328. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93372-6_35</u>

Bogaards, Matthijs (2020): Kinder, Gentler, Safer? A Re-Examination of the Relationship Between Consensus Democracy and Domestic Terrorism. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 43(10), 886-903. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1507312</u> URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328931145</u> Kinder Gentler Safer A Re-Examination of the Relationship between Consensus Democracy and Domestic Terrorism

Bogaards, Matthijs (2020): Coding, Concessions, Conclusions: A Reply to Matt Qvortrup. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 43(10), 910-912. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1529375</u> URL: <u>https://</u> <u>www.researchgate.net/publication/328659293</u> Coding Concessions Conclusions A Reply to Matt <u>Qvortrup</u>

Borum, Randy (2015): Operationally Relevant Research and Practice in Terrorism Threat Assessments. [Article Commentary]. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 2(3-4), 192-194. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000046</u>

Braddock, Kurt (2019): The Impact of Jihadist Terrorist Narratives and How to Counter Them: A Research Synthesis. In: Anthony Richards (Ed.) et al.: *Jihadist Terror: New Threats, New Responses.* London: I.B. Tauris, 15-26.

Brathwaite, Robert; Park, Baekkwan (2019, March): Measurement and Conceptual Approaches to Religious Violence: The Use of Natural Language Processing to Generate Religious Violence Event-Data. *Poli-* *tics and Religion*, *12*(1), 81-122. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1755048318000317</u>

Breen-Smyth, Marie (2020): Interviewing Combatants: Lessons from the Boston College Case. *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 258-274. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2019.1637533</u>

Briggs, Thomas W.; Kennedy, William George (2019, September-December): Active Shooter: An Agent-Based Model of Unarmed Resistance. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 6(3-4), 173-181. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000126</u>

Briggs, Thomas W.; Pollard, Jeffrey W. (2019, September-December): Beyond First-Person Shooter Video Games: Using Computational Modeling and Simulation of Mass Violence for Threat Assessment and Management. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 6(3-4), 182-192. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000128</u>

Brouillette-Alarie, Sébastien et al. (2022, Spring): Systematic Review on the Outcomes of Primary and Secondary Prevention Programs in the Field of Violent Radicalization. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 30, 117-168. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/577</u>

Brown, Joseph M. (2020): Force of Words: The Role of Threats in Terrorism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *32*(7), 1527-1549. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1486301</u>

Brulin, Remi (2020): Terrorism Discourses, Public and Secret. *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 153-174. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2017.1390246</u>

Brunton, Gillian; Wilson, Tim (Eds.) (2020): Terrorism: Its Past, Present and Future Study: A Special Issue to Commemorate CSTPV at 25. *Contemporary Voices*, 1(4). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Buhari, Omer Kemal (2019, Fall): Scientistic Anti-Islamism: The Exploitation of Science and Cognates in Anti-Islamic Narratives. *Islamophobia Studies Journal*, *5*(1), 45-60. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.13169/islas-tudj.5.1.0045</u>

Busher, Joel; Bjørgo, Tore (2020, December): Restraint in Terrorist Groups and Radical Milieus: Towards a Research Agenda. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(6), 2-12. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/</u> <u>content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-6/bursher-and-bjorgo.pdf</u>

Busher, Joel; Holbrook, Donald; Macklin, Graham (2019): The Internal Brakes on Violent Escalation: A Typology. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *11*(1), 3-25. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.10</u> 80/19434472.2018.1551918

Butcher, Charles et al. (2020, August-September): Introducing the Targeted Mass Killing Data Set for the Study and Forecasting of Mass Atrocities. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 64(7-8), 1524-1547. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002719896405</u>

Campion, Kristy (2020): "Unstructured Terrorism"? Assessing Left Wing Extremism in Australia. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *13*(4), 545-567. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2020.1810992</u>

Cantey, Seth (2018): Beyond the Pale? Exploring Prospects for Negotiations with Al Qaeda and the Islamic State. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 41(10), 757-775. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/105761</u> <u>0X.2017.1348096</u>

Cantey, Seth (2019, September): Filmic Representations of Radicalization and Terrorism: The Silver Screen as a Catalyst for Social Science. *Media*, *War & Conflict*, 12(3), 317-330. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1750635218779953</u>

Carson, Jennifer Varriale (2019, August): Assessing the Nuances of Counterterrorism Programs: A Country-Level Investigation of Targeted Killings. *Crime & Delinquency*, 65(9), 1262-1291. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128718784742</u>

Carter, David B.; Ying, Luwei (2021, April): The Gravity of Transnational Terrorism. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 65(4), 813-849. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002720967444</u>

Carter, Pelham; Kondor. Katherine (2020): Researching the Radical Right: Making Use of the Digital Space and its Challenges. In: Mark Littler; Benjamin Lee (Eds.): *Digital Extremisms: Readings in Violence, Radicalisation and Extremism in the Online Space*. (Palgrave Studies in Cybercrime and Cybersecurity). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 223-252. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-30138-5_11</u>

Carthy, Sarah L. et al. (2020, September): Counter-Narratives for the Prevention of Violent Radicalisation: A Systematic Review of Targeted Interventions. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *16*(3), Article e1106. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1106</u>

Carvalho, Claudia (2020): Ethics in Gender Online Research: A Facebook Case Study. In: Christoph Günther; Simone Pfeifer (Eds.): *Jihadi Audiovisuality and its Entanglements: Meanings, Aesthetics, Appropriations*. [e-Book]. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 73-95. URL: <u>https://library.oapen.org/han-dle/20.500.12657/47099</u>

Castan Pinos, Jaume; Radil, Steven M. (2020): The Territorial Contours of Terrorism: A Conceptual Model of Territory for Non-State Violence. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *32*(5), 1027-1046. DOI: <u>https://doi.or</u> <u>g/10.1080/09546553.2018.1442328</u>

Castro e Almeida, Manuel; Harris, Alistair (2021): The Conflict Sensitivity Principle: Can Best Practice in Conflict Research Fill the Ethics Gap in Terrorism and Counterterrorism Research Practice? *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(2), 381-396. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2021.1880159</u>

Cavaliere, Garrett A. et al. (2021, October): Terrorist Attacks Against Healthcare Facilities: A Review. *Health Security*, *19*(5), 546-550. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/hs.2021.0004</u>

Cherney, Adrian (2020): Exploring Youth Radicalisation through the Framework of Developmental Crime Prevention: A Case Study of Ahmad Numan Haider. *Current Issues in Criminal Justice*, *32*(3), 277-291. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10345329.2020.1784503</u>

Chukwuma, Kodili Henry (2022): Critical Terrorism Studies and Postcolonialism: Constructing Ungoverned Spaces in Counter-Terrorism Discourse in Nigeria. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(2), 399-416. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2022.2048990</u>

Clark, Michael D. (2019, Fall): Motivational Interviewing for Deradicalization: Increasing the Readiness to Change. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 20, 47-74. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/245</u>

Clark, Tyler A.; Guarrieri, Thomas R. (2021): Modeling Terrorist Attack Cycles as a Stochastic Process: Analyzing Chemical, Biological, Radiological, and Nuclear (CBRN) Incidents. *Journal of Applied Security Research*, *16*(3), 281-306. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19361610.2020.1761743</u>

Clément, Maéva (2021): Emotions and Affect in Terrorism Research: Epistemological Shift and Ways Ahead. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *14*(2), 247-270. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2021.1902611</u>

Clemmow, Caitlin; Bouhana, Noémie; Gill, Paul (2020, May): Analyzing Person-Exposure Patterns in Lone-Actor Terrorism: Implications for Threat Assessment and Intelligence Gathering. *Criminology & Public Policy*, *21*(2), 451-482. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.12466</u>

Clemmow, Caitlin et al. (2020, May): The Base Rate Study: Developing Base Rates for Risk Factors and Indicators for Engagement in Violent Extremism. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 65(3), 865-881. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1556-4029.14282</u>

Clemmow, Caitlin et al. (2022): Disaggregating Lone-Actor Grievance-Fuelled Violence: Comparing Lone-Actor Terrorists and Mass Murderers. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(3), 558-584. DOI: <u>https://</u>

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2020.1718661 URL: https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10091881

Clifft, Will (2021, January): The Case for Defining CVE and PVE: How the NSCITF Model Can Provide a General Framework for the Counter-Terrorism Field. *International Counter-Terrorism Review*, *2*(1). URL: <u>https://ict.org.il/UserFiles/Volume%20II %20Issue%201 %20Jan%202021%20(1).pdf</u>

Colas, Brandon (2019): Understanding the Idea: Dynamic Equivalence and the Accurate Translation of Jihadist Concepts. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(9), 779-797. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/105761</u> 0X.2018.1425109

Collins, Jonathan (2021, December): A New Wave of Terrorism? A Comparative Analysis of the Rise of Far-Right Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(6), 2-22. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/bina-ries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-6/collins.pdf</u>

Colvin, Sarah; Pisoiu, Daniela (2020): When Being Bad is Good? Bringing Neutralization Theory to Subcultural Narratives of Right-Wing Violence. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 43(6), 493-508. DOI: <u>https://</u> <u>doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1452754</u>

Conley, Bridget; Hazlett, Chad (2021, May): How Very Massive Atrocities End: A Dataset and Typology. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(3), 612-620. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343319900912</u>

Conway, Maura (2021): Online Extremism and Terrorism Research Ethics: Researcher Safety, Informed Consent, and the Need for Tailored Guidelines. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(2), 367-380. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2021.1880235</u>

Cook, Scott J.; Weidmann, Nils B. (2022): Race to the Bottom: Spatial Aggregation and Event Data. *International Interactions*, 48(3), 471-491. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2022.2025365</u>

Copeland, Simon (2019): Telling Stories of Terrorism: A Framework for Applying Narrative Approaches to the Study of Militant's Self-Accounts. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *11*(3), 232-253. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2018.1525417</u>

Corner, Emily; Bouhana, Noémie; Gill, Paul (2019): The Multifinality of Vulnerability Indicators in Lone-Actor Terrorism. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 25(2), 111-132. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/106831</u> <u>6X.2018.1503664</u> URL: <u>https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10052546</u>

Corner, Emily; Bouhana, Noémie; Gill, Paul (2021): Updating and Organizing our Knowledge of Risk and Protective Factors for Lone-Actor Terrorism. In: Raymond Corrado; Gunda Wössner; Ariel Merari (Eds.): *Terrorism Risk Assessment Instruments*. (NATO Science for Peace and Security Series – E: Human and Societal Dynamics, Vol. 152). Amsterdam: IOS Press, 116-136. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/NHSDP210006</u> URL: <u>https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10124285</u>

Cottee, Simon (2021): Incel (E)motives: Resentment, Shame and Revenge. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 44(2), 93-114. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2020.1822589</u>

Crenshaw, Martha (2020): Discussion 3 – Civil War, Transnational Terrorism and Military Intervention. *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 25-29. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Crenshaw, Martha (2020): In Response – Examining Terrorism's Persistence: A Relational Approach. *Contemporary Voices*, 1(4), 39-40. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Croicu, Mihai; Eck, Kristine (2022): Reporting of Non-Fatal Conflict Events. *International Interactions*, 48(3), 450-470. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2022.2044325</u>

Crosset, Valentine; Tanner, Samuel; Campana, Aurélie (2019, April): Researching Far Right Groups on Twitter: Methodological Challenges 2.0. *New Media & Society*, 21(4), 939-961. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444818817306</u>

Crothers, Charles; O'Brien, Thomas (Guest Editors) (2020): The Contexts of the Christchurch Terror Attacks: Social Science Perspectives. [Special Issue]. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, *15*(2). URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/tnzk20/15/2</u>

Cunningham, Mark D. (2018): Differentiating Delusional Disorder from the Radicalization of Extreme Beliefs: A 17-Factor Model. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 5(3), 137-154. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000106</u>

D'Amato, Silvia; Terlizzi, Andrea (2022, February): Strategic European Counterterrorism? An Empirical Analysis. *European Security*. Advance Online Publication. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09662839.2022.202</u> 9847

da Silva, João Raphael (2020): The Eco-Terrorist Wave. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, 12(3), 203-216. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2019.1680725</u>

da Silva, Raquel et al. (2020): Disengagement from Political Violence and Deradicalization: A Narrative-Dialogical Perspective. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 43(6), 444-467. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1</u> 057610X.2018.1452709

Davies, Shawn et al. (2022, July): Organized Violence 1989–2021 and Drone Warfare. [Data Feature]. *Journal of Peace Research*, 59(4), 593-610. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00223433221108428</u>

Davis, Brigit (2019): Violent Extremist Organizations: Past Trends and Short-Term Forecast. *Journal of Strategic Security*, *12*(3), 37-156. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5038/1944-0472.12.3.1737</u>

Davis, Jessica; West, Leah; Amarasingam, Amarnath (2021, April): Measuring Impact, Uncovering Bias? Citation Analysis of Literature on Women in Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(2), 58-76. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/is-sue-2/davis-et-al.pdf</u>

Davison, Matt (2021): The Role of the Police in the Prevent Strategy: The Disparity Between Prevent in Practice and Academic Research. In: David Lowe; Robin Bennett (Eds.): *Prevent Strategy: Helping the Vulnerable Being Drawn Towards Terrorism or Another Layer of State Surveillance?* (Routledge Advances in Sociology). Abingdon: Routledge, 90-112.

Dawkins, Sophia (2021, September): The Problem of the Missing Dead. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(5), 1098-1116. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320962159</u>

Dawson, Lorne L. (2019, Spring): Clarifying the Explanatory Context for Developing Theories of Radicalization: Five Basic Considerations. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 18, 146-184. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/191</u>

Dawson, Lorne L. (2019, October): Taking Terrorist Accounts of their Motivations Seriously: An Exploration of the Hermeneutics of Suspicion. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(5), 74-89. URL: <u>https://www.universi-</u> teitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-5/5--dawson.pdf

Dawson, Lorne L. (2021, February): Bringing Religiosity Back In: Critical Reflection on the Explanation of Western Homegrown Religious Terrorism (Part I). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(1), 2-16. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-1/dawson.pdf</u>

Dawson, Lorne L. (2021, April): Bringing Religiosity Back In: Critical Reflection on the Explanation of Western Homegrown Religious Terrorism (Part II). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2), 1-21. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/dawson.pdf</u>

Dawson, Lorne L. (2021, December): Granting Efficacy to the Religious Motives of Terrorists. [Response

Article]. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(6), 90-96. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/</u> <u>assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-6/dawson.pdf</u>

Dawson, Lorne L. (2022, Spring): Olivier Roy and the "Islamization of Radicalism": Overview and Critique of a Theory of Western Jihadist Radicalization. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 30, 81-116. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/575</u>

Daxecker, Ursula; Amicarelli, Elio; Jung, Alexander (2019, September): Electoral Contention and Violence (ECAV): A New Dataset. *Journal of Peace Research*, 56(5), 714-723. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343318823870</u>

de Azevedo, Christian Vianna; Dudley, Sara Pollak (2020, August): Network vs. Network: Countering Crime-Terror by Combining the Strengths of Law Enforcement, Military and Academia. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(4), 99-117. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-4/azevedo-and-dudley.pdf</u>

De Bruyn, Phillip Conrad (2021, August): Evidence to Explain Violent Extremist Communication: A Systematic Review of Individual-Level Empirical Studies. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(4), 76-110. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/is-sue-4/de-bruyn.pdf</u>

De Bruyn, Phillip Conrad (2022): Differentiating Terrorist Groups: A Novel Approach to Leverage their Online Communication. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *17*(2), 180-199. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2021.1970211</u>

De Coensel, Stéphanie (2018-2019, Winter): Processual Models of Radicalization into Terrorism: A Best Fit Framework Synthesis. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 17, 89-127. URL: <u>http://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/176</u>

DeCook, Julia R.; Kelly, Megan (2022): Interrogating the "Incel Menace": Assessing the Threat of Male Supremacy in Terrorism Studies. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(3), 706-726. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.108</u> 0/17539153.2021.2005099

De Juan, Alexander; Koos, Carlo (2021, July): Survey Participation Effects in Conflict Research. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4), 623-639. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320971034</u>

de Koning, Martijn; Moors, Annelies; Navest, Aysha (2020): On Speaking, Remaining Silent and Being Heard: Framing Research, Positionality and Publics in the Jihadi Field. In: Christoph Günther; Simone Pfeifer (Eds.): *Jihadi Audiovisuality and its Entanglements: Meanings, Aesthetics, Appropriations*. [e-Book]. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 27-50. URL: <u>https://library.oapen.org/handle/20.500.12657/47099</u>

Denaux, Ronald; Gómez-Pérez, Jose Manuel (2019, April): Textual Analysis for Radicalisation Narratives Aligned with Social Sciences Perspectives. In: Alípio M. Jorge et al. (Eds.): *Proceedings of Text2Story – Second Workshop on Narrative Extraction From Texts, Cologne, Germany, April 14th, 2019.* n.p.: CEUR-WS. org, 39-45. URL: <u>http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2342/paper5.pdf</u>

De Pelecijn, Lana; Decoene, Stef; Hardyns, Wim (2021, Summer): Research Note: "If I Said I Trust You, I Would be Lying". Reflections and Recommendations for Conducting Interviews with (Violent) Extremist Prisoners. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 27, 284-310. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/471</u>

De Pelecijn, Lana; Decoene, Stef; Hardyns, Wim (2021, December): The Process Toward (Violent) Extremism: An Integrated Theoretical Model Using a Theory Knitting Approach. *Psychology, Crime & Law.* Advance Online Publication. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2021.2018437</u>

Derfoufi, Zin (2022): Radicalization's Core. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(6), 1185-1206. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2020.1764942</u>

Dhami, Mandeep K. et al. (2020, Spring): Disengaging and Rehabilitating High-Value Detainees: A Small-Scale Qualitative Study. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 22, 66-96. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/315</u>

Dietrich, Nick; Eck, Kristine (2020): Known Unknowns: Media Bias in the Reporting of Political Violence. *International Interactions*, 46(6), 1043-1060. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2020.1814758</u> URL: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-430304</u>

Dixit, Priya; Miller, Kathryn (2022): Erasing Historical Violence from the Study of Violent Extremism: Memorialization of White Supremacy at Stone Mountain, United States. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(1), 61-82. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2022.2032550</u>

Doering, Sara; Davies, Garth (2021): The Contextual Nature of Right-Wing Terrorism Across Nations. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 33(5), 1071-1093. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2019.1598390</u>

Donnay, Karsten et al. (2019, May): Integrating Conflict Event Data. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 63(5), 1337-1364. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002718777050</u>

Dorahy, Martin J.; Blampied, Neville M. (2019, April): A Screening Instrument for Assessing Psychological Distress Following Disasters: Adaptation for the March 15th, 2019 Mass Shootings in Christchurch, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 48(1), 23-28. URL: <u>https://www.psychology.org.nz/journal-archive/Dorahy-23-28.pdf</u>

D'Orazio, Vito; Salehyan, Idean (2018): Who Is a Terrorist? Ethnicity, Group Affiliation, and Understandings of Political Violence. *International Interactions*, 44(6), 1017-1039. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050</u> <u>629.2018.1500911</u>

Dover, Robert (2020): Adding Value to the Intelligence Community: What Role for Expert External Advice? *Intelligence and National Security*, *35*(6), 852-869. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02684527.2020.17930</u> 60

Drmola, Jakub; Hubík, Tomáš (2021): Stochastic Modeling of Non-Linear Terrorism Dynamics. *Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management*, *18*(3), 251-281. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/jhsem-2020-0029</u>

Dryden, Matt (2019, Spring): Policy Paper: The Terrorism, Radicalisation and Extremism Disclosure Scheme (TREDS). *Journal for Deradicalization*, 18, 244-271. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/</u><u>article/view/197</u>

Dumaine, Logan et al. (2022, July): Repertoires of Conflict-Related Sexual Violence: Introducing the RSVAC Data Package. *Journal of Peace Research*, 59(4), 611-621. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00223433211044674</u> URL: <u>https://www.prio.org/publications/12878</u>

Dutta, Haimonti; Kwon, K. Hazel; Rao, H. Raghav (2018, September): A System for Intergroup Prejudice Detection: The Case of Microblogging Under Terrorist Attacks. *Decision Support Systems*, *113*, 11-21. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2018.06.003</u> URL: <u>https://www.acsu.buffalo.edu/~haimonti/dss.pdf</u>

Eck, Kristine; Cohen, Dara Kay (2021): Time for a Change: The Ethics of Student-Led Human Subjects Research on Political Violence. *Third World Quarterly*, *42*(4), 855-866. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01436</u> 597.2020.1864215

Ekici, Niyazi; Akdogan, Huseyin (2020, October): Structural Equation Modeling of Terrorism Perception: New Correlates of Perception Formation. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(5), 63-76. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-5/eki-ci-and-akdogan.pdf</u>

El-Amraoui, Anaïs F.; Ducol, Benjamin (2019, Fall): Family-Oriented P/CVE Programs: Overview, Chal-

lenges and Future Directions. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 20, 190-231. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/255</u>

Eleftheriadou, Marina (2020): Refugee Radicalization/Militarization in the Age of the European Refugee Crisis: A Composite Model. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *32*(8), 1797-1818. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.108</u> 0/09546553.2018.1516643 URL: <u>https://nsiteam.com/social/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Refugee-Radical-ization-Militarization-in-the-Age-of-the-European-Refugee-Crisis-A-Composite-Model-compressed.pdf</u>

English, Richard (2019, April): Terrorism Scholars: Book Essay. *Contemporary Voices*, 1(2), 92-94. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Erbschloe, Michael (2019): A Framework to Analyze the Impact of Social Media Propaganda on Intolerance, Extremism, and Radicalization in Society. In: *Extremist Propaganda in Social Media: A Threat to Homeland Security*. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 1-22.

Eriksson Baaz, Maria; Utas, Mats (Guest Eds.) (2019): *Research Brokers in Conflict Zones*. [Special Issue]. *Civil Wars*, *21*(2). URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/fciv20/21/2</u>

Fair, C. Christine; Savla, Samta (2019, February): Understanding Muslims' Support for Suicide Bombing in West Africa: A Replication Study. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(1), 106-123. URL: <u>https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-1/fair-and-selva.pdf</u>

Fang, Ling et al. (2017, September): The Alliance Relationship Analysis of International Terrorist Organizations with Link Prediction. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 482, 573-584. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physa.2017.04.068</u>

Fariss, Christopher J.; Kenwick, Michael R.; Reuning, Kevin (2020, November): Estimating One-Sided-Killings from a Robust Measurement Model of Human Rights. *Journal of Peace Research*, 57(6), 801-814. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320965670</u> URL: <u>http://cfariss.com/documents/FarissKenwick-Reuning2020JPR.pdf</u>

Ferguson, Neil (2021): Political Violence. In: Clifford Stott et al. (Eds.): *Making an Impact on Policing and Crime: Psychological Research, Policy and Practice.* (Routledge Psychological Impacts). Abingdon: Routledge, 125-146.

Fernandez, Miriam; Alani, Harith (2018, August): Contextual Semantics for Radicalisation Detection on Twitter. In: Ahmed Sabbir Arif et al. (Eds.): *Proceedings of the Workshop on Semantic Web for Social Good (SW4SG 2018), Monterey, California, USA, October 9, 2018.* (CEUR Workshop Proceedings, Vol. 2182). Aachen: CEUR-WS / Editors, Paper 4. URL: <u>http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2182/paper_4.pdf</u>

Ferooz, Faria et al. (2021, September): Suicide Bomb Attack Identification and Analytics through Data Mining Techniques. *Electronics*, *10*(19), Article 2398. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/electronics10192398</u>

Fisher, Ali (2019): Interrogating the Electronic ribat: Data Science in the Study of the Jihadist Movement. In: Rüdiger Lohlker (Ed.): *World Wide Warriors: How Jihadis Operate Online*. (Religion and Transformation in Contemporary European Society, Vol. 14). Göttingen: V&R unipress, 43-70. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.14220/9783737009386.43</u>

Fisogni, Primavera (2021): Global Terrorism as a Virus: Pathogenesis of Evildoing. *International Journal of Cyber Warfare and Terrorism*, *11*(4), 58-73. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/IJCWT.2021100104</u>

Fjelde, Hanne et al. (2021, January): Introducing the Ethnic One-Sided Violence Dataset. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, *38*(1), 109-126. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894219863256</u>

Fontana, Giuditta et al. (2021, May): The Dataset of Political Agreements in Internal Conflicts (PAIC). *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, *38*(3), 338-364. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894220944123</u>

Fordham, Benjamin O. (2020, January): History and Quantitative Conflict Research: A Case for Limiting

the Historical Scope of our Theoretical Arguments. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, *37*(1), 3-15. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894219852742</u>

Fortna, Virginia Page; Lotito, Nicholas J.; Rubin, Michael A. (2022, March): Terrorism in Armed Conflict: New Data Attributing Terrorism to Rebel Organizations. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, *39*(2), 214-236. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894220972996</u> URL: <u>https://nicklotito.com/publication/fort-</u><u>na-terrorism-2020/fortna-terrorism-2020.pdf</u>

Fox, M. J. (2020): Researching Armed Conflict, Boko Haram and other Violent Non-State Actors: Problems with Web Sources. *Small Wars & Insurgencies*, *31*(3), 661-669. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318</u>. .2020.1726579

Fox, M. J. (2021): Child Soldiers Research: The Next Necessary Steps. *Small Wars & Insurgencies*, *32*(6), 1012-1022. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318.2021.1990489</u>

Francisco, M. et al. (2022, July): A Semi-Supervised Algorithm for Detecting Extremism Propaganda Diffusion on Social Media. *Pragmatics and Society*, *13*(3), 532-554. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1075/ps.21009.fra</u>

Freilich, Joshua D.; Gruenewald, Jeff; Mandala, Marissa (2019, December): Situational Crime Prevention and Terrorism: An Assessment of 10 Years of Research. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, *30*(9), 1283-1311. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0887403418805142</u>

Fuchs, Christian (2018): "Dear Mr. Neo-Nazi, Can you Please Give me your Informed Consent so that I can Quote your Fascist Tweet? Questions of Social Media Research Ethics in Online Ideology Critique. In: Graham Meikle (Ed.): *The Routledge Companion to Media and Activism*. Abingdon: Routledge, 385-394.

Fuhriman, Christopher; Medina, Richard M.; Brewer, Simon (2022): Introducing a Dataset of Multi-Scale Geographies of ISIS Ideology from ISIS Sources. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(4), 817-834. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2020.1742707</u>

Furlan, Marta (2020): Understanding Governance by Insurgent Non-State Actors: A Multi-Dimensional Typology. *Civil Wars*, *22*(4), 478-511. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13698249.2020.1785725</u>

Gaikwad, Mayur et al. (2021, April): Online Extremism Detection: A Systematic Literature Review with Emphasis on Datasets, Classification Techniques, Validation Methods, and Tools. *IEEE Access*, 9, 48364-48404. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3068313</u>

Ganor, Boaz (2021, April): Understanding the Motivations of "Lone Wolf" Terrorists: The "Bathtub" Model. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2), 23-32. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/</u> <u>customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/ganor.pdf</u>

Gawthrop, William (2019, March): Government and Academic Vulnerability to Jihad of the Pen and Tongue. *Small Wars Journal*, 3/2019. URL: <u>https://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/government-and-aca-demic-vulnerability-jihad-pen-and-tongue</u>

Gentry, Caron E. (2022): Misogynistic Terrorism: It Has Always Been Here. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(1), 209-224. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2022.2031131</u>

Gielen, Amy-Jane (2019): Countering Violent Extremism: A Realist Review for Assessing What Works, for Whom, in What Circumstances, and How? *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(6), 1149-1167. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1313736</u>

Gielen, Amy-Jane; Dijkman, Annebregt (2019, Fall): Evidence-Based Informed Policy Design for Support Groups for Families of Foreign Fighters: Ex ante Application of Realistic Evaluation and Review. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 20, 232-271. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/259</u>

Gill, Paul et al. (2021): Systematic Review of Mental Health Problems and Violent Extremism. *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 32(1), 51-78. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2020.1820067</u>

URL: https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10111558

Githigaro, John; Kabia, Alex (2022): An Evaluation of Factors Pushing Youth from Majengo, Mombasa Kenya into Al-Shabaab: A Methodological and Theoretical Analysis. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *15*(2), 381-398. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2022.2048989</u>

Gkoutzioulis, Athanasios (2020): Make Hegel Great Again: On Hegel's Epistemological Contribution to Critical Terrorism Studies. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *13*(1), 56-79. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/175391</u> 53.2019.1658407

Godefroidt, Amélie (2022, January): How Terrorism Does (and Does Not) Affect Citizens' Political Attitudes: A Meta-Analysis. *American Journal of Political Science*. Advance Online Publication. DOI: <u>https://</u> <u>doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12692</u>

Goldman, Shlomo Ogen; Bar, Leah (2020): The Global Law of Terror Organization Lifespan. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *32*(8), 1636-1665. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1498787</u>

González, Roberto J. (2020): Beyond the Human Terrain System: A Brief Critical History (and a Look Ahead). *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 227-240. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2018.145717</u> <u>1</u>

Gottschalk, Simon (2020): Accelerators, Amplifiers, and Conductors: A Model of Tertiary Deviance in Online White Supremacist Networks. *Deviant Behavior*, 41(7), 841-855. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0163</u> 9625.2020.1734746

Gøtzsche-Astrup, Oluf; van den Bos, Kees; Hogg, Michael A. (Eds.) (2020, December): Radicalization and Violent Extremism: Perspectives from Research on Group Processes and Intergroup Relations [Special Issue]. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 23(8). URL: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/toc/gpia/23/8</u>

Greene, Kevin T.; Lucas, Caleb (2020): Once More, with Feeling: Using Sentiment Analysis to Improve Models of Relationships Between Non-State Actors. *International Interactions*, 46(1), 150-162. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2019.1684913</u>

Greenwald, Diana B. (2019): Political Science Research in Settings of Intractable Conflict. *PS: Political Science & Politics*, 52(3), 498-502. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049096519000234</u>

Grissom, Terry V. et al. (2019): Decision-Theoretic Behavioral Analytics: Risk Management and Terrorist Intensity. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *11*(1), 73-112. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2018.1551917</u>

Gromes, Thorsten; Dembinski, Matthias (2019): Practices and Outcomes of Humanitarian Military Interventions: A New Data Set. *International Interactions*, 45(6), 1032-1048. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050</u> 629.2019.1638374

Groothuis, Sanne (2020): Researching Race, Racialisation, and Racism in Critical Terrorism Studies: Clarifying Conceptual Ambiguities. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *13*(4), 680-701. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/</u> <u>17539153.2020.1810990</u>

Grossman, Michele; Davis, Natalie (2021): A Bridge Too Far? An Academic-National Security Practitioner Dialogue on Research Collaboration Across the Divide. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *16*(1), 12-31. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2021.1883723</u>

Grossman, Michele; Gerrand, Vivian (2021): Terrorism Confidential: Ethics, Primary Data and the Construction of "Necessary Fictions". *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(2), 242-256. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.</u> <u>1080/09546553.2021.1880192</u>

Grossman, Michele et al. (2022): Youth Resilience to Violent Extremism: Development and Validation of the BRAVE Measure. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(3), 468-488. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/095465</u>

53.2019.1705283

Gruenewald, Jeff et al. (2019, February): Suspicious Preoperational Activities and Law Enforcement Interdiction of Terrorist Plots. *Policing*, *42*(1), 89-107. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-08-2018-0125</u>

Guldimann, Angela; Meloy, J. Reid (2020): Assessing the Threat of Lone-Actor Terrorism: The Reliability and Validity of the TRAP-18. *Forensische Psychiatrie*, *Psychologie*, *Kriminologie*, *14*, 158-166. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11757-020-00596-y</u>

Haase, Thomas W.; Demiroz, Fatih (2020, May): Considerations of Resilience in the Homeland Security Literature: Towards Conceptual Convergence? *Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management*, *17*(2), Article 20180078. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/jhsem-2018-0078</u>

Hahn, Lindsay et al. (2019, June): Applying Moral Foundations Theory to Identify Terrorist Group Motivations. *Political Psychology*, 40(3), 507-522. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12525</u>

Hall, Margeret et al. (2020, March): Do Machines Replicate Humans? Toward a Unified Understanding of Radicalizing Content on the Open Social Web. *Policy & Internet*, *12*(1), 109-138. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/poi3.223</u>

Hardy, Keiran (2022): A Crime Prevention Framework for CVE. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(3), 633-659. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2020.1727450</u>

Hardyns, Wim et al. (2021): Multi-Agency Working to Prevent Violent Radicalisation. *Radices*, 1(1), 22-40. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.21825/radices.84836</u>

Harmon, Vanessa et al. (2018, December): Causes and Explanations of Suicide Terrorism: A Systematic Review. *Homeland Security Affairs*, 14, Article 9. DOI: <u>https://www.hsaj.org/articles/14749</u>

Hassan, Hassan (2020, October): How Iraq's Top ISIS Scholar Became a Target for Shiite Militias. *New Lines Magazine*. URL: <u>https://newlinesmag.com/essays/the-man-who-knew-too-much-why-shiite-militias-killed-iraqs-finest-isis-scholar</u>

Haugstvedt, Håvard (2020, Summer): Research Note: "How Can I Get Them Offstage?" – Critical Reflections on a Researcher's Approach to Qualitative Data Collection with Social Workers Involved in Preventing Violent Extremism in Norway. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 23, 214-234. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/369</u>

Hayes, Mark (2020): The ESRC University Project on "Dissident" Irish Republicanism: Some Reflections on the Relationship Between Research, Academia, and the Security State. *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 175-195. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2018.1427884</u>

Hegghammer, Thomas (2022, May): OCR with Tesseract, Amazon Textract, and Google Document AI: A Benchmarking Experiment. *Journal of Computational Social Science*, *5*(1), 861-882. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42001-021-00149-1</u>

Hegre, Håvard et al. (2019, March): ViEWS: A Political Violence Early-Warning System. *Journal of Peace Research*, *56*(2), 155-174. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343319823860</u>

Hellmuth, Dorle (2018): Of Terrorism Types and Countermeasures: In Need of a New Framework. *Comparative Strategy*, *37*(3), 155-174. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01495933.2018.1486081</u>

Herschinger, Eva et al. (2020): A Threat to Open Societies? Conceptualizing the Radicalization of Society. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *14*(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3807</u>

Hoagland, Jack et al. (2020): The Blind Men and the Elephant: Comparing the Study of International Security Across Journals. *Security Studies*, *29*(3), 393-433. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09636412.2020.1761439</u>

Hodwitz, Omi (2021, August): The Terrorism Recidivism Study (TRS): An Update on Data Collection and Results. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(4), 27-38. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/</u><u>assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-4/hodwitz.pdf</u>

Hoffman, Bruce (2020): Discussion 5 – Terrorism: A Continuing Threat. *Contemporary Voices*, 1(4), 41-46. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Hoffman, Bruce (2020): In Response – Baghdadi Should Have Read Rules for Rebels. *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 22-24. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Holbrook, Donald; Horgan, John (2019, December): Terrorism and Ideology: Cracking the Nut. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(6), 2-15. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/</u> <u>perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-6/01-holbrook-and-horgan.pdf</u>

Holt, Thomas J. et al. (2018): Examining the Utility of Social Control and Social Learning in the Radicalization of Violent and Non-Violent Extremists. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, 11(3), 125-148. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2018.1470661</u>

Homolar, Alexandra; Rodríguez-Merino, Pablo A. (2019): Making Sense of Terrorism: A Narrative Approach to the Study of Violent Events. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *12*(4), 561-581. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/1</u>0.1080/17539153.2019.1585150

Honig, Or; Reichard, Ariel (2019): The Usefulness of Examining Terrorists' Rhetoric for Understanding the Nature of Different Terror Groups. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(4), 759-778. DOI: <u>https://doi.or</u> <u>g/10.1080/09546553.2017.1283308</u>

Honig, Or; Yahel, Ido (2019): A Fifth Wave of Terrorism? The Emergence of Terrorist Semi-States. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(6), 1210-1228. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1330201</u>

Hope, Lorraine et al. (2019, November): Development of the Reporting Information About Networks and Groups (RING) Task: A Method for Eliciting Information from Memory About Associates, Groups, and Networks. *The Journal of Forensic Practice*, *21*(4), 240-247. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JFP-04-2019-0011</u>

Horgan, John; Shortland, Neil; Abbasciano, Suzzette (2018): Towards a Typology of Terrorism Involvement: A Behavioral Differentiation of Violent Extremist Offenders. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 5(2), 84-102. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000102</u>

Hou, Dongfang; Gaibulloev, Khusrav; Sandler, Todd (2020, January): Introducing Extended Data on Terrorist Groups (EDTG), 1970 to 2016. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 64(1), 199-225. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002719857145</u>

Howard, Tiffiany; Poston, Brach; Benning, Stephen D. (2019, Summer): The Neurocognitive Process of Digital Radicalization: A Theoretical Model and Analytical Framework. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 19, 122-146. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/217/157</u>

Huber, Florian et al. (2020): Understanding the Crime-Terrorism Nexus through a Dynamic Modelling Approach. In: Vincenzo Ruggiero (Ed.): *Organized Crime and Terrorist Networks*. (Routledge Studies in Crime and Society). Abingdon: Routledge, 117-140.

Hunter, Lance Y. et al. (2021): Are Mass Shootings Acts of Terror? Applying Key Criteria in Definitions of Terrorism to Mass Shootings in the United States from 1982 to 2018. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *13*(4), 265-294. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2020.1762108</u>

Ihatsu, Tero; Paananen, Soili; Sederholm, Teija (2022): Violence Resembling Terrorism—From the First Responder Viewpoint. *Journal of Applied Security Research*, *17*(4), 451-476. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1</u>9361610.2021.1889895

Ike, Tarela Juliet et al. (2022): Community Perspectives of Former Terrorist Combatants, Militants and

Reintegration Programmes in Nigeria: A Systematic Review. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, 14(2), 142-168. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2020.1834431</u>

Ilardi, Gaetano Joe; Smith, Debra; Zammit, Andrew (Guest Editors) (2021): Navigating the Divide: Cooperation Between Academia and National Security Practitioners. [Special Issue]. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism, 16*(1). URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/rpic20/16/1?nav=tocList</u>

Ilardi, Gaetano Joe; Smith, Debra; Zammit, Andrew (2021): Revisiting the Relationship Between Academics and National Security Practitioners. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *16*(1), 1-11. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2021.1895441</u>

Islam, Didarul (2019, May): De-Radicalisation of Terrorists: Theoretical Analysis and Case Studies. *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses*, 11(5), 6-12. URL: <u>https://www.rsis.edu.sg/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/</u> <u>CTTA-May-2019.pdf</u>

Iyekekpolo, Wisdom Oghosa (2019): The Political Process of Boko Haram Insurgency Onset: A Political Relevance Model. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *12*(4), 673-692. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.201</u> <u>9.1617654</u>

Jackson, Leonie; Toros, Harmonie; Jarvis, Lee (Eds.) (2021): Reflections on Remembering: 9/11 Twenty Years On. [Special Issue]. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 14(4). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2021</u> .1980180

Jahnke, Sara; Abad Borger, Katharina; Beelmann, Andreas (2022, February): Predictors of Political Violence Outcomes among Young People: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Political Psychology*, *43*(1), 111-129. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12743</u>

Jarvis, Lee (2019): Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism, and Critique: Opportunities, Examples, and Implications. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *12*(2), 339-358. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2019.1575607</u> URL: <u>https://ueaeprints.uea.ac.uk/id/eprint/69642</u>

Jarvis, Lee (2022): Critical Terrorism Studies and the Far-Right: Beyond Problems and Solutions? *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *15*(1), 13-37. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2021.2017484</u>

Jasani, Gregory N. et al. (2021, October): Terrorist Attacks Against Vaccinators: A Review. *Health Security*, *19*(5), 541-545. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/hs.2021.0078</u>

Jasko, Katarzyna et al. (2022, July): A Comparison of Political Violence by Left-Wing, Right-Wing, and Islamist Extremists in the United States and the World. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(30), Article e2122593119. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2122593119</u>

Jensen, Michael A.; Atwell Seate, Anita; James, Patrick A. (2020): Radicalization to Violence: A Pathway Approach to Studying Extremism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *32*(5), 1067-1090. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1442330</u>

Jensen, Sune Qvotrup; Larsen, Jeppe Fuglsang (2021, May): Sociological Perspectives on Islamist Radicalization – Bridging the Micro/Macro Gap. *European Journal of Criminology*, *18*(3), 426-443. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1477370819851356</u>

Jerome, Lee; Elwick, Alex (2020): Teaching About Terrorism, Extremism and Radicalisation: Some Implications for Controversial Issues Pedagogy. *Oxford Review of Education*, 46(2), 222-237. DOI: <u>https://doi.or</u> <u>g/10.1080/03054985.2019.1667318</u>

Jiao, Yang; Luo, Zijun (2019): A Model of Terrorism and Counterterrorism with Location Choices. *Public Choice*, *179*(3-4), 301-313. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11127-018-0559-8</u>

Johnson, Paul Lorenzo; Thurber, Ches (2020, January): The Security-Force Ethnicity (SFE) Project: Introducing a New Dataset. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, *37*(1), 106-129. DOI: <u>https://doi.</u>

org/10.1177/0738894217709012

Jore, S. H. (2020): Is Resilience a Favourable Concept in Terrorism Research? The Multifaceted Discourses of Resilience in the Academic Literature. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *13*(2), 337-357. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2020.1733788</u>

Juergensmeyer, Mark (2020): Discussion 7 – Does Religion Cause Terrorism? *Contemporary Voices*, 1(4), 62-65. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Juergensmeyer, Mark (2020): In Response – Intelligence and Counterterrorism in a Long-Term Perspective: The Perils of Historical Attention-Span Deficit Disorder (HASDD). *Contemporary Voices*, 1(4), 59-61. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Junk, Julian et al. (Guest Eds.) (2020): What Do We Know About Radicalization? Key Findings, Challenges, and Policy Recommendations. [Special Thematic Section]. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *14*(Focus 2). URL: <u>https://www.ijcv.org/index.php/ijcv/issue/view/322</u>

Junk, Julian et al. (2020): What Do We Know About Radicalisation? Overview of the Structure and Key Findings of the Focus Section. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *14*(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3875</u>

Kaczkowski, Wojciech; Lokmanoglu, Ayse; Winkler, Carol (2022): Definitions Matter: A Comparison of the Global Terrorism Database and the U.S. Governmental Reports of Terrorist Incidents in Western Europe, 2002-2016. *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, 35(1), 55-72. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/095</u>57571.2019.1705246

Kadercan, Burak (2021): Territorial Logic of the Islamic State: An Interdisciplinary Approach. *Territory, Politics, Governance,* 9(1), 94-110. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21622671.2019.1589563</u>

Kalyvas, Stathis; Straus, Scott (2020, October): Stathis Kalyvas on 20 Years of Studying Political Violence. *Violence*, *1*(2), 389-407. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2633002420972955</u>

Karell, Daniel; Freedman, Michael (2019, August): Rhetorics of Radicalism. *American Sociological Review*, 84(4), 726-753. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122419859519</u>

Karimi, Yusef et al. (2021): The Validity of the Assessment and Treatment of Radicalization Scale: A Psychometric Instrument for Measuring Severity of Extremist Muslim Beliefs. *Journal of Strategic Security*, *15*(1), 28-44. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5038/1944-0472.14.3.1934</u>

Kazmi, Zaheer (2022, October). Radical Islam in the Western Academy. *Review of International Studies*, 48(4), 725-747. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0260210521000553</u>

Kearns, Erin M. (2021): When to Take Credit for Terrorism? A Cross-National Examination of Claims and Attributions. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(1), 164-193. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018</u>. <u>1540982</u> URL: <u>https://www.erinmkearns.com/uploads/2/4/5/5/24559611/10</u>. kearns 2019.tpv.pdf

Keatley, David A.; Sheridan, Lorraine; Whitty, Monica T. (2019, September-December): "The Road not Taken": Understanding and Mapping Complexity in Threat Assessment. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 6(3-4), 198-201. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000132</u>

Kennedy-Pipe, Caroline (2018): Terrorism Studies: What We Have Forgotten and What We Now Know. *Government and Opposition*, *53*(2), 356-384. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/gov.2017.36</u>

Khalil, James (2019): A Guide to Interviewing Terrorists and Violent Extremists. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(4), 429-443. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2017.1385182</u>

Khalil, James; Horgan, John; Zeuthen, Martine (2022): The ABC Model: Clarifications and Elaborations. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(3), 460-467. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2020.1776703</u>

Khalil, James; Horgan, John; Zeuthen, Martine (2022): The Attitudes-Behaviors Corrective (ABC) Model of Violent Extremism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(3), 425-450. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546</u> 553.2019.1699793

Kim, Wukki; George, Justin; Sandler, Todd (2021, February-March): Introducing Transnational Terrorist Hostage Event (TTHE) Data Set, 1978 to 2018. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 65(2-3), 619-641. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002720957714</u>

King, Sonja et al. (2018): Prisoners with Islamist Relations: Are Prisoner Files a Valuable Data Source for Individual Assessment and for Research? *International Journal of Developmental Science*, *12*(1-2), 129-141. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/DEV-170243</u>

Klausen, Jytte et al. (2020): Radicalization Trajectories: An Evidence-Based Computational Approach to Dynamic Risk Assessment of "Homegrown" Jihadists. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 43(7), 588-615. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1492819</u>

Kleinschmidt, Jochen; Palma, Oscar (2020): The Conceptual Puzzle of Violent Non-State Actors in Latin America: A Critique of the Convergence Hypothesis. *Small Wars & Insurgencies*, *31*(6), 1323-1348. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318.2020.1781370</u>

Knight, Sarah; Keatley, David A. (2020): How Can the Literature Inform Counter-Terrorism Practice? Recent Advances and Remaining Challenges. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *12*(3), 217-230. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2019.1666894</u>

Knight, Sarah; Keatley, David (2020): What Do We Know About Radicalization? A Commentary on Key Issues, Findings and a Framework for Future Research for the Scientific and Applied Community. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, 14(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3810</u>

Knipping-Sorokin, Roman; Stumpf, Teresa (2018): Radikal Online – Das Internet und die Radikalisierung von Jugendlichen: Eine Metaanalyse zum Forschungsfeld. *kommunikation@gesellschaft*, *19*(3), Article 14. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15460/kommges.2018.19.3.606</u>

Köhler, Daniel (2013): Über die Notwendigkeit einer deutschen Deradikalisierungsforschung und die entsprechenden Grundlagen. *JEX*, 1 (2013), 20-40. URL: <u>https://journal-exit.de/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/</u> <u>JEX-1-2013.pdf</u>

Köhler, Daniel (2020, April): Violent Extremism, Mental Health and Substance Abuse Among Adolescents: Towards a Trauma Psychological Perspective on Violent Radicalization and Deradicalization. *The Journal* of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology, 31(3), 455-472. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2020.1758752</u>

Köhler, Daniel; Fiebig, Verena (2019, June): Knowing What to Do: Academic and Practitioner Understanding of How to Counter Violent Radicalization. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(3), 44-62. URL: <u>https://</u> <u>www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-3/04-</u> <u>--koehler-and-fiebig.pdf</u>

Körner, Swen; Staller, Mario S. (2018): Pedagogy of Terrorism: Mujahid Guide Revisited. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *13*(3), 332-344. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2018.15037</u> <u>00</u>

Krüger, Jule; Nordås, Ragnhild (2020, November): A Latent Variable Approach to Measuring Wartime Sexual Violence. *Journal of Peace Research*, *57*(6), 728-739. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320961147</u>

Kruglanski, Arie W. (2018, December): Violent Radicalism and the Psychology of Prepossession. *Social Psychological Bulletin*, *13*(4), Article e27449. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.32872/spb.v13i4.27449</u>

Kruglanski, Arie W. (2019, January): My Road to Violent Extremism (As Its Researcher, That Is...). *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 14(1), 49-53. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691618812688</u>

Kruglanski, Arie W.; Bertelsen, Preben (2020): Life Psychology and Significance Quest: A Complementary Approach to Violent Extremism and Counter-Radicalisation. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *15*(1), 1-22. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2020.1725098</u>

Kruglanski, Arie W. et al. (2022, October): Terrorism and Conspiracy Theories: A View from the 3N Model of Radicalization. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 47, Article 101396. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>copsyc.2022.101396</u>

Lafaye, Caroline Guibet (2022, April): Leaving the PKK: Toward a Process-Oriented Model of Disengagement. *Violence*, *3*(1), 23-39. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/26330024221081145</u>

LaFree, Gary (2022): In the Shadow of 9/11: How the Study of Political Extremism Has Reshaped Criminology. *Criminology*, 60, 5-26. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9125.12299</u>

LaFree, Gary; Freilich, Joshua D. (2019, January): Government Policies for Counteracting Violent Extremism. *Annual Review of Criminology*, *2*, 383-404. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-crimi-nol-011518-024542</u>

LaFree, Gary; Schwarzenbach, Anina (2021): Micro and Macro-Level Risk Factors for Extremism and Terrorism: Toward a Criminology of Extremist Violence. *Monatsschrift für Kriminologie und Strafrechtsreform*, *104*(3), 184-202. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/mks-2021-0127</u>

Lara-Cabrera, Raúl; Gonzalez-Pardo, Antonio; Camacho, David (2019, April): Statistical Analysis of Risk Assessment Factors and Metrics to Evaluate Radicalisation in Twitter. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 93, 971-978. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2017.10.046</u>

Larue, Patrick F.; Danzell, Orlandrew E. (2022): Rethinking State Capacity: Conceptual Effects on the Incidence of Terrorism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(6), 1241-1258. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546</u> 553.2020.1776702

Lashmar, Paul (2019, October): 7/7: A Reflexive Re-Evaluation of Journalistic Practice. *Journalism*, 20(10), 1307-1322. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1464884918797210</u>

Leader Maynard, Jonathan (2019, September): Ideology and Armed Conflict. *Journal of Peace Research*, 56(5), 635-649. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343319826629</u> URL: <u>https://ora.ox.ac.uk/objects/</u>uuid:698316a6-ec7d-4d6f-8971-92b6bd4f4e81

Lefebvre, Stéphane (2021): Academic-Intelligence Relationships: Opportunities, Strengths, Weaknesses and Threats. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *16*(1), 92-103. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2021.1880020</u>

Lehane, Orla (2018): Dealing with Frustration: A Grounded Theory Study of CVE Practitioners. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *12*. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3105</u>

Lewis, Olivier (2021): Conceptualizing Non-State Counter-Terrorism. In: Scott N. Romaniuk; Emeka Thaddues Njoku (Eds.): *Counter-Terrorism and Civil Society: Post-9/11 Progress and Challenges*. Manchester: Manchester University Press, Chapter 2.

Lindahl, Sondre (2020): The End of Emancipation? CTS and Normativity. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *13*(1), 80-99. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2019.1658408</u>

Liu, Tianyang; Guan, Tianru (2021): A Critical Study of Space in the Geopolitics of Terrorism. *Critical Studies on Security*, 9(2), 126-140. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21624887.2021.1875713</u>

Ljujic, Vanja et al. (2020): Testing a Threat Model of Terrorism: A Multi-Method Study About Socio-Economic and Psychological Influences on Terrorism Involvement in the Netherlands. In: David Weisburd et al. (Eds.): *Understanding Recruitment to Organized Crime and Terrorism*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 147-171. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36639-1_7</u> Lloyd, Monica (2021): From Empirical Beginnings to Emerging Theory. In: Raymond Corrado; Gunda Wössner; Ariel Merari (Eds.): *Terrorism Risk Assessment Instruments*. (NATO Science for Peace and Security Series – E: Human and Societal Dynamics, Vol. 152). Amsterdam: IOS Press, 259-279. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/NHSDP210016</u>

Lloyd, Monica; Dean, Christopher (2015): The Development of Structured Guidelines for Assessing Risk in Extremist Offenders. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 2(1), 40-52. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000035</u> URL: <u>https://research.birmingham.ac.uk/en/publications/the-development-of-structured-guidelines-for-assessing-risk-in-ex</u>

Loadenthal, Michael (2019): Introduction: Studying Political Violence while Indicted – Against Objectivity and Detachment. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *12*(3), 481-490. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.201</u> <u>9.1599167</u>

Logan, Caroline; Lloyd, Monica (2019, February): Violent Extremism: A Comparison of Approaches to Assessing and Managing Risk. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, *24*(1), 141-161. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/lcrp.12140</u>

Logan, Michael K.; Hall, Margeret (2019): Comparing Crime Types: A Linguistic Analysis of Communiqués Associated with the Animal and Earth Liberation Movement. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, 12(2), 164-181. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2019.1613554</u>

Logan, Michael K.; Ligon, Gina S.; Derrick, Douglas C. (2020, December): Measuring Tactical Innovation in Terrorist Attacks. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, 54(4), 926-939. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.420</u>

Logvinov, Michail (2018): Politisch motivierte Kriminalität als Abnormitätsfunktion? Erkenntnisse aus der Rechtsextremismus- und Islamismusforschung. *JEX*, 7, 34-56. URL: <u>https://journal-exit.de/wp-content/up-loads/2020/05/188-656-1-PB.pdf</u>

Lohlker, Rüdiger (2016, July-September): Theology Matters: The Case of jihadi Islam. *Strategic Review*, 7-9/2016. URL: <u>https://sr-indonesia.com/in-the-journal/view/europe-s-misunderstanding-of-is-lam-and-isis</u>

Loia, Vincenzo; Orciuoli, Francesco (2019, December): Understanding the Composition and Evolution of Terrorist Group Networks: A Rough Set Approach. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, *101*, 983-992. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2019.07.049</u>

Lombardi, Marco; Lucini, Barbara (2021): The Format and FEAR Model as an Answer to New Radicalization Challenges. In: Raymond Corrado; Gunda Wössner; Ariel Merari (Eds.): *Terrorism Risk Assessment Instruments*. (NATO Science for Peace and Security Series – E: Human and Societal Dynamics, Vol. 152). Amsterdam: IOS Press, 149-161. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/NHSDP210008</u>

Lösel, Friedrich et al. (2018, September): Protective Factors Against Extremism and Violent Radicalization: A Systematic Review of Research. *International Journal of Developmental Science*, *12*(1-2), 89-102. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/DEV-170241</u>

Lösel, Friedrich et al. (2020): Resilience Against Political and Religious Extremism, Radicalization, and Related Violence: A Systematic Review of Studies on Protective Factors. In: David Weisburd et al. (Eds.): *Understanding Recruitment to Organized Crime and Terrorism*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 55-84. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36639-1_3</u>

Lundberg, Russell (2019): Archetypal Terrorist Events in the United States. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(9), 819-835. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1430618</u>

Macdonald, Stuart; Jarvis, Lee; Lavis, Simon M. (2022): Cyberterrorism Today? Findings from a Follow-on Survey of Researchers. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 45(8), 727-752. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10576</u> <u>10X.2019.1696444</u> URL: <u>https://ueaeprints.uea.ac.uk/id/eprint/73498</u> Macdonald, Stuart et al. (2018): Online Jihadist Magazines and the "Religious Terrorism" Thesis. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *11*(3), 537-550. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2018.1471098</u>

Machold, Rhys (2022): India's Counterinsurgency Knowledge: Theorizing Global Position in Wars on Terror. *Small Wars & Insurgencies*, *33*(4-5), 796-818. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318.2022.2034352</u>

Mahoney, Charles W. (2018, December): More Data, New Problems: Audiences, Ahistoricity, and Selection Bias in Terrorism and Insurgency Research. *International Studies Review*, *20*(4), 589-614. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/isr/vix056</u>

Malet, David (2021): Countering Violent Extremism: Assessment in Theory and Practice. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism, 16*(1), 58-74. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2021.1889017</u>

Malkki, Leena (2020, December): Learning from the Lack of Political Violence: Conceptual Issues and Research Designs. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 14(6), 27-36. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/</u> <u>content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-6/malkki.pdf</u>

Marchment, Zoe; Gill, Paul (2019, March): Modelling the Spatial Decision Making of Terrorists: The Discrete Choice Approach. *Applied Geography*, *104*, 21-31. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2019.01.009</u> URL: <u>https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10068615</u>

Marchment, Zoe; Gill, Paul (2020): Psychological and Criminological Understanding of Terrorism: Theories and Models. In: Carol A. Ireland et al. (Eds.): *The Handbook of Collective Violence: Current Developments and Understanding*. Abingdon: Routledge, 100-111.

Marchment, Zoe; Gill, Paul (2022): Spatial Decision Making of Terrorist Target Selection: Introducing the TRACK Framework. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 45(10), 862-880. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/105761</u> 0X.2020.1711588

Marcoci, Alexandru; Vercammen, Ans; Burgman, Mark (2019): ODNI as an Analytic Ombudsman: Is Intelligence Community Directive 203 Up to the Task? *Intelligence and National Security*, *34*(2), 205-224. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02684527.2018.1546265</u> URL: <u>http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/id/eprint/90562</u>

Marquardt, Kyle L. (2020, November): How and How Much Does Expert Error Matter? Implications for Quantitative Peace Research. *Journal of Peace Research*, *57*(6), 692-700. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320959121</u>

Marsden, Sarah (2020): Discussion 4 – Examining Terrorism's Persistence: A Relational Approach. *Contemporary Voices*, 1(4), 33-38. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Marsden, Sarah (2020): In Response – Defining Terrorism: Communities and Context. *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 12-17. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Marsden, Sarah (2020): Radicalization: Trajectories in Research, Policy and Practice. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, 14(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3811</u>

Martini, Alice (2020): Rethinking Terrorism and Countering Terrorism from a Critical Perspective: CTS and Normativity. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *13*(1), 47-55. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2019.1</u> 658411

Martini, Alice; da Silva, Raquel (Guest Eds.) (2022): Critical Approaches to Extreme Right Wing Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism. [Special Issue]. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *15*(1). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/</u><u>17539153.2022.2032549</u>

Martini, Alice; da Silva, Raquel (2022): Editors' Introduction: Critical Terrorism Studies and the Far-Right: New and (Re)new(ed) Challenges Ahead? *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(1), 1-12. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/1</u>0.1080/17539153.2022.2032549

Massoumi, Narzanin; Mills, Tom; Miller, David (2020): Secrecy, Coercion and Deception in Research on "Terrorism" and "Extremism". *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 134-152. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2</u> <u>1582041.2019.1616107</u>

Maszka, John (2017): Strategic Studies. In: *Al-Shabaab and Boko Haram: Guerrilla Insurgency or Strategic Terrorism?* Hackensack: World Scientific, 1-12. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1142/9781786343994_0001</u>

Matesan, Ioana Emy (2022, February): Typological Varieties of Transnational Jihadism and Implications for Conflict Resolution. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(1), 12-22. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/</u> binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-1/matesan.pdf

Matherly, Carter (2018): Searching for Satisfaction: A Review of the Social Motivators of Seeking Extremist Group Membership. *Journal of Strategic Security*, 11(3), Article 3. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5038/1944-</u> 0472.11.3.1671

Mavrakou, Stefanie et al. (2022): The Climate Change–Terrorism Nexus: A Critical Literature Review. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(5), 894-913. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2022.2069445</u>

McBride, Megan K. et al. (2022, April): Targeted Violence: A Review of the Literature on Radicalization and Mobilization. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(2), 24-38. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/</u> <u>content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-2/mcbride-et-al.pdf</u>

McCann, Wesley S. (2021, December): CBRN Terrorism Interdictions (1990–2016) and Areas for Future Inquiry. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(6), 41-60. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/</u> assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-6/mccann.pdf

McCauley, Clark (2022): The ABC Model: Commentary from the Perspective of the Two Pyramids Model of Radicalization. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(3), 451-459. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553</u>. 2020.1763964 URL: <u>https://www.brynmawr.edu/sites/default/files/migrated-files/TPV-Comment.pdf</u>

McCluskey, C. Connell; Santoprete, Manuele (2018, July): A Bare-Bones Mathematical Model of Radicalization. *Journal of Dynamics and Games*, 5(3), 243-264. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3934/jdg.2018016</u> URL: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1711.03227</u>

McDoom, Omar Shahabudin (2020, April): Radicalization as Cause and Consequence of Violence in Genocides and Mass Killings. *Violence*, 1(1), 123-143. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2633002420904267</u>

McGowan, William (2022): To Survivors Themselves: Why, Where, and How to Study Survivors of Political Violence and Terrorism? In: *Victims of Political Violence and Terrorism: Making up Resilient Survivors*. (Victims, Culture and Society). Abingdon: Routledge, 47-78. DOI [Book]: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003154020</u>

McIlhatton, David; Hardy, Mike (Guest Eds.) (2019): New Understandings and Methods for Counter Terrorism. [Special Issue]. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, 11(1). URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/rirt20/11/1</u>

Meggitt, Justin J. (2020): Discussion 8 – The Study of Terrorism and the Problem of "Apocalyptic". *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 73-80. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Meggitt, Justin J. (2020): In Response – Does Religion Cause Terrorism? The Problem of Religion and the Need for a Better Question. *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 66-72. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Meggitt, Justin J. (2020): The Problem of Apocalyptic Terrorism. *Journal of Religion and Violence*, 8(1), 58-104. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5840/jrv202061173</u>

Meiering, David; Dziri, Aziz; Foroutan, Naika (2020): Connecting Structures: Resistance, Heroic Masculinity and Anti-Feminism as Bridging Narratives within Group Radicalization. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, 14(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3805</u> Meloy, J. Reid (2018): The Operational Development and Empirical Testing of the Terrorist Radicalization Assessment Protocol (TRAP–18). *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 100(5), 483-492. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2018.1481077</u>

Mendelejis, Nathan González (2020): Toward a New Typology of Sunni Jihad. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 43(12), 1064-1085. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1520797</u>

Méndez, Tasio et al. (2019): Analyzing Radicalism Spread Using Agent-Based Social Simulation. In: Danny Weyns; Viviana Mascardi; Alessandro Ricci (Eds.): *Engineering Multi-Agent Systems: 6th International Workshop, EMAS 2018, Stockholm, Sweden, July 14-15, 2018, Revised Selected Papers.* (Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 11375). Cham: Springer, 263-282. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25693-</u> <u>7 14</u>

Merari, Ariel (2021): Using Interviews and Psychological Tests in Studies of Independent Actors and Suicide Bombers. In: Raymond Corrado; Gunda Wössner; Ariel Merari (Eds.): *Terrorism Risk Assessment Instruments*. (NATO Science for Peace and Security Series – E: Human and Societal Dynamics, Vol. 152). Amsterdam: IOS Press, 137-148. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/NHSDP210007</u>

Metwally, Amre (2022, June): "Outside Experts": Expertise and the Counterterrorism Industry in Social Media Content Moderation. *Journal of National Security Law & Policy*, *12*(3), 471-507. URL: <u>https://jnslp.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Metwally Expertise and the Counterterrorism Industry.pdf</u>

Michelsen, Nicholas; Colley, Thomas (2019): The Field of Strategic Communications Professionals: A New Research Agenda for International Security. *European Journal of International Security*, 4(1), 61-78. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/eis.2018.9</u>

Miller, David; Mills, Tom; Massoumi, Narzanin (Guest Eds.) (2020): Knowing Terrorism: Ethical, Methodological and other Challenges. [Special Issue]. *Contemporary Social Science*, 15(2). URL: <u>https://www.</u> tandfonline.com/toc/rsoc21/15/2

Miller, Flagg (2019): Terrorist Violence and the Enrollment of Psychology in Predicting Muslim Extremism: Critical Terrorism Studies Meets Critical Algorithm Studies. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *12*(2), 185-209. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2018.1522944</u> URL: <u>https://langlit.ucdavis.edu/sites/default/</u> <u>files/profiles/files/miller_article_11-2018.pdf</u>

Miller, Gregory D. (2019, April): Seeing Political Violence through Different Lenses. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 13(2), 75-78. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspec-</u> <u>tives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-2/miller.pdf</u>

Miller, Gregory D. (2019, June): Blurred Lines: The New "Domestic" Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(3), 66-78. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-3/05---miller.pdf</u>

Mills, Colleen E. et al. (2021): Social Learning and Social Control in the Off- and Online Pathways to Hate Crime and Terrorist Violence. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 44(9), 701-729. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080</u>/1057610X.2019.1585628

Mills, Tom; Massoumi, Narzanin; Miller, David (2020): The Ethics of Researching "Terrorism" and Political Violence: A Sociological Approach. *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 119-133. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/1</u> 0.1080/21582041.2019.1660399

Mochtak, Michal (2021): Understanding Electoral Violence through Complex Textual Data: OSCE Monitoring Missions in Different Contexts. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 44(8), 646-667. DOI: <u>https://doi.org</u> /10.1080/1057610X.2019.1575036 URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10993/38539</u>

Moghaddam, Fathali M. (2018): A Dynamic Model of Mutual Radicalization. In: *Mutual Radicalization: How Groups and Nations Drive Each Other to Extremes.* Washington, DC: American Psychological Associ-

ation (APA), 19-38.

Mohammed, Ilyas (2022): Decolonialisation and the Terrorism Industry. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(2), 417-440. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2022.2047440</u>

Montrond, Alberto et al. (2022, May): Comparative Analysis of CT/CVE Policies: USA, Canada, United Kingdom, Sweden, and North Macedonia. *Homeland Security Affairs*, 18, Article 1. URL: <u>https://www.hsaj.org/articles/19378</u>

Morris, Christopher (2020, February): Reciprocal Radicalization: A New Framework for Analysis and the Case of al-Muhajiroun and the English Defence League in Britain. *Georgetown Security Studies Review*, 8(1), 51-65. URL: <u>https://georgetownsecuritystudiesreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/GSSR-8.1-final-text.pdf</u>

Morrison, John; Silke, Andrew; Bont. Eke (2021): The Development of the Framework for Research Ethics in Terrorism Studies (FRETS). *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(2), 271-289. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.10</u> 80/09546553.2021.1880196

Moskalenko, Sophia; McCauley, Clark (2021, April): QAnon: Radical Opinion Versus Radical Action. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2), 142-146. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/</u>customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/moskalenko--mccauley-.pdf

Mumford, Andrew (2018, October): Theory-Testing Uyghur Terrorism in China. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(5), 18-26. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-5/mumford-1.pdf</u>

Mundy, Jacob (2019): The Middle East Is Violence: On the Limits of Comparative Approaches to the Study of Armed Conflict. *Civil Wars*, *21*(4), 539-568. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13698249.2019.1664847</u>

Nadim, Hussain (2021): Ties That Don't Bind: Challenges in the Cooperation Between Academia and National Security Establishment in Pakistan. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *16*(1), 44-57. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2021.1889648</u>

Necef, Mehmet Ümit (2021): Research Note: Former Extremist Interviews Current Extremist: Self-Disclosure and Emotional Engagement in Terrorism Studies. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 44(1), 74-92. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2020.1799516</u>

Nehlsen, Inga et al. (2020): Evident and Effective? The Challenges, Potentials and Limitations of Evaluation Research on Preventing Violent Extremism. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *14*(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3801</u>

Neo, Loo Seng (2021): Detecting Markers of Radicalisation in Social Media Posts: Insights from Modified Delphi Technique and Literature Review. *International Journal of Cyber Warfare and Terrorism*, *11*(2), 12-28. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/IJCWT.2021040102</u>

Nguyen, Nicole (2019): "The R Word": Radicalization Theories and their Discontents. In: *Suspect Communities: Anti-Muslim Racism and the Domestic War on Terror.* Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 91-124. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5749/j.ctvqmp2b9.6</u>

Norris, Jesse J. (2020, June): Idiosyncratic Terrorism: Disaggregating an Undertheorized Concept. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(3), 2-18. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/</u>perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-3/norris.pdf

Nunan, Jordan et al. (2020): Source Handler Perceptions of the Interviewing Processes Employed with Informants. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, 15(3), 244-262. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2020.1820069</u>

Odağ, Özen; Leiser, Anne; Boehnke, Klaus (2019-2020, Winter): Reviewing the Role of the Internet in

ISSN 2334-3745

Radicalization Processes. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 21, 261-300. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/289</u>

Odhiambo, Nancy Achieng; Ochara, Nixon Muganda; Kadymatimba, Amstrong (2018, November): Structuring of the Terrorism Problem in the Digital Age: A Systems Perspective. In: Nixon Muganda Ochara; Cecil Moro (Eds.): *2018 Open Innovations Conference*. Piscataway: IEEE, 148-154. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/OI.2018.8535619</u>

O'Halloran, Kay L. et al. (2019): Interpreting Text and Image Relations in Violent Extremist Discourse: A Mixed Methods Approach for Big Data Analytics. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(3), 454-474. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2016.1233871</u>

Okoye, Chukwudi; Collins, O. C.; Mbah, Godwin Christopher Ezike (2020): Mathematical Approach to the Analysis of Terrorism Dynamics. *Security Journal*, *33*, 427-438. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41284-020-00235-5</u>

Omeje, Kenneth (2021): Exploring the Concept of Terrorism: The Morphology of Organised Violence. In: Usman A. Tar (Ed.): *The Routledge Handbook of Counterterrorism and Counterinsurgency in Africa*. (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge, 16-32.

Onat, Ismail (2019): An Analysis of Spatial Correlates of Terrorism Using Risk Terrain Modeling. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(2), 277-298. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2016.1215309</u>

Ong, Kyler (2020, September): Ideological Convergence in the Extreme Right. *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses*, *12*(5), 1-7. URL: <u>https://www.rsis.edu.sg/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/CTTA-Septem-ber-2020.pdf</u>

Onursal, Recep; Kirkpatrick, Daniel (2021): Is Extremism the "New" Terrorism? The Convergence of "Extremism" and "Terrorism" in British Parliamentary Discourse. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(5), 1094-1116. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2019.1598391</u>

Osorio, Javier et al. (2019): Translating CAMEO Verbs for Automated Coding of Event Data. *International Interactions*, 45(6), 1049-1064. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2019.1632304</u>

Otto, Sabine; Scharpf, Adam; Gohdes, Anita R. (2020, October-December): Capturing Group Alignments: Introducing the Government and Armed Actors Relations Dataset (GAARD). *Research & Politics*, 7(4). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2053168020971891</u>

Pape, Robert A.; Rivas, Alejandro Albanez; Chinchilla, Alexandra C. (2021, July): Introducing the New CPOST Dataset on Suicide Attacks. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4), 826-838. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320978260</u>

Parker, Tom (2019): Social Science and Violent Extremism. In: *Avoiding the Terrorist Trap: Why Respect for Human Rights Is the Key to Defeating Terrorism*. (Insurgency and Terrorism Series, Vol. 12). London: World Scientific, 207-458.

Pearson, Elizabeth et al. (in press): Using Online Data in Terrorism Research. In: Lara A. Frumkim; John F. Morrison; Andrew Silke (Eds.): *A Research Agenda for Terrorism Studies*. (Elgar Research Agendas). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Pelzer, Robert (2018, October): Policing of Terrorism Using Data from Social Media. *European Journal for Security Research*, 3(2), 163-179. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s41125-018-0029-9</u>

Pettersson, Therése; Högbladh, Stina; Öberg, Magnus (2019, July): Organized Violence, 1989–2018 and Peace Agreements. *Journal of Peace Research*, *56*(4), 589-603. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343319856046</u>

Pettersson, Therése; Öberg, Magnus (2020, July): Organized Violence, 1989-2019. Journal of Peace Re-

ISSN 2334-3745

search, 57(4), 597-613. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343320934986

Pettinger, Tom (2020): CTS and Normativity: The Essentials of Preemptive Counter-Terrorism Interventions. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *13*(1), 118-141. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2019.1658412</u> URL: <u>http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/118880</u>

Pfundmair, Michaela et al. (2022): Pathways Toward Jihadism in Western Europe: An Empirical Exploration of a Comprehensive Model of Terrorist Radicalization. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *34*(1), 48-70. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2019.1663828</u>

Phelps, Matthew (2021): The Role of the Private Sector in Counter-Terrorism: A Scoping Review of the Literature on Emergency Responses to Terrorism. *Security Journal*, *34*, 599-620. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41284-020-00250-6</u>

Phillips, Brian J. (2019): Do 90 Percent of Terrorist Groups Last Less than a Year? Updating the Conventional Wisdom. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(6), 1255-1265. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553</u>. 2017.1361411 URL: <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3006865</u>

Phillips, Brian J. (2019): Terrorist Group Rivalries and Alliances: Testing Competing Explanations. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(11), 997-1019. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1431365</u> URL: <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3109068</u>

Pisoiu, Daniela et al. (2020): Factors of Individual Radicalization into Extremism, Violence and Terror – The German Contribution in a Context. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, 14(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3803</u>

Pistone, Isabella et al. (2019, Summer): A Scoping Review of Interventions for Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism: Current Status and Implications for Future Research. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 19, 1-84. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/213</u>

Polo, Sara M. T. (2020, November): How Terrorism Spreads: Emulation and the Diffusion of Ethnic and Ethnoreligious Terrorism. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 64(10), 1916-1942. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002720930811</u>

Ponsot, Anne-Sophie; Autixier, Cateline; Madriaza, Pablo (2018, Fall): Factors Facilitating the Successful Implementation of a Prevention of Violent Radicalization Intervention as Identified by Front-Line Practitioners. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 16, 1-33. URL: <u>http://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/160</u>

Powell, Stephen R.; Florea, Adrian (2021): Introducing the Armed Nonstate Actor Rivalry Dataset (ANARD). *Civil Wars*, *23*(2), 177-206. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13698249.2021.1883334</u>

Powis, Beverly; Randhawa, Kiran; Bishopp, Darren (2021): An Examination of the Structural Properties of the Extremism Risk Guidelines (ERG22+): A Structured Formulation Tool for Extremist Offenders. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(6), 1141-1159. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2019.1598392</u>

Price, Bryan C. (2019): Terrorism as Cancer: How to Combat an Incurable Disease. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(5), 1096-1120. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1330200</u>

Price, David H. (2020): Questioning our Agency Inside Agencies: Rethinking the Possibility of Scholars' Critical Contributions to Security Agencies. *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 211-226. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2018.1426873</u>

Price, Megan; Gohdes, Anita (2020): The Promises and Pitfalls of Data Analysis for Accountability and Justice. In: Radwan Ziadeh (Ed.): *Accountability in Syria: Achieving Transitional Justice in a Postconflict Society.* Lanham: Lexington Books, 109-120.

Qureshi, Asim (2020): Experiencing the War "of" Terror: A Call to the Critical Terrorism Studies Community. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *13*(3), 485-499. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2020.1746564</u>

Qvortrup, Matt (2020): The Logic of Domestic Terrorism Revisited: A Response to a Critic. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 43(10), 904-909. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1529376</u>

Radil, Steven M.; Castan Pinos, Jaume (2022): Reexamining the Four Waves of Modern Terrorism: A Territorial Interpretation. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 45(4), 311-330. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10</u>.1080/1057610X.2019.1657310 URL: <u>https://portal.findresearcher.sdu.dk/en/publications/reexamin-ing-the-four-waves-of-modern-terrorism-a-territorial-inte</u>

Raitanen, Jenni; Oksanen, Atte (2019): Deep Interest in School Shootings and Online Radicalization. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 6(3-4), 159-172. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000127</u>

Ramakrishna, Kumar (2019): Diagnosing "Extremism": The Case of "Muscular" Secularism in Singapore. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *11*(1), 26-47. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434</u> <u>472.2018.1551919</u>

Ramsay, James D.; Renda-Tanali, Irmak (2018, September): Development of Competency-Based Education Standards for Homeland Security Academic Programs. *Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management*, *15*(3), Article 20180016. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/jhsem-2018-0016</u>

Rapoport, David C. (2021): The Capitol Attack and the 5th Terrorism Wave. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(5), 912-916. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2021.1932338</u>

Rassler, Don (2021, October): Commentary: Data, AI, and the Future of U.S. Counterterrorism: Building an Action Plan. *CTC Sentinel*, *14*(8), 31-44. URL: <u>https://ctc.usma.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/</u> <u>CTC-SENTINEL-082021.pdf</u>

Ravn, Stiene; Coolsaet, Rik; Sauer, Tom (2019): Rethinking Radicalisation: Addressing the Lack of a Contextual Perspective in the Dominant Narratives on Radicalisation. In: Noel Clycq et al. (Eds.): *Radicalisation: A Marginal Phenomenon or a Mirror to Society*? (CeMIS Migration and Intercultural Studies, Vol. 4). Leuven: Leuven University Press, 21-46.

Ravndal, Jacob Aasland (2016, June): Right-Wing Terrorism and Violence in Western Europe: Introducing the RTV Dataset. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *10*(3), 2-15. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/</u> <u>content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-3/302-right-wing-terrorism-and-vio-lence-in-western-europe-introducing-the-rtv-dataset-by-jacob-aasland-ravndal.pdf</u>

Ravndal, Jacob Aasland; Bjørgo, Tore (2018, December): Investigating Terrorism from the Extreme Right: A Review of Past and Present Research. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(6), 5-22. URL: <u>https://www.universi-teitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-6/a1-ravndal-and-bjorgo.pdf</u>

Razavi, Negar (2019): In Times of Crisis: Middle East Policy Between the Counterterror State and the Marketplace of Ideas. *Critical Studies on Security*, *7*(1), 1-17. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21624887.2018.1500</u> 053

Reidy, Ken (2019, August): Benevolent Radicalization: An Antidote to Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(4), 1-13. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspec-</u> <u>tives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-4/reidy.pdf</u>

Renard, Thomas (2021, August): Counter-Terrorism as a Public Policy: Theoretical Insights and Broader Reflections on the State of Counter-Terrorism Research. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(4), 2-10. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/</u> issue-4/renard.pdf

Reno, William; Matisek, Jahara (2018): A New Era of Insurgent Recruitment: Have "New" Civil Wars Changed the Dynamic? *Civil Wars*, *20*(3), 358-378. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13698249.2018.1497314</u>

Ríos, Jerónimo; González, Julio César; Pachón, William (2020): Risk Assessment Analysis of Attacks on FARC Ex-Combatants: Towards a New Evaluation Model of Probability. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, 15(1), 44-63. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2020.1727945</u>

Robinson, Glenn E. (2020, Summer): Movements of Rage. *CTX*, *10*(2), 12-17. URL: <u>https://nps.edu/docu-ments/110773463/122717000/Vol10N02+CTX+.pdf</u>

Robinson, Mark D.; Dauber, Cori E. (2019): Grading the Quality of ISIS Videos: A Metric for Assessing the Technical Sophistication of Digital Video Propaganda. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(1-2), 70-87. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1513693</u>

Rozel, John Samuel (2019, September-December): Complexity, Computational Modeling, and Forecasting the Future of Threat Management. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 6(3-4), 193-197. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000131</u>

Rrustemi, Arlinda (2022, Summer): Ensuring Security while Conducting Research and Fieldwork on Countering and Preventing Religious and Far-Right Violent Extremism: The Case of Southeastern Europe. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 31, 95-118. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/603</u>

Rudolfsen, Ida (2020): Food Insecurity and Domestic Instability: A Review of the Literature. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *32*(5), 921-948. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1418334</u>

Russo, Alessandra; Selenica, Ervjola (2022): Actors and Sites for Knowledge Production on Radicalisation in Europe and Beyond. *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, *30*(2), 236-254. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14782804.2021.1997729</u>

Sageman, Marc (Interviewee); Sardoc, Mitja (Interviewer) (2020): Making Sense of Political Violence: An Interview with Marc Sageman. *Small Wars & Insurgencies*, *31*(3), 670-679. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09</u> 592318.2020.1726581

Saggar, Shamit (2019): "Just Three Skittles in a Bowl Will Kill You. Would You Take a Handful?" Evidence, Public Policy and Islamist-Inspired Violent Extremism. *Patterns of Prejudice*, *53*(2), 178-199. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0031322X.2019.1577006</u>

Sánchez-Rebollo, Cristina et al. (2019): Detection of Jihadism in Social Networks Using Big Data Techniques Supported by Graphs and Fuzzy Clustering. *Complexity*, 2019, Article 1238780. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/1238780</u>

Sanso-Navarro, Marcos; Vera-Cabello, María (2020): The Socioeconomic Determinants of Terrorism: A Bayesian Model Averaging Approach. *Defence and Peace Economics*, *31*(3), 269-288. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/1</u>0.1080/10242694.2018.1525935

Sarma, Kiran M.; Carthy, Sarah L.; Cox, Katie M. (2022, September): Mental Disorder, Psychological Problems and Terrorist Behaviour: A Systematic Review and Meta Analysis. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *18*(3), Article e1268. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1268</u>

Sarnecki, Jerzy (2018, November): A Criminological Perspective on Recruitment of Men and Women to Daesh. *International Annals of Criminology*, 56(1-2), 122-144. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/cri.2018.18</u>

Schlegel, Linda (2021, August): Connecting, Competing, and Trolling: "User Types" in Digital Gamified Radicalization Processes. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(4), 54-64. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/</u><u>binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-4/schlegel.pdf</u>

Schmid, Alex P. (2020): Discussion 1 – Revisiting the Wicked Problem of Defining Terrorism. *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 3-11. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Schmid, Alex P. (2020): In Response – Counterterrorism: Also a Continuing Threat? *Contemporary Voices*, *1*(4), 47-53. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1601</u>

Schmid, Alex P.; Forest, James J. F. (Compilers) (2018, August): Research Desiderata: 150 Un- and Under-Researched Topics and Themes in the Field of (Counter-) Terrorism Studies – A New List. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(4), 68-76. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/</u> <u>perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-4/05---un--and-under-researched.pdf</u>

Schmid, Alex P.; Forest, James J. F.; Lowe, Timothy (2021, June): Terrorism Studies: A Glimpse at the Current State of Research (2020/2021). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(3), 142-152. URL: <u>https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-3/schmid-et-al.pdf</u>

Schmid, Alex P.; Forest, James J. F.; Lowe, Timothy (2021, August): Counter-Terrorism Studies: A Glimpse at the Current State of Research (2020/2021). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(4), 155-183. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-4/schmid-et-al.pdf</u>

Schmidt, Rachel (2021): When Fieldwork Ends: Navigating Ongoing Contact with Former Insurgents. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 33(2), 312-323. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2021.1880228</u>

Schumann, Sandy et al. (2019, October): Towards Open and Reproducible Terrorism Studies: Current Trends and Next Steps. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(5), 61-73. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/</u><u>binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-5/4--schumann-et-al..pdf</u>

Schuurman, Bart (2019): Conducting Qualitative Research on Terrorism: Finding and Using Primary Sources. *SAGE Research Methods Cases Part 2*. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526467560</u>

Schuurman, Bart (2019): Topics in Terrorism Research: Reviewing Trends and Gaps, 2007-2016. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *12*(3), 463-480. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2019.1579777</u>

Schuurman, Bart (2020): Research on Terrorism, 2007–2016: A Review of Data, Methods, and Authorship. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *32*(5), 1011-1026. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1439023</u>

Schuurman, Bart (2020, December): Non-Involvement in Terrorist Violence: Understanding the Most Common Outcome of Radicalization Processes. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(6), 14-26. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-6/schuur-man.pdf</u>

Schuurman, Bart (2021, October): The Role of Beliefs in Motivating Involvement in Terrorism. [Article Commentary]. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(5), 85-92. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/</u> <u>content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-5/schuurman.pdf</u>

Schuurman, Bart et al. (2019): End of the Lone Wolf: The Typology that Should Not Have Been. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(8), 771-778. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2017.1419554</u>

Schwing, Kyle M.; Spitaletta, Jason; Pitt, Jonathan (2022): A Mathematical Interpretation of the Communicative Constitution of Organizations. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, 15(2), 165-188. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2021.2008462</u>

Scott-Baumann, Alison (2018, June): "Dual Use Research of Concern" and "Select Agents": How Researchers Can Use Free Speech to Avoid "Weaponising" Academia. *Journal of Muslims in Europe*, 7(2), 237-261. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/22117954-12341373</u>

Scremin, Nicolò (2020, February): Why an Agreed Definition of Terrorism Matters. *International Counter-Terrorism Review*, 1(2). URL: <u>https://www.ict.org.il/images/Why%20an%20Agreed%20Definition%20</u> <u>of%20Terrorism%20Matters.pdf</u>

Scrivens, Ryan; Davies, Garth; Frank, Richard (2018): Searching for Signs of Extremism on the Web: An Introduction to Sentiment-Based Identification of Radical Authors. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *10*(1), 39-59. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2016.1276612</u>

Scrivens, Ryan; Davies, Garth; Frank, Richard (2020): Measuring the Evolution of Radical Right-Wing Posting Behaviors Online. *Deviant Behavior*, 41(2), 216-232. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2018</u>. <u>1556994</u>

Scrivens, Ryan; Gill, Paul; Conway, Maura (2020): The Role of the Internet in Facilitating Violent Extremism and Terrorism: Suggestions for Progressing Research. In: Thomas J. Holt; Adam M. Bossler (Eds.): *The Palgrave Handbook of International Cybercrime and Cyberdeviance*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90307-1_61-1</u>

Scrivens, Ryan; Windisch, Steven; Simi, Pete (2020, December): Ausgestiegene in Prävention und Wissenschaft. *JEX*. URL: <u>https://journal-exit.de/was-wir-von-ehemaligen-rechtsextremisten-lernen-koennen</u>

Scrivens, Ryan et al. (2019): Searching for Extremist Content Online Using the Dark Crawler and Sentiment Analysis. In: Mathieu Deflem; Derek M. D. Silva (Eds.): *Methods of Criminology and Criminal Justice Research*. (Sociology of Crime, Law and Deviance, Vol. 24). Bingley: Emerald, 179-194. DOI: <u>https://doi.</u> <u>org/10.1108/S1521-613620190000024016</u>

Sharif, Sally (2021): Predicting the End of the Syrian Conflict: From Theory to the Reality of a Civil War. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 44(4), 326-345. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1538153</u>

Sheikh, Mona Kanwal; Svensson, Isak (2022, February): Countering Violent Extremism or Resolving Conflicts? Bridging Micro- and Macro Perspectives on Countering Jihad. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(1), 60-70. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-1/kanwal-and-svensson.pdf</u>

Shortland, Neil et al. (2022): An Empirical Assessment of the Prioritization and Intervention for Violent Extremists Tool (PIVET). *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 9(2), 80-97. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000182</u>

Shultz, Richard (2018): Post-9/11 Wartime Intelligence Analysis. *Intelligence and National Security*, 33(7), 974-998. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02684527.2018.1489998</u>

Silver, James; Horgan, John; Gill, Paul (2019, February): Shared Struggles? Cumulative Strain Theory and Public Mass Murderers from 1990 to 2014. *Homicide Studies*, 23(1), 64-84. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1088767918802881</u>

Silver, James M. et al. (2021): A Coproduction Research Model Between Academia and Law Enforcement Responsible for Investigating Threats. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, 16(1), 32-43. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2021.1880018</u>

Sinai, Joshua; with Jeffrey Fuller; Tiffany Seal (2019, December): Research Note: Effectiveness in Counterer-Terrorism and Countering Violent Extremism: A Literature Review. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(6), 90-108. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-6/07-sinai-research.pdf</u>

Sirgy, M. Joseph; Joshanloo, Mohsen; Estes, Richard J. (2019): The Global Challenge of Jihadist Terrorism: A Quality-of-Life Model. *Social Indicators Research*, *141*, 191-215. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-017-1831-x</u>

Skillicorn, D. B.; Leuprecht, Christian (2018): Clustering Heterogeneous Semi-Structured Social Science Datasets for Security Applications. In: Anthony J. Masys (Ed.): Security by Design: Innovative Perspectives on Complex Problems. Cham: Springer, 181-191. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-78021-4_9</u>

Skoczylis, Joshua; Andrews, Sam (2022): Strain Theory, Resilience, and Far-Right Extremism: The Impact of Gender, Life Experiences and the Internet. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, *15*(1), 143-168. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2022.2031137</u>

Slone, Michelle; Mann, Shiri (2016, January): Effects of War, Terrorism and Armed Conflict on Young Children: A Systematic Review. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 47, 950-965. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-016-0626-7</u>

Sluka, Jeffrey Alan (2020): Too Dangerous for Fieldwork? The Challenge of Institutional Risk-Management in Primary Research on Conflict, Violence and "Terrorism". *Contemporary Social Science*, *15*(2), 241-257. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21582041.2018.1498534</u>

Smith, Debra; Talbot, Steven (2019): How to Make Enemies and Influence People: A Social Influence Model of Violent Extremism (SIM-VE). *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *14*(2), 99-114. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2019.1575973</u>

Smith, Nathan; Barrett, Emma C. (2019): Psychology, Extreme Environments, and Counter-Terrorism Operations. *Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression*, *11*(1), 48-72. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19434472.2018.1551916</u>

Sniderman, Paul M. et al. (2019, February): Reactions to Terror Attacks: A Heuristic Model. *Political Psychology*, 40(S1), 245-258. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12575</u> URL: <u>https://polpsy.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Sniderman_et_al_2019_Political_Psychology.pdf</u>

Sold, Manjana; Gaspar, Hande Abay; Junk, Julian (2020): Designing Research on Radicalisation Using Social Media Content: Data Protection Regulations as Challenges and Opportunities. In: Christoph Günther; Simone Pfeifer (Eds.): *Jihadi Audiovisuality and its Entanglements: Meanings, Aesthetics, Appropriations*. [e-Book]. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 51-72. URL: <u>https://library.oapen.org/han-dle/20.500.12657/47099</u>

Spagat, Michael; Johnson, Neil F.; van Weezel, Stijn (2018, October): Fundamental Patterns and Predictions of Event Size Distributions in Modern Wars and Terrorist Campaigns. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(10), Article e0204639. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204639</u>

Spaniel, William (2019, March): Rational Overreaction to Terrorism. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 63(3), 786-810. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002718756489</u> URL: <u>https://wjspaniel.files.wordpress.</u> <u>com/2018/01/rationaloverreactionfinal.pdf</u>

Speckhard, Anne (2009): Research Challenges Involved in Field Research and Interviews Regarding the Militant Jihad, Extremism, and Suicide Terrorism. *Democracy and Security*, 5(3), 199-222. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17419160903183409</u>

Stankov, Lazar et al. (2019, Summer): Militant Extremist Mindset in Post-Conflict Regions of the Balkans. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 19, 185-218. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/221</u>

Starodubrovskaya, Irina V. (2020, April): Islamic Conflict and Violence in Local Communities: Lessons from the North Caucasus. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 14(2), 80-92. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/</u> <u>binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-2/7.-starodubrovskaya.pdf</u>

Steinek, Victoria; Zetinigg, Birgit (2020): Islamist and Right-Wing Extremist Propaganda: A Literary Analysis on the Mechanisms and Impact of Violent Extremist Narratives Online. *SIAK-Journal – Zeitschrift für Polizeiwissenschaft und polizeiliche Praxis*, 1/2020, 68-78. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7396/2020_1_F</u>

Stenersen, Anne (2020): Jihadism After the "Caliphate": Towards a New Typology. *British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies*, 47(5), 774-793. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13530194.2018.1552118</u>

Stephens, William; Sieckelinck, Stijn; Boutellier. Hans (2021): Preventing Violent Extremism: A Review of the Literature. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 44(4), 346-361. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/105761</u> 0X.2018.1543144

Storm, Joshua R. (2018, May): Outsourcing Intelligence Analysis: Legal and Policy Risks. Journal of Na-

tional Security Law & Policy, 9, 669-695. URL: <u>http://jnslp.com/2018/05/30/outsourcing-intelligence-anal-ysis-legal-and-policy-risks</u>

Streicher, Ruth (2020, February): Research as a Military Mascot: Political Ethnography and Counterinsurgency in Southern Thailand. *Security Dialogue*, *51*(1), 23-38. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0967010619887840</u>

Sullivan, Patricia Lynne; Karreth, Johannes (2019, October): Strategies and Tactics in Armed Conflict: How Governments and Foreign Interveners Respond to Insurgent Threats. [Data Set Feature]. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 63(9), 2207-2232. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002719828103</u>

Sweeney, Matthew M. (2019): Leaderless Resistance and the Truly Leaderless: A Case Study Test of the Literature-Based Findings. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 42(7), 617-635. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10</u> 57610X.2017.1407480

Sweeney, Matthew M.; Kubit, Meghan (2020): Blood and Scripture: How the Islamic State Frames Religion in Violent Video Propaganda. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide*, *13*(2), 172-190. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17467586.2019.1680853</u>

Tankel, Stephen (2019): Universal Soldiers or Parochial Actors: Understanding Jihadists as Products of their Environments. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(2), 299-322. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/095465</u> 53.2016.1219725

Taylor, Max; Horgan, John (2021): Primum Non Nocere – First Do No Harm. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 33(2), 221-224. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2021.1880239</u>

Taylor, Max; Horgan, John (Eds.) (2021): Ethics and Terrorism. [Special Issue]. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(2). <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/ftpv20/33/2</u>

Teiner, David (2020, August): Cartel-Related Violence in Mexico as Narco-Terrorism or Criminal Insurgency: A Literature Review. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 14(4), 83-98. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.</u> <u>nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-4/teiner.pdf</u>

Tinnes, Judith (2022, February): Camera-Recorded Extrajudicial Executions by the Islamic State (2015-2020): Analysis – Statistics – Data Set. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(1), 71-100. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-1/tinnes.pdf</u>

Tishler, Nicole A. (2018, August): Fake Terrorism: Examining Terrorist Groups' Resort to Hoaxing as a Mode of Attack. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(4), 3-13. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/</u> <u>content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-4/01---tishler.pdf</u>

Toros, Harmonie (2022): Better Researchers, Better People? The Dangers of Empathetic Research on the Extreme Right. *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(1), 225-231. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2022</u>. 2031127

Torregrosa, Javier et al. (2022, January): A Survey on Extremism Analysis Using Natural Language Processing: Definitions, Literature Review, Trends and Challenges. *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing*. Advance Online Publication. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12652-021-03658-z</u>

Tovar Cuevas, Luis Miguel et al. (2020): From Counterinsurgency to the Peace Agreement in Colombia: A Bayesian Approximation of Human Security. *Democracy and Security*, *16*(4), 351-368. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17419166.2020.1818228</u>

Treistman, Jeffrey (2021): Revisiting Reactionary Terrorism: Definitions, Causes, and Consequences. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, 16(2), 192-201. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330</u>. 2021.1892169

Trimbur, Margot et al. (2021, September): Are Radicalization and Terrorism Associated with Psychi-

atric Disorders? A Systematic Review. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 141, 214-222. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.07.002</u>

Truc, Gérôme (2022): Social Sciences in a Time of Terror. In: Florence Faucher; Gérôme Truc (Eds.): *Facing Terrorism in France: Lessons from the 2015 Paris Attacks*. (French Politics, Society and Culture). Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 107-119. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-94163-5_10</u>

Tschantret, Joshua (2019): The Old Terrorism: A Dataset, 1860 – 1969. *International Interactions*, 45(5), 933-948. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2019.1649259</u>

Tutun, Salih; Khasawneh, Mohammad T.; Zhuang, Jun (2017, July): New Framework that Uses Patterns and Relations to Understand Terrorist Behaviors. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 78, 358-375. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2017.02.029</u>

Tutun, Salih et al. (2017): An Outlier-Based Intention Detection for Discovering Terrorist Strategies. *Procedia Computer Science*, *114*, 132-138. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2017.09.006</u>

Ulmschneider, Georgia Wralstad; Lutz, James M. (2019): Terrorism Analysis and Holder v. Humanitarian Law Project: The Missing Element. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(4), 800-816. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/1</u>0.1080/09546553.2017.1289089

VandenBerg, Robert J. (2021): Legitimating Extremism: A Taxonomy of Justifications for Political Violence. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(6), 1237-1255. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2019.160</u> 6800

Vandepeer, Charles (2018): Intelligence and Knowledge Development: What Are the Questions Intelligence Analysts Ask? *Intelligence and National Security*, *33*(6), 785-803. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02684</u> 527.2018.1454029

Van Der Vegt, Isabelle et al. (2019, September-December): Learning from the Parallel Field of Terrorism Studies. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 6(3-4), 202-209. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000133</u>

Veilleux-Lepage, Yannick; van Steen, Tommy; Kisyova, Maria-Elena (2022, August): Terrorism Experts' Predictions Regarding the Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Activities of Violent Non-State Actors. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(4), 41-58. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/</u> <u>assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-4/veilleux-lepage-et-al.pdf</u>

Vergani, Matteo et al. (2020): The Three Ps of Radicalization: Push, Pull and Personal. A Systematic Scoping Review of the Scientific Evidence About Radicalization into Violent Extremism. *Studies in Conflict* & *Terrorism*, 43(10), 854-885. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2018.1505686</u> URL: <u>https://www.</u> researchgate.net/publication/326585283 The 3 Ps of radicalisation push pull and personal A systematic scoping review of the scientific evidence about radicalisation into violent extremism

Vergani, Matteo et al. (2021): Comparing Different Sources of Data to Examine Trends of Hate Crime in Absence of Official Registers. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 46, 445-460. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-020-09567-9</u>

Warren, Janet I. et al. (2018): Operationalizing Theory: A Moral-Situational Action Model for Extremist Violence. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 5(4), 205-226. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000118</u>

Warren, Janet I. et al. (2020): Using the Moral–Situational Action Violence Risk Model for Assessing Women Involved in Extremist Violence: An Empirical Study. *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, *7*(1-2), 41-71. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000148</u>

Warrington, Anna; Windfeld, Frederik Carl (2020, Spring): Femme Fatale: Analyzing the Visual Represen-

tation of the Radical(ized) Woman in Danish Media. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 22, 38-65. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/313</u>

West, Levi; Campion, Kristy (2021): Teaching Terrorism and Practitioners: Context, Capabilities, and Connectivity in Counter-Terrorism Knowledge and Networks. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism*, *16*(1), 75-91. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2021.1889018</u>

Wetter, Olive Emil (2014): Terrorism Research: Should we Focus on the Opponent or on our Own People? *Defense & Security Analysis*, 30(2), 92-105. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14751798.2014.894298</u>

Whittaker, Joe (2022, August): Rethinking Online Radicalization. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 16(4), 27-40. URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-4/whittaker.pdf</u>

Wignell, Peter et al. (2021): Natural Language Understanding and Multimodal Discourse Analysis for Interpreting Extremist Communications and the Re-Use of these Materials Online. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(1), 71-95. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1520703</u> URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.11937/74752</u>

Williams, David E., Jr. (2019, March): An Overview of Islamic Fundamentalism: A Primer for Understanding Extremist Islam. *Small Wars Journal*, 3/2019. URL: <u>https://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/overview-is-</u> <u>lamic-fundamentalism-primer-understanding-extremist-islam</u>

Williams, Michael J. (2021, Spring): Research Methods Brief: Attrition Happens (and What to Do About It). *Journal for Deradicalization*, 26, 217-226. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/441</u>

Williams, Michael J. (2022, Spring): Research Methods Brief: Anatomy of Process Evaluations for P/CVE. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 30, 262-274. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/583</u>

Williams, Michael J. (2022, Summer): Incentivizing P/CVE Research, Evaluation, and Program Participants. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 31, 164-174. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/</u> <u>view/607</u>

Williams, Timothy (2019, Summer): Ideological and Behavioural Radicalisation into Terrorism – An Alternative Sequencing. *Journal for Deradicalization*, 19, 85-121. URL: <u>https://journals.sfu.ca/jd/index.php/jd/article/view/215</u>

Winter, Charlie et al. (2020): Online Extremism: Research Trends in Internet Activism, Radicalization, and Counter-Strategies. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence*, *14*(Focus 2). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.4119/ijcv-3809</u>

Wolfowicz, Michael; Hasisi, Badi; Weisburd, David (2021, March): PROTOCOL: What Are the Effects of Different Elements of Media on Radicalization Outcomes? A Systematic Review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *17*(1), Article e1148. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1148</u>

Wolfowicz, Michael; Hasisi, Badi; Weisburd, David (2022, June): What Are the Effects of Different Elements of Media on Radicalization Outcomes? A Systematic Review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 18(2), Article e1244. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1244</u>

Wolfowicz, Michael et al. (2020): A Field-Wide Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Putative Risk and Protective Factors for Radicalization Outcomes. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, *36*, 407-447. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10940-019-09439-4</u>

Wolfowicz, Michael et al. (2020): What Is the State of the Quantitative Literature on Risk Factors for Radicalization and Recruitment to Terrorism? In: David Weisburd et al. (Eds.): *Understanding Recruitment to Organized Crime and Terrorism*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan / Springer Nature, 25-53. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36639-1_2</u> Wolfowicz, Michael et al. (2020, September): PROTOCOL: Cognitive and Behavioral Radicalization: A Systematic Review of the Putative Risk and Protective Factors. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *16*(3), Article e1102. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1102</u>

Wu, Yejun (2020): Developing a Taxonomic Framework of Security Methods for Security Management and Information Resource Management. *Journal of Strategic Security*, *13*(2), 64-77. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5038/1944-0472.13.2.1787</u>

Wu, Yejun; Meng, Fansong (2019): Categorizing Security for Security Management and Information Resource Management. *Journal of Strategic Security*, *11*(4), 72-84. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5038/1944-0472.11.4.1694</u>

Xu, Zhiheng; Zhuang, Jun (2019, June): A Study on a Sequential One-Defender-N-Attacker Game. *Risk Analysis*, *39*(6), 1414-1432. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.13257</u>

Yarlagadda, Rithvik et al. (2018): Implicit Terrorist Networks: A Two-Mode Social Network Analysis of Terrorism in India. In: Robert Thomson et al. (Eds.): *Social, Cultural, and Behavioral Modeling: 11th International Conference, SBP-BRiMS 2018, Washington, DC, USA, July 10-13, 2018, Proceedings.* (Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 10899). Cham: Springer, 340-347. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93372-6_37</u>

Yayla, Ahmet S. (2021): Turkish ISIS and AQ Foreign Fighters: Reconciling the Numbers and Perception of the Terrorism Threat. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 44(12), 1125-1147. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/105</u> 7610X.2019.1628613

Young, Joseph K. (2019): Measuring Terrorism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(2), 323-345. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2016.1228630</u>

Young, Joseph K.; Shellman, Steve (2019, November): Protestors, Terrorists or Something Else? How to Think About Dissident Groups. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, *36*(6), 645-660. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894219881425</u>

Youngman, Mark (2020): Building "Terrorism Studies" as an Interdisciplinary Space: Addressing Recurring Issues in the Study of Terrorism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *32*(5), 1091-1105. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1520702</u>

Zelin, Aaron Y. (2021): The Case of Jihadology and the Securitization of Academia. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *33*(2), 225-241. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2021.1880191</u>

Zenn, Jacob (2021): Academic Questions on Jihadist Sources, Analysis, and Networks: A Rejoinder to Will Reno on Unmasking Boko Haram. *Small Wars & Insurgencies*, *32*(3), 535-549. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.108</u> 0/09592318.2021.1891616

Zhang, Jing; Zhuang, Jun (2019, May): Modeling a Multi-Target Attacker-Defender Game with Multiple Attack Types. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 185, 465-475. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>ress.2019.01.015</u>

Zhang, Lisa; Gronvall, Gigi Kwik (2020): Red Teaming the Biological Sciences for Deliberate Threats. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *23*(6), 1225-1244. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1457527</u>

Zhukov, Yuri M.; Davenport, Christian; Kostyuk, Nadiya (2019, July): Introducing xSub: A New Portal for Cross-National Data on Subnational Violence. *Journal of Peace Research*, *56*(4), 604-614. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343319836697</u>

Zywietz, Bernd (2020): Mediale Formen und Formate der IS-Propaganda: Ein Analyseansatz und Überblick. In: Bernd Zywietz (Ed.): *Propaganda des "Islamischen Staats": Formen und Formate*. (Aktivismusund Propagandaforschung). Wiesbaden: Springer VS, 75-137. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-</u>

28751-1_4

Grey Literature

Akrami, Nazar et al. (2018, September): *Assessment of Risk in Written Communication: Introducing the Profile Risk Assessment Tool (PRAT).* (Europol, ECTC Advisory Group on Online Terrorist Propaganda Conference Paper). URL: <u>https://www.europol.europa.eu/publications-documents/assessment-of-risk-in-writ-</u> <u>ten-communication</u>

Allchorn, William; Dafnos, Andreas (2020, October): *Far-Right Mobilisations in Great Britain, 2009-2019*. [Data Set]. London: Centre for Analysis of the Radical Right. URL: <u>https://www.radicalrightanalysis.</u> <u>com/2020/11/19/carr-report-far-right-mobilisations-in-great-britain-frgb-dataset-2009-2019</u>

Alrhmoun, Abdullah; Maher, Shiraz; Winter, Charlie (2020, September): *Decoding Hate: Using Experimental Text Analysis to Classify Terrorist Content.* (GNET Report). URL: <u>https://gnet-research.org/2020/09/01/</u> <u>decoding-hate-using-experimental-text-analysis-to-classify-terrorist-content</u>

Amnesty International; Open Society Foundations (2021, February): *A Human Rights Guide for Researching Racial and Religious Discrimination in Counter-Terrorism in Europe*. (Report EUR 01/3606/2021). URL: <u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur01/3606/2021/en/</u>

Atamuradova, Farangiz; Nanni, Carlotta (2020, June): *Commissioning Research on Violent Extremism: Lessons Learned from the STRIVE Global Program*. (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2020.6</u>

Aydoğdu, Savaş; Warnes, Richard; Harley, Stephen (2021, September): *Developments in Terrorism and Counterterrorism During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Implications for the Future*. (COE-DAT Research Report). URL: <u>https://www.coedat.nato.int/publication/researches/09-C19_ResearchReport.pdf</u>

Barnett, James; Maher, Shiraz; Winter, Charlie (2021): *Literature Review: Innovation, Creativity and the Interplay Between Far-Right and Islamist Extremism.* (ICSR Report). URL: <u>https://icsr.info/2021/03/23/</u> <u>literature-review-innovation-creativity-and-the-interplay-between-far%e2%80%91right-and-islamist-ex-tremism</u>

Baykal, Asena et al. (2021, September): *Evaluating P/CVE: Institutional Structures in International Comparison.* (GPPi Research Report). URL: <u>https://www.gppi.net/2021/09/01/evaluating-p-cve</u>

Bellasio, Jacopo et al. (2021): *Insights from the Bin Laden Archive: Inventory of Research and Knowledge and Initial Assessment and Characterisation of the Bin Laden Archive.* (RAND Research Reports, RR-A109-1). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/RRA109-1</u>

Berger, J. M. (2019, June): *Researching Violent Extremism: The State of Play.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2019.3</u>

Berkeley Center for Right-Wing Studies (CRWS) (2017-2019): *FBI Freedom of Information Act Archive of Radical Right-Wing Groups and Individuals*. URL: <u>https://crws.berkeley.edu/fbi-foia-archive</u>

Bjørgo, Tore; Gjelsvik, Ingvild Magnæs (2020, December): *Norwegian Research on the Prevention of Radicalisation and Violent Extremism: A Status of Knowledge*. (PHS Forskning 2015: 2; abridged ed., transl. into English). URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/11250/284584</u>

Bouhana, Noémie; Schumann, Sandy; with Philip Doherty (2022, March): *Are Conceptual Frameworks of Radicalisation Leading to Involvement in Terrorism "Observable"*? An Exploratory Study. (CREST Report). URL: <u>https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/are-conceptual-frameworks-of-radicalisation-leading-to-in-volvement-in-terrorism-observable</u>

Boyd, Marcus A.; Henkin, Samuel (2022, January): Alternative Scales of Extremism: The Relationship Be-

tween Scale and Predictive Measures of Extremism in the United States. (START Report to the Department of Homeland Security). URL: <u>https://www.start.umd.edu/publication/alternative-scales-extremism-rela-tionship-between-scale-and-predictive-measures</u>

Braddock, Kurt (2019, January): A Brief Primer on Experimental and Quasi-Experimental Methods in the Study of Terrorism. (ICCT Policy Brief). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.19165/2019.2.01</u>

Braddock, Kurt (2020, January): *Experimentation and Quasi-Experimentation in Countering Violent Extremism: Directions of Future Inquiry.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2020.1</u>

Busher, Joel; Holbrook, Donald; Macklin, Graham (2019, February): *The Internal Brakes on Violent Escalation: A Descriptive Typology.* (CREST Report). URL: <u>https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/internal-brakes-full-report</u>

Clark, Roland (2020, February): *10 Things That Should Change About Fascism Studies*. (CARR Insights). URL: <u>https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/2020/02/20/10-things-that-should-change-about-fascism-studies</u>

Clarke, Colin P. (2020, April): *Conducting P/CVE Assessment in Conflict Environments: Key Considerations.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.</u> <u>org/10.37805/rve2020.3</u>

Dafnos, Andreas (2018, September 27): Automated Event Extraction Tools for the Study of the Far-Right. *CARR Blog.* URL: <u>https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/2018/09/27/automated-event-extraction-tools-for-the-study-of-the-far-right</u>

Dalgaard-Nielsen, Anja; Haugstvedt, Håvard (2020, September): *Bridging Wicked Problem and Violent Extremism Research – A Research Agenda for Understanding and Assessing Local Capacity to Prevent Violent Extremism*. (C-REX Working Paper Series, No. 1 / 2020). URL: <u>https://www.sv.uio.no/c-rex/english/publi-</u> <u>cations/c-rex-working-paper-series/crex-working-paper-anja-havard.pdf</u>

Davey, Jacob; Tuck, Henry; Amarasingam, Amarnath (2019): *An Imprecise Science: Assessing Interventions for the Prevention, Disengagement and De-Radicalisation of Left and Right-Wing Extremists.* (ISD Report). URL: <u>https://www.isdglobal.org/isd-publications/an-imprecise-science-assessing-interven-</u> <u>tions-for-the-prevention-disengagement-and-de-radicalisation-of-left-and-right-wing-extremists</u>

Davey, Jacob et al. (2021, December): A Taxonomy for the Classification of Post-Organisational Violent Extremist and Terrorist Content. (ISD Briefing). URL: <u>https://www.isdglobal.org/isd-publications/a-taxon-omy-for-the-classification-of-post-organisational-violent-terrorist-content</u>

Dawson, Lorne L. (2021, February): A Comparative Analysis of the Data on Western Foreign Fighters in Syria and Iraq: Who Went and Why? (ICCT Research Paper). URL: <u>https://icct.nl/publication/a-compara-tive-analysis-of-the-data-on-western-foreign-fighters-in-syria-and-iraq-who-went-and-why</u>

Donnelly, Phoebe (2021, January): *Demystifying Gender Analysis for Research on Violent Extremism*. (RE-SOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2021.2</u>

Enstad, Johannes Due (2021, May): *Contemporary Antisemitism in Three Dimensions: A New Framework for Analysis*. [Preprint]. SocArXiv. URL: <u>https://osf.io/preprints/socarxiv/adqkn</u>

Eser Davolio, Miryam (2022, March): *Research on Islamist Extremism in the Swiss Context: Assessing and Analyzing a Sensitive Phenomenon*. (RESOLVE Network Research Report). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/</u>rve2022.1

Eyerman, Joe et al. (2021): A Review of Public Data About Terrorism and Targeted Violence to Meet U.S. De-

partment of Homeland Security Mission Needs. (RAND Research Reports, RR-A1203-1). DOI: https://doi. org/10.7249/RR-A1203-1

Feve, Sebastien; Elshimi, Mohammed (2018, June): *Planning for Prevention: A Framework to Develop and Evaluate National Action Plans to Prevent and Counter Violent Extremism.* (Global Center on Cooperative Security Policy Brief). URL: <u>https://www.globalcenter.org/publications/planning-for-prevention-a-framework-to-develop-and-evaluate-national-action-plans-to-prevent-and-counter-violent-extremism</u>

Fisher, Ali; Prucha, Nico (2018, December 13): After the Hype, What About the Data? Part 1: The Telegram "Cull". *Online Jihad: Monitoring Jihadist Online Communities*. URL: <u>https://onlinejihad.net/2018/12/13/after-the-hype-what-about-the-data-part-1</u>

Fisher, Ali; Prucha, Nico (2019, February 18): How Jihadist Groups Exploit Western Researchers to Promote their Theology. *Online Jihad: Monitoring Jihadist Online Communities*. URL: <u>https://onlinejihad.</u> <u>net/2019/02/18/how-jihadist-groups-exploit-western-researchers-to-promote-their-theology</u>

Fisher, Ali; Prucha, Nico (2020, February 20): A More Progressive Terrorism Studies. *Online Jihad: Monitoring Jihadist Online Communities*. URL: <u>https://onlinejihad.net/2020/02/20/towards-progressive-terror-</u> <u>ism-studies</u>

Fisher, Ali; Prucha, Nico (2021, October): *Understanding the Global Jihadist Movement*. (EICTP Expert Paper). URL: <u>https://www.eictp.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/FINAL_EICTP_Expert-Paper_Jihad-ist-Movement.pdf</u>

Franc, Renata; Pavlović, Tomislav (2018, December): *Systematic Review of Quantitative Studies on Inequality and Radicalisation*. (DARE Report). URL: <u>http://www.dare-h2020.org/uploads/1/2/1/7/12176018/sys-</u> <u>tematic review final.pdf</u>

Galán, Sergio Altuna (2019, June): *Made-to-Measure Qur'anic Quotations: The Incomplete Verses of al-Qaeda in the Islamic Maghreb.* (ARI 72/2019). URL: <u>https://www.realinstitutoelcano.org/en/analyses/made-to-</u> <u>measure-quranic-quotations-the-incomplete-verses-of-al-qaeda-in-the-islamic-maghreb</u>

Ghosh, Ratna et al. (2020): *Preparing Professionals to Dialogue About Extremism and Radicalization: A Look at the ERC Programs at McGill University and University of Quebec in Montreal.* (TSAS Research Report RB 2020-01). URL: <u>https://www.tsas.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/TSAS-Ghosh 2020 3 11 21.</u> <u>pdf</u>

Gill, Paul (2020, January 8): *Empirical Studies of Online Radicalisation: A Review and Discussion*. (VOX-Pol Blog Post). URL: <u>https://www.voxpol.eu/empirical-studies-of-online-radicalisation-a-review-and-discussion</u>

Gill, Paul (2020, February): *The Data Collection Challenge: Experiences Studying Lone-Actor Terrorism*. (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). URL: <u>https://www.resol-venet.org/research/data-collection-challenge-experiences-studying-lone-actor-terrorism</u>

Global Internet Forum to Counter Terrorism (GIFCT) (2021, July): *Broadening the GIFCT Hash-Sharing Database Taxonomy: An Assessment and Recommended Next Steps.* (Report). URL: <u>https://gifct.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/GIFCT-TaxonomyReport-2021.pdf</u>

Grand-Clément, Sarah et al. (2021): *Classifying Acts of Violence: Understanding How Acts of Violence Are Classified by Subject Matter Experts.* (RAND Research Reports, RR-A1220-1). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/RRA1220-1</u>

Guhl, Jakob (2021, November): *A Theoretical Introduction to Contemporary Salafism*. (ISD Theoretical Briefing). URL: <u>https://www.isdglobal.org/isd-publications/theoretical-overview-gen-z-the-digital-sala-fi-ecosystem</u>

Guhl, Jakob; Marsh, Oliver; Tuck, Henry (2022, July): *Researching the Evolving Online Ecosystem: Barriers, Methods and Future Challenges.* (ISD Report). URL: <u>https://www.isdglobal.org/isd-publications/research-ing-the-evolving-online-ecosystem-barriers-methods-and-future-challenges</u>

Hegghammer, Thomas; Ketchley, Neil (2021, October): *Plots, Attacks, and the Measurement of Terrorism.* SocArXiv. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/t72yj</u>

Hellyer, H. A.; Grossman, Michele (2019, May): A Framework for Understanding the Relationship Between Radicalisation, Religion and Violence. (GREASE Concept Paper). URL: <u>https://hdl.handle.net/1814/69887</u>

Helmus, Todd C.; Klein, Kurt (2018): *Assessing Outcomes of Online Campaigns Countering Violent Extremism: A Case Study of the Redirect Method.* (RAND Research Reports, RR-2813-GNF). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/RR2813</u>

Henkin, Samuel D.; Boyd, Marcus A.; Romm, Madeline (2022, May): *A Climate of Terror? Part I: Approaches to the Study of Climate Change and Terrorism.* (START Research Brief). URL: <u>https://www.start.umd.edu/publication/climate-terror-approaches-study-climate-change-and-terrorism-executive-summary</u>

Herbert, Siân (2019, October): *Institutions, Approaches and Lessons for Coherent and Integrated Conflict Analysis.* (GSDRC Helpdesk Research Report). URL: <u>https://gsdrc.org/publications/institutions-approaches-and-lessons-for-coherent-and-integrated-conflict-analysis</u>

Herbert, Siân (2019, October): *Lessons for Coherent and Integrated Conflict Analysis from Multilateral Actors*. (GSDRC Helpdesk Research Report). URL: <u>https://gsdrc.org/publications/lessons-for-coher-ent-and-integrated-conflict-analysis-from-multilateral-actors</u>

Hodwitz, Omi (2019, October): *Recognizing and Resolving Issues in Terrorism Research, Data Collection, and Analysis.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2019.6</u>

Holbrook, Donald (2019, June): *Primary Data and Individual Worldviews: Walking Through Research on Terrorist Media Choices.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2019.2</u>

Holbrook, Donald; Macklin, Graham (2022, June): *Deconstructing Rightwing Extremism: Conceptual Variance and Attitudes Towards Islam.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/</u>remve2022.3

Holmer, Georgia; Bauman, Peter (2018, September): *Taking Stock: Analytic Tools for Understanding and Designing P/CVE Programs.* (USIP Report). URL: <u>https://www.usip.org/publications/2018/09/tak-ing-stock-analytic-tools-understanding-and-designing-pcve-programs</u>

Holmer, Georgia; Bauman, Peter; with Kateira Aryaeinejad (2018, September): *Measuring Up: Evaluating the Impact of P/CVE Programs*. (USIP Report). URL: <u>https://www.usip.org/publications/2018/09/measuring-monitoring-and-evaluating-pcve-programs</u>

Horgan, John (2021, August): *Deradicalization Programs: Recommendations for Policy and Practice*. (RE-SOLVE Network Policy Note). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/pn2021.18.vedr</u>

Human Rights Watch (HRW) (2020, September): "Video Unavailable": Social Media Platforms Remove Evidence of War Crimes. (Report). URL: <u>https://www.hrw.org/report/2020/09/10/video-unavailable/social-</u> media-platforms-remove-evidence-war-crimes

Hutchinson, Jade et al. (2022, August): *Violent Extremist and REMVE Online Ecosystems: Ecological Characteristics for Future Research and Conceptualization*. (RESOLVE Network Research Brief). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/remve2022.5</u>

Idris, Iffat (2019, February): Doing Research in Fragile Contexts. (GSDRC Literature Review). URL: https://

gsdrc.org/publications/doing-research-in-fragile-contexts

Idris, Iffat (2019, May): *Benefits and Risks of Big Data Analytics in Fragile and Conflict Affected States*. (K4D Helpdesk Report). URL: <u>https://gsdrc.org/publications/benefits-and-risks-of-big-data-analytics-in-fragile-and-conflict-affected-states</u>

Inman, Kris (2019, October): *Going Back to Basics: Research on Violent Extremism*. (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2019.5</u>

Institute for Strategic Dialogue (ISD) (2021, November): *Understanding the Salafi Online Ecosystem: Meth-odological Appendix*. (Methodology Paper). URL: <u>https://www.isdglobal.org/isd-publications/methodology-gen-z-the-digital-salafi-ecosystem</u>

Ivanovic Sarkanovic, Biserka (2022, February): *An Inventory of P/CVE Hotlines/Helplines in the EU*. (RAN Paper). URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/whats-new/publications/inventory-pcve-hotlineshelp-lines-eu-february-2022_en#details</u>

Jenkins, Brian Michael; Ronfeldt, David (2021, November): *The Origin and Evolution of the RAND Corporation's Terrorism Databases: Defining and Building a New Field of Knowledge*. (RAND Perspectives, PE-A1203-1). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/PEA1203-1</u>

Jensen, Michael (2021, September): *QAnon Crimes Codebook*. (Version 1.2). URL: <u>https://www.start.umd.</u> <u>edu/publication/qanon-crimes-united-states-comprehensive-dataset-codebook</u>

Jones, Michael (2020, July): *Through the Looking Glass: Assessing the Evidence Base for P/CVE Communications.* (RUSI Occasional Paper). URL: <u>https://rusi.org/publication/occasional-papers/through-look-</u> <u>ing-glass-assessing-evidence-base-pcve-communications</u>

Katz, Brian (2020, October): *The Analytic Edge Leveraging Emerging Technologies to Transform Intelligence Analysis*. (CSIS Briefs). URL: <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/analytic-edge-leveraging-emerging-technologies-transform-intelligence-analysis</u>

Kaya, Ayhan (2020, April): *The State of the Art on Radicalisation: Islamist and Nativist Radicalisation in Europe.* (Istanbul Bilgi University, European Institute Working Paper No. 12). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/</u> zenodo.3773199

Khalil, Lydia (2021, May): *GNET Survey on the Role of Technology in Violent Extremism and the State of Research Community – Tech Industry Engagement*. (GNET Report). URL: <u>https://gnet-research.org/2021/05/05/gnet-survey-on-the-role-of-technology-in-violent-extremism-and-the-state-of-research-community-tech-industry-engagement</u>

Labib, Ashraf et al. (2020, September): *Taking Decisions About Information Value*. (CREST Report). URL: <u>https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/full-report-taking-decisions-about-information-value</u>

Leidig, Eviane (2021, August): *Why Terrorism Studies Miss the Mark When It Comes To Incels*. (ICCT Perspectives). URL: <u>https://icct.nl/publication/why-terrorism-studies-miss-the-mark-when-it-comes-to-incels</u>

Leuprecht, Christian et al. (2019, April): *Tracking Transnational Terrorist Resourcing Nodes and Networks*. (TSAS Working Paper Series, WP19-01). URL: <u>https://www.tsas.ca/publications/tracking-transnation-al-terrorist-resourcing-nodes-and-networks</u>

Lewis, James; Marsden, Sarah (2021, May): *Countering Violent Extremism Interventions: Contemporary Research.* (CREST Report). URL: <u>https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/countering-violent-extremism-in-</u> <u>terventions</u>

Lewis, James; Marsden, Sarah (2021, August): *Trauma, Adversity, and Violent Extremism*. (CREST Report). URL: <u>https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/trauma-adversity-and-violent-extremism</u>

Lewis, James; Marsden, Sarah; Copeland, Simon (2020, November): *Evaluating Programmes to Prevent and Counter Extremism*. (CREST Report). URL: <u>https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/evaluating-pro-grammes-to-prevent-and-counter-extremism</u>

Lloyd, Monica (2019, March): *Extremism Risk Assessment: A Directory*. (CREST Report). URL: <u>https://cre-stresearch.ac.uk/resources/extremism-risk-assessment-directory</u>

López-Sánchez, Daniel; Corchado, Juan M. (2018, April): *Applying Local Image Feature Descriptors to Aid the Detection of Radicalization Processes in Twitter*. (Europol, ECTC Advisory Group on Online Terrorist Propaganda Conference Paper). URL: <u>https://www.europol.europa.eu/publications-documents/apply-ing-local-image-feature-descriptors-to-aid-detection-of-radicalization-processes-in-twitter</u>

Mahlouly, Dounia (2019): *Reconciling Impact and Ethics: An Ethnography of Research in Violent Online Political Extremism.* (VOX-Pol Report). URL: <u>https://www.voxpol.eu/download/vox-pol_publication/Reconciling-Impact-and-Ethics.pdf</u>

Malet, David; Korbitz, Mark (2019, December): *Resilience Is for Research Designs Too: Funders, Researchers, and Navigating Study Constraints.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2019.7</u>

Martelli, Adelaide (2021, January): *Index of Muslim Radicalization and De-Radicalization in Italy*. (ICT Report). URL: <u>https://www.ict.org.il/images/Muslim%20Radicalization%20and%20De-Radicalization.pdf</u>

Mattei, Cristina (2019, January): *The CVE Cycle: An Individual Trajectory.* (Hedayah Report). URL: <u>https://hedayah.com/resources/the-cve-cycle-an-individual-trajectory</u>

Mattei, Cristina; Zeiger, Sara (2021): *Factors Contributing to Radicalization: A Conceptual Framework*. (He-dayah Paper). URL: <u>https://hedayahcenter.org/resources/factors-contributing-to-radicalization</u>

Mattei, Cristina; Zeiger, Sara (2018, July): *Evaluate your CVE Results: Projecting your Impact*. (Hedayah Report). URL: <u>https://hedayah.com/app/uploads/2021/09/File-16720189339.pdf</u>

Mattheis, Ashley et al. (2020, August): UNC Dataset (Racially and Ethnically Motivated Violent Extremism and Targeted Violence Arrests 2011-2020). London: Centre for Analysis of the Radical Right. URL: <u>https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/2020/08/13/unc-dataset-racially-and-ethnically-motivated-violent-extremism-and-targeted-violence-arrests-2011-2020-2</u>

Mikhael, Drew; Norman, Julie (2020, May): *Getting Local Engagement Right: Key Considerations for Local-Level P/CVE Research.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2020.5</u>

Moonshot CVE (2020, May): *Incels: A Guide to Symbols and Terminology*. URL: <u>https://moonshotteam.</u> <u>com/resource/incels-a-guide-to-symbols-and-terminology</u>

Morrison, John F. (2020, November): *Analyzing Interviews with Terrorists*. (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2020.7</u>

Morrison, John F. et al. (2021, August): A Systematic Review of Post-2017 Research on Disengagement and Deradicalisation. (CREST Report). URL: <u>https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/a-systematic-re-</u> view-of-post-2017-research-on-disengagement-and-deradicalisation

Nagarajan, Chitra; Toogood, Kimairis (2017): *Guidance on Mainstreaming Conflict Sensitivity, Gender and Social Inclusion in Research*. (NSRP Paper). URL: <u>https://www.academia.edu/35499986/Guidance_on_Mainstreaming_Conflict_Sensitivity_Gender_and_Social_Inclusion_in_Research</u>

National Counterterrorism Center (NCTC); Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI); Department of Homeland Security (DHS) (2022, January): *U.S. Violent Extremist Mobilization Indicators: 2021 Edition*. (Booklet). URL: <u>https://www.dni.gov/index.php/nctc-newsroom/nctc-resources/item/2272-u-s-violent-extrem-</u>

ist-mobilization-indicators-2021

Nesser, Petter (2019, September 20): Foiled Plots: The Untapped Data Resource in Terrorism Studies. *RightNow!* URL: <u>https://www.sv.uio.no/c-rex/english/news-and-events/right-now/2019/foiled-plots-the-untapped-data-resource.html</u>

Pauwels, Eleonore (2020, September): Artificial Intelligence and Data Capture Technologies in Violence and Conflict Prevention: Opportunities and Challenges for the International Community. (Global Center on Cooperative Security Policy Brief). URL: <u>https://www.globalcenter.org/publications/artificial-intelligence-and-data-capture-technologies-in-violence-and-conflict-prevention</u>

Popp, George; Canna, Sarah; Day, Jeff (2020, February): *Common Characteristics of "Successful" Deradicalization Programs of the Past.* (NSI Reachback Report). URL: <u>https://nsiteam.com/common-characteris-</u> <u>tics-of-successful-deradicalization-programs-of-the-past</u>

Prucha, Nico; Fisher, Ali (2020, May 31): Why We Focus on Arabic – Stating the Obvious for the Oblivious. *Online Jihad: Monitoring Jihadist Online Communities*. URL: <u>https://onlinejihad.net/2020/05/31/why-we-focus-on-arabic-stating-the-obvious-for-the-oblivious</u>

Ranstorp, Magnus (2019, December): *Islamist Extremism: A Practical Introduction*. (RAN Factbook). URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/networks/radicalisation_awareness_network/ran-papers/factbook-islamist-extremism-december-2019_en</u>

RESOLVE Network (2021, January): *Charting Violent Extremism Research Priorities in North Africa and the Sahel 2018.* (Research Report; RESOLVE Charting Research Priorities Working Group Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rp2021.1.lcb</u>

Reynié, Dominique (Ed.) (2021, September): *Islamist Terrorist Attacks in the World 1979-2021. (New ed. – Data collected through 31 May 2021).* (Research Report). Paris: Fondation pour l'innovation politique (Fondapol). URL: <u>https://www.fondapol.org/en/study/islamist-terrorist-attacks-in-the-world-1979-2021</u>

Reynié, Dominique (Ed.) (2021, September): *Islamist Terrorist Attacks in the World 1979-2021. (New ed. – Data collected through 31 May 2021).* [Dataset]. Paris: Fondation pour l'innovation politique (Fondapol). URL: <u>https://data.fondapol.org/non-classe/les-attentats-islamistes-dans-le-monde-1979-2021</u>

Richardson, John E. et al. (2020, April): *A Guide to Online Radical-Right Symbols, Slogans and Slurs.* (CARR Report). URL: <u>https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/2020/05/04/a-guide-to-online-radical-right-symbols-slogans-and-slurs</u>

Ritzmann, Alexander; Wouterse, Lieke; Verdegaal, Merle (2019, December): *Effective Narratives: Updating the GAMMMA+ Model.* (RAN Ex Post Paper). URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/</u> <u>networks/radicalisation_awareness_network/ran-papers/ran-cn-effective-narratives-updating-gamm-</u> <u>ma-model-brussels-14-15-november-2019_en</u>

Saleh, Wael (2021, October): Applied Islamismology (AI): *Toward an Arab Epistemological Reference Framework for Studying Political Islam*. (Political Islam Trends, 1). URL: <u>https://trendsresearch.org/publi-cation/applied-islamismology-ai-toward-an-arab-epistemological-reference-framework-for-studying-political-islam</u>

Schroeter, Marie (2020, September): *Artificial Intelligence and Countering Violent Extremism: A Primer.* (GNET Report). URL: <u>https://gnet-research.org/2020/09/28/artificial-intelligence-and-countering-vio-lent-extremism-a-primer</u>

Schuberth, Moritz (2020, May): *Measuring the Success of Approaches to Community-Based Armed Groups*. (RESOLVE Network Policy Note). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/pn2020.3.ssa</u>

Schuurman, Bart (2019, December): Counterterrorism Professionals on Terrorism Research: An End-User

Assessment. (ICCT Perspectives). URL: <u>https://icct.nl/publication/counterterrorism-professionals-on-ter-rorism-research-an-end-user-assessment</u>

Sold, Manjana; Junk, Julian (2021, January): *Researching Extremist Content on Social Media Platforms: Data Protection and Research Ethics Challenges and Opportunities.* (GNET Report). URL: <u>https://gnet-re-search.org/2021/01/11/researching-extremist-content-on-social-media-platforms-data-protection-and-re-search-ethics-challenges-and-opportunities</u>

Suedfeld, Peter; Grunert, Lindsy; Morrison, Bradford H. (2020, March): *Deradicalization in History and Psychology: A Selective Review of the Literature*. (NSI Paper). URL: <u>https://nsiteam.com/deradicaliza-tion-in-history-and-psychology-a-selective-review-of-the-literature</u>

Tishler, Nicole (2019): *Terrorism Hoaxes in Canada: Data and Trends*. (TSAS Research Brief, RB 2019-01). URL: <u>https://www.tsas.ca/publications/terrorism-hoaxes-in-canada-data-and-trends</u>

UNESCO Chair in the Prevention of Radicalisation and Violent Extremism; Centre for the Prevention of Radicalization Leading to Violence (2021, November): *The Prevention of Violent Extremism: An Analysis of Scientific Journal Research. 2020 Review.* URL: <u>https://info-radical.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/UNE-SCO-PREV_Revue_Prevention2020_EN.pdf</u>

van de Donk, Maarten; Uhlmann, Milena; Keijzer, Fenna (2020, January): *Peer and Self Review Manual for Exit Work*. (RAN Manual). URL: <u>https://home-affairs.ec.europa.eu/networks/radicalisation-awareness-net-work-ran/publications/peer-and-self-review-manual-exit-work-january-2020_en</u>

van der Heide, Liesbeth; van der Zwan, Marieke; van Leyenhorst, Maarten (2019, September): *The Practitioner's Guide to the Galaxy – A Comparison of Risk Assessment Tools for Violent Extremism*. (ICCT Research Paper). URL: <u>https://icct.nl/publication/the-practitioners-guide-to-the-galaxy-a-comparison-ofrisk-assessment-tools-for-violent-extremism</u>

Vergani, Matteo (2021, January): *Community-Centered P/CVE Research in Southeast Asia: Opportunities and Challenges.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2021.1</u>

Wallner, Claudia (2020, June): *Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism through Education Initiatives: Assessing the Evidence Base.* (RUSI Occasional Paper). URL: <u>https://rusi.org/explore-our-research/publica-tions/occasional-papers/preventing-and-countering-violent-extremism-through-education-initiatives-assessing-evidence-base</u>

Washburn, Rhyner; Sin, Steve (2019): Significant Multi-Domain Incidents Against Critical Infrastructure (SMICI) Dataset. (START Research Brief). URL: <u>https://www.start.umd.edu/publication/re-</u> search-brief-significant-multi-domain-incidents-against-critical-infrastructure-smici

Whittaker, Joe (2019, July): *Building Secondary Source Databases on Violent Extremism: Reflections and Suggestions.* (RESOLVE Network Research Report, Researching Violent Extremism Series). URL: <u>https://www.resolvenet.org/research/building-secondary-source-databases-violent-extremism-reflections-and-suggestions</u>

Williams, Heather J. et al. (2021): *The Online Extremist Ecosystem: Its Evolution and a Framework for Separating Extreme from Mainstream.* (RAND Perspectives, PE-A1458-1). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7249/</u><u>PEA1458-1</u>

Wilson, Matthias (2019, December 1): Researching Right-Wing Extremism in Central Europe. *Key Find-ings*. URL: <u>https://keyfindings.blog/2019/12/01/researching-right-wing-extremism-in-central-europe</u>

Winter, Charlie (2019, May): *Researching Jihadist Propaganda: Access, Interpretation, and Trauma*. (RE-SOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/</u> rve2019.1 Winterbotham, Emily (2020, May): What Can Work (And What Has Not Worked) in Women-Centric P/ CVE Initiatives: Assessing the Evidence Base for Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism. (RUSI Occasional Paper). URL: <u>https://rusi.org/explore-our-research/publications/occasional-papers/what-can-work-</u> and-what-has-not-worked-women-centric-pcve-initiatives-assessing-evidence-base

Winterbotham, Emily (2020, September): *How Effective Are Mentorship Interventions? Assessing the Evidence Base for Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism.* (RUSI Occasional Paper). URL: <u>https://rusi.</u> <u>org/explore-our-research/publications/occasional-papers/how-effective-are-mentorship-interventions-as-</u> <u>sessing-evidence-base-preventing-and-countering-violent</u>

Winterbotham, Emily; Pearson, Elizabeth (2020, May): *The Radical Milieu: A Methodological Approach to Conducting Research on Violent Extremism*. (RESOLVE Network Research Report; Researching Violent Extremism Series). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.37805/rve2020.4</u>

Zeiger, Sara (2018, August): *Undermining Violent Extremist Narratives in East Africa: A How-To Guide*. (Hedayah Practical Guide). URL: <u>https://hedayah.com/resources/undermining-violent-extremist-narra-tives-in-east-africa-a-how-to-guide-2</u>

Note

Whenever retrievable, URLs for freely available versions of subscription-based publications (e.g., self-archived manuscripts in institutional repositories, on professional networking sites, or author homepages) have been provided. Please note, that the content of such Green Open Access documents is not necessarily identical to the official publisher versions (e.g., in case of preprints); it might therefore not have passed through all editorial stages publishers employ to ensure quality control (peer review, copy- and layout editing etc.). In some cases, articles may only be cited after obtaining permission by the author(s).

About the Compiler: Judith Tinnes, Ph.D., is a Professional Information Specialist. Since 2011, she works for the Leibniz Institute for Psychology (ZPID). Additionally, she serves as Information Resources Editor to 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. In her editorial role, she regularly compiles bibliographies and other resources for Terrorism Research (for an inventory visit <u>https://archive.org/details/terrorism-research-bibliographies</u>) and runs the execution monitoring project 'Counting Lives Lost' (<u>CLL</u>). She wrote her <u>doctoral thesis</u> on Internet usage of Islamist terrorists and insurgents (focus: media-oriented hostage takings). E-mail: j.tinnes@gmx.de , Twitter: <u>@CountingLivesPT</u>

Recent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects

Compiled and selected by Berto Jongman

Most of the clickable items included below became available online between September and October 2022. They are categorized under 13 headings (as well as sub-headings, not listed below).

- 1. Non-Religious Terrorism
- 2. Religious Terrorism
- 3. Terrorist Strategies and Tactics
- 4. Conflict, Crime and Political Violence other than Terrorism
- 5. Extremism, Radicalization
- 6. Counterterrorism General
- 7. Counterterrorism: Specific Operations and/or Specific Policy Measures
- 8. Prevention, Preparedness and Resilience and Rehabilitation Studies
- 9. State Repression, Civil War and Clandestine Warfare
- 10. Intelligence Operations
- 11. Cyber Operations
- 12. Risk and Threat Assessments, Forecasts and Analytical Studies
- 13. Also Worth to Read/Listen and Watch

N.B. 'Recent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects' is a regular feature in 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. For past listings, search under 'Archive' at < <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/</u><u>perspectives-on-terrorism</u> >.

1. Non-Religious Terrorism

Sudanese pro-democracy groups ask UN to help contain paramilitary forces. *Al Jazeera*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/sudanese-pro-democracy-groups-ask-un-paramilitary-help</u>

E. McAllister. Who is Ibrahim Traore, the soldier behind Burkina Faso's latest coup? *Reuters*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/who-is-ibrahim-traore-soldier-behind-burkina-fasos-latest-coup-2022-10-03/</u>

Is there a path to peace in the Tigray conflict? *The New Humanitarian*, September 28, 2022.URL: <u>https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/analysis/2022/09/28/Ethiopia-Tigray-Amhara-blockade-AU-Obasanjo</u>

Vineet. Baloch separatists attack economic and infrastructure targets in Pakistan. *Militant Wire*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.militantwire.com/p/baloch-separatists-attack-economic?</u>

S. Milton, A. Elgeroshi. Breaking the conflict stalemate in Libya. *The New Arab*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/opinion/breaking-conflict-stalemate-libya</u>

Burkina Faso: army revolt 'ousts' junta leader Damiba. *Deutsche Welle*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/burkina-faso-army-revolt-ousts-junta-leader-damiba/a-63293080</u>

Chief Bison Etahoben. CAR – Massive influx of M23 rebels and Rwandan soldiers in Bangui. *HumAngle*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://humanglemedia.com/car-massive-influx-of-m23-rebels-and-rwandan-soldiers-into-bangui/</u>

Gunfire heard in Burkina Faso sparks mutiny fears months after military coup. *The New Arab*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/gunfire-heard-burkina-faso-sparks-mutiny-fears</u>

War Noir. Weapons analysis: female militants attack Tece police house in Mersin, Turkey. Militant Wire,

September 28, 2022. URL: https://www.militantwire.com/p/weapons-analysis-female-militants?

Cameroon splinter groups blamed for killings, abductions. *All Africa*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://allafrica.com/view/group/main/main/id/00083504.html?</u>

G. Peck. Retired senior army officer shot dead by Myanmar guerrilla. *Associated Press*, September 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/bangladesh-myanmar-yangon-aung-san-suu-kyi-mal-dives-29289554a6b009e0da11dd2e9ec92a70</u>

Refugees: ARSA rebels threaten Rohingya leaders who push for repatriation, *Benar News*, August 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.benarnews.org/english/news/bengali/camp-fears-08242022153803.html</u>

Libya's Bashagha admits his government failed to enter Tripoli. Asharq al-Awsat, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3888756/libyas-bashagha-admits-his-government-failed-en-ter-tripoli</u>

I. Kaledzi. Congo crisis in focus at UN General Assembly. *Deutsche Welle*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/congo-crisis-in-focus-at-un-general-assembly/a-63196552</u>

Gunmen reportedly kill three policemen in Enugu. *Sahara Reporters*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://sa-harareporters.com/articles/breaking-gunmen-reportedly-kill-three-policemen-enugu</u>

A. Applebaum. 'Lukashenko is easier to unseat than Putin'. *The Atlantic*, October, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2022/10/belarus-volunteers-fighting-ukraine-invasion/671242/?</u>

U. Necat Tasci. Tripoli clashes: what's behind Libya's worst fighting in years? *The New Arab*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/analysis/whats-behind-libyas-worst-fighting-years</u>

P. Wintour. Libyans have lost faith in political class, US diplomat says after Tripoli clashes. *The Guardian*, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/01/libyans-have-lost-faith-in-po-litical-class-us-diplomat-says-after-tripoli-clashes</u>

J. Kurlantzick. Could Myanmar's opposition forces unseat the junta? *The Japan Times*, August 31, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.japantimes.co.jp/opinion/2022/08/31/commentary/world-commentary/myanmars-opposition-forces-unseat-junta/</u>

E. Fassler. Russian anarchists are sabotaging railways to stop Putin's war on Ukraine. *Vice*, August 31, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.vice.com/en/article/5d3den/russian-anarchists-are-sabotaging-railways-to-stop-putins-war-on-ukraine?utm_source=motherboard_twitter</u>

Dozens of Malian rebel groups merge to counter jihadist groups. *Africa News*, August 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.africanews.com/2022/08/30/dozens-of-malian-rebel-groups-merge-to-counter-jihadist-groups/</u>

2. Religious Terrorism

2.1. Al-Qaeda and its Affiliates

L. Webber. The Islamic translation center: al-Qaeda's media force multiplier. *Militant Wire*, October 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.militantwire.com/p/the-islamic-translation-center-al?</u>

J. Schroden. Terrorists in Taliban-ruled Afghanistan. *The Diplomat*, October 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://thedip-lomat.com/2022/10/terrorists-in-taliban-ruled-afghanistan/</u>

F. Reinares. Al-Qaeda's revenge. The 2004 Madrid train bombings. *Colombia University Press*, 2022, 288 pp. URL: <u>http://cup.columbia.edu/book/al-qaedas-revenge/9780231704540</u>

S. Harmouch. The question of succession in al-Qaeda. *War on the Rocks*, September 29, 2022. URL: https://

warontherocks.com/2022/09/the-question-of-succession-in-al-qaeda/

C. Solomon. The anti-Taliban resistance: a battle for Afghanistan's future. *The New Arab*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/analysis/anti-taliban-resistance-and-afghanistans-future</u>

T. Durden. Taliban signs breakthrough deal for discounted Russian oil, gas & wheat. *ZeroHedge*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.zerohedge.com/commodities/taliban-signs-breakthrough-deal-discount-ed-russian-oil-gas-wheat</u>

Five zones of militant Islamist violence in the Sahel. *Africa Center for Strategic Studies*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://africacenter.org/spotlight/five-zones-militant-islamist-violence-sahel/ - zone3</u>

L. Brottem. Jihad takes root in northern Benin. *ACLED*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://acleddata.</u> <u>com/2022/09/23/jihad-takes-root-in-northern-benin/</u>

G. Caldéron López. Al-Qaeda critiques Northern Alliance's legacy on 9/11 anniversary. *Militant Wire*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/fukushima-japan-attempts-to-safely-remove-nuclear-fuel-from-crippled-reactors/a-63200659</u>

B. Chellaney. The narco-terrorist Taliban. *Project Syndicate*, November 12, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.proj-ect-syndicate.org/commentary/narco-terrorism-taliban-trafficking-opioids-and-meth-by-brahma-chel-laney-2021-11?</u>

O. Devereux-Evans. Taliban frees American navy veteran Mark Frerichs after two years in prisoner swap for Afghan war lord held by the US for smuggling heroin since 2005. *Daily Mail Online*, September 19, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11226775/Taliban-release-American-engineer-Frerichs-prisoner-swap.html</u>

UN expert describes 'staggering repression' of women and girls in Afghanistan. *The Guardian*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/12/un-expert-describes-staggering-repression-of-women-and-girls-in-afghanistan</u>

T. van Dongen, J. Farrell-Molloy. One year of Taliban rule in Afghanistan: a predictable disaster. The Hague: *ICCT*, August 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://icct.nl/publication/one-year-of-taliban-rule-in-afghani-stan-a-predictable-disaster/?</u>

HTS terrorist allowed to use Turkish banks despite UN sanctions and presidential decree. *Nordic Monitor*, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://nordicmonitor.com/2022/09/23843/</u>

Killing of senior TTP commanders in Afghanistan strikes blow to militants. Possible peace with Pakistan. *RFE/RL*, August 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/pakistan-taliban-comanders-kill-ings-talks/31980664.html</u>

EER webinar: the future of al-Qaeda after Ayman al-Zawahiri' death. *European Eye on Radicalization*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://eeradicalization.com/eer-webinar-the-future-of-al-qaeda-after-ayman-al-</u><u>zawahiris-death/</u>

2.2. Daesh (ISIS, IS) and its Affilates

Spotlight on global jihad (September 15-21, 2022). *The Meir Amit Intelligence & Terrorism Information Center*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/spotlight-on-global-jihad-september-21-15-2022/</u>

Spotlight on global jihad (September 8-14, 2022). *The Meir Amit Intelligence & Terrorism Information Center*, September 15, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/spotlight-on-global-jihad-september-8-14-2022/</u>

Spotlight on global jihad (September 1-7, 2022). *The Meir Amit Intelligence & Terrorism Information Center*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.thedefensepost.com/2022/09/07/islamic-state-mali-talataye/</u>

G. Waters. ISIS redux: the central Syria insurgency in September 2022. *Counter Extremism Project*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.counterextremism.com/blog/isis-redux-central-syria-insurgency-septem-ber-2022</u>

S. Goertz. Aktuelle Bedrohungen durch Islamismus und islamistischen Terrorismus in Deutschland und Europa. *Die Kriminal Polizei*, September 2022. URL: <u>https://www.kriminalpolizei.de/ausgaben/2022/sep-tember/detailansicht-september/artikel/aktuelle-bedrohungen-durch-islamismus-und-islamistischen-terrorismus-in-deutschland-und-europa.html</u>

M. Burch, E. Pizzi. Strategic targeting: the Islamic State and use of violence in Iraq and Syria. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 34(6), 2022, pp. 1162-1184. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/095</u> 46553.2020.1763963

A. Jadoon, N. Jahanbani, E. Noor, M. Carroll, W. Frangia. Risks, recruits, and plots: understanding and mitigating the influence of the Islamic State in Malaysia. *CTC*, Westpoint, August 15, 2022. URL: <u>https://ctc.westpoint.edu/risks-recruits-and-plots-understanding-and-mitigating-the-influence-of-the-islamic-state-in-malaysia</u>

P. Kenny. Nearly 1m people have fled violence in Mozambique since 2017: UN. *Anadolu Agency*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/politics/nearly-1m-people-have-fled-violence-in-mozambique-since-2017-un/2702458</u>

Mozambique assists 25,000 people displaced by terrorism in northern province: report. *CGTN*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://newsaf.cgtn.com/news/2022-10-04/Mozambique-assists-people-displaced-by-terror-ism-in-Nampula-report-1dQ2FW3Y5gY/index.html</u>

B. Dawson. Lions and crocodiles credited with killing ISIS insurgents fighting in Mozambique, says port. *Business Insider*, October 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.businessinsider.com/isis-fighters-killed-by-lions-and-crocodiles-in-mozambique-the-times-2022-10?international=true&r=US&IR=T</u>

N. Harley. Former UK ambassador to Yemen warns of more ISIS jail break attempts. *The National News*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.thenationalnews.com/world/uk-news/2022/09/23/former-uk-ambassador-to-yemen-warns-of-more-isis-jailbreak-attempts/</u>

P. Aitken, D. Trullo, A. Murray. ISIS is threat to entire human race, Iraqi foreign minister says in exclusive interview. *Fox News*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.foxnews.com/world/isis-threat-human-race-iraqi-foreign-minister-says-exclusive-interview?</u>

W. van Wagenen. For 18 months, as ISIS advanced, the US did nothing to stop them. *The Cradle*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://thecradle.co/Article/Investigations/15142</u>

A. Bozkurt. Erdoğan prevented parliament from investigating ISIS-linked NGOs in Turkey. *Nordic Monitor*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://nordicmonitor.com/2022/09/erdogan-hinders-parliament-from-in-vestigating-isis-linked-ngos-in-turkey/</u>

A. Bozkurt. ISIS opened office in Turkey to target Europe, Russia, Caucasus. *Nordic Monitor*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://nordicmonitor.com/2022/09/isis-opened-office-in-turkey-to-target-europe-russia-cau-casus/</u>

Afghanistan: ISIS group targets religious minorities. Taliban need to protect, assist Hazara, other at-risk communities. Human Rights Watch, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/09/06/af-ghanistan-isis-group-targets-religious-minorities</u>

MW weekly: ISKP propaganda targets India; US special forces free hostage in West Africa; Indonesian

soldiers accused of massacre; assassination attempt on VP of Argentina. *Militant Wire*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.militantwire.com/p/mw-weekly-iskp-propaganda-targets?</u>

C. Putsch. In Afrika formiert sich die Zukunft des globalen Terrors. *Die Welt*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.welt.de/politik/ausland/plus240827995/Terror-Warum-der-IS-Afrika-zu-seiner-neuen-Hoch-burg-macht.html</u>

F. Ezediuno. Nigeria second most terrorized country – Jihad Analytics. *Daily Post*, September 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://dailypost.ng/2022/09/03/nigeria-second-most-terrorized-country-jihad-analytics/</u>

L. Webber. ISKP publishes its most comprehensive critique of China yet, threatens war with Beijing, and sees opportunity in'WW3'. *Militant Wire*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.militantwire.com/p/iskp-publishes-its-most-comprehensive?utm_source=substack&utm_medium=email</u>

2.3. Other Groups and/or Organizations

W. Christou. Appointment of new commander in al-Rukban sparks controversy. *The New Arab*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/appointment-new-commander-al-rukban-sparks-contro-versy</u>

Does the end of Yemen's truce mean return to full-blown fighting? *Al Jazeera*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/10/3/is-fighting-about-to-return-to-yemen-explainer</u>

B. Riedel. Yemen ceasefire expires with country poised for more war, not peace. *Responsible Statecraft*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://responsiblestatecraft.org/2022/10/04/yemen-ceasefire-expires-with-country-poised-for-more-war-not-peace/</u>

K. Ahmed. Failure to extend Yemen cease fire leaves millions at risk, say charities. *The Guardian*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2022/oct/04/yemen-cease-fire-truce-deadline-charities-houthis</u>

Yemen: fighting resumes after truce ends. *Middle East Monitor*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.mid-dleeastmonitor.com/20221003-yemen-fighting-resumes-after-truce-ends/</u>

19 killed, including four elite IRGC members, in Iran attack. *Al Jazeera*, October 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/10/1/19-killed-including-four-elite-guard-members-in-iran-attack</u>

Egypt: al-Azhar ignores al-Qaradawi's death, while Saudi and UAE media attack him. *Middle East Monitor*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.militantwire.com/p/weapons-analysis-female-militants?</u>

'Regime change' in Hamas and a return to Syria. *The Cradle*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://thecradle.</u> <u>co/Article/Analysis/16060</u>

Muslim Brotherhood's Qaradawi, who endorsed suicide bombings against Israelis, dies. *The Times of Israel*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/muslim-brotherhoods-qaradawi-who-en-dorsed-suicide-bombings-against-israelis-dies/</u>

'Threats don't frighten our Palestinian people', Hamas spokesman tells Shin Bet head. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/israel-news/article-718155</u>

S.J. Frantzman. Will end of the Qaradawi era lead to more peace and coexistence? Analysis. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/middle-east/article-718250</u>

U. al-Azami. Yusuf al-Qaradawi, the Muslim scholar who influenced millions. *Al Jazeera*, September27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/9/27/yusuf-al-qaradawi-the-muslim-scholar-who-influenced-millions</u>

S. Sen. Hindu nationalists now pose a global problem. *Al Jazeera*, september26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.</u>

aljazeera.com/opinions/2022/9/26/violent-hindu-extremism-is-now-a-global-problem

Arafat's nephew returns to Gaza, mounting challenge against aging, unpopular Abbas. *The Times of Israel*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/irans-revolutionary-guard-strikes-kurds-in-iraq-as-anti-regime-protests-rage/</u>

R. Netjes. Normalization with Assad could lead to a new exodus of Syrian refugees. *Dawn. Democracy for the Arab World Now*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://dawnmena.org/normalization-with-assad-could-lead-to-a-new-exodus-of-syrian-refugees/</u>

E. Fabian. Palestinian in West Bank rams into cop car in alleged attack, is shot dead. *The Times of Israel*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-says-troops-opened-fire-at-group-of-armed-palestinians-near-nablus-killing-one/</u>

Yasir Arman to Asharq al-Awsat: the Sudanese Brotherhood is close to regaining power. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3894216/yasir-arman-asharq-al-aw-sat-sudanese-brotherhood-close-regaining-power</u>

M. Carlin. Quds: how dangerous are Iran's special forces? *1945*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.19fortyfive.com/2022/09/quds-how-dangerous-are-irans-special-forces/</u>

D. Pathan. BRN rebels deal blow to Thai hopes for Buddhist Lent ceasefire. *Benar News*, August 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.benarnews.org/english/commentaries/far-south-view/brn-attacks-08212022123508.</u> <u>html</u>

J. Riñoza, J. Maitem. Peace monitor: weapons proliferate in Mindanao despite decommissioning process. *Benar News*, July 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.benarnews.org/english/news/philippine/weapons-prolifer-ate-07292022151306.html</u>

Yemeni government prepares to confront Houthi intransigence. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3888726/yemeni-government-prepares-confront-houthi-in-transigence</u>

F. al-Shoufi. Hezbollah's drones: no more safe skies for Israel. *The Cradle*, July 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://the-cradle.co/Article/Analysis/13447</u>

B. McKernan, S. Taha. 'It's going to explode': young Palestinians look to the gun amid Israeli offensive. *The Guardian*, September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/21/its-going-to-ex-plode-young-palestinians-look-to-the-gun-amid-israeli-offensive</u>

Iran says developed advanced drone 'designed to hit Israel' in Tel Aviv, Haifa. *The New Arab*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/iran-says-developed-advanced-drone-designed-hit-israel</u>

'Ten Hezbollah rockets to hit Israeli towns every hour.' *Israel Radar*, September 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://israel-radar.com/10-hezbollah-rockets-to-hit-israeli-towns-every-hour/</u>

Growing Houthi violations threaten to end truce. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://en-glish.aawsat.com/home/article/3864416/growing-houthi-violations-threaten-end-truce</u>

A. Bozkurt. Iran-backed Turkish Hizbullah terrorists let go after a deal with the Erdoğan government. *Nordic Monitor*, August 18, 2022. URL: <u>https://nordicmonitor.com/2022/08/iran-backed-turkish-hizbul-lah-terrorists-let-go-after-a-deal-with-erdogan-govt/</u>

C. Schaer, A. al-Khashali. Iraq's political crisis: where to now, after latest violence? *Deutsche Welle*, August 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/crisis-in-iraq-where-to-now-after-latest-violence/a-62974600</u>

S. Lateef. Domestic woes force Pakistan to put Kashmir on the backburner. *Deutsche Welle*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/domestic-woes-force-pakistan-to-put-kashmir-on-the-back-burn-</u>

<u>er/a-63032240</u>

H. Abdel-Hussain. Iraq heading for civil war; US must not take advantage. *FDD*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.fdd.org/analysis/2022/09/06/iraq-heading-for-civil-war/</u>

Palestine: Hamas executes five for collaborating with Israel, murder. *The New Arab*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/hamas-executes-five-murder-collaborating-israel</u>

A. Ahronheim. Israel's war against Palestinian terror in the West Bank heats up – analysis. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/arab-israeli-conflict/article-716283</u>

B. Mroue. Hezbollah at 40 stronger than ever but has more enemies. *Associated Press*, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/middle-east-religion-iran-israel-syria-ebd951e5ec37ca-c3a0904b05d9f86919</u>

C. Farahat. The secret apparatus: The Muslim brotherhood's industry of death. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.danielpipes.org/21165/a-century-of-the-muslim-brotherhood</u>

3. Terrorist Strategies and Tactics

M.J. Boyle. Weapon of choice: terrorist bombings in armed conflict. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 45(9), 2022, pp. 778-798. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/1057610X.2019.1700039</u>

L. Strickler, S. Gosk, R. Schapiro. How easy is it to get material to make a dirty bomb? Very, report says. *NBC News*, July 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/news/easy-get-materials-build-dirty-bomb-re-port-says-rcna39085</u>

M. Parrikar. The role of women in terrorism in Africa – analysis. *Eurasia Review*, July 17, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.eurasiareview.com/17072022-the-role-of-women-in-terrorism-in-africa-analysis/</u>

J.V. Parachini, R. Gunaratna. Implications of the pandemic for terrorist interest in biological weapons. Islamic State and al-Qaeda pandemic case studies. *RAND*, RR-A612-1, 2022, 68 pp. URL: <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA612-1.html?</u>

D. Gartensten-Ross, T. Joscelyn. Enemies near & far. How jihadist groups strategize, plot and learn. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.amazon.nl/Enemies-Near-Far-Jihadist-Strategize/dp/0231195257</u>

4. Conflict, Crime and Political Violence other than Terrorism

4.1. Criminal Groups

Israeli mob boss gunned down in broad daylight at gas station near Tel Aviv. *The Times of Israel*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/mob-boss-benny-shlomo-gunned-down-at-gas-station-near-tel-aviv-in-broad-daylight/</u>

Germany: Hells Angels offshoot faces ban in Berlin. *Deutsche Welle*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/germany-hells-angels-offshoot-faces-ban-in-berlin/a-63276396</u>

Descending into 'Green Hell': undercover ATF agent who spent seven months infiltrating Los Angeles' most ruthless and violent biker gang lifts the lid on horrors he witnessed – and the terrifying moment his cover was blown – in fascinating podcast. *Daily Mail Online*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11240241/New-podcast-details-dark-practices-LAs-ruthless-violent-biker-gang-Vagos.html</u>

O. Hernandez. Mexico's New Generation Jalisco Cartel coordinates chaos in bid to free comrades. *Militant Wire*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.militantwire.com/p/mexicos-new-generation-jalisco-cartel?</u>

10 killed in Mexico bar shooting in state ravaged by violence. Reuters, September 23, 2022. URL: https://

www.reuters.com/world/americas/10-killed-mexico-bar-shooting-state-ravaged-by-violence-2022-09-22/

M. Caparini. Transnational organized crime: a threat to global public goods. *SIPRI*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.sipri.org/commentary/topical-backgrounder/2022/transnational-organized-crime-threat-global-public-goods?</u>

D. Boxhoorn. Antwerpse drugsoorlog gaat om miljarden. *NRC*, September 19, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2022/09/19/antwerpse-drugsoorlog-gaat-om-miljarden-a4142348 - /krant/2022/09/20/</u>

C. Dalby. Behind the manhunt for Sebastian Marset, founder of the First Uruguayan cartel. *InSight Crime*, August 31, 2022. URL: <u>https://insightcrime.org/news/manhunt-for-sebastian-marset-founder-first-uruguayan-cartel/</u>

D. den Held, A. Ford, C. Dalby. From empires to world wars – a history of the global cocaine trade. *Insight Crime*, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://insightcrime.org/news/empires-world-wars-history-global-co-caine-trade/</u>

4.2. Hate Crimes, Anti-Semitism, Islamophobia, Xenophobia

S. Weinstein. Antisemitic, racist crime rising in England's West Midlands. *The Jerusalem Post*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/diaspora/article-718849</u>

D. Sayedahmed, H. Khan. US Hindu nationalist groups: what could this mean for Muslims and minorities? *The New Arab*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/opinion/threat-hindu-national-ist-groups-us</u>

E. Benari. UK Labour leader: we ripped out anti-Semitism by its roots. *Arutz Sheva*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.israelnationalnews.com/news/360413</u>

E. Bayrakli, F. Hafez (Eds.) European Islamophobia report. September 2022. URL: <u>https://islamophobiare-port.com/</u>

An anti-Semitism expert says that progressives 'have the right to exclude Zionists.' *Middle East Monitor*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220912-senior-hamas-delegation-visits-russia-for-talks/</u>

E. Blake. Extremist groups are 'using blasphemy to silence free speech', counter-terror expert warns. *Daily Mail Online*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11192789/Extrem-ist-groups-exploiting-blasphemy-silence-free-speech-counter-terror-expert-warns.html</u>

Relative of French Jewish murder victim claims motive was anti-Semitism. *Ynet* News, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.ynetnews.com/article/s1b75xuxj</u>

5. Extremism, Radicalization

H.J. Williams, L.J. Matthews, P. Moore, M.A. DeNardo, J.V. Marrone, B. A. Jackson, W. Marcellino, T.C. Helmus. A dangerous web. Mapping racially and ethnically motivated violent extremism. *RAND*, 2022, 6p. URL: <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_briefs/RBA1841-1.html?</u>

5.1. Right-wing Extremism

S. Phillips. How whiteness poses the greatest threat to US democracy. *The Guardian*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2022/oct/04/how-whiteness-poses-the-greatest-threat-to-us-democracy</u>

L. Dearden. Insider threat warning as rising number of far-right extremists flagged in Britain's armed forc-

es. *Independent*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/army-na-zis-far-right-extremism-b2191499.html?</u>

T. Durden. Watch: Biden advisor declares MAGA conservatives want to destroy America. *ZeroHedge*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.zerohedge.com/political/watch-biden-advisor-declares-maga-con-</u> <u>servatives-want-destroy-america</u>

N. Winfield. How a fringe far-right group with neo-fascist roots became Italy's biggest party. *The Times of Israel*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/how-did-a-fringe-far-right-group-be-come-italys-biggest-party/</u>

K. Brown, A. Mondon. The far right, the mainstream and mainstreaming: towards a heuristic framework. *Journal of Political Ideologies*, July 5, 2021. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13569317.2</u> 021.1949829?

'Deep roots in racist organizations': Sweden's PM Magdalena Andersson on the far-right threat in the election. *The Guardian*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/07/magdale-</u><u>na-andersson-interview-far-right-threat-sweden-election</u>

T. Durden. The overreach of the Biden administration has led to the dropping of the executive mask. *ZeroHedge*, September 3, 202.2 URL: <u>https://www.zerohedge.com/political/overreach-biden-administra-tion-has-led-dropping-executive-mask</u>

5.2. Islamism

France closes another mosque. *Middle East Monitor*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeast-monitor.com/20220929-france-closes-another-mosque/</u>

Look who's back and stoking up hatred between Hindus and Muslims on Britain's streets: race-hate cleric Anjem Choudary adds fuel to the fire after his ban from public speaking is lifted. *Daily Mail Online*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11244351/Race-hate-cleric-Anjem-Choudary-adds-fuel-fire-ban-public-speaking-lifted.html</u>

L. Kenez. Erdoğan accelerates the islamization of the army before elections. *Nordic Monitor*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://nordicmonitor.com/2022/09/erdogan-accelerates-the-islamization-of-the-army-for-up-coming-election-and-his-own-security/</u>

Udfordringer elateret till salafisme og jihadi-salafisme I Danmark. Historik, aktualle udviklinger og praktiske erfaringer. Udlændinge –og Intergationsminisriet, *Nationalt Center for Dorebyggelse af Ektremisme*, September 2022. URL: <u>https://stopekstremisme.dk/publikationer/ny-rapport-om-udfordringer-relater-</u> <u>et-til-salafisme-og-jihadi-salafisme/@@download/publication?</u>

M. Aitchison. Chairman of a British-based Islamic Human Rights Commission – that has received more than £1.4 million in charity cash –praised the fatwa on Sir Salman Rushdie less than a year ago. *Daily Mail Online*, August 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11130693/Chairman-British-based-Islamic-Human-Rights-Commission-praised-fatwa-Sir-Salman-Rushdie.html</u>

A. Hirsi Ali. The infidels will not be silenced. Like Salman Rushdie, I choose freedom. *UnHerd*, August 17, 2022. URL: <u>https://unherd.com/2022/08/the-infidels-will-not-be-silenced/?</u>

5.3. Single-Issue Extremism

'Eco-warrior' and Earth First! Co-founder Dave Foreman dies. *Associated Press*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/new-mexico-albuquerque-arizona-tucson-obituaries-74cab2b1474a2e-4c6a57443a3f12f59a?</u>

B. Chain. Vegan activists glue themselves to Muller facility in bid to 'stop the supply of dairy' as week of disruption from Animal Rebellion continues. *Daily Mail Online*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11192723/Animal-Rebellion-activists-target-Droitwich-dairy-fifth-day-plant-based-future-protests.html</u>

J. Thorburn, B. Davies, S. Poulter. Animal rebellion mob targets new PM Liz Truss as they stage protest outside QEII centre in Westminster – as 34 are arrested. *Daily Mail Online*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11181203/Vegan-Animal-Rebellion-protesters-shut-dairy-processing-plants-SECOND-day.html</u>

6. Counterterrorism- General

N. McGuirk. Terrorist profiling and law enforcement. Detection, prevention, deterrence. Routledge, 2022, 258 pp. URL: <u>https://www.routledge.com/Terrorist-Profiling-and-Law-Enforcement-Detection-Preven-tion-Deterrence/McGuirk/p/book/9780367697341</u>

A. Bell. The insider threat: responding to behavioral indicators in critical national infrastructure organizations. *King's College*, London, May 2022. URL: <u>https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/the-insider-threat(511f1aaf-5911-4945-9747-34feb8aac397).html</u>

T. Workneh, P. Haridakis (Eds.) Counter-terrorism laws and freedom of expression: global perspectives. *Lexington Books*, 2021, 408 pp. URL: <u>https://www.amazon.com/Counter-Terrorism-Laws-Freedom-Expression-Perspectives/dp/1793622167</u>

A. Gasztold, P. Gasztold. The Polish counterterrorism system and hybrid warfare threats. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 34(6), 2022, 1259-1276. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09546553.2</u> 020.1777110

E. Pauwels. Counterterrorism and violence prevention: safeguarding against the misuse and abuse of artificial intelligence. *Global Center on Cooperative Security*, June 2022. URL: <u>https://www.globalcenter.org/pub-lications/counterterrorism-and-violence-prevention-safeguarding-against-the-misuse-and-abuse-of-artificial-intelligence/</u>

Good practices in counterterrorism. *COE-DAT*, Vol. 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.coedat.nato.int/publica-tion/researches/11-Good Practices Incounter Terrorism II.pdf</u>

C.T. Hunt, S. Zimmerman. Counter-terrorism & peace operations: the impacts of UN Security Council approaches to tackling terror on the pursuit of peace. *SFR Research brief*, July 2022. URL: <u>https://www.re-solvenet.org/research/counter-terrorism-peace-operations-impacts-un-security-council-approaches-tack-ling-terror</u>

L. Attree. Function before form: optimizing the UN's counter-terrorism architecture. *Saferworld*, July 2022. URL: <u>https://www.saferworld.org.uk/resources/publications/1396-function-before-form-optimis-ing-the-unas-counter-terrorism-architecture</u>

P.S. Henne. Assessing the impact of the global war on terrorism on terrorism threats in Muslim countries. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 33(7), 2021, pp. 1511-1529. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/1</u> 0.1080/09546553.2019.1632833

J.J. Norris. Another form of American exceptionalism? A comparative analysis of terrorism sting operations in the US and abroad. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 33(7), 2021, pp. 1399-1423. URL: <u>https://</u> www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09546553.2019.1613984

Anh Le. Targeted killing for retribution only is practically impossible: a rejoinder to Christian Braun. *Journal of Military Ethics*, 20(2), 2021, pp. 145-151. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/15027</u> 570.2021.1989840

B. Loidolt. Were drone strikes effective? Evaluating the drone campaign in Pakistan through captured al-Qaeda documents. *Texas National Security Review*, 5(2), Spring 2022, pp. 53-79. URL: <u>https://tnsr.org/2022/01/were-drone-strikes-effective-evaluating-the-drone-campaign-in-pakistan-through-captured-al-qaeda-documents/</u>

L. Collins, J. Spencer. Understanding urban warfare. *Howgate Publishing*, 2022, 392 pp. URL: <u>https://www.howgatepublishing.com/product-page/understandingurbanwarfare</u>

J. Oberg. The TFF Abolish NATO catalogue. *The Transnational*, August 18, 2022. URL: <u>https://transnation-al.live/2022/08/18/the-tff-abolish-nato-catalogue/</u>

P. Lehr. Counterterrorism technologies. A critical assessment. Cham, Switzerland: *Springer International Publishing*, 2019, 217 pp. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/19434472.2020.1859584</u>

A. Dimaggio. The 'war on terror' at 20+ years: a retrospective. *Counterpunch*, September 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.counterpunch.org/2022/09/09/the-war-on-terror-at-20-years-a-retrospective/</u>

ICT's 21st World summit on counter-terrorism. *International Institute for Counter-Terrorism (ICT)*, You-Tube, September 11, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6e9tYW1ER8E</u>

9/11 anniversary marks generational strategic shift – analysis. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 11, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/international/islamic-terrorism/article-716921</u>

M. Levitt. US counterterrorism reimagined: tracking the Biden administration's effort to reform how America addresses violent extremism. *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/us-counterterrorism-reimagined-track-ing-biden-administrations-effort-reform-how</u>

P.R. Neumann. Die neue Weltordnung: wie sich der Westen selbst zerstört. Berlin, Rowohlt, 2022, 366pp. URL: <u>https://www.amazon.de/dp/3737101418/ref=cm_sw_r_awdo_DYBMWVHC9Q9TQQEG82SX?fb-clid=IwAR2bs7WcMFsg1FCZWRwbbTdjo18NRr2H45Js3An4ckTGrlPi0kbHnSYUnKw</u>

Pentagon plan aims to help avoid civilian deaths in strikes. *Arab News*, August 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.arabnews.com/node/2150521/world</u>

7. Counterterrorism: Specific Operations and/or Specific Policy Measures

7.1. Military: Kinetic Operations, Military Assistance & Training

D. Baché. Au Mali, Ménaka se prepare au prochain assaut terroriste de l'EIGS. *RFI*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.rfi.fr/fr/afrique/20221004-au-mali-ménaka-se-prépare-au-prochain-assaut-terroriste-de-l-eigs?ref=tw_i</u>

Somali government says it has killed al-Shabab co-founder. *Al Jazeera*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/10/3/somali-government-says-it-has-killed-al-shabab-cofounder</u>

S. Kasraoui. Morocco's BCIJ and Spain's intelligence services dismantle terror cell active in Nador, Melilla. *Morocco World News*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.moroccoworldnews.com/2022/10/351652/moroccos-bcij-and-spains-intelligence-services-dismantle-terror-cell-active-in-nador-melilla</u>

DR Congo appoints new army chief as part of military reforms. *Al Jazeera*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/10/4/dr-congo-appoints-new-army-chief-as-part-of-military-reforms</u>

M. Aydogan. Türkiye 'neutralizes' 7 YPG/PKK terrorists in northern Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkiye-neutralizes-7-ypg-pkk-terrorists-in-northern-syr-ia/2701918</u>

S. Sherko. Senior PKK member was shot dead in Sulaimani downtown, police says. ESTA, October 4, 2022.

PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM

URL: <u>https://esta.krd/en/196076/?swcfpc=1</u>

A. Hassan. US military says it killed al-Shabaab leader in Somali air strike. *Reuters*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/somalia-says-it-killed-al-shabaab-co-founder-2022-10-03/</u>

A. Bashir. In Kashmir, counterinsurgents' widows fight to save their sons. *The Diplomat*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://thediplomat.com/2022/10/in-kashmir-counterinsurgents-widows-fight-to-save-their-sons/</u>

Palestinian report: 165 killed since early 2022 in Gaza, West Bank. *Asharq al-Awsat*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3909041/palestinian-report-165-killed-early-2022-gaza-west-bank</u>

Report: Israel detained 430 Palestinians in September. *Middle East Monitor*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20221003-report-israel-detained-430-palestinians-in-september/</u>

A. Sertan Usul. Türkiye captures 15 PKK, Daesh/ISIS terrorist in northern Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, October 2, 202. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkiye-captures-15-pkk-daesh-isis-terrorists-in-northern-syria/2700637</u>

Militants killed in Gulshan-e-Maymar raid affiliated with IS-K. *Dawn*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1713089/militants-killed-in-gulshan-e-maymar-raid-affiliated-with-is-k-ctd</u>

Military escalation. Turkish forces exchange shelling with Kurdish and regime forces in Afrin. *SOHR*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.syriahr.com/en/269971/</u>

Turkey says it 'neutralised' 30 PKK members in Iraq, Syria. *The New Arab*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/turkey-says-it-neutralised-30-pkk-members-iraq-syria</u>

B. Gundogan. Turkish intelligence nabs 18 Daesh/ISIS terrorists in northern Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkish-intelligence-nabs-18-daesh-isis-terrorists-in-northern-syria/2698811</u>

Russia bombs Idlib to mark 7th year anniversary of bloody Syria intervention. *The New Arab*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/russia-bombs-idlib-mark-anniversary-syria-intervention</u>

Iran launches fresh strikes on Iraqi Kurdistan amid protests. *Deutsche Welle*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/iran-launches-fresh-strikes-on-iraqi-kurdistan-amid-protests/a-63268281</u>

J. Magid. US sounds alarm over West Bank violence at White House, UN, State Department. *The Times of Israel*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/us-voices-concern-over-west-bank-vio-lence-in-3-meetings-within-hours-of-each-other/</u>

Fmr. Navy commander says Israel had chance to assassinate Nasrallah. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/arab-israeli-conflict/article-718323</u>

T. Joffre. Thirteen killed as IRGC strikes Kurdish groups in Iraq. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/breaking-news/article-718318</u>

S. Sevencan. Türkiye 'neutralizes' 10 YPG/PKK terrorists in northern Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/middle-east/turkiye-neutralizes-10-ypg-pkk-terrorists-in-north-ern-syria/2697016</u>

Exclusive: tracking the flow of stolen Syrian oil into Iraq. *The Cradle*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://thecradle.co/Article/Investigations/16166</u>

Israeli forces kill four Palestinians, wound dozens in Jenin raid. *Al Jazeera*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/9/28/israeli-forces-kill-palestinians-jenin-raid</u>

J. Stepansky. US says military killed 12 civilians in 2021, sparking skepticism. Al Jazeera, September 28,

2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/9/28/us-says-military-killed-12-civilians-in-2021-spark-ing-scepticism</u>

Nine dead in Iranian attacks on Kurdish rebels in northern Iraq. *Al Jazeera*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/9/28/iran-kurd-rebels-say-dead-in-iran-strikes-on-iraqi-kurdistan</u>

E. Divinsky. Watch: IDF sniper eliminates terrorist shooting at soldiers. *Arutz Sheva*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.israelnationalnews.com/news/360427</u>

Israeli forces kill three Palestinian gunmen in flashpoint West Bank town. *Reuters*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/israeli-forces-kill-3-palestinian-gunmen-flashpoint-west-bank-town-2022-09-28/</u>

Satellite images show military build-ups in Ethiopia, Eritrea – Maxar. *Reuters*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/satellite-images-show-military-build-ups-ethiopia-eritrea-max-ar-2022-09-28/</u>

Z. Nur Duz. Turkish forces 'neutralize' 6 PKK terrorists in northern Iraq. *Anadolu Agency*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkish-forces-neutralize-6-pkk-terrorists-in-northern-iraq/2696011</u>

The crisis in Mali. *DW Documentary*, September 14, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VPR-BxXWfBtU</u>

T. Ndiaga. Burkina Faso army admits killing civilians in counter-terrorist strike. *Reuters*, August 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/burkina-faso-army-admits-killing-civilians-counter-terrorist-strike-2022-08-03/</u>

P. Gozali Idrus, D. Kowaraputra. Rights group: no ties between four Papuans killed last month and rebels. *Benar News*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.benarnews.org/english/news/indonesian/papua-mili-tary-killings-09232022144156.html</u>

S. Salim. Iran's Revolutionary Guard strikes Kurds in Iraq, as anti-regime protests rage. *The Times of Israel*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/irans-revolutionary-guard-strikes-kurds-in-iraq-as-anti-regime-protests-rage/</u>

E. Fabian. IDF says troops opened fire at group of armed Palestinians near Nablus, killing one. *The Times of Israel*, September 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-says-troops-opened-fire-at-group-of-armed-palestinians-near-nablus-killing-one/</u>

Amid unrest, Iranian guard attacks militant group in Iraq. *Associated Press*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/islamic-state-group-iran-iraq-militant-groups-16a71d8fc3bdc72ba9ccdf-6f856e211a</u>

SDF, international coalition launch anti-ISIS campaign in eastern Syria. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3892596/sdf-int'l-coalition-launch-anti-isis-cam-paign-eastern-syria</u>

One killed in air strike in Ethiopia's Tigray, hospital says. *The New Arab*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/one-killed-air-strike-ethiopias-tigray-hospital-says</u>

Palestine condemns unprovoked Israeli attack on Hebron hospital. *The New Arab*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/palestine-condemns-unprovoked-israeli-attack-hospital</u>

Two top PKK/KCK terrorists nabbed, brought back to Türkiye. *Anadolu Agency*, September 23, 2022. URL:<u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/middle-east/2-top-pkk-kck-terrorists-nabbed-brought-back-to-turki-ye/2692879</u>

US says it killed 27 al-Shabaab fighters in Somalia strike. *The Defense Post*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.thedefensepost.com/2022/09/22/us-strike-al-shabaab-somalia/</u>

Israeli force penetrates Syrian territory to thwart 'bombing operation'. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3884811/israeli-force-penetrates-syrian-territo-ry-thwart-'bombing-operation'</u>

Türkiye will not withdraw forces from Syria. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.</u> <u>aawsat.com/home/article/3887011/türkiye-will-not-withdraw-forces-syria</u>

Syrian Observatory: regime officers destroy two army depots belonging to Iran-backed militias. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3886796/syrian-observato-ry-regime-officers-destroy-2-arms-depots-belonging-iran-backed</u>

Eritrea launches 'full-scale offensive', say Tigrayan forces in Ethiopia. *Deutsche Welle*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/eritrea-launches-full-scale-offensive-say-tigrayan-forces-in-ethio-pia/a-63181302</u>

A. Hagstrom. Israeli defense minister says Iran manufacturing missiles in Syria, reveals map of facilities. *Fox News*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.foxnews.com/world/israeli-defense-minis-</u> ter-says-iran-manufacturing-missiles-syria-reveals-map-facilities

P. Aitken, L. Friden. US-backed Kurdish forces detain 300 ISIS fighters in al-Hol camp raid operation. *Fox News*, September 18, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.foxnews.com/world/us-backed-kurdish-forces-detain-300-isis-fighters-al-hol-camp-raid-operation</u>

C. Tasdan. Ten Daesh/ISIS terror suspects arrested across Türkiye. *Anadolu Agency*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/politics/10-daesh-isis-terror-suspects-arrested-across-turkiye/2689519</u>

S. Siebold, S. Marsh. Germany scrutinizing Russian moves in Mali's Gao region. *Reuters*, September 16, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/germany-scrutinising-russian-moves-malis-gao-region-de-fence-minister-2022-09-16/</u>

Eritrea issues army mobilization call as Ethiopia fighting resumes, Canada says. *Reuters*, September 18, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/eritrea-issues-army-mobilisation-call-ethiopia-fighting-re-sumes-canadian-2022-09-17/</u>

Somalia president Hassan Sheikh urges citizens to avoid al-Shabaab territory. *The New Arab*, September 13, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/somalia-leader-urges-citizens-avoid-al-shabaab-territory</u>

Four Turkey soldiers killed in clash with militants in Iraq. *The New Arab*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/four-turkey-soldiers-killed-clash-militants-iraq</u>

S. Ibrahim. Israel forces Palestinian mother of four to demolish her home in Jerusalem. *The New Arab*, September 13, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/israel-forces-palestinian-mother-demol-ish-her-house</u>

IDF's Kohavi quiet on northern front 'more deceptive than ever.' *The Jerusalem Post*, September 11, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/israel-news/article-716915</u>

Israeli security forces arrest 12 Palestinian terrorism suspects. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/israel-news/article-716936</u>

Gantz: Iran converting Syrian military sites into missile factories. *The Times of Israel*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/gantz-iran-converting-syrian-military-sites-into-missile-factories/</u>

Turkish intelligence 'neutralizes' senior PKK terrorist in northern Iraq. *Anadolu Agency*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/middle-east/turkish-intelligence-neutralizes-senior-pkk-terror-</u>

ist-in-northern-iraq/2682940

Benin says in talks with Rwanda over logistical aid to counter islamist threat. *Reuters*, September 10, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/benin-talks-with-rwanda-over-logistical-aid-counter-islamist-threat-2022-09-10/</u>

Israel's Shin Bet: Situation in West Bank worse than it seems.' *Middle East Monitor*, September 10, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220910-israels-shin-bet-situation-in-west-bank-worse-than-it-seems/</u>

Palestinian dies of wounds from Israeli fire in West Bank. *Middle East Monitor*, September 11, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220911-palestinian-dies-of-wounds-from-israeli-fire-in-west-bank/</u>

Israel arrested 607 Palestinians last month. *Middle East Monitor*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220912-israel-arrested-607-palestinians-last-month/</u>

E. Fabian. Over 300 'significant' terror attacks foiled so far this year, Shin Bet chief says. *The Times of Israel,* September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/shin-bet-chief-warns-israels-internal-strife-is-a-shot-in-the-arm-for-terrorism/</u>

D. Oré. Mexico gives Army control of National Guard, sparks clash with UN. *Reuters*, September 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/mexican-congress-backs-army-taking-control-nation-al-guard-2022-09-09/</u>

Airstrikes on Syria's Idlib kill seven. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/</u> <u>home/article/3863081/airstrikes-syria's-idlib-kill-7</u>

Palestinians mourn the 32nd Palestinian killed by Israel in Jenin since start of 2022. *The New Arab*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/palestinians-mourn-32nd-palestinian-killed-jenin-2022</u>

The third in three days: Israeli forces kill a Palestinian near Tubas. *The New Arab*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/israeli-forces-kill-third-palestinian-three-days</u>

Israel considers increasing support for Palestinian Authority to 'fight terrorism' report. *The New Arab*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/israel-considers-increasing-support-pa-fight-terror</u>

SDF rescues four women chained in tunnels at Syria's al-Hol camp, US says. *The New Arab*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/sdf-rescues-four-women-chained-tunnels-al-hol-us-says</u>

Chief Bisong Etahoben. As schools reopen, Cameroon orders deployment of special forces against separatists. *HumAngle*, September 7, 2022. URL:<u>https://humanglemedia.com/as-schools-reopen-cameroon-orders-deployment-of-special-forces-against-separatists/</u>

Togo extends state of emergency due to militant attacks. *VOA*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.voan-ews.com/a/togo-extends-state-of-emergency-due-to-militant-attacks/6735048.html</u>

E. Fabian. IDF preparing to use armed drones in West Bank operations. *The Times of Israel*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-preparing-to-use-armed-drones-in-west-bank-operations/</u>

E. Fabian. Rebuffing US, Lapid and Gantz say 'no one will dictate' IDF's open-fire regulations. *The Times of Israel*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/rebuffing-us-lapid-and-gantz-say-idf-alone-will-determine-rules-of-engagement/</u>

E. Fabian. Satellite image shows shuttered Aleppo airport after fresh raid attributed to Israel. *The Times of Israel*, September 7, 2022 URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/satellite-image-shows-shuttered-aleppo-air-</u>

port-after-fresh-raid-attributed-to-israel/

Israeli air raids on airport amount to a 'war crime', Syria's foreign ministry. *Globe and Mail*, September 7, 202.2 URL: <u>https://www.theglobeandmail.com/world/article-israeli-raids-on-airport-amount-to-a-war-crime-syrias-foreign-ministry/?</u>

C. Schaer. What do US forces want to achieve in Syria? *Deutsche Welle*, August 31, 202. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/what-does-the-us-actually-want-in-syria/a-62982425</u>

J. Magid. US again pressing Israel to reconsider open-fire rules after IDF's Abu Akleh probe. *The Times of Israel*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/us-says-it-is-keeping-pressure-on-israel-over-open-fire-rules-after-abu-akleh-death/</u>

E. Fabian. Syria says Aleppo airport again forced to shut after second Israeli attack in a week. *The Times of Israel*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/syria-says-israeli-jets-target-aleppo-air-port-for-second-time-in-a-week/?</u>

Pakistani soldiers killed in gun battle with Taliban. *Al Jazeera*, September 6, 2022. URL:<u>https://www.alja-</u> zeera.com/news/2022/9/6/five-pakistan-soldiers-killed-in-clash-with-taliban

R. Sawalta. Israeli forces kill Palestinian during West Bank raid, Palestinians say. *Reuters*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/israeli-forces-kill-palestinian-wound-16-during-west-bank-raid-2022-09-06/</u>

L. Obafemi. Mali denies UN accusations of human rights abuses. *Xtra*, September 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.xtra.net/news/africa/mali-denies-accusations-human-rights-abuses</u>

Q. Muadddi. Hundreds of Palestinians in Jenin mourn 19-year-old killed by Israel as assault on West Bank continues. *The New Arab*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/hundreds-mourn-19-year-old-killed-israel-jenin</u>

SDF-raid on al-Hol camp sees dozens of 121 IS suspects detained. *The New Arab*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/sdf-raid-al-hol-camp-sees-dozens-suspects-detained</u>

E. Fabian. US says IDF review of Abu Akleh killing 'welcome', stresses need for accountability. *The Times of Israel*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/us-welcomes-idf-findings-on-abu-akleh-killing-stresses-need-for-accountability/</u>

E. Fabian. IDF troops said to enter Jenin area to demolish home of Palestinian terrorist. *The Times of Israel*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-troops-said-to-enter-jenin-area-to-demolish-home-of-palestinian-terrorist/</u>

US forces establish third military base in Syria's Qamishli. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3854216/us-forces-establish-third-military-base-syrias-qamishli</u>

Israel says soldier probably killed Shireen Abu Aqleh by accident. *The Guardian*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/05/israel-soldier-killing-journalist-shireen-abu-aqleh-in-vestigation</u>

J. Snell. Is the Israel-Iran proxy war encroaching into Yemen? *The New Arab*, August 31, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/analysis/israel-iran-proxy-war-encroaching-yemen</u>

Assad, Lapid 'I direct talks' over Iranian military presence in Syria: report. *The New Arab*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/assad-lapid-talks-over-iran-presence-syria-report</u>

B. Bekdil. Turkey: what is the real terrorist threat? *Gatestone Institute*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.gatestoneinstitute.org/18742/turkey-terrorist-threat</u>

Turkish intelligence neutralizes senior PKK terrorist in northern Iraq. *Anadolu Agency*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/middle-east/turkish-intelligence-neutralizes-senior-pkk-terror-ist-in-northern-iraq/2676403</u>

E. Salvoni. RAF drones blast nearly 1,500 Islamic State fighters in the past eight years in hundreds of missions over Iraq and Syria. *Daily Mail Online*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11178369/RAF-drones-blast-nearly-1-500-Islamic-State-fighters-Iraq-Syria-past-eight-years.html</u>

Satellite image: Israel attack damaged Syrian airport runway. *The New Arab*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/satellite-image-israel-attack-damaged-syrian-airport-runway</u>

Mohammed, A. Nigeria military air raid kill many terrorists in Kaduna, Borno. *Xtra*, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.xtra.net/news/nigeria/nigeria-military-air-raid-terrorists-kaduna-borno</u>

7.2. Police: Law Enforcement, Arrest

Kashmir police arrest suspect in murder of top prison official. *Al Jazeera*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/10/4/kashmir-police-arrest-suspect-in-murder-of-top-prison-official</u>

D. Wilcock. 'The mob needs to be stopped': Home Secretary Suella Braverman vows to give police the powers they need to tackle and jail eco-protesters who have struck across Britain – and slams forces 'wokery' with demand for 'common sense' crime-fighting reset. *Daily Mail Online*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11280231/The-mob-needs-stopped-Home-Secretary-Suella-Braverman-vows-tackle-eco-protesters.html?</u>

K. Knight. Secret mole inside the National Front who helped jail scores of racists: Matthew became a farright thug as a teenager ...Now his extraordinary story is being told in a prime time ITV drama. *Daily Mail Online*, October 4 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11277201/Secret-mole-in-</u> <u>side-National-helped-jail-racists.html</u>

Israel's police bust Islamic State cell in Nazareth.*i24*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.i24news.tv/en/</u><u>news/israel/defense/1664697980-israel-s-police-bust-islamic-state-cell-in-nazareth</u>

A. Hashmonai, Y. Kubovich. ISIS sympathizers suspected of bomb plot on northern Israeli high school. *Haaretz*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.haaretz.com/israel-news/2022-10-02/ty-article/.highlight/</u> isis-sympathizers-suspected-of-bomb-plot-in-northern-israeli-high-school-arrested/00000183-97cc-d7aeafe7-dfef23260000?

Leaked documents show Iran plan to 'systematically crush' protests: Amnesty International. *The New Arab*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/iran-planned-systematically-crush-pro-tests-amnesty</u>

Belgium's police raid on violent group leaves one suspect dead. *Al Jazeera*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/9/28/belgiums-police-raid-on-violent-group-leaves-one-suspect-dead</u>

Police clash with protesters in east Jerusalem for 3rd strait night. *The Times of Israel*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/police-clash-with-protesters-in-east-jerusalem-for-3rd-straight-night/</u>

Noorse politie pakt nog tweeverdachten op voor aanslag ophomobar in Oslo. *AD*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.ad.nl/buitenland/noorse-politie-pakt-nog-twee-verdachten-op-voor-aanslag-op-homo-bar-in-oslo~a7b1924d/</u>

Weer drie Nederlanders opgepakt voor aanslag Antwerpen. *AD*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.ad.nl/buitenland/weer-drie-nederlanders-opgepakt-voor-aanslag-antwerpen~aeff7c50/</u>

Nieuwe aanhouding in onderzoek naar moord op Peter R. de Vries. *AD*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.ad.nl/binnenland/nieuwe-aanhouding-in-onderzoek-naar-moord-op-peter-r-de-vries~ac97f1ff/</u>

T. van der Meer. Plan ontvoering minister lijkt zeer serieus, maar politie wist ervan: 'Nederlands kenteken is direct verdacht.' *AD*, September 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.ad.nl/buitenland/plan-ontvoering-minis-ter-lijkt-zeer-serieus-maar-politie-wist-ervan-nederlands-kenteken-is-direct-verdacht~afa495c1/</u>

Wapens en explosieven voor huis Belgische minister, drie verdachten in Nederland aangehouden. *De Telegraaf*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.telegraaf.nl/nieuws/1890418271/wapens-en-ex-plosieven-voor-huis-belgische-minister-drie-verdachten-in-nederland-aangehouden?</u>

India arrests dozens after nationwide raids on Muslim group PFI. *Al Jazeera*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/9/22/nationwide-raids-on-muslim-group-pfi-in-india-over-100-ar-rested</u>

Iceland police arrest four in 'first-ever' suspected terror plot. *The Times of Israel*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/iceland-police-arrest-four-in-first-ever-suspected-terror-plot/</u>

Palestinian Authority, terror groups agree to end clashes sparked by Nablus arrests. *The Times of Israel*, September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/palestinian-authority-terror-groups-agree-to-end-clashes-sparked-by-nablus-arrests/</u>

Tunisia's anti-terrorism police detain former prime minister Ali Laarayedh. *Reuters*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/tunisias-anti-terrorism-police-detain-former-prime-minis-ter-ali-laarayedh-lawyer-2022-09-20/</u>

J. Meeus. Verbod op gezinscontact voor Taghi na publicatie over dreiging Amalia en Rutte. *NRC*, September 17, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2022/09/17/verbod-op-familiebezoek-voor-ridouan-taghi-na-publicatie-over-dreiging-rutte-amalia-a4142203 - /krant/2022/09/19/</u>

'Bescherming Amalia en Rutte opgeschroefd, aanwijzingen voor aanslagplannen.' *NOS*, September 18, 202. URL: <u>https://nos.nl/artikel/2444910-bescherming-amalia-en-rutte-opgeschroefd-aanwijzin-gen-voor-aanslagplannen</u>

M. Lodge. 'Top secret' drone-blocking technology 'will be deployed in London for Queen's funeral to enforce no fly zone' – as officers gear up for what will be one of the biggest security operations in British policing history. *Daily Mail Online*, September 19, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/arti-cle-11225963/Top-secret-drone-blocking-technology-deployed-London-Queens-funeral.html</u>

E. Buckland, A. Young, R. Tingle. Ring of steel forms around London for Queen's funeral: 10,000 police officers and 1,500 soldiers set up six mile-wide grid as snipers look out for danger in biggest operation in UK history. *Daily Mail Online*, September 19, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11226573/</u> <u>Ring-steel-guard-world-leaders-Police-form-cordon-ahead-Queens-funeral.html</u>

P. Barber. Neo-Nazi head of Goyim Defense League arrested in Poland. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/diaspora/antisemitism/article-716447</u>

Arrestatie om bedreigen Mark Rutte. *AD*, September 11, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.destentor.nl/binnenland/</u> <u>arrestatie-om-bedreigen-mark-rutte~ab75b5fc/</u>

S. Tonkin, D. Bazaraa. Police begin hunt to track down all 212 people injured in 1996 IRA Manchester city centre lorry bomb attack after arresting suspect at Birmingham airport. *Daily Mail Online*, September 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11196899/Man-arrested-1996-IRA-lorry-bomb-in-jured-212-destroyed-Manchester-city-centre.html</u>

Turkish court arrests senior Islamic State figure – Anadolu. *Reuters*, September 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/turkeys-erdogan-says-senior-islamic-state-figure-captured-anado-</u>

<u>lu-2022-09-09/</u>

Abuja-Kaduna train attack: bandits' negotiator, Mamu arrested over alleged links with terrorists, collection of N2billion ransom for kidnappers. *Sahara Reporters*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://saharareporters.com/articles/abuja-kaduna-train-attack-bandits-negotiator-mamu-arrested-over-alleged-links-terrorists</u>

D. Averre. Newcastle-based man in his 40s is arrested by police over suspected war crimes committed during Liberian civil war. *Daily Mail Online*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/</u><u>article-11190137/Newcastle-based-man-arrested-police-suspected-war-crimes-Liberian-Civil-War.html</u>

A. Oliveira. Armed police surround house after reported sighting of man suspected of stabbing 10 to death in rampage on indigenous reserve in Canada. *Daily Mail Online*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11186577/Armed-police-surround-house-reported-sighting-man-sus-pected-murdering-10-rampage.html?</u>

A. Olowoporuko. Police rescue 15 kidnapped children in Rivers. *Xtra*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.xtra.net/news/metro/police-rescue-15-kidnapped-children-rivers</u>

Five arrested after Syrian man tortured to death in Lebanese custody. *The New Arab*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/5-arrests-after-syrian-tortured-death-lebanese-custody</u>

Pilot in custody after threatening to crash small airplane into Mississippi Walmart. *The Hill*, September 3, 202.2 URL: <u>https://thehill.com/homenews/state-watch/3626943-pilot-threatening-to-crash-small-airplane-into-walmart-in-mississippi/</u>

T. van der Meer. Opnieuw Nederlandse auto onderschept in Antwerpen: drie verdachten met wapen opgepakt. *AD*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.ad.nl/buitenland/opnieuw-nederlandse-auto-onder-schept-in-antwerpen-drie-verdachten-met-wapen-opgepakt~a54a0192/</u>

7.3. Foreign Fighters and Their Families

S. Cottee. Don't fall for the ISIS matchmaker. *UnHerd*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://unherd.com/2022/10/</u> <u>dont-fall-for-the-isis-matchmaker/</u>

ISIS brides and their children in Syria to be 'de-radicalized' in a third country before being returned to Australia as Labor government reverses longstanding ban. *Daily Mail Online*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11274733/ISIS-brides-children-Syria-deradicalised-return-ing-home-Australia.html</u>

B. Doherty. Australia to launch rescue mission for women and children trapped in Syrian detention camps. *The Guardian*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2022/oct/02/australia-to-launch-rescue-mission-for-women-and-children-trapped-in-syrian-detention-camps</u>

Nederland wil 41 Nederlandse IS-vrouwen en kinderen uit Syrie ophalen. *RTL Nieuws*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.rtlnieuws.nl/nieuws/artikel/5335921/kabinet-41-islamitische-staat-12-vrouw-en-29-kinderen-uitreizigers</u>

Leaving the Islamic State – Life back in Germany. *DW Documentary*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F1ma0rjK1hc</u>

US CENTCOM urges nations to bring IS relatives home from Syria. *The New Arab*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/us-centcom-urges-nations-bring-relatives-home-syria</u>

C. Paulussen, T. Gherbaoui. Trials in absentia of foreign fighters and their families? The Hague: *ICCT*, August 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://icct.nl/publication/trials-in-absentia-foreign-fighters/</u>

SDF hands over 50 suspected ISIS fighters to Iraq. Rudaw, August 13, 2022. URL: https://www.rudaw.net/

english/middleeast/13082022

Dozens of Syrian families prepare to leave al-Hol camp. *Rudaw*, August 14, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.rudaw.net/english/middleeast/syria/14082022</u>

Hundreds linked to ISIS transferred from Syria to Iraq. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 13, 2022. URL: <u>https://en-glish.aawsat.com/home/article/3813511/hundreds-linked-isis-transferred-syria-iraq</u>

7.4. Prosecution: Sentences

A. Lapin. Nazi sympathizer who stormed Capitol handed 4-year prison term. *The Times of Israel*, September 23, 2022. URL:<u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/nazi-sympathizer-who-stormed-capitol-handed-4-year-prison-term/</u>

L. Richard. Illegal immigrant who stabbed, shot NYPD officers sentenced to 30 years in prison, deportation. *Fox News*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.foxnews.com/us/illegal-immi-grant-stabbed-shot-nypd-officers-sentenced-30-years-prison-deportation</u>

Bundesgerichtshof bestätigt Urteil gegen IS-Anwerber Abu Walaa. Zeit Online, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.zeit.de/gesellschaft/zeitgeschehen/2022-09/abu-walaa-is-prozess-bundesgerichtshof-hafts-trafe-bestaetigung?</u>

German court convicts 'IS recruiter' Abu Walaa. *Deutsche Welle*, February 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.</u> <u>dw.com/en/german-court-convicts-is-recruiter-abu-walaa/a-56668659</u>

V. Schildkamp. Dader tramaanslag Gökmen Tanis is zijn Nederlandse paspoort kwijt. *AD*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.ad.nl/binnenland/dader-tramaanslag-gokmen-tanis-is-zijn-neder-landse-paspoort-kwijt~a29f3e7c/</u>

8. Prevention, Preparedness and Resilience & Rehabilitation Studies

Prison-based interventions targeting violent extremist detainees. *ICSR*, July 15, 2022. URL: <u>https://icsr.</u> info/2022/07/15/review-of-evidence-prison-based-interventions-targeting-violent-extremist-detainees

J. Amegboh. Peacebuilding from the bottom: local youth non-governmental organizations strategies to prevent terrorism and violent extremism in Mali. *George Mason University*, 2021. URL: <u>http://mars.gmu.edu/handle/1920/12661</u>

J. Senehi, I. Michelle Scott, S. Byrne, T.G. Matyok (Eds.) Routledge handbook of peacebuilding and ethnic conflict. *Routledge*, 2022, 392p. URL: <u>https://www.routledge.com/Routledge-Handbook-of-Peacebuild-ing-and-Ethnic-Conflict/Senehi-Scott-Byrne-Matyok/p/book/9780367428037</u>

RAN C&N frontrunners: key challenges and recommendations for online P/CVE work, Riga 16-17 June 2022. *European Commission, Migration and Home Affairs*, August 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://home-affairs.ec.europa.eu/whats-new/publications/ran-cn-digital-frontrunners-key-challenges-and-recommendations-online-pcve-work-riga-16-17-june-2022_en</u>

Podcast: expert voices on atrocity prevention. *Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.globalr2p.org/podcast-expert-voices-on-atrocity-prevention/</u>

G. Ramos. To fight hate and violence in the Sahel, we need to talk more. *Al Jazeera*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2022/9/26/to-fight-extremism-in-the-sahel-we-need-to-talk-more</u>

Preventing terrorists from acquitting weapons. Technical guidelines to facilitate the implementation of Security Resolution 2370(2017) and related international standards and good practices on preventing terrorists from acquiring weapons. *UNCCT*, *CTED*, *UNIDIR*, *UNGCTCC*, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/</u>

securitycouncil/ctc/sites/www.un.org.securitycouncil.ctc/files/files/documents/2022/Mar/technical_guidelines to facilitate the implementation of security council resolution 2370 2017 and related international_standards_and_good_practic

M. Navales, F. Gallardo. Ex-Muslim Mindanao rebels to complete final arms decommissioning this month. *Benar News*, September 15, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.benarnews.org/english/news/philippine/former-phil-ippine-southern-separatists-to-complete-decommissioning-final-phase-in-september-09152022111059. <u>html</u></u>

F. Hegazi, K. Seyuba. The social side of climate change adaptation: reducing conflict risk. *SIPRI*, September 2022. URL: <u>https://www.sipri.org/publications/2022/sipri-policy-briefs/social-side-climate-change-adapta-tion-reducing-conflict-risk</u>

D. Pisoiu. Can serous games make a difference in P/CVE? *Global Network on Extremism & Technology*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://gnet-research.org/2022/09/05/can-serious-games-make-a-difference-in-p-cve/</u>

Issa warns against clash of civilizations. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.</u> <u>com/home/article/3844861/issa-warns-against-clash-civilizations</u>

Memorandum on good practices on strengthening national-local cooperation in preventing and countering violent extremism conducive to terrorism. *GCTF*, 2020). URL: <u>https://www.thegctf.org/Portals/1/Doc-uments/Framework Documents/2020/GCTF Memorandum on Good Practices on Strengthening NLC in PCVE.pdf?ver=2020-09-29-100315-357</u>

9. State Repression, Civil War and Clandestine Warfare

9.1. Arbitrary Arrest/Detention, Prison System

Egypt releases new batch of political prisoners. *Middle East Monitor*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20221003-egypt-releases-new-batch-of-political-prisoners/</u>

Venezuela frees seven US citizens in swap for Maduro relatives. *Deutsche Welle*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/venezuela-frees-7-us-citizens-in-swap-for-maduro-relatives/a-63310441</u>

Iran says it is due \$7bn for release of US-Iranian father and son. *The Guardian*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/oct/02/iran-says-it-is-due-7bn-for-release-of-us-iranian-father-and-son</u>

Australian professor is jailed for three years in Myanmar – alongside the country's former leader Aung San Suu Kyi – for breaching 'secrecy laws'. *Daily Mail Online*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.</u> <u>co.uk/news/article-11261445/Sean-Turnell-jailed-THREE-years-alongside-Myanmars-former-leader-</u> <u>Aung-San-Suu-Kyi.html</u>

Self-exiled Hong Kong democrat sentenced to 3 ½ years in jail in absentia. *Reuters*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/china/self-exiled-hong-kong-democrat-sentenced-3-12-years-jail-absentia-2022-09-29/</u>

Israel extends detention of Palestinian hunger striker despite deal to release him. *Middle East Monitor*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220929-israel-extends-detention-of-pal-estinian-hunger-striker-despite-deal-to-release-him/</u>

Under new law, Russian troops face 10 years in jail for surrender, refusal to fight. *The Times of Israel*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/russia-stiffens-penalty-for-surrender-or-refusal-to-fight-to-10-years-in-prison/</u>

Libyan national cleared for Guantanamo release: reports. The New Arab, September 25, 2022. URL: https://

english.alaraby.co.uk/news/libyan-national-cleared-guantanamo-release-reports

P. Shankar. Iran-Belgium prisoner swap: Belgian court to decide on controversial exchange treaty. *Deutsche Welle*, September 19, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/iran-belgium-prisoner-swap-belgian-court-to-decide-on-controversial-exchange-treaty/a-63169141</u>

R. Michaelson. British-Egyptian hungerstriker Allaa Abd el-Fattah says he may die in prison. *The Guard-ian*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/12/british-egyptian-hunger-striker-alaa-abd-el-fattah-says-he-may-die-in-prison</u>

Algeria: authorities detain journalist, ban newspaper publication. *Middle East Monitor*, September 10, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220910-algeria-authorities-detain-journal-ist-ban-newspaper-publication/</u>

J. Holleis. Saudi Arabia: record 45-year sentence stokes women's rights fears. *Deutsche Welle*, September 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/saudi-arabia-record-45-year-sentence-stokes-womens-rights-fears/a-63003282</u>

Iranian intelligence arrests 12 Baha'i, accuses them of links to Israel. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3855851/iranian-intelligence-arrests-12-baha'-accus-es-them-links-israel</u>

I. van Brugen. Russia charges its own soldiers with 'discrediting' the army. *Newsweek*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.newsweek.com/russia-soldiers-charged-discrediting-army-armed-forces-1739305</u>

G. Peck. Myanmar court convicts Suu Kyi of vote fraud, adds prison time. *Associated Press*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/elections-voting-myanmar-general-aung-san-suu-kyi-89cd615ce-8a7efbb1cb1b457c001eb7f</u>

9.2. Extra-Judicial Executions, Death Sentences and Killings

At least 30,000 Syrians 'murdered' in regime's notorious Sednaya prison, new harrowing report reveals. *The New Arab*, October 3, 2022.URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/sednaya-prison-harrowing-atroci-ties-unveiled-report</u>

A. Cheeseman. Executed prisoners thrown into salt chambers in Assad's camp. *The Times*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/executed-prisoners-thrown-into-salt-chambers-in-assads-death-camps-73bvhzf5r?</u>

M. Verza. Mexican army's role in students' disappearance. *Associated Press*, September 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/mexico-crime-caribbean-arrests-city-51f83376f1efea86be65e4c5f58f5c2d?</u>

A. Nuño. Can Mexico's 43 missing students get justice at last – or will politics prevail. *The Guardian*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/05/mexico-43-missing-students-ayot-zinapa-report</u>

9.3. Forced Disappearances

C. Schaar. Syria's missing: how the UN plans to find over 100,000 people. *Deutsche Welle*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/syrias-missing-how-the-un-plans-to-find-over-100000-peo-ple/a-63184989</u>

Egypt: Brotherhood calls for end to forced disappearance of Morsi's nephew. *Middle East Monitor*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220912-egypt-brotherhood-calls-for-end-to-forced-disappearance-of-morsis-nephew/</u>

Z. Kazmi. Enforced disappearances in Pakistan raise questions over role of secret services. *Deutsche Welle*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/enforced-disappearances-in-pakistan-raise-ques-tions-over-role-of-secret-services/a-62969115</u>

9.4. Torture

J. Warren. British travel industry expert, 52, who was headhunted to help promote Qatar for the World Cup was 'tortured by the country's secret police' during three-week ordeal before 'hanging himself' on Christmas Day 'hours after laughing and joking' with family. *Daily Mail Online*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11260665/British-man-52-hanged-hotel-Doha-tortured-Qatarssecret-police.html</u>

E. Rosenberg, K. Berkhout. Nederlands rapport over mogelijke oorlogsmisdaad door Australische militairen in Uruzgan is spoorloos. *NRC*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2022/09/26/rap-</u> <u>port-melding-marteling-spoorloos-a4143256 - /krant/2022/09/27/</u>

J. Watson, C. Knaus. Australian soldier alleges torture survival course involved simulated child rape and left him with PTSD. *The Guardian*, September 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/austra-lia-news/2022/sep/26/australian-soldier-alleges-torture-survival-course-involved-simulated-child-and-left-him-with-ptsd</u>

UN human rights expert decries 'descent towards authoritarianism' in Afghanistan. *Reuters*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/un-human-rights-expert-decries-descent-to-wards-authoritarianism-afghanistan-2022-09-12/</u>

N. Anderson. British humanitarian worker who died after being captured by Putin's troops suffered 'possible unspeakable torture' and was missing body parts, Ukrainian officials say. *Daily Mail Online*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11191495/British-humanitarian-worker-suf-</u><u>fered-possible-unspeakable-torture-missing-body-parts.html</u>

Lebanon: death of Syrian detainee under torture disconcerts security, judicial authorities. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3854236/lebanon-death-syrian-detain-ee-under-torture-disconcerts-security-judicial</u>

9.5. Genocide, War Crimes, Crimes against Humanity, Repression

B. Weinthal. Tribunal declares Iran committed 'crimes against humanity' during repression of 2019 protests. *Fox News*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.foxnews.com/world/tribunal-declares-iran-com-</u> <u>mitted-crimes-humanity-crackdown-2019-protests?intcmp=tw_fnc</u>

N. Bequelin. Why China's crimes in Xinjiang cannot go unpunished. *The New York Times*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2022/09/30/opinion/international-world/china-human-rights-xinji-ang-un.html?</u>

D. Hutt. Cambodia: will the final Khmer Rouge ruling close a dark chapter? *Deutsche Welle*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/cambodia-will-the-final-khmer-rouge-ruling-close-a-dark-chapter/a-63243079</u>

T. Brian. For Iraq's displaced Yazidis, the genocide is ongoing. The New Arab, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/analysis/iraqs-displaced-yazidis-genocide-ongoing</u>

'Even their remains should be in handcuffs': Khmer Rouge vilified. *Al Jazeera*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/9/23/even-their-remains-should-be-in-handcuffs-polpots-regime</u>

J. Keaten. UN experts detail extensive war crimes amid Tigray conflict. Associated Press, September

22, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/health-united-nations-africa-ethiopia-eritrea-dcb992b-8389069490c8b44357500cabe</u>

A.L. Hoek. De strijd om Bali. Imperialisme, verzet en onafhankelijkheid 1846-1950. *De Bezige Bij*, 2021, 544 pp. URL: <u>https://www.debezigebij.nl/boek/de-strijd-om-bali?</u>

E. Corlett. Maori tribe secures landmark apology and compensation over colonial atrocities. *The Guardian*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/23/maori-tribe-secures-land-mark-apology-and-compensation-over-colonial-atrocities</u>

H. Davidson. China ready for 'fight' over international action on Xinjiang human rights abuses. *The Guardian*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/23/china-ready-for-fight-over-international-action-on-xinjiang-human-rights-abuses</u>

J. Rust. Namibia genocide: opposition demands new deal with Germany. *Deutsche Welle*, September 13, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/namibia-genocide-opposition-demands-new-deal-with-germany/a-63100565</u>

Cambodia: court upholds conviction of Khmer Rouge leader Khieu Samphan. *Deutsche Welle*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/cambodia-court-upholds-conviction-of-khmer-rouge-leader-kh-ieu-samphan/a-63200020</u>

ICC Prosecutor and Eurojust launch practical guidelines for documenting and preserving information on international crimes. *ICC*, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.icc-cpi.int/news/icc-prosecutor-and-euro-just-launch-practical-guidelines-documenting-and-preserving-information</u>

J. Mueller. Ukraine prosecutor says it has documented 34,000 war crimes, including genocide. *The Hill*, September 18, 2022. URL: <u>https://thehill.com/policy/international/3648652-ukraine-prosecutor-says-it-has-documented-34000-war-crimes-including-genocide/</u>

German Jewish group files war crimes charges against Israeli leaders. *The New Arab*, September 13, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/german-jewish-group-file-charges-against-israeli-leaders</u>

'50 miljoen mensen leven in modern slavernij.' *NOS*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://nos.nl/artike-l/2444346-50-miljoen-mensen-leven-in-moderne-slavernij</u>

J. Maitem. Philippines seeks to block ICC prosecutor from probing drug war related deaths under Duterte. *Benar News*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.benarnews.org/english/news/philippine/end-</u> <u>probe-09082022131305.html</u>

E. Farge. China ambassador: UN report on Xinjiang has 'closed door of cooperation.' *Reuters*, September 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/china/china-ambassador-un-report-xinji-ang-has-closed-door-cooperation-2022-09-09/</u>

W. Yang. Uyghur community slams UN's China report as too little, too late. *Deutsche Welle*, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/uyghur-community-slams-uns-china-report-as-too-little-too-late/a-62992373</u>

H. Davidson. 'Our people are still trapped': Uyghur exiles demand action on abuses. *The Guardian*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/05/uyghur-exiles-demand-action-abuses-china-xinjiang-un-report?</u>

E.M. Lederer. UN chief says North Korea has increased repression of rights. *Associated Press*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/united-nations-general-assembly-covid-health-antonio-gu-terres-north-korea-32895786a99eec8fae15e234e2ce74f1</u>

K. Moritsugu, J. Keaten. To China's fury, UN accuses Beijing of Uyghur rights abuses. *Associated Press*, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/china-japan-crime-geneva-72426c36d1a-</u>

4c0ae83d9520d2f19d840

J. Borger. China's treatment of Uyghurs may be crime against humanity, says UN human rights chief. *The Guardian*, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/aug/31/china-uyghur-mus-lims-xinjiang-michelle-bachelet-un</u>

9.6. State Surveillance, Digital Authoritarianism, Privacy Issues

C. Goujard. Europe edges closer to a ban on facial recognition. *Politico*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/europe-edges-closer-to-a-ban-on-facial-recognition/?</u>

P. Toomey, A. Abdo. US courts must stop shielding government surveillance programs from accountability. *The Guardian*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2022/sep/26/</u> <u>us-courts-government-accountability-state-secrets</u>

B. Edwards. Artist finds medical record photos in popular AI training data set. *Ars Technica*, September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://arstechnica.com/information-technology/2022/09/artist-finds-private-medical-re-cord-photos-in-popular-ai-training-data-set/?</u>

Iran to use surveillance tech to catch women defying hijab laws. *The New Arab*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/iran-use-tech-catch-women-defying-hijab-laws</u>

Is your Roomba spying on you? Privacy advocates slam Amazon's \$1.78 iRobot deal that fuels 'pervasive surveillance' because it can map out entire home layouts and connect to smart devices – as FTC now opens probe into buyout. *Daily Mail Online*, September 12, 2022.URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/sciencetech/article-11197377/Advocates-blast-Amazon-1-7B-iRobot-deal-fuels-pervasive-surveillance-home.html</u>

B. Allen-Ebrahimian. Beijing is creating a digital surveillance-based governance model. *Axios*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.axios.com/2022/09/06/beijing-digital-surveillance-governance-model?</u>

W. Strzyzynska. Iranian authorities plan to use facial recognition to enforce new hijab law. *The Guardian*, September 5, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2022/sep/05/iran-govern-ment-facial-recognition-technology-hijab-law-crackdown</u>

10. Intelligence Operations

J. Dunleavy. Durham's Russia gate claim exposes FBI and DoJ's years long misinformation campaign. *Washington Examiner*, September 17, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/news/justice/fbi-mislead-danchenko-after-paid-confidential-informant</u>

S. Kirchgaessner. Mexico: reporters and activists hacked with NSO spyware despite assurances. *The Guard-ian*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/oct/04/mexico-nso-spyware-jour-nalists-human-rights-hacked-pegasus</u>

F. Hulshoff Pol. Toezichthouder inlichtingendiensten stapt op vanwege wetsvoorstel. *Techzine*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.techzine.nl/nieuws/privacy-compliance/504056/toezichthouder-inlichtingendien-sten-stapt-op-vanwege-wetsvoorstel/</u>

M. Sparkes. Russia's Nord Stream gas pipelines to Europe suffer mysterious leaks. *New Scientist*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.newscientist.com/article/2339640-russias-nord-stream-gas-pipelines-to-eu-rope-suffer-mysterious-leaks/?</u>

D. Beth Solomon. Mexico's alleged victims of Pegasus spyware see criminal probe. *Reuters*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/mexicos-alleged-victims-pegasus-spyware-seek-criminal-probe-2022-10-04/</u>

Evidence of US interference in Nord Stream pipeline sabotage. URL: https://www.dropbox.com/s/be3e6yn-

nuu56cdt/Evidence of US interference in Nordstream pipeline sabotage.mp4?dl=0

T. Durden. Former Pentagon advisor says US likely attacked Nord Stream pipelines to isolate Germany. *ZeroHedge*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.zerohedge.com/geopolitical/former-pentagon-advi-</u> <u>sor-says-us-likely-attacked-nord-stream-pipelines-isolate-germany</u>

K.R. Brock. Nearly half of the country now has serious doubts about the FBI. Here's why. *The Hill*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://thehill.com/opinion/criminal-justice/3671392-nearly-half-of-the-country-now-has-serious-doubts-about-the-fbi-heres-why/</u>

P. Escobar. Who profits from pipeline terror? *The Cradle*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://thecradle.co/</u> <u>Article/Columns/16307</u>

D. Beth Solomon. Pegasus spyware attacks in Mexico continued under Lopez Obrador, report says. *Re-uters*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/pegasus-spyware-attacks-mexi-co-continued-under-lopez-obrador-report-2022-10-03/</u>

Spy games. Dawn, October 2, 2022. URL: https://www.dawn.com/news/1713067/spy-games

T. Durden. Blinken calls sabotage attacks on Nord Stream pipelines a 'tremendous opportunity'. *Ze-roHedge*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.zerohedge.com/geopolitical/blinken-calls-sabotage-at-tacks-nord-stream-pipelines-tremendous-opportunity</u>

Nord Stream rupture may mark biggest single methane release ever recorded, UN says. *Reuters*, October 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/nord-stream-rupture-may-mark-biggest-single-meth-ane-release-ever-recorded-un-2022-09-30/</u>

F. Potkin, T. Allard, K. Lamb, C. Bing. Senior Indonesian officials targeted by spyware last year – sources. *Reuters,* September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/exclusive-senior-indone-sian-officials-targeted-by-spyware-last-year-sources-2022-09-30/</u>

J. Cordell, G. Faulconbridge. Russian spy chief: West was behind sabotage of Nord Stream. Reuters. *Reuters*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/russias-spy-chief-says-moscow-has-evidence-west-behind-sabotage-nord-stream-2022-09-30/</u>

Kremlin says Nord Stream attacks look like state-sponsored 'terrorism'. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 29, 2022. URL:<u>https://www.jpost.com/international/article-718452</u>

T. Durden. Germany believes high explosive devices equivalent to '500 kilograms of TNT' used to destroy the Nord Stream. *ZeroHedge*, September 29, 2922. URL: <u>https://www.zerohedge.com/geopolitical/another-nord-stream-leak-detected-swedish-coastguard-says</u>

4th leak reported on Nord Stream pipelines in Baltic Sea. *Associated Press*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://apnews.com/article/russia-ukraine-business-sweden-baltic-sea-a03cc4816da6c1ddb401119ff-d5a8f93</u>

J. Hoft. Analysis: Nord Stream pipelines sabotaged, and only one country benefits. *The Gateway Pundit*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.thegatewaypundit.com/2022/09/analysis-nord-stream-pipe-</u> <u>lines-sabotaged-one-country-benefits/</u>

M. Thomas, R. Plummer. Nord Stream: Ukraine accuses Russia of pipeline terror attack. *BBC*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-63044747</u>

K. Bennhold, D.E. Sanger. Sabotaged pipelines and a mystery: who did it? (Was it Russia?) *The New York Times*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2022/09/28/world/europe/pipeline-sabo-tage-mystery-russia.html?</u>

M. Galeotti. The Nord Stream blasts are Putin's warning shot to the West. The Spectator, September 28,

2022. URL: <u>https://www.spectator.co.uk/article/the-nord-stream-blasts-are-putin-s-warning-shot-to-the-west</u>

C. Widdershoven. European energy security faces new risks with Nord Stream explosions. *Oilprice*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://oilprice.com/Geopolitics/Europe/European-Energy-Security-Faces-New-Risks-With-Nord-Stream-Explosions.html?</u>

CIA warned Berlin about possible attacks on gas pipelines in summer –Spiegel. *Reuters*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/cia-warned-berlin-about-possible-attacks-gas-pipelines-summer-spiegel-2022-09-27/</u>

Blasts occurred near Nord Stream gas leaks, several seismologists confirm. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/international/article-718255</u>

D. Boffey. Jamal Khashoggi's wife to sue NSO Group over Pegasus spyware. *The Guardian*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/22/jamal-khashoggis-wife-to-sue-nso-group-over-pegasus-spyware</u>

E. Fabian. IDF intel chief: were it not for Hezbollah, Lebanon would normalize ties with Israel. *The Times of Israel*, September 13, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/military-intel-chief-without-hezbol-lah-lebanon-would-normalize-ties-with-israel/?</u>

11. Cyber Operations

11.1. Cyber Crime

R. Dudley, D. Golden. Ransomware hunters: the self-taught tech geniuses fighting cybercrime. *The Guard-ian*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2022/oct/04/ransomware-hunt-ers-the-self-taught-tech-geniuses-fighting-cybercrime</u>

R. Satter, C. Bing. Suspected hackers tampered with widely used customer chat program, researchers said. *Reuters*, October 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/technology/exclusive-suspected-chinese-hack-ers-tampered-with-widely-used-canadian-chat-2022-09-30/</u>

L. Abrams. Leaked LockBit 3.0 builder used by 'Bloody' ransomware gang in attacks. *Bleeping Computer*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.bleepingcomputer.com/news/security/leaked-lockbit-30-builder-used-by-bl00dy-ransomware-gang-in-attacks/</u>

T. Durden. Ross 'Silk Road' Ulbright: facing life in prison, Bitcoin's resilience inspires me. *ZeroHedge*, October 4, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.zerohedge.com/crypto/ross-silk-road-ulbricht-facing-life-prison-bitcoins-resilience-inspires-me</u>

C. Page. Hackers leak 500gb trove of data stolen during LAUSD ransomware attack. *Tech Crunch*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://techcrunch.com/2022/10/03/los-angeles-school-district-ransomware-data/?</u>

P. Abrar. Algo rhythm: over 14 million cyber-attacks blocked daily, says report. *Business Standard*, October 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.business-standard.com/article/technology/algo-rhythm-over-14-million-cyber-attacks-blocked-daily-says-report-122100200553_1.html</u>

Ransomware operator claims – week 39, 2022. *Data Breaches Digest*, October 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dbdigest.com/2022/10/ransomware-operator-claims-week-39-2022.html</u>

R. Waters. Optus cyber attack exposes 2.8 million to identity theft. *Cyber Careers*, September 29, 2022. URL:<u>https://t.co/lWm4SWsdnV</u>

Defense giant Elbit confirms data breach after ransomware gang claims hack. *OODA Loop*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.oodaloop.com/briefs/2022/09/28/defense-giant-elbit-confirms-data-breach-after-</u>

ransomware-gang-claims-hack/

Alleged Optus hacker apologizes, deletes customers' exposed data. *OODA Loop*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.oodaloop.com/briefs/2022/09/28/alleged-optus-hacker-apologizes-deletes-customers-ex-posed-data/</u>

B. Talintyre. Optus hacker releases more than 10,000 private records and holds the company to ransom by demanding it to pay \$1.5 million. *Daily Mail Online*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11252383/Optus-hacker-releases-10-000-private-records.html</u>

Z. Zorz. To encrypt or to destroy? Ransomware affiliates plan to try the latter. *HelpNetSecurity*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.helpnetsecurity.com/2022/09/26/ransomware-data-destruction/?</u>

A. Marsden. Anonymous launches hacking operation against Iran following Amini's death. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/middle-east/iran-news/article-717995</u>

Alleged cyber commander of Iran's Revolutionary Guard named by opposition outlet. *The Times of Israel*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/alleged-cyber-commander-of-irans-revolution-ary-guard-named-by-opposition-outlet/</u>

A. Mascellino. North Korean Lazarus group hacked energy providers worldwide. Info *Security Magazine*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.infosecurity-magazine.com/news/lazarus-group-hacked-ener-gy?utm_source=twitterfeed&utm_medium=twitter</u>

US seizes \$30 mln in crypto from North Korea-linked hackers. *Reuters*, September 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/technology/us-seizes-30-mln-crypto-north-korea-linked-hackers-2022-09-08/</u>

J. Speed Meyers. A recent Chinese hack is a wake-up call for the security of world's software supply chain. *The Diplomat*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://buff.ly/3x34mNo?</u>

S. Liberatore. Hackers are hiding malware in a James Webb Telescope image of ancient galaxy: email includes photo with a malicious code that extracts personal data from computers – and it cannot be detected by antivirus software. *Daily Mail Online*, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/sciencetech/article-11186773/Hackers-hiding-malware-James-Webb-Telescope-image-ancient-galaxy.html</u>

M. Bakash. White House attribute attack on Albania's critical infrastructure to Iran. *NextGov*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nextgov.com/cybersecurity/2022/09/white-house-attributes-attack-albanias-criti-cal-infrastructure-iran/376800/</u>

Albania cuts tie with Iran amid cyber attack allegations. *Deutsche Welle*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/albania-cuts-ties-with-iran-amid-cyberattack-allegations/a-63043309</u>

M. Hong. Cyber scam victim says CCP Belt and Road developers are international human trafficking syndicates based in Cambodia. *The Epoch Times*, September 2, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theepochtimes.com/cyberscam-victim-says-ccp-belt-and-road-developers-are-international-human-trafficking-syndicates-based-in-cambodia_4701278.html?</u>

11.2. Cyber Warfare & Espionage

J. Delcker. Critical cyber security infrastructure: how can countries protect themselves against cyber attacks? *Deutsche Welle*, September 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/critical-cybersecurity-infrastructure-how-can-countries-protect-themselves-against-cyberattacks/a-63295176</u>

R. Waters. Ukraine warns Russia plans to escalate cyber attacks. *Cyber Careers*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.cybercareers.blog/2022/09/ukraine-warns-russia-plans-to-escalate-cyberattacks/</u>

R. Waters. Taiwan preparing for possible cyber war with China. Cyber Careers, September 27, 2022. URL:

https://www.cybercareers.blog/2022/09/taiwan-preparing-for-possible-cyber-war-with-china/

J. Forsyth. Will cyber war be next? *The Spectator*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.spectator.co.uk/</u><u>article/will-cyberwar-be-next-</u>

Israel: cyber war with Iran is unparalleled. *Asharq al Awsat*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aaw-sat.com/home/article/3897646/israel-cyber-war-iran-unparalleled</u>

Iranian IRGC-affiliated Fars News hacked by Israeli group - report. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/breaking-news/article-718164</u>

Iran targeted by apparent cyber attack as protests rage over woman's death in custody. *The Times of Israel,* September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-targeted-by-apparent-cyberattack-as-pro-tests-rage-over-womans-death-in-custody/</u>

E. Fabian. IDF official says military foiled 'dozens' of Iran cyber attacks on civilian sites. *The Times of Israel,* September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-official-says-military-foiled-dozens-of-iran-cyberattacks-on-civilian-sites/</u>

Y. Jeremy Bob. The West is strangling Israel's cyber forces for fighting enemies –Shaked. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/israel-news/article-716948</u>

NATO condemns cyber attack on Albania amid diplomatic row with Tehran. Asharq al-Awsat, September 9, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3864151/nato-condemns-cyberattack-albania-amid-diplomatic-row-tehran</u>

L.C. Williams. Army updates cyber training after some graduates weren't ready for their jobs. *NextGov*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.nextgov.com/cybersecurity/2022/09/army-updates-cyber-training-after-some-graduates-werent-ready-their-jobs/376796/</u>

J. Bergman. China threatens to destroy Elon Musk's Starlink. *Gatestone Institute*, August 30, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.gatestoneinstitute.org/18793/china-threatens-starlink</u>

11.3. Internet Regulation, Censorship, Removal of Harmful Content

M. Binder. Facebook 'influence operations' run by Russia and China were shut down by Meta. *Mashable*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://mashable.com/article/meta-shut-down-influence-operations-russia-china?</u>

Meta had 'adverse human rights impact' during Israeli bombing of Gaza, report finds. *The New Arab*, September 24, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/meta-had-adverse-human-rights-impact-during-gaza-conflict</u>

Iran in new Internet crackdown to thwart protesters. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 23, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3891366/iran-new-internet-crackdown-thwart-protesters</u>

W. Strzyzynska. Iran blocks capital's internet access as Amini protests grow. *The Guardian*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/22/iran-blocks-capitals-internet-access-as-amini-protests-grow</u>

J. Sharon. Meta says it failed to adequately remove hate, incitement during May 2021 conflict. *The Times of Israel*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/meta-failed-to-adequately-remove-hate-incitement-during-may-2021-conflict-report/</u>

S. Biddle. Facebook report concludes company censorship violated Palestinian human rights. *The Intercept*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://theintercept.com/2022/09/21/facebook-censorship-palestine-israel-algo-rithm/</u>

J. Sharon. Israel police chief calls for 'shutting down' social media during civil unrest. *The Times of Israel*, September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/israel-police-chief-calls-for-shutting-down-so-cial-media-during-civil-unrest/</u>

A. Makoii. Taliban say they want to ban Tik Tok 'because it promotes violence'... despite their own fighters using the app to share videos of their executions. *Daily Mail Online*, September 21, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11234743/Taliban-say-want-ban-TikTok-promotes-violence.html</u>

M. Burgess. How TOR is fighting – and beating- Russian censorship. *ARS Technica*, July 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://arstechnica.com/information-technology/2022/07/how-tor-is-fighting-and-beating-russian-censor-ship/?</u>

11.4. Strategic Communication, Information Warfare, Influence Operations, Psyops

M. Harrison. US military annoyed when Facebook end Twitter removed its psyop bots. *Futurism*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://futurism.com/the-byte/us-military-social-psyop-bots</u>

F. Flade. Neue Lügen und alte Strategien. *Jih@d*, August 30,2022. URL: <u>https://ojihad.wordpress.</u> <u>com/2022/08/30/neue-lugen-und-alte-strategien/</u>

R. Lakshmanan. Hackers aid protests against government with proxies, leaks and hacks. *The Hacker News*, September 29, 2022. URL: <u>https://thehackernews.com/2022/09/hackers-aid-protests-against-iranian.html?</u>

J. Torrence, Review of J. Forest, Digital Influence Warfare in the Age of Social Media. *Journal of Strategic Security* 15, no. 3 (2022), p. 127-130. URL: <u>https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/jss/vol15/iss3/8/</u>

K. Paul. Meta says removes China-based propaganda operation targeting US midterms. *Reuters*, September 27, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/business/media-telecom/meta-says-removes-china-based-propa-ganda-operation-targeting-us-midterms-2022-09-27/</u>

C. Walton. What's old is new again: Cold War lessons for countering disinformation. *Texas National Security Review*, Fall 2022. URL: <u>https://tnsr.org/2022/09/whats-old-is-new-again-cold-war-lessons-for-countering-disinformation/</u>

E. Nakashima. Pentagon opens review of clandestine psychological operations. *Washington Post*, September19, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/2022/09/19/pentagon-psychologi-cal-operations-facebook-twitter/</u>

Xinjiang lockdown: Chinese censors drown out posts about food and medical shortages. *The Guardian*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/sep/12/xinjiang-lockdown-chinese-censors-drown-out-posts-about-food-and-medicine-shortages</u>

Y. Jeremy Bob. Online terror is Israeli democracy's most complex threat – Shin Bet chief. *The Jerusalem Post*, September 11, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.jpost.com/israel-news/article-716892</u>

US State Department issues report on China's 'efforts to manipulate' public opinion on Xinjiang. *The New Arab*, August 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/us-issues-report-chinas-reporting-xinjiang</u>

12. Risk and Threat Assessments, Forecasts and Analytic Studies

12.1. Analytical Studies

M. Gallagher. At the edges of terror: an assessment of the role of lone wolf terrorists, terrorist group participants and organized criminals in contemporary terrorism. Doctoral thesis, Lancaster University, 2021, 188 pp. URL: <u>http://www.research.lancs.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/at-the-edges-of-terror(9abb9624-75f8-40d6-ab23-51eebb5bbde6).html</u> J. Conrad, W. Spaniel. Militant competition. How terrorists and insurgents advertise with violence and how they can be stopped. *Cambridge University Press*, September 2021. URL: <u>https://www.cambridge.org/</u> <u>core/books/militant-competition/F8B8853DBFB47F3E3FCCAD8C65451566</u>

E. Mudgett. Extreme ideologies, situational factors, and terrorists' target selection. Thesis, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, May 2022. URL: <u>https://scholarworks.uark.edu/etd/3660/</u>

G.A. Ackerman, M. Burnham. Towards a definition of terrorist ideology. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 33(6), 2021, pp. 1160-1190. URL: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09546553.2019.1599862</u>

J. Davis, A. Wilner. Paying terrorist ransoms: frayed consensus, uneven outcomes & undue harm. *International Journal: Canada's Journal of Global Policy Analysis*, September 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://newsletter.</u> <u>insightthreatintel.com/p/paying-terrorist-ransoms-frayed-consensus</u>

E. Bakker, J. de Roy van Zuijdewijn. Terrorism and counterterrorism studies. Comparing theory and practice. (2nd revised edition). *Leiden University Press*, 2022, 262 pp. URL: <u>https://www.lup.nl/publications/</u><u>political-science/terrorism-studies/terrorism-and-counterterrorism-studies-2nd-edition/</u>

R. Gunaratna (Eds.) Handbook of Terrorism in the Middle East. *World Scientific*, August 2022, 332 pp. URL: <u>https://www.worldscientific.com/worldscibooks/10.1142/12861?fbclid=IwAR2sbT4fOAnUO2RJzW-w6rBcceHtdC1QG4A8gwTGtV5e_jwehWXg_YDc5aUc - t=aboutBook</u>

B. M. Jenkins. Plagues and their aftermath: how societies recover from pandemics. Melville House, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.amazon.nl/Plagues-Their-Aftermath-Societies-Pandemics-ebook/dp/</u>

T.L. Bacon, E. Grimm. Terror in transition. Leadership and succession in terrorist organizations. 2022, 312 pp. URL: <u>https://www.amazon.com/Terror-Transition-Leadership-Succession-Organizations/</u><u>dp/0231192258</u>

W. Verkoren. Uit de terreurspiraal: een nieuw perspectief op terrorisme. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.bol.com/</u>nl/nl/f/uit-de-terreurspiraal/9300000041346810/

K. Bauer, M. Levitt. Funding in place: local financing trends behind today's global terrorist threats. The Hague: *ICCT*, November 25, 2022. URL: <u>https://icct.nl/publication/funding-in-place-local-financing-trends-behind-todays-global-terrorist-threat/?</u>

M. Moody-Adams. Making space for justice: social movements, collective imagination and political hope. 2022, 360p. URL: <u>https://cup.columbia.edu/book/making-space-for-justice/9780231201377</u>

12.2. Terrorism-related Databases

S. Buchanan-Clarke, S. Nkomo. Violent extremism in Africa. Citizen perspectives from the Sahel epicenter and periphery. *Afrobarometer Policy Paper*, #74, July 2021. URL: <u>https://www.afrobarometer.org/wp-con-tent/uploads/migrated/files/publications/Policy papers/pp74-violent extremism in and near the sa-hel-afrobarometer-7july21.pdf</u>

CSIS collective violence early warning dataset (CVEW). URL: https://violence.csis.or.id/

A. Satria. Collective violence in Indonesia: trending upward. *Benar News*, June 21, 202. URL: <u>https://www.benarnews.org/english/commentaries/collective-violence-06212022170653.html</u>

SIPRI Yearbook 2022. Armaments, disarmament and international security. Summary. *SIPRI*, 2022. URL: <u>https://sipri.org/sites/default/files/2022-06/yb22_summary_en_v2.pdf?fbclid=IwAR3Qvh9PRgnuZ0fKZp-b3u-LMEg2VE-XIJxw84DnycmDlPbBNJNKjPZlU3Us</u>

Explosive violence in July 2022. *AOAV*, August 10, 2022. URL: <u>https://aoav.org.uk/2022/explosive-vio-lence-in-july-2022/</u>

S. Kushi, M. Duffy Toft. Introducing the Military Intervention Project: a new dataset on US military interventions, 1779-2009. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, August 8, 2022. URL: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/eprint/NSBIKPXYGT4U3VRBTPMM/full</u>

N. Turse. Report: post-9/11 era one of the most militarily aggressive in US history. *Responsible Statecraft*, August 10, 2022. URL: <u>https://responsiblestatecraft.org/2022/08/10/report-post-9-11-era-one-of-the-most-militarily-aggressive-in-us-history/</u>

SIPRI map of multilateral peace operations, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.sipri.org/publications/2022/si-pri-map-multilateral-peace-operations-2022?</u>

Fragile states index 2022. *Fund for Peace*, 2022. URL: <u>https://fragilestatesindex.org/wp-content/up-loads/2022/07/22-FSI-Report-Final.pdf</u>

12.3. Special and National Threat Assessments / Warnings & Alerts

Crisis update: Papua New Guinea. *ACAPS*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.acaps.org/country/pap-ua-new-guinea/crisis/highlands-violence</u>

C. Pleasance. Are Britain's North Sea gas lines next? Europe' must brace for 'previously unimaginable threats' to pipes, rigs and undersea cables after Nord Stream was blown up in suspected Russian attack. *Daily Mail Online*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11259295/</u><u>Nord-Stream-attack-European-infrastructure-risk-experts-warn.html</u>

Monthly risk bulletin issued: August 2022. *START Network*, 2022. URL: <u>https://startnetwork.org/resource/</u><u>monthly-risk-bulletin-issued-august-2022</u>

UN chief warns of 'winter of discontent' as war and climate worsen. *Asharq al-Awsat*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3885656/un-chief-warns-'winter-discontent'-war-and-climate-worsen</u>

B. Badré, Y. Tiberghien. Navigating a world in shock. *Project Syndicate*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/global-governance-after-geopolitical-economic-climate-break-down-by-bertrand-badre-and-yves-tiberghien-1-2022-09?</u>

R. Reyes. Number of fugitives on terror watchlist apprehended at border soars 400% - with experts warning extremists may already be in America plotting a major attack. *Daily Mail Online*, September 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11231879/Number-migrants-terror-watch-list-apprehended-year-400-year.html</u>

C. Hartman. The United States of fragility. *The Hill*, September 18, 2022. URL: <u>https://thehill.com/opinion/</u> <u>campaign/3648521-the-united-states-of-fragility/</u>

E. Fabian. Shin Bet chief wans Israel's internal strife is a shot in the arm for terrorism. *The Times of Israel*, September 12, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.timesofisrael.com/shin-bet-chief-warns-israels-internal-strife-is-a-shot-in-the-arm-for-terrorism/</u>

Young professionals Briefing Series: the threat of terror at home and abroad. Council on Foreign Relations, September 6, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.cfr.org/event/young-professionals-briefing-series-threat-terror-home-and-abroad?</u>

J. Newman. NATO chief warns of 'civil unrest' sparked by energy cuts and the price of living crisis as Putin's invasion continues – but says it is vital the West stands with Ukraine. *Daily Mail Online*, September 7, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11189015/NATO-chief-warns-civil-unrest-sparkedenergy-cuts-price-living-crisis.html</u>

Crisis Watch. Tracking conflict worldwide. ICG, September 2022. URL: https://www.crisisgroup.org/cri-

siswatch/september-alerts-and-august-trends-2022

D. Mackinnon. The pending collapse of the United States of Political Correctness. *The Hill*, September 3, 2022. URL: <u>https://thehill.com/opinion/white-house/3625839-the-pending-collapse-of-the-united-states-of-political-correctness/</u>

R2P Monitor, Issue 62, September 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.globalr2p.org/publications/r2p-monitor-is-sue-62-1-september-2022/</u>

12.4. Forecasts and Trend Studies

Special report: the road to 2040. *Geopolitical Futures*, 2022. URL: <u>https://geopoliticalfutures.com/product/geopolitical-futures-discounted-annual-subscription/?</u>

M. Schieritz. Wo bleibt die Forschung abseits des Mainstreams? *Die Zeit*, September 28, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.navalnews.com/naval-news/2022/09/sweden-increases-investment-in-underwater-signa-ture-ranges/</u>

START Network launches 2021 annual report – making progress on systems change. August 10, 2022. URL: <u>https://startnetwork.org/news-and-blogs/start-network-launches-2021-annual-report-making-prog-ress-systems-change</u>

START Network. A new era of humanitarian action. URL: <u>https://startnetwork.org/</u>

Watch Now: The future of the world: forecasting and the US Intelligence Community with Morgan Muir. *Perry World House*, September 27, 2021. URL: <u>https://global.upenn.edu/perryworldhouse/news/</u>watch-now-future-world-forecasting-and-us-intelligence-community-morgan-muir

S. Glover. The big idea: can you learn to predict the future? *The Guardian*, September 26, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/books/2022/sep/26/the-big-idea-can-you-learn-to-predict-the-future</u>

Here's what the world would look like in 2030...right? *WIRED*, January 1, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.wired.</u> <u>com/story/heres-what-the-world-will-look-like-in-2030-right/?</u>

Software developers aspire to forecast who will win a battle. *The Economist*, July 22, 2022. URL: <u>https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/2022/07/20/software-developers-aspire-to-forecast-who-will-win-a-battle?</u>

13. Also Worth to Read/Listen and Watch

S. Poloz. The next age of uncertainty. *Allan Lane*, 2022, 304p. URL: <u>https://www.amazon.com/</u><u>Next-Age-Uncertainty-Riskier-Future/dp/0735243905</u>

M.L. Tupy, G.L. Pooley. Superabundance. The story of population growth, innovation, and human flourishing on an infinitely beautiful planet. *Cato Institute*, 2022, 580p. URL: <u>https://www.amazon.com/Super-abundance-Population-Innovation-Flourishing-Infinitely/dp/1952223393</u>

J. Oberg. From warfare to peacefare economic thinking. *The Transnational*, August 20, 2022. URL: <u>https://transnational.live/2022/08/20/from-warfare-to-peacefare-economic-thinking/?</u>

About the Compiler: Berto Jongman is Associate Editor of 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. He is a former senior Military Intelligence Analyst and currently serves as an International Consultant on CBRN issues. A sociologist by training, he previously worked for Swedish and Dutch civilian research institutes. Drs. Jongman was the recipient of the Golden Candle Award for his World Conflict & Human Rights Maps, published by PIOOM. He is editor of the volume 'Contemporary Genocides' (1996) and has also contributed to various editions of 'Political Terrorism', the award-winning handbook of terrorism research edited by Alex P. Schmid.

40 Full-Text Academic Theses (Ph.D. and M.A.) on Terrorism in War and Terrorist Warfare Tactics, written in English between 2007 and 2022

Compiled and selected by Broderick McDonald

Abstract

This bibliography contains Ph.D. Dissertations (Ph.D.) and Master theses (M.A.) on terrorism in war and terrorist warfare tactics. Titles were retrieved manually by searching the Open Access Theses and Dissertations Database (OATD), using various combinations of search terms, including – but not limited to – 'Terrorism in War', 'Terrorism and Armed Conflict', 'Terrorism', 'Civil War', 'Insurgency', and 'Warfare Tactics'. More than 500 entries were evaluated, of which 40 were ultimately selected for this list. All theses are open source. However, readers accessing them should observe possible copyright restrictions. The title entries below are hyperlinked, or 'clickable', allowing access to full texts.

Keywords: armed conflict, civil war, humanitarian law, insurgency, terrorism, warfare tactics.

Agom-Eze, Chinelo N. "Framing the Boko Haram Insurgency: An Assessment of Applicable Domestic and International Laws and Criminal Responsibility of Insurgents." 2021. Ph.D. Dissertation, Anglia Ruskin University. URL: <u>https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.852250</u>.

Ahlberg, Jonatan. "The Islamic State's Ambiguous Warfare." 2020. M.A. Thesis, Swedish Defence University. URL: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:fhs:diva-9263</u>.

Anc, Monica Julia. "To Follow or to Lead? The Impact of Violence and U.S. Troop Presence in Iraq." 2014. M.A. Thesis, Northeastern University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2047/d20004949</u>

Anjide, Solomon. "The Behaviour and Evolution of Boko Haram: A Multi-Level Analysis." 2019. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Lincoln. URL: <u>https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.771098</u>

Babere, Erasto S. "The ADF Insurgency Network in the eastern Democratic Republic of the Congo: Spillover effects into Tanzania?" 2014. M.A. Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/42619</u>

Barria Issa, Cesar A. "The use of terrorism by drug trafficking organizations' paramilitary groups in Mexico." 2010. M.A. Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/5048</u>

Buril Almeida, Fernanda. "Fear Not, for He Is with You – How Perception of God's Approval Influences Believers' Risk Attitude Towards War and Terrorism." 2018. Ph.D. Dissertation, Washington State University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2376/16345</u>

Chalermsripinyorat, Rungrawee. "Jihad for Patani: Islam and BRN's Separatist Struggle in Southern Thailand." 2021. Ph.D. Dissertation, Australian Catholic University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1885/236932</u>

Chelin, Richard Phillipe. "From Need to Greed through Creed: The Transformation of Al Qaeda Terrorism in the Islamic Maghreb and the Sahel." 2015. M.A. Thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10413/13400</u>

Dahabreh, Peter Cephas. "The International Tribunal for the Prosecution of Foreign Fighters Responsible for Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law and International Human Rights Law Committed in the Territory of the Syrian Arab Republic Since 2011." 2019. Thesis, Harvard University. URL: https://dash.harvard.edu/handle/1/42004137

Del Villar, Erika Mae Lorenzana. "Terror as a Social Movement Tactic: Applying the Multi-Institutional

Politics Approach to the Case of the Abu Sayyaf Group." 2013. M.A. Thesis, University of Connecticut. URL: <u>https://opencommons.uconn.edu/gs_theses/513</u>

Dowd, Caitriona. "The Emergence of Violent Islamist Groups: Branding, scale and the conflict marketplace in sub-Saharan Africa." 2016. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Sussex. URL: <u>https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.698692</u>

Dutkiewicz, Erik Leigh. "Examining the laws of war and the necessity of evolving legal principles to counter terrorism." 2009. M.A. Thesis, The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga. URL: <u>https://scholar.utc.edu/theses/183/</u>

Ellingsen, Simen Andreas. "Nuclear Terrorism and Rational Choice." 2009. Ph.D. Dissertation, King's College London. URL: <u>http://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.533823</u>

Fullmer, Nyssa Marie. "Women of Terror: The Lethality of Female Suicide Bombers." 2018. M.A. Thesis, California State University System. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10211.3/202957</u>

Fourman, Jeffrey F. "When Insurgents Go Terrorist: The Role of Foreign Support in the Adoption of Terrorism." 2014. M.A. Thesis, Wright State University. URL: <u>http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=wright1399546682</u>

Gifford, Andrew George Cameron. "Humanitarian directed violence in Afghanistan: neutrality and humanitarian space." 2007. M.A. Thesis, Massey University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10179/582</u>

Goss, Joshua Daniel. "Suicide Terrorism: Understanding the Mindset and Motives." 2013. M.A Thesis, Encompass Digital Archive, Eastern Kentucky University. URL: <u>https://encompass.eku.edu/etd/173</u>

Grisham, Kevin Edward. "Guerrillas Today, What Tomorrow: Transformation of Guerrilla Movements." 2009. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of California – Riverside. URL: <u>http://www.escholarship.org/uc/</u><u>item/1278x05b</u>.

Hasty, Nicholas. "On the Determinants of Internal Armed Conflict." 2015. M.A. Thesis, Iowa State University. URL: <u>https://dr.lib.iastate.edu/handle/20.500.12876/29016</u>.

Heeg, Jason. "Insurgency and Counterinsurgency in Peru, 1962-1966." 2020. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Cambridge. URL: <u>https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&c-d=&ved=2ahUKEwix34Xnn7z5AhUHQEEAHdVeAaYQFnoECAcQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.repository.cam.ac.uk%2Fbitstream%2Fhandle%2F1810%2F312932%2FHeeg_dissertation_20201101%-2520for%2520eSubmission.pdf%3Fsequence%3D2&usg=AOvVaw3R2jjGqfnoXOZT7LssRpmX</u>

Kasnazany, Taib. "The Adaptation of International Law to New Generations of International Conflicts and Changes in International Policy in Response and Fight Against the International Terrorism." 2020. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Huddersfield. URL: <u>http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/35179/1/FINAL%20</u> <u>THESIS%20-%20Kasnazany.pdf</u>

Kleinhans, Tiffany A. "Guerrilla Warfare and Terrorism: The Distinctions Between Them and Their Implications in the War on Terror and Beyond." 2016. M.A. Thesis, University of Nevada – Reno. URL: <u>http://</u> <u>hdl.handle.net/11714/3313</u>

Lee, Christy L. "Posturing for Prevention: Extended Claim on the Use of Force Against the Threats of Nuclear Terrorism." 2017. M.A. Thesis, Harvard University. URL: <u>http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.In-stRepos:33826994</u>

Lins de Albuquerque, Adriana. "Violent or Nonviolent Means to Political Ends: What Accounts for Variation in Tactics Among Dissident Organizations Targeting Domestic Governments?." 2014. Ph.D. Dissertation, Columbia University. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.7916/D8BR8QCC</u>

Liu, Chifeng. "Essays on Battle Clusters in Internal Armed Conflicts and Insurgencies: Concept, Causes

and Consequences." 2014. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of South Carolina. URL: <u>https://scholarcommons.</u> <u>sc.edu/etd/3030</u>

Meszaros, Elise A. "The Afghan Taliban: Evolution of an Adaptive Insurgency." 2019. M.A. Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/62833</u>

Moore, Matthew Michael. "Sparks on Kindling: Terrorism's Role in Civil War Onset, Recurrence, and Escalation." 2011. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Missouri – Columbia. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.</u> <u>net/10355/14441</u>

Mortaza, Shams. "Islamic Law of Warfare and the Question of Suicide Terrorism: An Usuli Twelver Shia Perspective." 2016. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Waikato. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10289/10629</u>

Mroszczyk, Joseph. "Dying for a Reason: An Empirical Assessment of the Tactical Utility of Suicide Operations." 2018. Ph.D. Dissertation, Northeastern University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2047/D20316400</u>

Padgett, James N. "Analysis of Non-Conventional Radiological Terrorism." 2022. M.A. Thesis, Virginia Commonwealth University. URL: <u>https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/7120</u>

Phelan, Alexandra Rachel. "Paving the way to legitimacy in insurgency: the process of 'legitimation' and government response to FARC in Colombia." 2019. Ph.D. Dissertation, Monash University. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.26180/5c5b5d545f43b</u>

Renaud, Sean. "A View from Chechnya: An Assessment of Russian Counterinsurgency during the two Chechen wars and future implications." 2010. M.A. Thesis, Massey University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10179/1804</u>

Ryckman, Michael. "Civil war, Terrorism, and the Substitutability of Violence." 2011. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Arizona. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10150/202533</u>

Såma, Kader. "A New Era of Terror: An Investigation of Non-International Armed Conflict and the Islamic State's Transnational Crusade for World Domination." 2016. M.A. Thesis, Uppsala University. URL: <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-272513</u>

Sumner, Dianne Leigh. "Success of Terrorism in War: The Case of Chechnya." 1998. M.A. Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10945/9039</u>

Vieira, III, Everett Albert. "Terror in the Highlands: Communicative Violence and Sendero Luminoso." 2018. Ph.D. Dissertation, Temple University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12613/3753</u>

Ward, Megan. "Exploratory Analysis of Cultural Factors and the Impact they may have on Terrorist Views about CBRN Weapons." 2014. M.A. Thesis, George Mason University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1920/9175</u>

Williams, Jonathan. "Incumbent Violence and Insurgent Tactics: The Effects of Incumbent Violence on Popular Support for Guerrilla Warfare and Terrorism." 2013. M.A. Thesis, University of Central Florida. URL: <u>https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/2928</u>

Wood, Asmi John. "Regulation of the use of force by Islamist non-state actors: using law to regulate such use of force." 2011. Ph.D. Dissertation, Australian Catholic University. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1885/111480</u>

About the Compiler: Broderick McDonald is a Ph.D. student at St Catherine's College (University of Oxford) and Assistant Editor for Theses of Perspectives on Terrorism.

Conference Monitor/Calendar of Events (October 2022 and beyond)

Compiled by Méryl Demuynck

The Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI), in its mission to provide a platform for academics and practitioners in the field of terrorism and counter-terrorism, compiles an online calendar, listing recent and upcoming academic and professional conferences, symposia and similar events that are directly or indirectly relevant to the readers of Perspectives on Terrorism. The calendar includes academic and (inter-) governmental conferences, professional expert meetings, civil society events and educational programs organised between October and December 2022 (with a few shortly thereafter). The listed events are organised by a wide variety of governmental and non-governmental institutions, including several key (counter) terrorism research centres and institutes listed in the February 2021 issue of this journal.

We encourage readers to contact the journal's Associate Editor for Conference Monitoring, Méryl Demuynck, and provide her with relevant information, preferably in the same format as the items listed below. Méryl Demuynck can be reached at <<u>m.demuynck@icct.nl</u>> or via Twitter: <u>@demuynckmer</u>.

October 2022

De Afghanske Tolke: Risikofaktorer, Beskyttelsesbehov og Genbosætning (The Afghan Interpreters: Risk Factors, Protection Needs and Resettlement) [in Danish]

Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS), Hybrid 3 October, Copenhagen, Denmark Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@diisd</u>

Understanding Radicalization from a Women, Peace and Security Perspective

Research Network on Women, Peace and Security (RN-WPS), Online 3 October, Montreal, Canada Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@rn_wps</u>

Autumn School on Hate Speech

United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute (UNICRI) and the Italian Society for International Organization (SIOI), Online 3-7 October, Turin, Italy Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@UNICRI</u> and <u>@SIOItweet</u>

ICPVTR Webinar Series on Bali Bombings' 20th Anniversary - Evolution of the Drivers of Radicalisation: Ideology, Gender Roles and the Online Space

International Center for Political Violence and Terrorism Research (ICPVTR), Online 4 October, *Singapore* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RSIS_NTU</u>

CENS Workshop on Extremism: Old Paradigms; New Frontiers

Centre of Excellence for National Security (CENS) 4-5 October, Singapore Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RSIS_NTU</u>

Beyond Militarism: The Importance of Whole-of-Society Partnerships to Effective PVE and CT

UN Women, OSCE Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (ODIHR), Geneva Centre for Security Sector Governance (DCAF), Online 5 October, New York, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @UN_Women, @osce_odihr, @DCAF_Geneva

Meddling or Helping? Foreign Actors in the Sahel

Italian Institute for International Political Studies (ISPI), Online 5 October, Milan, Italy Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ispionline</u>

Research Launch on Examining the Intersection between Gaming and Violent Extremism

United Nations Office of Counter-Terrorism (UNOCT), Online 5 October, New York, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@UN_OCT_</u>

Future of War Conference 2022

War Studies Research Centre (WSRC) of the Netherlands Defence Academy (NLDA) and the University of Oxford's Changing Character of War (CCW) Centre 5-7 October, Amsterdam, Netherlands Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@WarStudiesNLDA</u>, <u>@OxfordCCW</u>

The Sahel: Understanding the Security Challenges in the Wake of Covid-19 and Ukraine

Royal United Services Institute (RUSI), Online 6 October, London, United Kingdom Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RUSI_terrorism</u>

II Congreso Internacional Sobre Fenomenología Terrorista (II International Congress on the Terrorist Phenomenon) [in Spanish]

International Observatory for Terrorism Studies (OIET) 6-7 October, Valencia, Spain Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ OIET</u>_

Challenges Annual Forum 2022 The Future of Peace Operations

Challenges Forum International Secretariat (CFIS), and United Service Institution of India (USI) 6-7 October 2022, *New Delhi, India* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ChallengesForum</u>, <u>@USIofIndia</u>

An Armchair Discussion with Fawzia Koofi: Reflections on the Current State of Affairs in Afghanistan

Center for Strategic & International Studies (CSIS), Hybrid 7 October, Washington DC, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@CSIS</u>

The Imagine Forum: Reimagining Peace Processes

Höfði Reykjavík Peace Centre – University of Iceland, Hybrid 10 October, Reykjavík, Iceland Website: <u>visit</u> | Facebook: <u>Höfði Reykjavík Peace Centre</u>

Classless Politics: Islamist Movements, the Left, and Authoritarian Legacies in Egypt Belfer Centre for Science and International Affairs 11 October, Cambridge, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@BelferCenter</u>

CTF Online Symposium No. 11: Financing Extreme Right-Wing Volunteers in Ukraine *Project CRAAFT/Royal United Services Institute (RUSI) Europe, Online* 11 October, *Brussels, Belgium* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@projectcraaft, @RUSIEurope</u>

Emerging Trends and Developments in P/CVE: Anti-Authorities Narratives

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN), Online 11 October, Brussels, Belgium Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

Human Rights Law and Counterterrorism Strategies: Dead, Detained or Stateless

Center for Strategic & International Studies (CSIS), Online 11 October, Washington DC, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: @CSIS

ICPVTR Webinar Series on Bali Bombings' 20th Anniversary - Getting the Balance Right: "Hard" and "Soft" Approaches to Counter-Terrorism

International Center for Political Violence and Terrorism Research (ICPVTR), Online 11 October, *Singapore* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RSIS_NTU</u>

Spreading Hate: The Global Rise of White Supremacist Terrorism

International Centre for Counter-Terrorism (ICCT) and Egmont Institute, Online 11 October, The Hague, Netherlands Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ICCT_TheHague</u>, <u>@EgmontInstitute</u>

Iraq and its Ongoing Fight against ISIS: An Assessment

Institute for International & Strategic Studies (IISS) 12 October, London, United Kingdom Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@IISS_org</u>

The Psychology of War in the 21st Century: The History and Politics of Trauma, from 9/11 to Ukraine

Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS) 12-13 October, Copenhagen, Denmark Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@diisdk</u>

ADI Public Policy Forum - Twenty Years on from the Bali Bombings: Reflections on Two Decades of Transformative Challenges and Cooperation in Countering Terrorism

Alfred Deakin Institute for Citizenship and Globalisation (ADI), Hybrid 13 October, Melbourne, Australia Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@Deakin ADI</u>

Afghanistan Under the Taliban and its Regional Impact

Stimson Center, Online 13 October, Washington DC, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@StimsonCenter</u>

Dangerous Incentives: Challenges Facing Emerging Scholars of Far-Right

Center for Research on Extremism (C-REX), and Polarization and Extremism Research and Innovation Lab (PERIL), Online 13 October, Oslo, Norway Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@CrexUiO</u>, <u>@PERIL_AU</u>

Polarized and Polarizing Debates: How to Address Sensitive Topics in an Educational Context

Center for the Prevention of Radicalization leading to Violence (CPRLV), Online 13 October, *Montréal, Canada* Website: visit | Twitter: @info radical

What Happened to Women, Policing & Security in Afghanistan?

Monash Gender, Peace and Security (GPS) Centre, Online 13 October, Melbourne, Australia Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@GpsMonash</u>

EU Terrorism Situation and Trend Report (TE-SAT) 2022 - Methodology, Process and Findings

European Union Agency for Law Enforcement Training (CEPOL), and EUROPOL, Online 14 October, *Budapest, Hungary* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@EU_CEPOL</u>, <u>@Europol</u>

Back From Raqqa – The Prosecution of Returnees in Germany and France

Counter Extremism Project (CEP), Online 17 October, New York, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@FightExtremism</u>

Understanding the Opportunities and Constraints of EU Security Policy

Swedish Defence University, Online 17 October, Stockholm, Sweden Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@Forsvarshogsk</u>

Stability and Threat in the Middle East

International Center for Political Violence and Terrorism Research (ICPVTR) 18 October, *Singapore* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RSIS_NTU</u>

High-Level International Conference on International and Regional Border Security and Management Cooperation to Counter Terrorism and Prevent the Movement of Terrorists

Government of the Republic of Tajikistan, the United Nations Office of Counter-Terrorism (UNOCT), the United Nations Regional Centre for Preventive Diplomacy for Central Asia (UNRCCA), the Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE), the European Union (EU), the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and the State of Qatar 18-19 October, Dushanbe, Tajikistan Website: visit | Twitter: @UN_OCT

Terrorism Experts Conference (TEC) Combined with Executive Level - Defence Against Terrorism (DAT) Seminar 2022

Centre of Excellence Defence Against Terrorism (COE-DAT) 18-19 October, *Ankara, Turkey* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@NATO</u>

90th INTERPOL General Assembly

Interpol 18-21 October 2022, New Delhi, India Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@INTERPOL_HQ</u>

ICPVTR Webinar Series on Evolving Dynamics and Strategies in the Rehabilitation of Radical Extremists: Ideology and Psychology: Drivers of Radicalisation

International Center for Political Violence and Terrorism Research (ICPVTR), Online 19 October, Singapore Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RSIS_NTU</u>

Striking Back: The End of Peace in Cyberspace and How to Restore It

The Hague Program on International Cyber Security, Online 20 October, *The Hague, Netherlands* Website: visit | Twitter: @TheHagueProgram

Faces of Conflict: Security Challenges in a Changing World

JASON Institute for Peace and Security Studies 21 October, The Hague, Netherlands Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@JASONInstitute</u>

Cannes International Resilience Forum 2022

Cannes International Resilience Forum, Online 23-26 October, *Cannes, France* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@cirforum</u>

VOX-Pol Research Workshop: The Normalisation of Extremist Subculture

VOX-Pol Network of Excellence (NoE), Online 24 October, Dublin, Ireland Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@VOX_Pol</u>

Bargaining with the Taliban: Women, Peace and Security in Afghanistan

Australian Institute of International Affairs (AIIA), Hybrid 27 October, Melbourne, Australia Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@AIIANational</u>

Mere Desolation? On Daesh's Iconoclasm

Orient-Institut Beirut (OIB), Hybrid 27 October, Beirut, Lebanon Website: <u>visit</u> | Facebook: <u>OIB Orient-Institut Beirut</u>

ENVISION 2022: NCITE Annual Conference

National Counterterrorism Innovation, Technology, and Education Centre (NCITE) 27-28 October, *Omaha, United States* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@NCITE_COE</u>

The Cyber Operations Series: Understanding Offensive Cyber Operations *Royal United Services Institute (RUSI), Hybrid*

28 October, *London*, *United Kingdom* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RUSI_terrorism</u>

Special Meeting of the Counter-Terrorism Committee (CTC): Countering the Use of New and Emerging Technologies for Terrorist Purposes

United Nations Security Council Counter-Terrorism Committee (CTC) 28-29 October, Mumbai and New Delhi, India Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@UN_CTED</u>

RAN POL – Police Role and Contribution in the Multi-Agency Case Diagnosis of At-Risk Individuals Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) 31 October - 1 November, Rome, Italy

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

November 2022

Minors in Terrorist Organizations: Radicalization and Intervention

Norwegian Institute of International Affairs (NUPI) 1 November, Oslo, Norway Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@nupinytt</u>

Pandora's Box: Reflecting on 20 Years of Drone Targeted Killing

Drone Wars, Online 3 November, Shaftesbury, United Kingdom Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@Drone Wars UK</u>

Political Violence Across Ideological Categories

National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START), Online 3 November, College Park, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@START_umd</u>

CASIS 2022 Annual Symposium: Old Threats, New Theatres: Security and Intelligence in the Digital Age

Canadian Association for Security and Intelligence Studies (CASIS-ACERS), Hybrid 4 November, *Vancouver, Canada* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@CASIS ACERS</u>

Annual Conference 2022: Global Power Politics, Counter-Terrorism, and Human Rights

International Centre for Counter-Terrorism (ICCT), Hybrid 7-8 November, The Hague, Netherlands Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ICCT_TheHague</u>

2022 Conference on International Cyber Security: Navigating Narratives in Cyberspace

The Hague Program on International Cyber Security 8-9 November, *The Hague, Netherlands* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@TheHagueProgram</u>

2022 Stockholm Security Conference: Trends of Conflict and Warfare in the 21st Century: Effects and Impact of the War in Ukraine

Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI), Online 8-14 November, Solna, Sweden Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@SIPRIorg</u>

Formers: A Challenge to the Discipline

Center for Research on Extremism (C-REX), and Polarization and Extremism Research and Innovation Lab (PERIL), Online 10 November, Oslo, Norway Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@CrexUiO</u>, <u>@PERIL_AU</u>

TAT & GIFCT E-learning Session - Moderation Online: Beyond Content

Tech Against Terrorism (TAT), and Global Internet Forum to Counter Terrorism (GIFCT), Online 10 November, *London, United Kingdom* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@techysterrorism, @GIFCT_official</u>

RAN C&N - What's Going On Online? Emerging Trends and Developments in the Online Landscape of Radicalisation and Polarisation

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) 10-11 November, Helsinki, Finland Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

Riding out the Multicrisis

Paris Peace Forum 2022 11-12 November, Paris, France Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ParisPeaceForum</u>

Reassessing the Financing of Terrorism in 2022 (RAFT22)

Project CRAAFT/RUSI Europe, Hybrid 15 November, Brussels, Belgium Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@projectcraaft</u>

The American War in Afghanistan

Center for International Security and Cooperation (CISAC) 15 November, Stanford, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@StanfordCISAC</u>

RAN PRISONS - What is in the European Prison Toolbox of DDR Programmes?

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) 15-16 November, Berlin, Germany Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

RAN LOCAL – Pulse Taking: What are Local Effects of Recent Developments in P/CVE? Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) 15-16 November, Helsinki, Finland Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

BKA Autumn Conference 2022 – "Wie halten wir Schritt? – Polizeiliche Strategien für die Zukunft" ("How do we Stay Ahead? Police Strategies for the Future") [in German]

Federal Criminal Police Office (BKA) 16-17 November, *Wiesbaden, Germany* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@bka</u>

National Conference on Peace and Conflict Research in Sweden 2022 - Peace and Conflict in a Changing Security Environment

Peace Research in Sweden (PRIS), and Swedish Defence University 17-18 November, Stockholm, Sweden Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@PRIS_Sweden</u>, <u>@Forsvarshogsk</u>

IISS Manama Dialogue 2022

Institute for International & Strategic Studies (IISS) 18-20 November, Manama, Bahrain Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@IISS_org</u>

AVERT Research Symposium 2022 – The Space Between: New Directions for CVE Interventions

Addressing Violent Extremism and Radicalisation to Terrorism (AVERT) Research Network 21-23 November, Melbourne, Australia Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@AvertResNet</u>

Cyber Threats and the Importance of Information Sharing

Royal United Services Institute (RUSI), Online 22 November, London, United Kingdom Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RUSI_terrorism</u>

RAN Y&E meeting – Artistic Methods and Values in Prevention Work

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) 22-23 November, Stockholm, Sweden Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

RAN in the Western Balkans - Regional Small-Scale Expert Workshop on "Confronting Hate Speech in the Western Balkans"

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN) 23-24 November, Podgorica, Montenegro Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

Alternatives in Mobilization: Ethnicity, Religion, and Political Conflict

National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START), Online 30 November, College Park, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@START_umd</u>

December 2022 & Beyond

Cybersecurity@CEPS Summit 2022

Centre for European Policy Studies (CEPS) 6 December, *Brussels, Belgium* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>CEPS thinktank</u>

Hybrid Ideologies (English)

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN), Online 6 December, Brussels, Belgium Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@RANEurope</u>

Hate-Motivated Acts: Intersectional Perspectives Center for the Prevention of Radicalization leading to Violence (CPRLV), Online 8 December, Montréal, Canada Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@info_radical</u>

Cyber Challenge 2023

Swedish Defence University and National Cyber Security Centre 9 February, Stockholm, Sweden Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@Forsvarshogsk</u>

7th International Conference on Hate Studies – The Challenges of Hate in the 21st Century

Gonzaga University Center for Hate Studies, and Community Colleges of Spokane (CCS) 20-23 April, Spokane, United States Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@GonzagaU</u>, <u>@CCofSpokane</u>

Terrorism Studies '23 - International Conference on Terrorism and Political Violence

Eastern Mediterranean Academic Research Center (DAKAM), and BILSAS, Online 19 May, *Istanbul, Turkey* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@dakamtr</u>

Acknowledgment

Special thanks go to Alex Schmid and Berto Jongman for their suggestions and contributions to this conference calendar.

About the Compiler: Méryl Demuynck is an Associate Editor of Perspectives on Terrorism as well as a Research Fellow at the International Centre for Counter-Terrorism (ICCT). Her work focuses on preventing and countering violent extremism (P/CVE), including on risk assessment, rehabilitation and reintegration of violent extremist offenders, youth empowerment, and community resilience, with a particular focus on the Sahel region. She holds a Master's degree in European and International Relations from Sciences Po Strasbourg, as well as a specialisation degree on Contemporary Sub-Saharan Africa from Sciences Po Lyon.

About Perspectives on Terrorism

Perspectives on Terrorism (PoT) is a joint publication of the Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI), headquartered in Vienna, Austria, and the Institute of Security and Global Affairs (ISGA) of Leiden University, The Hague. Now in its 16th year, PoT is published six times annually as a free, independent, scholarly peer-reviewed journal online at the following URL: <u>https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/perspectives-on-terrorism</u>.

Perspectives on Terrorism has recently been ranked by Google Scholars again as No. 3 in 'Terrorism Studies" (as well as No. 5 in "Military Studies"). Jouroscope[™], a directory of scientific journals, has listed PoT as one of the top ten journals in the category free open access journals in social sciences, with a Q1 ranking. PoT has almost 8,000 registered subscribers and many more occasional readers.

Our journal seeks to provide a platform for established scholars as well as academics and professionals entering the interdisciplinary fields of (Counter-)Terrorism, Political Violence and Conflict Studies. The editors invite researchers and readers to:

- use the journal as a forum for debate and commentary on issues related to the above.
- present their perspectives on the prevention of, and response to, terrorism and related forms of violent conflict; and
- submit to the journal accounts of evidence-based, empirical scientific research and analyses on terrorism.

Perspectives on Terrorism has sometimes been characterised as 'non-traditional' in that it dispenses with some of the rigidities associated with commercial print journals. Topical articles can be published at short notice and reach, through the Internet, a much larger audience than subscription-fee based paper journals. Our online journal also offers contributors a higher degree of flexibility in terms of content, style and length of articles – but without compromising professional scholarly standards. The journal's Research Notes, Special Correspondence, Op-Eds and other content are reviewed by members of the Editorial Team, while its Articles are peer-reviewed (double-blind) by members of the Editorial Board and outside academic experts and professionals. Due to the hundreds of submissions we receive every year, only the most promising and original ones can be sent for external peer-review.

While aiming to be policy-relevant, PoT does not support any partisan policies regarding (counter-) terrorism and waging conflicts. Impartiality, objectivity and accuracy are guiding principles that we require contributors to adhere to. They are responsible for the content of their contributions and retain the copyright of their publication.

The Editorial Team of Perspectives on Terrorism consists of:

| Prof. em. Alex P. Schmid, Editor-in-Chief | Ms. Audrey J. Vrolijk, Associate Editor IT |
|-----------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------|
| Prof. James J.F. Forest, Co-Editor | Dr. Joshua Sinai, Books Reviews Editor |
| Dr. Tricia Bacon, Associate Editor | Dr. Judith Tinnes, Information Resources Editor |
| Dr. Tore Bjørgo, Associate Editor | Drs. Berto Jongman, Associate Editor for Web |
| Dr. Jeffrey Kaplan, Associate Editor | Resources |
| Dr. John Morrison, Associate Editor | Ms. Méryl Demuynck, Associate Editor for Conference |
| Prof. Kumar Ramakrishna, Associate Editor | Monitoring |
| Dr. Jeanine de Roy van Zuijdewijn, Associate Editor | Mr. David Teiner, Assistant Information Resources |
| Dr. Rashmi Singh, Associate Editor | Editor |
| Dr. Craig Whiteside, Associate Editor | Mr. Broderick McDonald, Assistant Editor for Theses |
| Dr. Aaron Y. Zelin, Associate Editor | Mrs. Jodi Moore, Editorial Assistant for Proofreading |

Finally, we want to thank Olivia Kearney, until recently our Associate Editor for Conference Monitoring, for her outstanding contributions to the journal, and wish her well in her new work environment. At the same time, we welcome Méryl Demuynck from the International Centre for Counterterrorism in The Hague as her successor. Like the rest of us, she volunteered for this unpaid work. Thank you!